
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Council 
 
 
 
 

Monday 30 January 
2017 
7.00 pm 
 

Council Chamber 
Town Hall 
Redditch 

 

Public Document Pack



 
 
 
 

 

If you have any queries on this Agenda please contact  
Democratic Services  
Democratic Services  

 
Town Hall, Walter Stranz Square, Redditch, B98 8AH 

Tel: (01527) 548240  
e.mail: sheena.jones@bromgroveandredditch.gov.uk 



 
 

 
 
 

Council 

 

 

 

 

Monday, 30th January, 2017 

7.00 pm 

Council Chamber Town Hall 

 

Agenda Membership: 

 Cllrs: Joe Baker (Mayor) 
Jennifer Wheeler 
(Deputy Mayor) 
Tom Baker-Price 
Roger Bennett 
Natalie Brookes 
Juliet Brunner 
David Bush 
Michael Chalk 
Debbie Chance 
Greg Chance 
Anita Clayton 
Brandon Clayton 
Matthew Dormer 
John Fisher 
Andrew Fry 
 

Bill Hartnett 
Pattie Hill 
Gay Hopkins 
Wanda King 
Jane Potter 
Gareth Prosser 
Antonia Pulsford 
Mark Shurmer 
Rachael Smith 
Yvonne Smith 
Paul Swansborough 
David Thain 
Pat Witherspoon 
Nina Wood-Ford 
 

1. Welcome  
The Mayor will open the meeting and welcome all present. 
 
 

2. Apologies  
To receive any apologies for absence on behalf of Council 
members. 
 
 

3. Declarations of Interest  
To invite Councillors to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests or Other Disclosable Interests they may have in 
items on the agenda, and to confirm the nature of those 
interests. 
 

4. Minutes  
To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of 
the Council held on 21st November, 2016. 
 (Pages 1 - 10)  

5. Announcements  
To consider Announcements under Procedure Rule 10: 
 
a) Mayor’s Announcements 
 
b) The Leader’s Announcements 
 
c) Chief Executive’s Announcements. 
 
(Oral report) 
 
 



 

 

Council 

 

 

 

Monday, 30th January, 2017 

 

6. Questions on Notice  
To consider questions submitted to date under Procedure 
Rule 9.2. 
 
 

(Pages 11 - 12)  

7. Motions on Notice  
To consider Motions submitted under Procedure Rule 11. 
 
 
 

(Pages 13 - 14)  

8. Executive Committee  
To receive the minutes and consider the recommendations 
and/or referrals from the following meetings of the Executive 
Committee: 
 
13th December 2016: 
 
Minute no. 56 – Appointment Process for External Auditors; 
 
Minute no. 58 – Fees and Charges 2017/18 
 
17th January 2017: 
 
Minute no. 67 - Borough of Redditch Local Plan no.4; 
 
Minute no. 69 - Council Plan – please note that the version 
of the plan included with this agenda is the final draft, 
updated as recommended by the Executive Committee. 
 
Minute no. 70 - Corporate Performance Strategy; 
 
Minute no. 71 - Housing Revenue Account Initial Budget 
2017/18 – 2019/20; 
 
Minute no. 72 - Council Housing Growth Programme; 
 
Minute no. 78 - Independent Remuneration Panel Report and 
Recommendations. 
 
The recommendations made by the Committee are set out at 
the front of each report, included within the agenda pack.  
The minutes of each meeting are included in Minute book 4. 
 
 

(Pages 15 - 268)  



 

 

Council 

 

 

 

Monday, 30th January, 2017 

 

9. Regulatory Committees  
To formally receive the minutes of the following meetings of 
the Council’s Regulatory Committees: 
 
Licensing Committee - 7th November 2016 
 
Planning Committee  - 9th November and 14th December 
2016 
 
The minutes are included in Minute Book 4.  There are no 
recommendations from these meetings for the Council to 
consider. 
 
 

10. Appointment to Outside 
Bodies - Greater 
Birmingham and Solihull 
Local Enterprise 
Partnership and 
Worcestershire Local 
Transport Board  

To note the appointment of Councillor Ian Hardiman, Wyre 
Forest District Council, as substitute member to the Greater 
Birmingham and Solihull Local Enterprise Partnership and 
Worcestershire Local Transport Board to replace Councillor 
Tracy Onslow. 
 
 
 

11. Urgent Business - 
Record of Decisions  

To note any decisions taken in accordance with the Council’s 
Urgency Procedure Rules (Part 6, Paragraph 5 and/or Part 7, 
Paragraph 15 of the Constitution), as specified. 
 
(None to date). 
 
 

12. Urgent Business - 
general (if any)  

To consider any additional items exceptionally agreed by the 
Mayor as Urgent Business in accordance with the powers 
vested in him by virtue of Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 
 
(This power should be exercised only in cases where there 
are genuinely special circumstances which require 
consideration of an item which has not previously been 
published on the Order of Business for the meeting.) 
 
 

  

 
 





 

 
 

 

Council 

 

  

 

Monday, 21 November 2016 
 

 

 Chair 
 

1 

 

MINUTES Present: 

  
Councillor Joe Baker (Mayor), Councillor Jennifer Wheeler (Deputy 
Mayor) and Councillors Tom Baker-Price, Roger Bennett, 
Natalie Brookes, David Bush, Michael Chalk, Debbie Taylor, 
Greg Chance, Anita Clayton, Brandon Clayton, Matthew Dormer, 
John Fisher, Bill Hartnett, Pattie Hill, Gay Hopkins, Wanda King, 
Jane Potter, Antonia Pulsford, Mark Shurmer, Rachael Smith, 
Yvonne Smith, Paul Swansborough, David Thain, Pat Witherspoon and 
Nina Wood-Ford 
 

 Also Present: 
 

 Ms Sharon Harrison and Ms Sue Smith (Chair and Vice Chair of 
Redditch LGB&T Community Group) 
 
Mr Daniel Smith (Stonewall) 
 
Mr Peter Willis 
 

 Officers: 
 

 Ruth Bamford, Kevin Dicks, Claire Felton, Sue Hanley and Sheena 
Jones 
 

 Democratic Services Officer: 
 

 Jess Bayley 
 

 
 

39. WELCOME  
 
Prior to the start of the meeting Councillor King delivered a 
seasonal message for the consideration of Members. 
 

40. APOLOGIES  
 
Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Councillors Juliet 
Brunner, Andrew Fry and Gareth Prosser. 
 
 
 

41. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

Page 1 Agenda Item 4



   

Council 

 
 

Monday, 21 November 2016 

 

 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

42. MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED that 
 
the minutes of the meeting of Council held on 26th September 
2016 be agreed as a correct record and signed by the Mayor. 
 

43. ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
a) The Mayor 

 
At the start of this item the Mayor circulated a list of civic 
engagements that he had attended over the past two months.  
 
The Mayor then welcomed representatives of the Redditch 
LGB&T community and of Stonewall to the meeting, who were 
attending to celebrate the outcomes of the work of the 
Provision of Support Networks for the LGB&T Community 
Task Group, which concluded in July 2015. 
 
To begin with Mr Peter Willis, a teacher from a local school in 
Worcestershire, delivered a presentation about the importance 
of the Task Group’s second recommendation, which 
encouraged schools to take part in the Stonewall Schools’ 
champions programme or to make use of the Birmingham 
LGB&T Group’s Schools toolkit.  Members were advised that 
significant progress had been achieved since the 1980s in 
terms of challenging homophobic and transphobic attitudes 
and behaviour towards the LGB&T community.  Schools which 
participated in the School Champions’ programme helped 
young people to feel confident about expressing their sexuality 
and gender identity in the school environment and encouraged 
young people to have positive attitudes towards equality. 
 
Following this presentation the Chair and Vice Chair of the 
Redditch LGB&T Community Group, Ms Sharon Harrison and 
Ms Sue Smith, presented awards on behalf of the community 
group.  This included four awards to Councillors Joe Baker, 
Natalie Brookes, Gay Hopkins and David Thain in recognition 
of their hard work as members of the Task Group.  Councillor 
Baker also presented an LGB&T Hero award on behalf of the 
Redditch LGB&T Community Group to Jess Bayley, 
Democratic Services Officer in recognition of her work 
supporting the Task Group. 
 
The Mayor subsequently invited Mr Daniel Smith from 
Stonewall to deliver a presentation about the work of 
Stonewall and the benefits for organisations of participating in 

Page 2 Agenda Item 4



   

Council 

 
 

Monday, 21 November 2016 

 

the Stonewall Workplace Equality Index.  Mr Smith explained 
that Stonewall had been established in opposition to S28 of 
the Local Government Act 1988 which had prohibited local 
authorities from promoting homosexuality or discussing sexual 
orientation within schools.  The organisation continued to 
campaign in support of the LGB&T community having 
supported recent initiatives such as the introduction of same 
sex marriage legislation in 2015.  Stonewall also managed the 
Workplace Equalities Index which over 500 organisations took 
part in every year, though only the top 100 were advertised on 
Stonewall’s website.  The benefits of participation included the 
potential to improve working policies and practices, enhanced 
opportunities to advertise staff vacancies to talented LGB&T 
staff and a chance to benchmark progress compared to other 
organisations. 
 
Following the delivery of this presentation Mr Smith presented 
an award to the Leader of the Council on behalf of Redditch 
LGB&T Community Group in appreciation of the Council’s 
support for the LGB&T community locally. 

 
b) The Leader 

 
The Leader provided an update on the civic engagements he 
had participated in over the previous two months.  This 
included attending a celebration at Evesham Rowing Club of 
the achievements of Olympians and Paralympians from 
Worcestershire, taking part in the Diwali celebrations at the 
local Gudwara and at Ridgeway Academy, attending the 
Herefordshire and Worcestershire annual sports awards, 
taking part in the Polish Independence Day celebrations and 
meeting the Archbishop of Canterbury at St Stephen’s Church.  
Councillor Hartnett also congratulated Councillors Greg and 
Debbie Chance following their recent wedding. 
 
A number of key issues were raised during consideration of 
this item: 
 

 Meetings of the Health Commission, discussed at the 
previous meeting, had been postponed until the New 
Year due to circumstances outside the control of the 
Council. 

 Further powers had been requested from the 
government for non-constituent members of Combined 
Authorities.  Support had been received from the 
constituent members of the West Midlands Combined 
Authority. 

 The Leader had written to the Redditch Town Centre 
Partnership to request that the former covered market 
area be returned to the control of the Council as it had 

Page 3 Agenda Item 4



   

Council 

 
 

Monday, 21 November 2016 

 

not been possible to introduce a play barn on the site as 
originally planned. 

 The Remembrance Sunday events had been well 
attended in both Redditch town centre and Astwood 
Bank. 

 The Leader had attended a church service at St Philip’s 
Church in commemoration of the centenary of the end of 
the battle of the Somme in the First World War during 
which over one million people had been killed. 

 Local businesses and five county Councillors had 
pledged funding to support the continuation of the Bike 
Race in Redditch. Initial talks had been held with the 
event organisers, which were felt to be positive - 
feedback was currently awaited. 

 
The Leader also notified Members that he had recently been 
advised about proposed changes to specialist stroke 
rehabilitation services.  These changes, if implemented, would 
lead to the reduction in the number of specialist care units 
from three to one, with specialist services in future being 
based in Evesham.  General rehabilitation services would 
continue to be provided at the Princess of Wales Community 
Hospital in Bromsgrove and at the Timberdine Community 
Unit.  Specialist support would also continue to be provided, 
where appropriate, on an in-reach basis by the Community 
Stroke Service.  Councillor Hartnett had contacted the Leader 
of Bromsgrove District Council about these proposed service 
changes and they intended to raise their concerns in writing in 
due course. 

 
44. QUESTIONS ON NOTICE  

 
The Leader responded to three questions submitted in accordance 
with Procedure Rule 9.2 from Councillors Tom Baker-Price, Jane 
Potter and Paul Swansborough.  One further question, which had 
been submitted for consideration by Councillor Juliet Brunner, was 
withdrawn in her absence and Members were advised that this 
would be re-submitted for consideration at the following meeting of 
the Council. 
 
a) Council Expenditure on Consultants 

 
Councillor Tom Baker-Price asked the following question: 
 
Would the Leader of the Council inform Council how much 
money has been spent on consultants since May 2012 in 
i)  planning 
ii)  leisure  
iii)  transformation / systems thinking/Vanguard  
iv)  revenues and benefits 

Page 4 Agenda Item 4



   

Council 

 
 

Monday, 21 November 2016 

 

v)  finance  
vi)  community centres 
 
The Leader replied as follows: 
 
Thank you for your question.  I can confirm that the costs I am 
presenting are within budget and only relate to pure 
consultancy costs as opposed to use of temporary resources 
to cover staff vacancies which should be identified as interim 
rather than consultants. 
 
i) Planning 

 
Nothing 
 

ii) Leisure 
 
£4,202 (shared but mainly for the Leisure Appraisal for 
Redditch Borough Council). 

 
iii) Transformation / Systems Thinking / Vanguard 

 
£209,362 for Redditch Borough Council only. 
 
The Council has been working towards transforming 
services by considering customer need and systemically 
changing the way we work for the last four years (and for 
years before that).  During that time we have developed 
“locality working” for a number of our teams including 
Housing, Benefits, Environmental Services and more 
recently bringing together a number of different 
stakeholders within the Connecting Families team to 
deliver support to our residents.  We have required some 
external support over those years to ensure we develop 
radical solutions to fix problems in our Borough. 
 
Whilst there has been a cost associated with this of 
£209,000 we have made significant savings of £800,000 
over the last two years and have made other changes to 
our services (for example Benefits Officers working in 
locality offices) which may not have made savings but 
have improved access and quality of service to the most 
vulnerable members of our communities.  This will 
equate to £1.6 million over the four year planning period 
excluding any other savings that may be realised from 
future transformational work. 

 
iv) Revenues and Benefits 

 
£29,883 (partly single system costs). 
 

Page 5 Agenda Item 4



   

Council 

 
 

Monday, 21 November 2016 

 

This relates to the project management of the unified 
revenues and benefits system.  Savings will be realised 
well in excess of this as a result of reduced waste and 
improved services to the public.  The costs are contained 
within the reserves and not against revenue budgets.  No 
bid for new money has been required. 

 
v) Finance 

 
£37,000 shared across both Redditch Borough Council 
and Bromsgrove District Council with the charge to 
Redditch being £18,000. 
 
This spend relates to the use of specialist risk and 
system advisors to improve Risk Governance 
arrangements and to enable automated use of the ledger 
system.  The savings with the financial service review in 
2013 offset all associated costs. 

 
 vi) Community centres 
  

£0 
 

A supplementary question was subsequently raised by 
Councillor Baker-Price asking the Leader whether there had 
been a change in policy since 2012 when Council had been 
informed that budget consultants would no longer be 
required. 
 
The Leader responded by explaining that there had been no 
change in policy as expenditure on the consultants detailed 
in his answer had been built into the budget. 

 
b) Consultant’s Work – Leisure Services 

 
Councillor Jane Potter asked the following question: 
 
With a particular focus on Leisure, will the Leader inform this 
Council of the cost of the consultant's work in preparing a 
report on options for Leisure? 
 
The Leader replied as follows: 
 
The cost of £4,202, as detailed in answer to Councillor Baker-
Price’s question, relates to the previous production of an 
independent high level overview of the options that could be 
available to Council, and the potential savings that could be 
achieved if one of these options was progressed. 
 
A supplementary question was subsequently raised by 
Councillor Potter who asked the Leader whether the Council 

Page 6 Agenda Item 4



   

Council 

 
 

Monday, 21 November 2016 

 

would be arranging for a trust to manage Leisure Services in 
order to achieve financial savings and an increase in 
participation in leisure activities. 
 
The Leader responded by explaining that, in line with a 
recommendation from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
Officers were in the process of investigating all options in 
detail.  The Executive Committee would wait for these 
investigations to be completed and would consider the data 
arising from this process before making any decisions on this 
subject. 

 
c) West Midlands Combined Authority 

 
Councillor Paul Swansborough asked the following question: 
 
In view of the fact that Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority (WMCA) has to date borrowed a total of £1billion 
alone from the European Investment Bank to secure match 
funding from HM Treasury and private investors, can the 
Leader confirm how the West Midlands Combined Authority 
intends to raise its capital and revenue funding post Brexit and 
whether the cost of non-constituent membership will increase 
due to the loss of support from the European Union? 
 
The Leader responded as follows: 
 
Thank you for your question.  I have contacted the WMCA and 
have been advised as follows: 
 
WMCA is developing a major programme of investment across 
the West Midlands region.  This is expected to include funding 
from a wide range of courses, which includes prudential 
borrowing by WMCA and some of its member authorities; 
major government capital grants (for transportation and HS2 
growth strategy, for example); and investment by the private 
sector and by our public sector partners.  WMCA will seek to 
source its borrowing from the lenders who provide the best 
value.  The PWLB is available to fund all WMCA’s borrowing 
proposals whether before or after Brexit, but the European 
Investment Bank (EIB) is currently a cheaper source of 
borrowing for eligible projects. 
 
WMCA treasury officers are in discussion with the EIB about a 
potential loan for projects which are sufficiently advanced, for 
the EIB’s consideration.  Match funding for any EIB loan would 
come from the other sources of finance outlined above. 
 
At this stage we are not certain as to whether Brexit will affect 
the progress of these discussions.  Reports will be brought to 

Page 7 Agenda Item 4



   

Council 

 
 

Monday, 21 November 2016 

 

the WMCA Board once officers are in a position to make 
recommendations. 
 
The cost of non-constituent membership is not directly linked 
to the Investment Plan and therefore not linked to the funding 
of the programme; however, WMCA Officers are preparing 
papers around the possible budget for 2017/18 for discussion 
at forthcoming WMCA meetings. 
 
A supplementary question was subsequently raised by 
Councillor Swansborough who asked the Leader whether in 
the current challenging financial circumstances facing local 
government, including Redditch Borough Council, the local 
authority remained committed to being a non-constituent 
member of the WMCA. 
 
The Leader responded by confirming that the Council 
remained committed to membership of the WMCA. 

 
45. MOTIONS ON NOTICE  

 
There were no Motions on Notice. 
 

46. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE  
 
Members considered the minutes of the Executive Committee 
meeting held on 1st November 2016. 
 
During consideration of Minute No. 39, detailing a recommendation 
on the subject of the Public Realm Scheme, clarification was 
requested about whether damage to the surface would be covered 
under the terms of the scheme.  Members were advised that this 
matter had also been discussed during the Executive Committee 
meeting.  There was the potential to share a stockpile of materials 
with Bromsgrove District Council, Wychavon District Council and 
Wyre Forest District Council and Members had requested specific 
design features to enhance the integrity of the scheme. 
 
The Business Case for the Development Management Shared 
Service was also discussed during consideration of this item.  
Members were advised that whilst this item had been considered in 
confidential session during the Executive Committee meeting the 
documentation was now in the public domain following consultation 
with affected staff. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
the minutes of the meeting of the Executive Committee held on 
1st November 2016 be received and all recommendations 
adopted. 
 

Page 8 Agenda Item 4



   

Council 

 
 

Monday, 21 November 2016 

 

47. REGULATORY COMMITTEES  
 
The Council received the minutes from meetings of the Audit, 
Governance and Standards and Planning Committees. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
1) the minutes of the meeting of the Audit, Governance and 

Standards Committee held on 22nd September 2016 be 
received and adopted; and 
 

2) the minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee 
held on 12th October 2016 be received and adopted. 

 
48. URGENT BUSINESS - RECORD OF DECISIONS  

 
The Executive Committee’s decisions in respect of the Town Centre 
Lighting Enhancement Scheme, involving the transfer of monies 
from the S106 capital account, and Tommy Wilson’s Fair were 
noted in accordance with the Council’s Urgency Procedure Rules. 
 

49. URGENT BUSINESS - GENERAL (IF ANY)  
 
There was no general urgent business for discussion. 
 
 
 
 
 

The Meeting commenced at 7.00 pm 
and closed at 8.20 pm 

Page 9 Agenda Item 4





Redditch Borough Council 

30th January 2017 

Agenda item no. 6 – Questions on Notice 

 

1. From Councillor Juliet Brunner to the Leader (deferred from the Council 

meeting on 21st November 2016): 

I'm sure the Leader will agree with me that performance management and 

appraisals are an important part of supporting staff in continuing professional 

development. Would he comment on the results from latest the staff survey  and 

inform this council why 43% of staff do not feel supported and haven't had a 

status meeting ? 

Page 11 Agenda Item 6





Redditch Borough Council 

30th January 2017 

Motions on Notice 

 

1. Scrutiny of Executive Decisions 

Proposed by Councillor Jane Potter, seconded by Councillor Tom Baker-Price: 

This council supports open transparent scrutiny of the Executive decision-making 

body. Under current arrangements the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has 

only 24 hours to scrutinise the reports which are sent to the Executive Committee 

for a recommendation or decision. 

In order to aid the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, this council recommends 

that in the next municipal calendar that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

meetings are moved back to Thursday. 

 

2. No Confidence in Portfolio Holder for Housing 

Proposed by Councillor Brandon Clayton, seconded by Councillor David Thain: 

This Labour administration has once more proved incompetent and demonstrated 

its complacent attitude to its Council housing responsibilities. 

Statutory Council House gas safety tests were previously not completed on time, 

resulting in confusion, worry and considerable inconvenience for several hundred 

properties.   Redditch Borough Council has had to pay out huge sums of money 

for audits, investigations and the subsequent work to ensure the safety of 

residents.  

After being investigated by the HSE and HCA, all Councillors need assurances 

that this will not happen again.  

We therefore propose a vote of no confidence and call upon the Portfolio Holder 

for Housing to finally shoulder his duties, accept his responsibilities and resign.  

 

 

 

Page 13 Agenda Item 7





REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

COUNCIL   30th January 2017  

 

 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 13TH DECEMBER 2016 
 
56. APPOINTMENTS PROCESS FOR EXTERNAL AUDITORS 
 

RECOMMENDED that 
 
the Council accepts the invitation from Public Sector Audit 
Appointments to ‘opt in’ to the sector–led option for the appointment 
of external auditors for five financial years commencing 1st April 
2018.  
 
 

 
 

Page 15 Agenda Item 8





REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE  13th December 2016 
 

DECISION TO OPT IN TO THE NATIONAL SCHEME FOR AUDITOR 
APPOINTMENTS WITH PSAA AS THE ‘APPOINTING PERSON’ 
 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Councillor John Fisher, Portfolio 
Holder for Corporate Management. 

Portfolio Holder Consulted Y 

Relevant Head of Service Jayne Pickering 

Wards Affected All Wards 

 
1. SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS 
 
1.1 This report sets out the proposals for appointing the external auditor to 

the Council for the 2018/19 accounts and beyond, as the current 
arrangements only cover up to and including 2017/18 audits.  The 
auditors are currently working under a contract originally let by the 
Audit Commission and the contract was novated to Public Sector Audit 
Appointments (PSAA) following the closure of the Audit Commission. 

 
1.2 If the Council is to take advantage of the national scheme for 

appointing auditors to be operated by PSAA for the subsequent years, 
it needs to take the decision at this meeting to enable it accept the 
invitation by early March 2017. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 The Executive Committee are requested to RECOMMEND that 
 
 The Council accepts Public Sector Audit Appointments’ (PSAA) 

invitation to ‘opt in’ to the sector led option for the appointment of 
external auditors for five financial years commencing 1st April 
2018. 

 
3. KEY ISSUES 
 
 Financial Implications 
 
3.1 There is a risk that current external fees levels could increase when the 

current contracts end in 2018. 
 
3.2 Opting-in to a national scheme provides maximum opportunity to 

ensure fees are as low as possible, whilst ensuring the quality of audit 
is maintained by entering in to a large scale collective procurement 
arrangement. 

 
3.3 If the national scheme is not used some additional resource will be 

needed to establish an auditor panel and conduct a local procurement.  
Until a procurement exercise is completed it is not possible to state 

Page 17 Agenda Item 8



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE  13th December 2016 
 

what, if any, additional resource may be required for audit fees for 
2018/19. 

 
 Legal Implications 
 
3.4 Section 7 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires a 

relevant Council to appoint a local auditor to audit its accounts for a 
financial year not later than 31st December in the preceding year.  
Section 8 governs the procedure for appointment including that the 
Council must consult and take account of the advice of its auditor panel 
on the selection and appointment of a local auditor.  Section 8 provides 
that where a relevant Authority is a local Council operating executive 
arrangements, the function of appointing a local auditor to audit its 
accounts is not the responsibility of an executive of the Council under 
those arrangements; 

 
3.5 Section 12 makes provision for the failure to appoint a local auditor: the 

Council must immediately inform the Secretary of State, who may 
direct the Council to appoint the auditor named in the direction or 
appoint a local auditor on behalf of the Council. 

 
3.6 Section 17 gives the Secretary of State the power to make regulations 

in relation to an ‘appointing person’ specified by the Secretary of State.  
This power has been exercised in the Local Audit (Appointing Person) 
Regulations 2015 (SI 192) and this gives the Secretary of State the 
ability to enable a Sector Led Body to become the appointing person.  
In July 2016 the Secretary of State specified PSAA as the appointing 
person. 

 
 Service/Operational Implications 
 
 Background 
 
3.7 The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the Act) brought to a 

close the Audit Commission and established transitional arrangements 
for the appointment of external auditors and the setting of audit fees for 
all local government and NHS bodies in England.  On 5th October 
2015 the Secretary of State Communities and Local Government 
(CLG) determined that the transitional arrangements for local 
government bodies would be extended by one year to also include the 
audit of the accounts for 2017/18. 

 
3.8 The Act also set out the arrangements for the appointment of auditors 

for subsequent years, with the opportunity for authorities to make their 
own decisions about how and by whom their auditors are appointed.  
Regulations made under the Act allow authorities to ‘opt in’ for their 
auditor to be appointed by an ‘appointing person’. 

Page 18 Agenda Item 8



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE  13th December 2016 
 

 
3.9 In July 2016 PSAA were specified by the Secretary of State as an 

appointing person under Regulation 3 of the Local Audit (Appointing 
Person) Regulations 2015.  The appointing person is sometimes 
referred to as the sector led body and PSAA has wide support across 
local government.  PSAA was originally established to operate the 
transitional arrangements following the closure of the Audit 
Commission under powers delegated by the Secretary of State.  PSAA 
is an independent, not-for-profit company limited by guarantee and 
established by the Local Government Association. 

 
3.10 PSAA is inviting the Council to opt in, along with all other authorities, so 

that PSAA can enter into a number of contracts with appropriately 
qualified audit firms and appoint a suitable firm to be the Council’s 
auditor. 

 
3.11 The principal benefits from such an approach are as follows:- 
 

a) PSAA will ensure the appointment of a suitably qualified and 
registered auditor and expects to be able to manage the 
appointments to allow for appropriate groupings and clusters of 
audits where bodies work together;  
 

b) PSAA will monitor contract delivery and ensure compliance with 
contractual, audit quality and independence requirements;  

 
c) Any auditor conflicts at individual authorities would be managed 

by PSAA who would have a number of contracted firms to call 
upon;  

 
d) It is expected that the large-scale contracts procured through 

PSAA will bring economies of scale and attract keener prices 
from the market than a smaller scale competition; 

 

e) The overall procurement costs would be lower than an individual 
smaller scale local procurement; 

 
f) The overhead costs for managing the contracts will be 

minimised though a smaller number of large contracts across the 
sector; 

 

g) The will be no need for the Council to establish alternative 
appointment processes locally, including the need to set up and 
manage an ‘auditor panel’, see paragraph 3.16 below; 

 

Page 19 Agenda Item 8



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE  13th December 2016 
 

h) The new regime provides both the perception and reality of 
independent auditor appointment through a collective approach; 
and 

 

i) A sustainable market for audit provision in the sector will be 
easier to ensure for the future. 

 
3.12 The Council’s current external auditor is Grant Thornton, this 

appointment having been made under a contract let by the Audit 
Commission.  Following closure of the Audit Commission the contract 
was novated to PSAA, and since this date PSAA has demonstrated its 
capability in terms of auditor appointment, contract management, and 
monitoring audit quality.  . The Council’s current external audit fees are 
£75K per annum. 

 
3.13 The proposed fees for the subsequent years cannot be known until the 

procurement process has been completed, as the costs will depend on 
proposals from the audit firms. 

 
3.14 The scope of the audit will still be specified nationally, the National 

Audit Office (NAO) is responsible for writing the Code of Audit Practice 
which all firms appointed to carry out the Council’s audit must follow.  
Not all audit firms will be eligible to compete for the work, they will need 
to demonstrate that they have the required skills and experience and 
be registered with a Registered Supervising Body approved by the 
Financial Reporting Council. 

 
3.15 Currently, there are only nine providers that are eligible to audit local 

authorities and other relevant bodies; all of these being firms with a 
national presence.  This means that a local procurement exercise, as 
described immediately below, would seek tenders from these same 
firms, subject to the need to manage any local independence issues.  
Local firms could not be invited to bid. 

 
 Other Options 
 
3.16 If the Council did not opt in there would be a need to establish an 

independent auditor panel.  In order to make a stand-alone 
appointment the auditor panel would need to be set up by the Council 
itself.  The members of the panel must be wholly or a majority of 
independent members as defined by the Act.  Independent members 
for this purpose are independent appointees, this excludes current and 
former elected members (or Officers) and their close families and 
friends.  This means that elected members will not have a majority 
input to assessing bids and choosing which audit firm to award a 
contract for the Council’s external audit. 

 

Page 20 Agenda Item 8



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE  13th December 2016 
 

3.17 Alternatively the Act enables the Council to join with other authorities to 
establish a joint auditor panel.  Again this will need to be constituted of 
wholly or a majority of independent appointees (members).  Further 
legal advice would be required on the exact constitution of such a 
panel having regard to the obligations of each Council  under the Act 
and the Council  would need to liaise with other local authorities to 
assess the appetite for such an arrangement. 

 
3.18 Neither of these options are recommended.  Both these options would 

be more resource-intensive processes to implement and without the 
bulk buying power of the sector led procurement, would be likely to 
result in a more costly service.  It would also be more difficult to 
manage quality and independence requirements through a local 
appointment process. 

 
 The invitation 
 
3.19 PSAA has now formally invited this Council to opt in   Details relating to 

PSAA’s invitation are provided in an Appendix to this Report  
 
3.20 In summary the national opt-in scheme provides the following:- 
 

a) The appointment of a suitably qualified audit firm for each of the 
five financial years commencing 1 April 2018; 
 

b) Appointing the same auditor to other opted in bodies that are 
involved in formal collaboration or joint working initiatives to the 
extent this is possible with other constraints; 

 

c) Managing the procurement process to ensure both quality and 
price criteria are satisfied. PSAA will seek views from the sector 
to help inform its detailed procurement strategy; 

 

d) Ensuring suitable independence of the auditors from the bodies 
they audit and managing any potential conflicts as they arise; 

 

e) Minimising the scheme management costs and returning any 
surpluses to scheme members; 

 
f) Consulting with authorities on auditor appointments, giving the 

Council  the opportunity to influence which auditor is appointed; 
 

g) Consulting with authorities on the scale of audit fees and 
ensuring these reflect scale, complexity and audit risk; and 

 

h) Ongoing contract and performance management of the 
contracts once these have been let. 

Page 21 Agenda Item 8



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE  13th December 2016 
 

 

 The way forward 
 
3.21 Regulation 19 of the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015 

requires that a decision to opt in must be made by a meeting of the 
Council.  The Council then needs to formally respond to PSAA’s 
invitation in the form specified by PSAA by early March. 

 
 
3.22 PSAA will commence the formal procurement process after this date.  

It expects to award contracts in summer 2017 and consult with 
authorities on the appointment of auditors so that it can make an 
appointment by the statutory deadline of December 2017. 

 
 Customer / Equalities and Diversity Implications  
 
3.23 There are no equalities or diversity implications arising from this report. 
 
4. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
 The principal risks are that the Council fails to appoint an auditor in 

accordance with the new frameworks or does not achieve value for 
money in the appointment process.  These risks are considered best 
mitigated by opting in to the sector led approach through PSAA. 

 
5. APPENDICES 
 
 Appendix 1 – Invitation letter and background information from Public 

Sector Audit Appointments 
   
 
6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

None 
 
7. KEY 
 
  
 

LGA – Local Government Association 
PSAA – Public Sector Audit Appointments 
NAO – National Audit Office 

 
 
 
AUTHOR OF REPORT 
 

Page 22 Agenda Item 8



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE  13th December 2016 
 

Name: Sam Morgan 
E Mail: sam.morgan@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk 
Tel: (01527) 64252 Ext. 3790 

Page 23 Agenda Item 8





 

 
 

 
PSAA, 3rd floor, Local Government House, Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ 
T 020 7072 7445 www.psaa.co.uk   Company number: 09178094 

 

27 October 2016 Email: appointingperson@psaa.co.uk 

Kevin Dicks 
Redditch Borough Council 
Town Hall 
Walter Stranz Square  
Redditch Worcestershire B98 8AH 

 

  

  

  

 

Copied to: Jayne Pickering, Executive Director (Finance and Corporate Resources) [and 

Section 151 Officer], Redditch Borough Council 

Claire Felton, Head of Legal Services, Redditch Borough Council 

Dear Mr Dicks 

Invitation to opt into the national scheme for auditor appointments 

As you know the external auditor for the audit of the accounts for 2018/19 has to be appointed 
before the end of 2017. That may seem a long way away, but as there is now a choice about 
how to make that appointment, a decision on your authority’s approach will be needed soon. 

We are pleased that the Secretary of State has expressed his confidence in us by giving us the 
role of appointing local auditors under a national scheme. This is one choice open to your 
authority. We issued a prospectus about the scheme in July 2016, available to download on the 
appointing person page of our website, with other information you may find helpful. 

The timetable we have outlined for appointing auditors under the scheme means we now need 
to issue a formal invitation to opt into these arrangements. The covering email provides the 
formal invitation, along with a form of acceptance of our invitation for you to use if your authority 
decides to join the national scheme. We believe the case for doing so is compelling. To help 
with your decision we have prepared the additional information attached to this letter.  

I need to highlight two things: 

 we need to receive your formal acceptance of this invitation by 9 March 2017; and 

 the relevant regulations require that, except for a body that is a corporation sole (a police 
and crime commissioner), the decision to accept the invitation and to opt in needs to be 
made by the members of the authority meeting as a whole. We appreciate this will need to 
be built into your decision making timetable. 

If you have any other questions not covered by our information, do not hesitate to contact us by 
email at appointingperson@psaa.co.uk. 

Yours sincerely 

 

Jon Hayes, Chief Officer 

Page 25 Agenda Item 8

http://www.psaa.co.uk/
http://www.psaa.co.uk/supporting-the-transition/appointing-person/
mailto:appointingperson@psaa.co.uk


 
 

 

Appointing an external auditor 

Information on the national scheme 

 
Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited (PSAA) 

We are a not-for-profit company established by the Local Government Association (LGA). We 
administer the current audit contracts, let by the Audit Commission before it closed.  

We have the support of the LGA, which has worked to secure the option for principal local 
government and police bodies to appoint auditors through a dedicated sector-led national 
procurement body. We have established an advisory panel, drawn from representative groups 
of local government and police bodies, to give access to your views on the design and operation 
of the scheme.  

The national scheme for appointing local auditors 

We have been specified by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government as 
the appointing person for principal local government bodies. This means that we will make 
auditor appointments to principal local government bodies that choose to opt into the national 
appointment arrangements we will operate for audits of the accounts from 2018/19. These 
arrangements are sometimes described as the ‘sector-led body’ option, and our thinking for this 
scheme was set out in a prospectus circulated to you in July. The prospectus is available on the 
appointing person page of our website. 

We will appoint an auditor for all opted-in authorities for each of the five financial years 
beginning from 1 April 2018, unless the Secretary of State chooses to terminate our role as the 
appointing person beforehand. He or she may only do so after first consulting opted-in 
authorities and the LGA. 

What the appointing person scheme will offer 

We are committed to making sure the national scheme will be an excellent option for auditor 
appointments for you.  

We intend to run the scheme in a way that will save time and resources for local government 
bodies. We think that a collective procurement, which we will carry out on behalf of all opted-in 
authorities, will enable us to secure the best prices, keeping the cost of audit as low as possible 
for the bodies who choose to opt in, without compromising on audit quality.  

Our current role means we have a unique experience and understanding of auditor procurement 
and the local public audit market. 

Using the scheme will avoid the need for you to: 

 establish an audit panel with independent members; 

 manage your own auditor procurement and cover its costs; 

 monitor the independence of your appointed auditor for the duration of the appointment;  

 deal with the replacement of any auditor if required; and 

 manage the contract with your auditor. 

Our scheme will endeavour to appoint the same auditors to other opted-in bodies that are 
involved in formal collaboration or joint working initiatives, if you consider that a common auditor 
will enhance efficiency and value for money. 

Page 26 Agenda Item 8

http://www.psaa.co.uk/supporting-the-transition/appointing-person/


 
 

 

We will also try to be flexible about changing your auditor during the five-year appointing period 
if there is good reason, for example where new joint working arrangements are put in place. 

Securing a high level of acceptances to the opt-in invitation will provide the best opportunity for 
us to achieve the most competitive prices from audit firms. The LGA has previously sought 
expressions of interest in the appointing person arrangements, and received positive responses 
from over 270 relevant authorities. We ultimately hope to achieve participation from the vast 
majority of eligible authorities.  

High quality audits 

The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 provides that firms must be registered as local 
public auditors with one of the chartered accountancy institutes acting in the capacity of a 
Recognised Supervisory Body (RSB). The quality of registered firms’ work will be subject to 
scrutiny by both the RSB and the Financial Reporting Council (FRC), under arrangements set 
out in the Act. 

We will: 

 only contract with audit firms that have a proven track record in undertaking public audit 
work; 

 include obligations in relation to maintaining and continuously improving quality in our 
contract terms and in the quality criteria in our tender evaluation; 

 ensure that firms maintain the appropriate registration and will liaise closely with RSBs and 
the FRC to ensure that any quality concerns are detected at an early stage; and 

 take a close interest in your feedback and in the rigour and effectiveness of firms’ own 
quality assurance arrangements.  

We will also liaise with the National Audit Office to help ensure that guidance to auditors is 
updated as necessary.  

Procurement strategy 

In developing our procurement strategy for the contracts with audit firms, we will have input from 
the advisory panel we have established. The panel will assist PSAA in developing 
arrangements for the national scheme, provide feedback to us on proposals as they develop, 
and helping us maintain effective channels of communication. We think it is particularly 
important to understand your preferences and priorities, to ensure we develop a strategy that 
reflects your needs within the constraints set out in legislation and in professional requirements. 

In order to secure the best prices we are minded to let audit contracts: 

 for 5 years; 

 in 2 large contract areas nationally, with 3 or 4 contract lots per area, depending on the 
number of bodies that opt in; and 

 to a number of firms in each contract area to help us manage independence issues. 
 

The value of each contract will depend on the prices bid, with the firms offering the best value 
being awarded larger amounts of work. By having contracts with a number of firms, we will be 
able to manage issues of independence and avoid dominance of the market by one or two 
firms. Limiting the national volume of work available to any one firm will encourage competition 
and ensure the plurality of provision. 

Page 27 Agenda Item 8



 
 

 

Auditor appointments and independence 

Auditors must be independent of the bodies they audit, to enable them to carry out their work 
with objectivity and credibility, and in a way that commands public confidence.  

We plan to take great care to ensure that every auditor appointment passes this test. We will 
also monitor significant proposals for auditors to carry out consultancy or other non-audit work, 
to protect the independence of auditor appointments. 

We will consult you on the appointment of your auditor, most likely from September 2017. To 
make the most effective allocation of appointments, it will help us to know about: 

 any potential constraints on the appointment of your auditor because of a lack of 
independence, for example as a result of consultancy work awarded to a particular firm; 

 any joint working or collaboration arrangements that you think should influence the 
appointment; and 

 other local factors you think are relevant to making the appointment. 

We will ask you for this information after you have opted in. 

Auditor appointments for the audit of the accounts of the 2018/19 financial year must be made 
by 31 December 2017. 

Fee scales 

We will ensure that fee levels are carefully managed by securing competitive prices from firms 
and by minimising our own costs. Any surplus funds will be returned to scheme members under 
our articles of association and our memorandum of understanding with the Department for 
Communities and Local Government and the LGA.  

Our costs for setting up and managing the scheme will need to be covered by audit fees. We 
expect our annual operating costs will be lower than our current costs because we expect to 
employ a smaller team to manage the scheme. We are intending to fund an element of the 
costs of establishing the scheme, including the costs of procuring audit contracts, from local 
government’s share of our current deferred income. We think this is appropriate because the 
new scheme will be available to all relevant principal local government bodies. 

PSAA will pool scheme costs and charge fees to audited bodies in accordance with a fair scale 
of fees which has regard to size, complexity and audit risk, most likely as evidenced by audit 
fees for 2016/17. Pooling means that everyone in the scheme will benefit from the most 
competitive prices. Fees will reflect the number of scheme participants – the greater the level of 
participation, the better the value represented by our scale fees.  

Scale fees will be determined by the prices achieved in the auditor procurement that PSAA will 
need to undertake during the early part of 2017. Contracts are likely to be awarded at the end of 
June 2017, and at this point the overall cost and therefore the level of fees required will be 
clear. We expect to consult on the proposed scale of fees in autumn 2017 and to publish the 
fees applicable for 2018/19 in March 2018.  

Page 28 Agenda Item 8



 
 

 

Opting in 

The closing date for opting in is 9 March 2017. We have allowed more than the minimum eight 
week notice period required, because the formal approval process for most eligible bodies, 
except police and crime commissioners, is a decision made by the members of an authority 
meeting as a whole.  

We will confirm receipt of all opt-in notices. A full list of authorities who opt in will be published 
on our website. Once we have received an opt-in notice, we will write to you to request 
information on any joint working arrangements relevant to your auditor appointment, and any 
potential independence matters that would prevent us appointing a particular firm. 

If you decide not to accept the invitation to opt in by the closing date, you may subsequently 
make a request to opt in, but only after 1 April 2018. The earliest an auditor appointment can be 
made for authorities that opt in after the closing date is therefore for the audit of the accounts for 
2019/20. We are required to consider such requests, and agree to them unless there are 
reasonable grounds for their refusal. 

Timetable 

In summary, we expect the timetable for the new arrangements to be: 

 Invitation to opt in issued 27 October 2016 

 Closing date for receipt of notices to opt in 9 March 2017 

 Contract notice published 20 February 2017 

 Award audit contracts By end of June 2017 

 Consult on and make auditor appointments By end of December 2017 

 Consult on and publish scale fees By end of March 2018 

 
Enquiries 

We publish frequently asked questions on our website. We are keen to receive feedback from 
local bodies on our plans. Please email your feedback or questions to: 
appointingperson@psaa.co.uk.  

If you would like to discuss a particular issue with us, please send an email to the above 
address, and we will make arrangements either to telephone or meet you. 

 

Page 29 Agenda Item 8

http://www.psaa.co.uk/supporting-the-transition/appointing-person/
mailto:appointingperson@psaa.co.uk




REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

COUNCIL   30th January 2017  

 

 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 13TH DECEMBER 2016 
 
58. FEES AND CHARGES 2017/18 
 

 RECOMMENDED that 
 
the fees and charges included in Appendix 1 to the report which have 
a proposed increase for 2017/18 over the currently agreed budget 
assumption of 3% be approved. 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 31 Agenda Item 8





 
REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

Executive Committee                    13th December 2016  
 
FEES AND CHARGES 2017/18  
 

Relevant Portfolio Holder  Councillor John Fisher 

Portfolio Holder Consulted  Yes  

Relevant Head of Service Jayne Pickering , Director of Finance 
and Resources 

Wards Affected All 

Ward Councillor Consulted No  

Non-Key Decision  

 
1. SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS 

 
1.1 To set out the fees and charges to be levied on services provided by 

the Council as used as the basis for income targets in the Medium 
Term Financial Plan 2017/18 – 2019/20. 
 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
2.1 It is recommended that Executive consider the fees and charges as 

included at Appendix 1 and; 
 
2.1.1 recommend to Council the approval of all fees and charges that are 

included in Appendix 1 which have a proposed increase for 2017/18 
over the currently agreed budget assumption of 3%.   

 
2.1.2 approve the fees and charges as presented in Appendix 1 that have 

no increase for 2017/18 
 
2.1.3 approve the fees and charges as presented in Appendix 1 that have 

reduced for 2017/18. 
 
2.1.4   approve the fees and charges as presented in Appendix 1 that have 

an increase of 3% for 2017/18. 
 

 
3. KEY ISSUES 

 
 Financial Implications    
 
3.1 The Medium Term Financial Plan has been prepared on the basis that 

additional income will be generated from fees and charges.  The 
guideline increase provided to Heads of Service was 3%.  

 
 

3.2 It is proposed that the revised fees and charges will be advertised to 
the public within approved deadlines with a start date of 1st January 

Page 33 Agenda Item 8



 
REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

Executive Committee                    13th December 2016  
 

2017, where an invoice has not already been raised covering the last 
quarter of the financial year, or as soon as practicable thereafter, 
dependant upon the notice period required prior to implementation. 

 
3.3 There are a number of increases that are in excess of the 3% approval 

which are identified in Appendix 1. The Heads of Service have 
commented within the Appendix as to the reasons for the increase. 

 
 

 Legal Implications 
 

3.5 A number of statutes governing the provision of services covered by 
this report contain express powers or duties to charge for services.  
Where an express power to charge does not exist the Council has the 
power under Section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972 to charge 
where the activity is incidental or conducive to or calculated to facilitate 
the Council’s statutory function.   
 

 Service / Operational Implications  
 

3.6 Monitoring will be undertaken to ensure that income targets are 
achieved. 
 

 Customer / Equalities and Diversity Implications  
 

3.7 The implementation of the revised fees and charges will be notified in 
advance to the customer to ensure that all users are aware of the new 
charges and any concessions available to them. 
 
 

4. RISK MANAGEMENT    
 

4.1 There is a risk that if fees and charges are not increased that income 
targets will not be achieved and the cost of services will increase. 
 
 

5. APPENDICES 
 

 Appendix 1 – Fees and Charges 
 

 
6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
None. 
 

7. KEY 
 
None 

Page 34 Agenda Item 8



 
REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

Executive Committee                    13th December 2016  
 

 
AUTHOR OF REPORT 
 
Name: Kate Goldey – Senior Business Support Accountant 
E Mail: k.goldey@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk 
Tel: 01527 881208 

Page 35 Agenda Item 8





Planning and Regeneration

BUILDING CONTROL - VAT AT 20%

Explanatory notes:

1  Before you build, extend or convert a building to which the building regulations apply, you or your agent must submit a Building regulations application.

The charge you have to pay depends on the type of work, the number of separate properties, or the total floor area.

You can use the following tables with the current charges regulations to work out the charges.  If you have any difficulties, please do not hesitate to call us.

2  The charges are as follows.

Category A:  New domestic homes, flats or conversions etc  

Category B:   Extending or altering existing homes

Category C: Any other project including commercial or industrial projects etc.

Individually determined fees are available for most projects. We would be happy to discuss these with you if you require. 

In certain cases, we may agree that you can pay charges in instalments.  Please contact us for further discussions.

3  Exemptions and reductions in charges.

a)  If your plans have been approved or rejected, you won't have to pay again if you resubmit plans for the same work which has not started, provided you resubmit with 3 years of the original application date.

b)  You don't have to pay charges if the work will provide access to a building or is an extension to store medical equipment or provide medical treatment facilities for a disabled person.  In order to claim exemption, an 

application must be supported by appropriate evidence as to the nature of the disabled persons disability. In these regulations, a 'disabled person' is a person who is described under section 29(1) of the National 

Assistance Act 1948 (as extended by section 8(2) Mental Health Act 1959).

4  You have to pay VAT for all local authority Building Regulation charges, except for the regularisation charge. VAT is included in the attached fees.

5. Regularisation applications are available for cases where unauthorised building work was undertaken without an application. Such work can only be regularised where the work was undertaken after October 1985 and 

not within the last 6 months. The Authority is not obliged to accept Regularisation applications. Regularisation application fees are individually determined. Please contact us to discuss regularisation application fees.

6. Reversion applications. Where the control of a building project passes from a third party to the Council a reversion application will be required. Reversion application fees are individually determined.

Other information:

1         These notes are for guidance only and do not replace Statutory Instrument  2010 number 0404 which contains the full statement of the law, and the Scheme of Recovery of Fees dated April 2014.

2         These guidance notes refer to the charges that you have to pay for building control services within North Worcestershire. 

Telephone payments are accepted. Please contact the relevant payment centre with your address and card details:

                       Redditch 01527 64252    

P
age 37

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

3%

TABLE A: STANDARD CHARGES FOR THE CREATION OR CONVERSION TO NEW HOUSING

1,2,3 or More Properties:

Application Please Ring for Quote Please Ring for Quote

Regularisation Please Ring for Quote Please Ring for Quote

TABLE B: DOMESTIC EXTENSIONS TO A SINGLE BUILDING

Garage Conversion to habitable room

Application Please Contact Us

Regularisation Please Contact Us Please Contact Us

Additional Please Contact Us

Extension project 

Application Please Contact Us Please Contact Us

Regularisation Please Contact Us Please Contact Us

Additional Please Contact Us

All other extensions Please Contact Us Please Contact Us

Loft Conversions Please Contact Us Please Contact Us

Detached garage over Please Contact Us Please Contact Us

Electrical works by non-qualified electrician

Application Please Contact Us

Regularisation Please Contact Us Please Contact Us

Renovation of thermal element

Application Please Contact Us

Regularisation Please Contact Us Please Contact Us

Installing steel beam(s) within an existing house

Application Please Contact Us

Regularisation Please Contact Us Please Contact Us

Window replacment

Application Please Contact Us

Regularisation Please Contact Us Please Contact Us

Installing a new boiler or wood burner etc.

Application Please Contact Us

Regularisation Please Contact Us Please Contact Us

TABLE C: ALL OTHER WORKS - ALTERATIONS

£0 + Please Contact Us Please Contact Us

For Office or shop fit outs, installation of a mezzanine floor and all other work where the estimated cost 

exceeds £50,000, please contact the Building Control Office on 01527 881402 for a competitive quote

These charges have been set on the following basis:

1. That the building work does not consist of, or include innovative or high risk construction techniques and / or 

duration of the building work from commencment to completion does not exceed 12 months

2. That the design and building work is undertaken by a person or company that is competent to carry out the 

relevant design and building work. If they are not, the building control service may impose supplementary charges. 

The number of applications received which fall within these final few 

categories amounts to around 5% of all applications. 

An increasing number of customers are aware of the obligation for local 

authority building control to provide project specific fees, which are now 

provided in virtually all cases. It is proposed to continue with provision of 

site specific fees in accordance with The Building (Local Authority 

Charges) Regulations 2010 as in previous years, however it is also now 

proposed to expand this to cover the remaining few fee categories where 

a fixed fee is currently published. 

P
age 38

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

Building Control – Supplementary Charges 

If you are selling a property that has been extended or altered, you need to provide evidence to prospective 

purchasers that any relevant building work has been inspected and approved by a Building Control Body. That 

evidence is in the form of a Building Regulations Completion / Final Certificate and / or an Approval or Initial Notice 

(called the ‘authorised documents’ in the Home Information Pack Regulations).

Legal entitlement to a Completion Certificate is subject to conditions. In cases where the Council is not told that 

building work is completed, or the building is occupied without addressing outstanding Building Regulation matters, 

a certificate is not issued. Despite the best efforts of the Council’s Building Control Surveyors, many home owners 

who undertake building works fail to obtain a Completion Certificate and their application is archived. A fee is 

payable to re-open archived building regulations applications for the purposes of issuing a completion certificate. 

Other charges are payable where we are asked to withdraw a Building Regulations application and refund fees, or 

asked to re-direct inspection fee invoices. Fees are payable in cleared funds before the release of any authorised 

documents or other actions listed below.

ARCHIVED APPLICATIONS

Process request to re-open archived building control file, resolve case and issue completion certificate 50.50 1.52 52.00

Each visit to site in connection with resolving archived building control cases 65.90 1.98 67.90

WITHDRAWN APPLICATIONS

Process request 50.50 1.52 52.00

With additional fees of……

Withdraw Building Notice application where no inspections have taken place

refund submitted fee less 

admin fee

Withdraw Building Notice application where inspections have taken place

refund submitted fee less 

admin fee, less £64 per site 

visit made

Withdrawn Full Plans application without plans being checked or any site inspections being made

refund submitted fee less 

admin fee

Withdraw Full Plans application after plan check but before any inspections on site

refund inspection fee 

(where paid up-front) less 

admin fee

Withdraw Full Plans application after plan check and after site inspections made

refund any paid inspection 

fee less admin fee, less 

£64 per site inspection 

made

RE-DIRECT INSPECTION FEES / ISSUE COPY DOCUMENTS

Process request to re-invoice inspection fee to new addressee 50.50 1.52 52.00

Optional Consultancy Services Please Contact Us Please Contact Us

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 8



Charges note

Under the Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010 local authority building control is not 

permitted to make a profit or loss. The service is to ensure full cost recovery and no more. Any surplus or 

loss made against expenditure budgets is to be offset against the following years fees and charges 

setting. This draft set of fees and charges reflects the surplus income projected to have arisen by the end 

of 13/14 across the shared service. In addition, the level of competition from the private sector needs to 

continually defended against therefore it is proposed to curtail both the extent of fee categories published 

and to make extensive use of the fact that legislation now allows local authorities to offer site specific 

quotations for building regulations applications. In addition expenditure of the service has reduced since 

the creation of a shared service resulting in a reduction in the hourly rate charged by the service.

Service Category

Proposed charge from 

2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

New Properties 3.00%

Naming and numbering new premises. 244.00 7.32 251.30

Naming and numbering new premises. 121.00 3.63 124.60

Additional Adjoing premises to the above 24.00 0.72 24.70

Confirmation of address to solicitors/conveyancers/occupiers or owners 24.00 0.72 24.70
Additional charge where this includes naming of a building (e.g. block of flats) 61.00 1.83 62.80

Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

3.00%

Private Sector Housing
House Fitness Inspections 111.20 3.34 114.50

Registration of housing in multiple occupation:

   per occupant - first property 91.70 2.75 94.50

   per occupant - subsequent property 79.30 2.38 81.70

Service and Administration of Improvement, 25.80 0.77 26.60

Prohibition, Hazard Awareness or Emergency Measures Notices under Housing Act 2004 Price based on the salary of the employee undertaking the work +10%

Enforcement of Statutory Notices, Supervision of Work in Default etc Price based on the salary of the employee undertaking the work +10%

Lifeline
Installation Fee - New Charge (Private & HRA) 35.00 1.05 36.00

Alarms private user pre April 2004 x 52 weeks* 2.60 0.00 2.60

Community Alarm Hire Private/self funder x 52 weeks 3.70 0.11 3.80

Key safes types 1 and 2 Based on the actual cost of the product + 10% admin fee

Business Transformation

Community Services

P
age 40

A
genda Item

 8



Extra pendants - private tenants Based on the actual cost of the product + 10% admin fee

Extra pendants - council tenants Based on the actual cost of the product + 10% admin fee

*This is a lifetime set price and cannot be increased

Hire Products
Hire of smoke alarm per week 1.20 0.05 1.25

CO2 Detector per week 1.20 1.25

Bogus Caller Panic Button 1.20 0.04 1.25

Flood Detector 1.20 0.04 1.25

Falls Detector 1.20 0.04 1.25

Additional pendant 1.20 0.04 1.25

Dial a Ride Service
Minibus - single journey 2.40 0.07 2.50

Concessionary fare 1.80 0.20 2.00

Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £

3.00%

Photocopying per copy
A4 (black & white) 0.30 0.01 0.30

A4 (colour) 0.40 0.01 0.40

A3 (black & white) 0.40 0.01 0.40

A4 binding 1.90 0.06 2.00

A4 plastic cover 1.30 0.04 1.30

A3 (colour) 0.70 0.02 0.70

A2 (black and white) 0.60 0.02 0.60

A2 (colour) Variable rate Variable rate

A1 (black and white) 1.10 0.03 1.10

A1 (colour) Variable rate Variable rate

A0 (black and white) 2.00 0.06 2.10

A0 (colour) Variable rate Variable rate

Other Corporate Charges
Copy P60 5.70 0.17 5.90

Replacement ID badge 5.70 0.17 5.90

Attachment of Earnings per deduction 1.10 0.03 1.10

Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

Revenues 3.00%

Court Costs

Council Tax

Costs must be based on actual costs and worked out in accordance with 

guidance provided

Customer Access & Financial Support

Corporate

P
age 41

A
genda Item

 8



Summons 54.50 1.64 56.10

Liability Order 27.80 0.83 28.60

Magistrates Court Fee 3.00 0.09 3.10

NNDR

Summons 54.50 1.64 56.10

Liability Order 27.80 0.83 28.60

Magistrates Court Fee 3.00 0.09 3.10

Property Services (all exclusive of VAT)

Minor Land Sales Request for Information 46.40 1.39 47.80

Minor Land Sales Full Application 339.90 10.20 350.10

Advertising - Estimated Fee 576.80 17.30 594.10

Surveyors Fees - Estimated Fee 463.50 13.91 477.40

Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

3.00%

Dispersed Units
Water charge - per week 4.80 0.14 4.90

Minimum Charge 12.90 0.39 13.30

Maximum Charge 13.90 0.42 14.30

0.00

Service Charges
Three Storey Flats* 6.80 0.20 7.00

Woodrow Estate 3.60 0.11 3.70

Evesham Mews 5.90 0.18 6.10

St David's House 25.80 0.77 26.60

Queen's Cottages 25.80 0.77 26.60

Replacement Key Fobs (each) 10.80 0.32 11.10

Sheltered Scheme (VAT inclusive)
Use of washing machines 2.40 0.07 2.50

Use of drying machines 2.00 0.06 2.10

Use of guest bedrooms per night 14.40 0.43 14.80

Use of communal lounge 10.80 0.32 11.10

St David's House
Heating charge 8.20 0.25 8.40

Water charge 4.10 0.12 4.20

Laundry Charge 6.20 0.19 6.40

Mendip House
Gas boiler and cooker F1/B3 9.00 0.27 9.30

Gas boiler and cooker F1/1(B) 10.80 0.32 11.10

0.00

Bredon House
Gas boiler and cooker F1/1(A) 8.20 0.25 8.40

Gas boiler and cooker F1/1(B) 8.20 0.25 8.40

Housing Services

P
age 42

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

Gas boiler and cooker F3/BS 8.20 0.25 8.40

Gas boiler and cooker F1/2P 9.20 0.28 9.50

Malvern House
Gas boiler and cooker F1/BS 8.30 0.25 8.50

Gas boiler and cooker F1/1 8.80 0.26 9.10

Gas boiler and cooker F1/2 9.30 0.28 9.60

Mendip House
Gas boiler & electric cooker F1/B3 7.60 0.23 7.80

Gas boiler & electric cooker F1/1 9.40 0.28 9.70

Bredon House
Gas boiler & electric cooker F1/1(A) 5.80 0.17 6.00

Gas boiler & electric cooker F1/1(B) 5.90 0.18 6.10

Gas boiler & electric cooker F3/BS 5.90 0.18 6.10

Gas boiler & electric cooker F1/2P 6.70 0.20 6.90

Malvern House
Gas boiler & electric cooker F1/BS 6.00 0.18 6.20

Gas boiler & electric c ooker F1/1 6.10 0.18 6.30

Gas boiler & electric cooker F1/2 6.90 0.21 7.10

Garage Rents
Garages 8.20 0.25 8.40

Car Ports 3.10 0.09 3.20

Non Council Tenants plus VAT 9.80 0.29 10.10

Rechargeable Repairs
Boarding up a domestic property:

   Minimum charge 22.20 0.67 22.90

   Maximum charge Full cost Full cost

Glazing:

   Minimum charge 46.40 1.39 47.80

   Maximum charge Full cost Full cost

Lock replacement:

   Minimum charge 25.80 0.77 26.60

   Maximum charge Full cost Full cost

Larger repairs (eg door, w/c replacement):

   Minimum charge One third One third

   Maximum charge Full cost Full cost

Out of Hours call out 35.00 1.05 36.00

St Davids House Luncheon Club
Residents 4.10 0.12 4.20

Non Residents (Over 60) (inc VAT) 5.20 0.16 5.40

All Others (inc VAT) 6.30 0.19 6.50

Drinks 0.60 0.02 0.60

P
age 43

A
genda Item

 8



Home Support Service
Weekly well being telephone call 3.90 0.12 4.00

Weekly well being home visit 7.50 0.23 7.70

Weekly Individual Support visiting service  14.90 0.45 15.30

Tenants' Support - St David's House/Queen's Cottages
Full Charge 37.10 0.90 38.00

Landlords References
Landlords References 53.60 1.61 55.20

Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

3.00%

Legal Costs
Mortgage Redemption Fee 60.50 1.82 62.30

Second Mortgage questionnaire 41.50 1.25 42.70

Surrender of Garage Lease 69.00 2.07 71.10

Discount questionnaire 31.50 0.95 32.40

Leasehold Questionnaire 55.50 19.50 75.00 Previous charge did not reflect full recovery cost

Notice of Postponement during Right to Buy 23.00 0.69 23.70

Notice of Postponement post Right to Buy 31.50 0.95 32.40

Re-mortgage 54.00 1.62 55.60

Consent for alterations to former Council house/flat 140.00 4.20 144.20

Retrospective Consent for alterations to former Council house/flat 175.00 5.25 180.30

Garden licence - initial administration fee (plus annual fee) 72.00 28.00 100.00 Charged to reflect cost of recovery

WayLeave Agreement 100.00 50.00 150.00 New charge reflects the full recovery cost

Deed of Grant/Easement 341.00 10.23 351.20

* Licence to Assign 341.00 10.23 351.20

* Rent Deposit Deed 341.00 10.23 351.20

* Authorised Guarantee Agreement 341.00 10.23 351.20

* Licence for Alterations 341.00 10.23 351.20

* Licence to Sub-let 341.00 10.23 351.20

* Deed of Variation 341.00 10.23 351.20

* Grant of Lease 446.00 29.00 475.00 New charge reflects the work required

*Extended Lease 0.00 0.00 475.00 First request received in 2016. There will be more

* Deed of Surrender 341.00 10.23 351.20

* Please note that each document shall be charged for separately, except where one transaction involves 

more than two documents, in which case fees will be capped at £765.00

Tenancy at Will 341.00 10.23 351.20

Renewal of Lease 341.00 10.23 351.20

Minor land sales - legal fees upto the value of £1000 446.00 29.00 475.00 New charge reflects the work required

Major land sales - legal fees £10000+

0.5% of the purchase 

price, with a minimum 

charge of £500.00

Legal, Equalities and Democratic Services

P
age 44

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

Major land sales - legal fees £50000+

0.5% of the purchase 

price, with a minimum 

charge of £750

Deed of release of covenant 

0.5% of the release 

consideration with a 

minimum of £750 This is a new head of charge reflecting the uplift value of the release

Diversion of Footpath under Section 257 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1,880.00 56.40 1,936.40

Freehold reversions - admin fee 341.00 10.23 351.20

Copy of lease (up to 25 pages)

Copies of RTB service charges (up to last three years)

Extra copies of valuation - S.125 Notice

Section 106
Private Owner 467.50 14.03 481.50

Each additional unit added (up to a maximum of £1,500) * 58.50 1.76 60.30

100% Affordable housing schemes 877.50 26.33 903.80

Deed of Variation  ** 333.50 10.01 343.50

Fee for agreeing a unilateral undertaking 333.50 10.01 343.50

* Please note that for complex 106 agreements charges may be calculated based at the Law Society 

regional rates for legal work to reflect the time taken to complete the negotiations and drafting. Fees 

calculated under this provision may exceed £1,500   ** This new head of charge is required as variations to 

S106 agreements were rare but are becoming more frequent and this enables the charge to be published 

and this enables the charge to be published.  The rate is the same as that for a similar type of planning 

agreement, for consistency.

LOCAL LAND CHARGES
Search Type

Official Certificate of Search (LLC1) only 26.00 0.78 26.80

CON29R Enquiries of Local Authority (2007)

  - Residential 85.00 13.55 98.50

  - Commercial 126.00 14.78 140.80

Standard Search Fee: LLC1 and CON 29R combined

  - Residential 111.00 14.33 125.30

Increases include the charge by WCC of £11 to reflect their response 

charge to the query

  - Commercial 152.00 15.56 167.60

CON 29O Optional enquiries of Local Authority (2007)

(Questions 5,6,8,9,11,15) per question 12.00 0.36 12.40

(Questions 7,10,12,13,14,16-21) per question 6.00 0.18 6.20

 (Question 22) 24.00 0.72 24.70

 (Question 4) 13.40 Separate to include WCC fee on the quesiton

Extra written enquiries (Refer to Worcestershire County Council for Highways enquiries) 47.00 1.41 48.40

Each additional parcel of land (LLC1 and CON29R) 22.00 0.66 22.70

Refresher Search 38.00 1.14 39.10

Expedited (within 48 hrs) 30.00 0.90 30.90

These charges must be assessed independently.  They can’t be subject to 

an automatic annual uplift as this could breach the Local Land Charges 

Charging Regulations under which they can be set. 

Standard photocopying 

charge for no & size of 

pages

P
age 45

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

DEVELOPMENT PLAN DOCUMENTS 3.00%

Previous Local Plans
Borough of Redditch Local Plan No.1:

Written statement and proposals map 10.50 0.32 10.80

Borough of Redditch Local Plan No.2:

  Written statement and proposals map 27.10 0.81 27.90

   Inspectors Report (1993 & 1995) 6.20 0.19 6.40

Local Development Framework Documents (LDF)
Borough of Redditch Local Plan No.3:

  Written statement and proposals map 66.30 1.99 68.30

   Inspectors Report 32.90 0.99 33.90

Local Development Scheme (LDS) 19.70 0.59 20.30

Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) 19.70 0.59 20.30

Scoping Report for Development Plan Documents 19.70 0.59 20.30

Monitoring Documents
Housing Commitments in Redditch Borough since 1 April 1996 32.30 0.97 33.30

Housing Completions on Large and Small Sites in Redditch Borough since 1 April 1996 32.30 0.97 33.30

Replacement Dwellings Monitoring since 1 April 1996 32.30 0.97 33.30

Annual Commitments & Completions on Small Windfall Sites since 1 April 1996 32.30 0.97 33.30

Provision of Affordable Housing since 1 April 1996 32.30 0.97 33.30

Employment Land Supply in Redditch Borough since 1 April 1996 32.30 0.97 33.30

Annual Monitoring Report 32.30 0.97 33.30

Other Documents
Feckenham Housing Needs Assessment 6.40 0.19 6.60

Redditch Housing Needs Assessment 12.90 0.39 13.30

Residential Urban Capacity Study 44.30 1.33 45.60

Open Space Needs Assessment 44.30 1.33 45.60

Schedule of Buildings of Local Interest 31.40 0.94 32.30

North West Redditch Master Plan Documents

   - Report 19.10 0.57 19.70

   - Transport Report Appendix 12.90 0.39 13.30

   - Landscape Appendix 1.50 0.05 1.50

Supplementary Planning Documents/ Guidance 
Affordable Housing Provision (2000) 19.10 0.57 19.70

Encouraging Good Design 19.10 0.57 19.70

General Mobility Housing - Design Standards 6.00 0.18 6.20

General Mobility Housing - Needs Assessment 3.20 0.10 3.30

Employment Land Monitoring (SPG) 19.10 0.57 19.70

All new Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD’s) 19.10 0.57 19.70

Planning and Regeneration

P
age 46

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

Development Management Charges
High Hedge Complaints 230.70 6.92 237.60

Residential Development/Development site Area/Proposed 
1-4 dwellings/0.5ha 297.70 8.93 306.60

   - Additional meeting (after first three) 118.50 3.56 122.10

5-9 dwellings/0.6 - 0.99ha 598.40 17.95 616.40

   - Additional meeting (after first three) 118.50 3.56 122.10

10-49 dwellings/1.0 - 1.25ha 1,194.80 35.84 1,230.60

   - Additional meeting (after first three) 597.40 17.92 615.30

50-199 dwellings/1.26 - 2.0ha 2,389.60 71.69 2,461.30

   - Additional meeting (after first three) 883.70 26.51 910.20

200+ dwellings/more than 2ha 3,583.40 107.50 3,690.90

   - Additional meeting (after first three) 1,194.80 35.84 1,230.60

Business Centres
Fax - Outgoing    

     UK 0.90 0.03 0.90

     Europe & Eire 1.70 0.05 1.80

     North America 1.90 0.06 2.00

     Other 2.80 0.08 2.90

Fax - Incoming 0.60 0.02 0.60

Secretarial

  - minimum charge 10.40 0.31 10.70

  - charge per hour 12.70 0.38 13.10

Postal Address Facility - per month 45.60 1.37 47.00

Telephone Divert:  

     Normal - per quarter 116.70 3.50 120.20

     Gold - per quarter 220.70 6.62 227.30

Photocopying:

     A4 single side 0.10 0.00 0.10

     A4 double side 0.20 0.01 0.20

     A3 single side 0.30 0.01 0.30

     A3 double side 0.30 0.01 0.30

Photocopying: 

     A4 single side - non tenants 0.20 0.01 0.20

Conference Room (per hour):    

     Rubicon Tenants 10.40 0.31 10.70

     Rubicon Non Tenants 20.70 0.62 21.30

     Greenlands Tenants 11.70 0.35 12.10

     Greenlands Non Tenants 23.30 0.70 24.00

OUTDOOR MARKET RATES

Now operated by 'Sketts' who are responsible for setting the fees and 

charges. 

P
age 47

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

0.00%

TAXI LICENSING Charges within this section are statutory 

  - Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licence per annum ( charge excludes vehicle testing) 258.65 0.00 258.65

  - Hackney Carriage Driver’s Licence - 1 Year 58.60 0.00 58.60

  - Hackney Carriage Driver’s Licence - 3 Year 144.00 0.00 144.00

  - Private Hire Operator’s Licence - 1 Year

      - (1 vehicle) 164.00 0.00 164.00

      - per each additional vehicle 16.40 0.00 16.40

  - Private Hire Operator’s Licence - 3 Year (1 Vehicle) 394.00 Subject to consultation at Licensing Committee new 3 year Licence

  - Private Hire Operator’s Licence - 5 Year (1 Vehicle) 624.00 0.00 624.00

  - Private Hire Driver Licence - 1 Year 58.60 0.00 58.60

  - Private Hire Driver Licence - 3 Year 144.00 0.00 144.00

  - Dual Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Driver’s Licence - 1 Year 83.00 0.00 83.00

  - Dual Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Driver’s Licence - 3 Year 200.00 0.00 200.00

  - Knowledge test 20.00 0.00 20.00

  - Administration Charge - new applications 35.00 0.00 35.00

  - Transfer of plate - per transfer 48.00 0.00 48.00

  - Replacement Vehicle Plates 20.00 0.00 20.00

  - Replacement Driver’s Badge (card) 11.00 0.00 11.00

  - Amendment to paper licence - eg change of address 10.50 0.00 10.50

  - DVLA Enquiry - Electronic 5.50 0.55 6.00

  - DVLA Enquiry - Paper 10.50 0.53 11.00

  - CRB Disclosure 50.00 3.00 53.00 Increase of 6% to recover accurate costs based on time spent

GENERAL LICENSING

Licensing Act 2003
  - Annual Street Trading Consent - Food - Initial - per annum 1,418.00 0.00 1,418.00

  - Annual Street Trading Consent - Food - Renewal - per annum 1,301.00 0.00 1,301.00

  - Annual Street Trading Consent - Non Food - Initial - per annum 1,183.00 0.00 1,183.00

  - Annual Street Trading Consent - Non Food - Renewal - per annum 1,064.00 0.00 1,064.00

  - Animal Boarding - Initial 113.00 6.78 120.00 6% to reflect costs

  - Animal Boarding - Renewal 113.00 6.78 120.00 6% to reflect costs

  - Animal Boarding - Vet fees/Animal welfare visit if applicable charged at cost Recharged at cost Recharged at cost

  - Dog Breeding - Initial 113.00 6.78 120.00 6% to reflect costs

  - Dog Breeding - Renewal 113.00 6.78 120.00 6% to reflect costs

  - Dog Breeding - Vet fees/Animal welfare visit if applicable charged at cost Recharged at cost Recharged at cost

  - Dangerous Wild Animals - Initial 180.00 9.90 190.00 5.5% to reflect costs

  - Dangerous Wild Animals - Renewal 180.00 9.90 190.00 5.5% to reflect costs

  - Dangerous Wild Animals - Vet fees/Animal welfare visit if applicable charged at cost Recharged at cost Recharged at cost

  - Pet Shops - Initial 113.00 6.78 120.00 6% to reflect costs

  - Pet Shops - Renewal 113.00 6.78 120.00 6% to reflect costs

Regulatory Services

P
age 48

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

  - Pet Shops - Vet fees / Animal welfare visit if applicable charged at cost Recharged at cost Recharged at cost

  - Riding Establishments 175.00 14.88 190.00 8.5% to reflect costs

  - Riding Establishment - Vet fees / Animal welfare visit if applicable charged at cost Recharged at cost Recharged at cost

  - Control of Sex Establishments 979.00 0.00 979.00

  - Zoo - Initial 113.00 6.78 120.00 6% to reflect costs

  - Zoo - Renewal 113.00 6.78 120.00 6% to reflect costs

  - Zoo - Vet fees/Animal welfare visit if applicable charged at cost Recharged at cost Recharged at cost

Acupuncture, Tattooing, Ear Piercing and Electrolysis

  - Premises 125.00 5.00 130.00 4% to reflect costs

  - Practitioners 82.00 3.28 85.00 4% to reflect costs

Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013

  - Site Licence (New) 290.00 0.00 290.00

        Per Additional Site 150.00 0.00 150.00

  - Collectors Licence (New) 145.00 0.00 145.00

  - Site Licence (Renewal) 240.00 0.00 240.00

        Per Additional Site 150.00 0.00 150.00

  - Collectors Licence (Renewal) 95.00 0.00 95.00

  - Variation of Licence 65.00 0.00 65.00

 - Copy of Licence (if lost or stolen) 25.00 0.00 25.00

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH Charges within this section are statutory 
Dog Warden
  - Penalty (statutory fee) 25.00 0.00 25.00 Statutory Charge - Legislation since 1992

  - Kennelling Fee - £13.50 per day or part day 12.00 1.50

13.50

An increase of 12% to reflect the cost recovery of the dog warden

  - Kennelling Fee for dangerous dog by breed or behaviour- £16 per day - 0.00 16.00 A new charge to reflect costs associated with dangerous dogs 

  - Admin charge 10.00 0.00 10.00

  - Levy for out of hours 30.00 0.90 31.00 3% increase

  - Repeat offence levy 25.00 0.00 25.00

GAMBLING FEES

Premises Licence Fees - Discretionary

Bingo Premises
  - Grant 2,128.00 0.00 2,128.00

  - Annual Fee 626.00 0.00 626.00

  - Variation 1,064.00 0.00 1,064.00

  - Transfer 730.00 0.00 730.00

  - Application for Provisional Statement 2,128.00 0.00 2,128.00

  - Licence Application (Provisional Statement Holders) 730.00 0.00 730.00

  - Copy of Licence 25.00 0.00 25.00 Statutory charge - cannot be above £25

  - Notification of Change 50.00 0.00 50.00 Statutory charge - cannot be above £50

  - Re-instatement Fee 730.00 0.00 730.00

P
age 49

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

Adult Gaming Centre
  - Grant 1,216.00 0.00 1,216.00

  - Annual Fee 626.00 0.00 626.00

  - Variation 626.00 0.00 626.00

  - Transfer 730.00 0.00 730.00

  - Application for Provisional Statement 1,216.00 0.00 1,216.00

  - Licence Application (Provisional Statement Holders) 730.00 0.00 730.00

  - Copy of Licence 25.00 0.00 25.00 Statutory charge - cannot be above £25

p 50.00 0.00 50.00 Statutory charge - cannot be above £50

  - Application by Re-instatement 730.00 0.00 730.00

Family Entertainment Centre
  - Grant 1,216.00 0.00 1,216.00

  - Annual Fee 578.00 0.00 578.00

  - Variation 626.00 0.00 626.00

  - Transfer 608.00 0.00 608.00

  - Application for Provisional Statement 1,216.00 0.00 1,216.00

  - Licence Application (Provisional Statement Holders) 608.00 0.00 608.00

  - Copy of Licence 25.00 0.00 25.00 Statutory charge - cannot be above £25

  - Notification of Change 50.00 0.00 50.00 Statutory charge - cannot be above £50

  - Application by Re-instatement 596.00 0.00 596.00

Betting Premises (excluding tracks)
  - Grant 1,817.00 0.00 1,817.00

  - Annual Fee 364.00 0.00 364.00

  - Variation 908.00 0.00 908.00

  - Transfer 727.00 0.00 727.00

  - Application for Provisional Statement 1,817.00 0.00 1,817.00

  - Licence Application (Provisional Statement Holders) 727.00 0.00 727.00

  - Copy of Licence 25.00 0.00 25.00 Statutory charge - cannot be above £25

  - Notification of Change 50.00 0.00 50.00 Statutory charge - cannot be above £50

  - Application by Re-instatement 730.00 0.00 730.00

Betting Premises (Including Tracks)
  - Grant 1,817.00 0.00 1,817.00

  - Annual Fee 364.00 0.00 364.00

  - Variation 908.00 0.00 908.00

  - Transfer 727.00 0.00 727.00

  - Application for Provisional Statement 1,817.00 0.00 1,817.00

  - Licence Application (Provisional Statement Holders) 727.00 0.00 727.00

  - Copy of Licence 25.00 0.00 25.00 Statutory charge - cannot be above £25

  - Notification of Change 50.00 0.00 50.00 Statutory charge - cannot be above £50

  - Application by Re-instatement 730.00 0.00 730.00

Temporary Event Use Notice 
  - Grant 304.00 0.00 304.00

  - Copy of Licence 15.00 0.00 15.00

P
age 50

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

GAMBLING  ACT PERMIT FEES - STATUTORY Charges within this section are statutory 
Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permit

  - Grant 150.00 0.00 150.00

  - Existing operator grant 100.00 0.00 100.00

  - Variation 100.00 0.00 100.00

  - Transfer 25.00 0.00 25.00

  - Annual Fee 50.00 0.00 50.00

  - Change of name 25.00 0.00 25.00

  - Copy of Permit 15.00 0.00 15.00

Licensed Premises Automatic Notification Process
  - Grant 50.00 0.00 50.00

Club Gaming Permits
  - Grant 200.00 0.00 200.00

  - Grant (Club Premises Certificate holder) 100.00 0.00 100.00

  - Existing operator grant 100.00 0.00 100.00

  - Variation 100.00 0.00 100.00

  - Renewal 200.00 0.00 200.00

  - Renewal (Club Premises Certificate holder) 100.00 0.00 100.00

  - Annual Fee 50.00 0.00 50.00

  - Change of Name 100.00 0.00 100.00

  - Copy of Permit 15.00 0.00 15.00

Club Machine Permits
  - Grant 200.00 0.00 200.00

  - Grant (Club Premises Certificate holder) 100.00 0.00 100.00

  - Existing operator grant 100.00 0.00 100.00

  - Variation 100.00 0.00 100.00

  - Renewal 200.00 0.00 200.00

  - Renewal (Club Premises Certificate holder) 100.00 0.00 100.00

  - Annual Fee 50.00 0.00 50.00

  - Copy of Permit 15.00 0.00 15.00

  - Change of Name 25.00 0.00 25.00

  - Transfer of Permit 25.00 0.00 25.00

Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permit
  - Grant 300.00 0.00 300.00

  - Existing operator grant 100.00 0.00 100.00

  - Change of name 25.00 0.00 25.00

  - Renewal 300.00 0.00 300.00

  - Copy of Permit 15.00 0.00 15.00

Prize Gaming Permits
  - Grant 300.00 0.00 300.00

  - Existing operator grant 100.00 0.00 100.00

  - Change of name 25.00 0.00 25.00

  - Renewal 300.00 0.00 300.00

  - Copy of Permit 15.00 0.00 15.00
  - Transitional Application Fee 100.00 0.00 100.00

P
age 51

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

Small Lottery Registration (set by legislation)
  - Grant 40.00 0.00 40.00 STATUTORY

  - Annual fee 20.00 0.00 20.00 STATUTORY

FEE LICENSING 17-18 STATUTORY 0.00% Charges within this section are statutory 

Premises Licence and Club Premises Certificate

Non- Domestic rateable value of premises

BAND A 0 - 4,300 0.00 0 - 4,300

BAND B 4,301 - 33,000 0.00 4,301 - 33,000

BAND C 33,001 - 87,000 0.00 33,001 - 87,000

BAND D 87,001 - 125,000 0.00 87,001 - 125,000

BAND E 125,001 and over 0.00 125,001 and over 

New applications and variations

BAND A 100.00 0.00 100.00

BAND B 190.00 0.00 190.00

BAND C 315.00 0.00 315.00

BAND D 450.00 0.00 450.00

BAND E 635.00 0.00 635.00

Annual Fee

BAND A 70.00 0.00 70.00

BAND B 180.00 0.00 180.00

BAND C 295.00 0.00 295.00

BAND D 320.00 0.00 320.00

BAND E 350.00 0.00 350.00

Property not subject to non-domestic rates will fall into Band A. Properties, which have not yet been constructed 

will fall into band C.

Those premises which fall into Band 'D' will be subject to two times the amount of fee payable as outlined above, 

whilst those premises which fall into Band 'E' will be subject to three times the amount of fee payable, if they are 

used exclusively or primarily for the carrying on of the retail of alcohol for consumption on the premises, 

i.e. large public houses.

Large Events

An additional fee will be charged where the maximum number of persons exceeds 5000 at a licensable event. 

Please contact the Licensing Section for further details.

P
age 52

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

Exemptions Charges within this section are statutory 
Church Halls, Community Halls, Village Halls, or other similar building etc. are exempt from paying any fees for a 

premises licence authorising ONLY the provision of regulated entertainment. If the retail of alcohol is to be included 

in the Premises Licence, the full fee will be payable as outlined above.

No fees are payable by an educational institution, such as a school or a college (whose pupils/students have not 

attained the age of 19) for a premises licence authorising ONLY the provision of regulated entertainment providing 

that is for and on behalf of the educational institution. 

Application for copy of licence or summary on theft, loss etc. 10.50 0.00 10.50

Notification of change of name or address (holder of premises licence) 10.50 0.00 10.50

Application to vary the Designated Premises Supervisor 23.00 0.00 23.00

Application to transfer a premises licence 23.00 0.00 23.00

Interim authority notice following death etc. of licence holder 23.00 0.00 23.00

Application for making of a provisional statement 315.00 0.00 315.00

Application for copy of certificate or summary on theft, loss etc. 10.50 0.00 10.50

Notification of change of name or alteration of club rules 10.50 0.00 10.50

Change of relevant registered address of club 10.50 0.00 10.50

Temporary Event Notices 21.00 0.00 21.00

Application for copy of licence on theft, loss etc. of temporary event notice 10.50 0.00 10.50

Application for copy of licence on theft, loss etc. of personal licence 10.50 0.00 10.50

Notification of change of name or address (Personal Licence) 10.50 0.00 10.50

Notice of interest in any premises 21.00 0.00 21.00

Minor variation application 89.00 0.00 89.00

Should you need assistance in determining which level of fee you are required to pay, please contact the Licensing 

Section on (01527) 881473 or (01527) 881626.

Alternatively email - licensing@bromsgrove.gov.uk

In all cases, cheques must be made payable to 'Bromsgrove District Council'

Premises Licences & Club Premises Certificates Fees Charges within this section are statutory 

Licensing Act 2003

The fees for applications for new licenses, or variations are set according to the rateable value of the 

premises to be licensed

0.00%

Band:
A  (0 - 4,300)

Initial Fee 100.00 0.00 100.00

Annual Charge 70.00 0.00 70.00

B (4,301 - 33,000)

Initial Fee 190.00 0.00 190.00

Annual Charge 180.00 0.00 180.00

C (33,001 - 87,000)

Initial Fee 315.00 0.00 315.00

Annual Charge 295.00 0.00 295.00

P
age 53

A
genda Item

 8



D (87,001 - 125,000)

Initial Fee 450.00 0.00 450.00

Annual Charge 320.00 0.00 320.00

E (125,001 & over)

Initial Fee 635.00 0.00 635.00

Annual Charge 350.00 0.00 350.00

For premises whose business is mainly alcohol-related (not Registered Clubs) fees for Premises in Band D 

and E are as follows

D(x2) (87,001 - 125,000)

Initial Fee 900.00 0.00 900.00

Annual Charge 640.00 0.00 640.00

E(x2) (125,001 & over)

Initial Fee 1,905.00 0.00 1,905.00

Annual Charge 1,050.00 0.00 1,050.00

Personal Licence (For 10 Years) 37.00 0.00 37.00

Temporary Event Notice (Per Notice) 21.00 0.00 21.00

Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

Bulky Household Waste 3.00%

It is proposed that the following charges are trialled for the next year whilst we continue to learn more 

about the customers' nominal value whilst continuing to improve operational charges would be the same 

across Bromsgrove and /Redditch

Bulky collection - Single unit* 8.00 0.24 8.20

At present we charge per item however, the size of an item has a bearing 

on the amount of work needed to remove and dispose of it. Therefore we 

are suggesting a change to a unit price where certain items will be made 

up of a number of units i.e. an under the counter fridge would be 1 unit 

where as a larger fridge freezer would be 2 units, etc.

Bulky collection - two unit* 16.00 0.48 16.50

Bulky collection - three unit* (reduced rate for 3 items) 21.10 0.63 21.70

or 10 Black Bags 21.10 0.63 21.70

*Dependant on size, these items charged for as a multiple of units.

Bulky collection - four items or more Quotation Quotation

Item inside house or garage Quotation Quotation

The items below to be quoted for individually depending on size, weight and position of collection point:

Garden shed Quotation

Piano Quotation Quotation

Chest Freezer Quotation Quotation

Large cookers (ranges) Quotation Quotation

Green Houses Quotation Quotation

Hazardous oils ( Special collections) because of the distance to dispose of them correctly Quotation Quotation

over 10x Black bags Quotation Quotation

Environmental Services

P
age 54

A
genda Item

 8



Wheels, tyres and other car parts Quotation Quotation

'Items that are classed by WCC as non domestic waste Quotation

New Charge - The County Council now treated certain household and 

garden  items as non domestic waste and there a disposal charge is 

payable on these items/loads as well as the usual charge for collection

Mechanically Sweep Private Road / Car Park - Mini Sweeper per Hour 30.00 New Charge

Mechanically Sweep Private Road / Car Park - HGV Sweeper per Hour 50.00 New Charge

Orange sacks each 1.90 0.06 2.00

MOT
Class 4 (car) Set by VOSA Set by VOSA

Class 7 (van) Set by VOSA Set by VOSA

Class 5 vl (minibus) Set by VOSA Set by VOSA

VOSA have yet to set a revised charge.

Council have agreed that the workshop can increase fee in line with VOSA charges (rounded down to the 

nearest whole £) as VOSA change them.

Supplies Service
On cost for cash sales 27.00% 27.00%

Logs per cubic metre per bag 18.50 0.56 19.10

Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

Crematorium/Cemetery 

Interment

Full earth interment under 1 year (non resident only) 103.00 0.00

As per committee report dated 15th Dec 2015 removal of burial charge for 

non residents under 1 year

Full earth interment under 1 year (Redditch resident) No Charge No Charge

Interment 1 year to 17 (inc) years (non resident only) 149.40 0.00

As per committee report dated 15th Dec 2015 removal of burial charge for 

non residents under 18years

Interment 1 year to 17 years (inc) (Redditch Resident) No Charge No Charge

As per committee report dated 15th Dec 2015 removal of burial charge for 

non residents under 18years

Interment 18 years and over*

Single Depth 463.50 126.50 590.00

 20% increase  will allow the triple fee option proposed to be removed as 

only charged twice in the last 12. This  new fee structure it will generate 

extra income whilst making the service more accessible to all N.B. This is 

still being well below the west midlands average.

Double Depth 463.50 126.50 590.00

20% increase  will allow the triple fee option proposed to be removed as 

only charged twice in the last 12 months. This this new fee structure it will 

generate extra income whilst making the service more accessible to all 

N.B. This is still being well below the west midlands average.

Interment of cremated remains * 190.60 5.42 196.00 2.8% increase to round pence

Interment of cremated remains - non resident under 18 years 70.00 -70.00 No Charge

changed to be in line with members agreement as per dec 15 2015 none 

charging of burials to none residents

Interment of cremated remains (Redditch Resident under 18 years only) No Charge No Charge

Scattering cremated remains in grave or in rose/memorial garden (roll back turf) 80.00 2.00 82.00 2.5% increase to round pence

P
age 55

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

Charges for Burials

Exclusive Right of Burial for 75 years 

In adult size grave 1,236.00 249.00 1,485.00

20% increase  will allow the triple fee option proposed to be removed as 

only charged twice in the last 12 months. This this new fee structure it will 

generate extra income whilst making the service more accessible to all 

N.B. This is still being well below the west midlands average.

In babies grave 247.20 7.80 255.00 3.1% to round pence

In child’s grave (4 x 2) 262.70 8.28 271.00 3.1% to round pence

In ashes grave 473.80 94.20 568.00

20% increase will allow for the remove the triple fee option proposed to be 

removed as only charged twice in the last 12 months. This this new fee 

structure it will generate extra income whilst making the service more 

accessible to all N.B. This is still being well below the west midlands 

average.

* No more reserve plots available at Abbey Cemetery.  This is because of the need to use existing capacity 

for people arranging the funeral for someone that has died and therefore need it now.

Extending Rights in existing grave for 25 years

In existing full earth grave 412.00 12.00 424.00 2.9% increase to round pence

In child’s grave 87.60 2.40 90.00 2.7% increase to round pence

In ashes grave 159.70 5.30 165.00 3.3% increase to round pence

Assignment / Transfer of Exclusive Right 41.20 54.80 96.00

raised in line with memorial processing due to officer processing time 

which is the same and the need to be legally compliant using additional 

officer skills

Certified copy of entry in Register of Burials 20.60 0.40 21.00 1.9 % to round pence

Disinterment of Remains - Cremated Remains 236.90 279.10 516.00

Increase to cover full cost recovery inc. officer time to  complete the 

Statutory Exhumation Licence & revise the various statutory registers, 

new container, recovery of the remains and preparation of the remains for 

re reburial or scattering. 

Cemetery Memorials

Memorial application administration fee 92.70 3.30 96.00

3.5% increase to round pence and brought in line with assignment / 

transfer processing fee due to officer time and legal nature of process

Cremation related fees

Direct Cremation 18+ years 08:30am &  08:45am 0.00 395.00

Direct cremation fee for customer who do not require a standard service 

i.e. no use of chapel, no celebrant, no music but do wish to have a simple, 

dignified funeral. This service will help to support the ever increasing need 

to combat funeral poverty. Only 08:30 & 08:45 service times available for 

this service. 

Cremation 17 years and under No Fee 0.00 No Fee As per previous agreement dec 15 2015

P
age 56

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

Cremation 18+ years 09:00am Only 440.00 55.00 495.00

As proposed in report of 16/17  but increased to £495.00 to include 

providing a scattering to allow families more accessible disposal options at 

no additional cost and to include the cost of producing statutory forms for 

application also only available for a 9am service

Cremation 18+ years 09:30am 10:15 am 500.00 55.00 555.00

As proposed in report of 16/17  but increased to £555.00 to include 

providing a scattering to allow families more accessible disposal options at 

no additional cost and to include the cost of producing statutory forms for 

application

Cremation 18+ years 11am onwards 580.00 65.00 645.00

As proposed in report of 16/17  but increased to £645.00 to include 

providing a scattering to allow families more accessible disposal options at 

no additional cost and to include the cost of producing statutory forms for 

application

None Resident Cremation Fees

Proposed that as 65 % of our current cremation business is none Redditch 

resident we could introduce a none resident premium. If we did the above 

charges for cremations of adults would be for Redditch residents as 

defined by their home address and proven where required by the home 

address listed on the statutory form 1 for application for cremation. Even 

with this increase it would leave these fees as within the lowest half of the 

country for the earlier cremation times and just within the top half for the 

later times. 

Cremation 18+ years 9:00 am service only 595.00 595.00

£595.00 to include providing a scattering to allow families more accessible 

disposal options at no additional cost and to include the cost of producing 

statutory forms for application. 09:00 am service only

Cremation 18+ years 09:30am 10:15 am 655.00 655.00

£655.00 to include providing a scattering to allow families more accessible 

disposal options at no additional cost and to include the cost of producing 

statutory forms for application

Cremation 18+ years 11am onwards 745.00 745.00

£745.00 to include providing a scattering to allow families more accessible 

disposal options at no additional cost and to include the cost of producing 

statutory forms for application

Weekday scattering of ashes from other Crematoria 56.70 1.30 58.00 2.8% increase to round pence

Weekend scattering of ashes from other Crematoria 72.10 1.90 74.00 2.6% increase to round pence

Certified extract from Register of Cremations 20.60 0.40 21.00 1.9% increase to round pence

Replacement certificate of cremation 10.30 0.70 11.00 6% increase to round pence

Organist’s fee 0.00 0.00 45.00

new charge introduced as Organist is now contracted directly by the 

Crematorium. The charge includes VAT

Extra Service Time in Chapel 159.70 5.30 165.00 3.3% increase to round pence

Use of chapel for burial service of child 16 or under (not RBC Cemeteries) 221.50 6.50 228.00

proposed 17 and under as above for burial costs & 2.9% increase to 

round pence

Use of Chapel for burial service (RBC Cemeteries) 159.70 5.30 165.00 3.3% increase to round pence

Use of Chapel for  burial/ memorial service (not RBC Cemetery) 8.30 and 9.00 am 422.30 72.70 495.00

in line with lost cremation revenue as burial is using chapel but no other 

fees being generated as using a none RBC cemetery

Use of Chapel for  burial/ memorial service (not RBC Cemetery) 9.30 and 10.15 am 545.90 9.10 555.00

in line with lost cremation revenue as burial is using chapel but no other 

fees being generated as using a none RBC cemetery

Use of Chapel for  burial/ memorial service (not RBC Cemetery) 11.00 am onwards 556.20 88.80 645.00

in line with lost cremation revenue as burial is using chapel but no other 

fees being generated as using a none RBC cemetery

Use of chapel for burial service of child 16 or under (RBC Cemeteries)  74.20 1.80 76.00

proposed 17 years and under as above burial costs &  2.4% increase to 

round pence

Late arrival at Crematorium (only if service runs into next time slot) 159.70 5.30 165.00 3.3% increase to round pence

P
age 57

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

Cremation of a body part where the original cremation was elsewhere - 0.00 0.00 150.00 new charge introduced following a recent audit recommendation

Caskets
Wooden cremated remains casket 87.50 5.20 92.70 Increased to reflect full recovery cost

Wesley music additional options

CD of chapel service (tbc) 46.40 1.60 48.00 3.4% increase 

DVD of Chapel service (tbc) 56.70 1.30 58.00 2.3% increase 

Webcast of Chapel service (tbc) 67.00 2.01 69.00 3% increase

Memorials 3.00%

Book of Remembrance - Name + 1 line 82.40 2.47 84.90

Each additional line in the Book 30.90 0.93 31.80

Miniature Book of Remembrance - Name + 1 line 72.10 2.16 74.30

Remembrance Card - Name + 1 line 36.10 1.08 37.20

Additional lines in miniature and cards 25.80 0.77 26.60

Crests - Floral depiction 51.50 1.55 53.00

               - Badge or other 61.80 1.85 63.70

Bench with 10 year lease & top rail engraving (max 40 letters) - 0.00 0.00 800.00

New Charge - Following a review of existing benches, we have re-

introduced the ability to purchase a memorial bench on a ten year lease 

after this was suspended the offering due to a lack of space. 

Bench with 10 year lease &  standard silver plaque (max 60 letters) - 0.00 0.00 760.00 New charge see above

Bench replacement plaque - £110.00 0.00 0.00 110.00 New charge see above

Wall Plaques – Internal

Indoor single (12” x 3”) - 5 year lease 164.80 14.94 179.70

Indoor single (12” x 3”) - 10 year lease 267.80 18.03 285.80

Indoor single (12” x 3”) - 20 year lease 370.80 21.12 391.90

Indoor double (12” x 6”) - 5 year lease 267.80 18.03 285.80

Indoor double (12” x 6”) - 10 year lease 370.80 21.12 391.90

Indoor double (12” x 6”) - 20 year lease 473.80 24.21 498.00

Outdoor Wall Plaques

5 year lease 185.40 15.56 201.00

10 year lease 288.40 18.65 307.10

20 year lease 391.40 21.74 413.10

Photo or motif 154.50 14.64 169.10

Bird Bath Memorial

5 year lease

Size 1 - small 185.40 5.56 191.00

Size 2 206.00 6.18 212.20

Size 3 226.60 6.80 233.40

Size 4 247.20 7.42 254.60

Size 5 - large 267.80 8.03 275.80

10 year lease

Size 1 - small 288.40 8.65 297.10

Size 2 309.00 9.27 318.30

Size 3 329.60 9.89 339.50

Size 4 350.20 10.51 360.70

Size 5 - large 370.80 11.12 381.90

Increased due to supplier price increase

Increased due to supplier price increase

P
age 58

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

20 year lease

Size 1 - small 391.40 11.74 403.10

Size 2 412.00 12.36 424.40

Size 3 432.60 12.98 445.60

Size 4 453.20 13.60 466.80

Size 5 - large 473.80 14.21 488.00

Motif 103.00 3.09 106.10

Additional inscription on plaque 82.40 49.60 132.00 Increased due to supplier price increase

Memorial Plaque extension fee 5 years ONLY 128.80 3.86 132.70

Withdrawn option to extend for 10 and 20 years due to the lack of space and price people will pay

Purchase of memorial plaque (bronze) 123.60 56.40 180.00 Increased due to supplier price increase

Parking Fines PCN's On Street 0.00%

Set by Statute

Certain Contraventions 70.00 0.00 70.00

If paid within fourteen days 35.00 0.00 35.00

Other Contraventions 50.00 0.00 50.00

If paid within fourteen days 25.00 0.00 25.00

These charges will increase if the charge remains unpaid after the 28 days given on the NTO (Notice to 

Owner) 

Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

Reddicards 5.00%

The charge is increasing by 5% based on the large financial benefit that is 

derived from accessing this scheme and reflects the increased cost of 

providing it to local residents and to those from outside the Borough. 

Adult resident 28.80 1.44 30.25

Family resident 39.10 1.96 41.05

Couple resident 35.00 1.75 36.75

Junior resident 20.60 1.03 21.65

Adult non-resident 39.70 1.99 41.70

Junior non-resident 27.80 1.39 29.20

Family non-resident 57.20 2.86 60.05

Adult concession 9.80 0.49 10.30

Junior concession 9.80 0.49 10.30

Family concession 14.40 0.72 15.10

Seniors resident 9.80 0.49 10.30

Student 9.80 0.49 10.30

Disabled 9.80 0.49 10.30

Commercial Block Booking Card 102.00 5.10 107.10

Development Block Booking Card 38.10 1.91 40.00

Leisure & Cultural Services

P
age 59

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

Abbey Stadium and Kingsley

0.00%

A recent benchmarking exercise highlighted that the current charge is the 

highest of 9 local authorities that have been reviewed based on the higher 

level price.  As such it is proposed to hold this price to maintain 

competition within the market place. 

Senior denotes over 60 STN – Subject to Negotiation RC – Reddicard
SPORTS - INDOOR FACILITIES HIRE OF FULL HALL (40 MINUTES)

Abbey Stadium/Kingsley  -  Peak

Charge 84.50 0.00 84.50

Reddicard 56.10 0.00 56.10

Concession 42.20 0.00 42.20

Abbey Stadium/Kingsley  -  Off Peak

Charge 54.10 0.00 54.10

Reddicard 36.60 0.00 36.60

Concession 27.30 0.00 27.30

HIRE OF GYMNASIUM (40 MINUTES)

Kingsley

Charge 35.00 0.00 35.00

Reddicard 23.20 0.00 23.20

Concession 17.50 0.00 17.50

Kingsley  -  Commercial STN STN

BADMINTON (PER COURT 40 MINUTES)

5.00%

A recent benchmarking exercise carried out highlighted that the Reddicard 

price is lower than the average price charged. By increasing it by 5% the 

charge proposed for 17/18 is still lower than the average price and it is 

anticipated that this will  not prevent current usage levels from being 

achieved. 

Peak

Charge 12.40 0.62 13.00

Reddicard 8.20 0.41 8.60

Concession 6.20 0.31 6.50

Off Peak

Charge 8.80 0.44 9.25

Reddicard 5.70 0.29 6.00

Concession 4.30 0.22 4.50

SQUASH (PER COURT 40 MINUTES)

0.00%

Given the current usage pattern with Squash participation both nationally 

and locally, and based on the principle of squash being a 2 person game 

unlike other racket sports, it is recommended to freeze the price to try and 

maintain current levels of usage.

Peak

Charge 9.80 0.00 9.80

Reddicard 6.70 0.00 6.70

Concession 5.20 0.00 5.20

Off Peak

Charge 8.20 0.00 8.20

Reddicard 5.40 0.00 5.40

Concession 4.10 0.00 4.10

P
age 60

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

ABBEY STADIUM-CENTRE MEMBERSHIPS

Single - Peak 12 month contract 

n/a n/a 32.00

Following a review of the current fees and charges within the leisure 

industry a new charge is proposed as research is showing that gyms will 

retain members longer should they be on short term contracts as apposed 

to roll on roll off ones. It is proposed to offer both options moving forward, 

but to offer an incentive to those who wish to enter into a longer 

commitment to us to reflect the duration of their stay and the value of their 

overall spend with us.  All other pricing options remain as per previous 

years F&C's and each option is also seen as a method to increase 

physical activity opportunities for the associated well being benefits it 

brings.   

Single - Off Peak 12 month contract n/a n/a 25.00 As above comment 

Single- Peak no contract n/a n/a 35.00 As above comment 

Single- Off Peak no contract n/a n/a 28.00 As above comment 

5.00%

Prices increased in excess of 3% to encourage non-members to join and 

pay by DD which will be more financially advantageous for the customer 

(provide they attend regular sessions) and to the Council as we have a 

more consistent cash flow through the service and can plan for service 

upgrades in a more co-ordinated manner.  

Joining Fee 25.80 1.29 27.10

Day Pass / Pay as you go 6.70 0.34 7.05

Exercise to Music Studio Session 4.60 0.23 4.85

Exercise to Music Studio Session (Les Mills) 5.70 0.29 6.00

Annual Pass 

n/a n/a 350.00

New Price - works on the basis of pay 12 months up front and receive a 

discount of 2 months free. This is to encourage customers to pay up front 

which will encourage them to participate in physical activity for long periods 

of time and allow RBC to receive payments in advance for the full 12mth 

period and reduce administration costs/work. 

TRAMPOLINING & GYMNASTICS – 10 WEEKS
5.00%

This charge if increased by 5% will still be in line with the average price 

charged by other providers.

Abbey /Arrow Vale

Charge 69.50 3.48 72.95

Reddicard 45.80 2.29 48.10

Concession 34.50 1.73 36.25

PARTIES

5.00%

Price increased by 5% to reflect the market rates currently charged and 

RBC low  pricing point in the market.  Following  a 5% increase we will still 

be lower than the average price charged by other providers and would be 

anticipating an increase in April 2018 of a similar level. 

Bouncy / Sports Castle Parties

Charge 163.00 8.15 171.15

Reddicard 108.60 5.43 114.05

Concession 81.80 4.09 85.90

P
age 61

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

JUNIOR NETBALL DEVELOPMENT (Kingsley)
7.50%

This charge is lower than our other junior coaching activities in Sports 

sites. A 7.5% increase will bring this closer to other charges of this type.

Netball 

Charge 5.20 0.39 5.60

Reddicard 3.60 0.27 3.85

Concession 2.60 0.20 2.80

LEISURE TIME (Abbey)

7.50%

The current charge represents extremely good value for money when 

compared to other activities of a similar nature.  The additional increase 

will bring it closer to other prices charged in this facility area and that the 

actual cost is less than £2 pr hour per user for what is a pay and play 

based activity. 

Charge 5.20 0.39 5.60

Reddicard 3.30 0.25 3.55

Concession 2.60 0.20 2.80

SWIMMING

7.50%

Through benchmarking 14 other providers the Reddicard (Standard) 

charge is lower than the average charge of £4.13. Whilst the non 

Reddicard charge is higher the majority of users are Reddicard holders so 

will access the Reddicard price in order to benefit from this pricing point.   

Adult

Charge 5.20 0.39 5.60

# Reddicard 3.30 0.25 3.55

Concession 2.60 0.20 2.80

Junior/Senior 

Charge 5.20 0.39 5.60

Reddicard 3.30 0.25 3.55

Concession 2.60 0.20 2.80

Under 5’s

7.50% As above comment

Small Wet side party
50.40 3.78 54.20

Large Wet side party 
99.80 7.49 107.30

Fun Inflatable Session 7.50% As above comment

Charge 5.20 0.39 5.60

Reddicard 3.30 0.25 3.55

Concession 2.60 0.20 2.80

Ladies Night

Charge 5.20 0.39 5.60

Reddicard 3.30 0.25 3.55

Concession 2.60 0.20 2.80

P
age 62

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

Junior Swimming Lessons

5.00%

Through benchmarking carried out cost is lower in comparison to other 

providers. The average price is £4.75 per lesson when benchmarking 

against 8 other providers of swimming lessons in the region. The 5% 

increase will bring the cost nearer to the average price.

Charge 65.10 3.26 68.35

Reddicard 43.10 2.16 45.25

Concession 32.60 1.63 34.25

One hour lane Hire 5.00%

Charge 20.60 1.03 21.65

Reddicard 13.90 0.70 14.60

Concession 10.30 0.52 10.80

Adult Swimming Lessons – 30 mins

0.00%

This price is high in comparison with other providers and we would like to 

focus on getting more residents to learn to swim, as we don’t want to deter 

people through over pricing the activity.

Charge 81.40 0.00 81.40

Reddicard 54.10 0.00 54.10

Concession 40.40 0.00 40.40

5.00%

Price increased by 5%.  Based on proposed price increase the charges 

would be in line with other Gala providers locally. 

Abbey- Gala Hire - 3 hour duration 318.30 15.92 334.20

Abbey - Gala Hire - Additional Hour 53.00 2.65 55.65

Abbey & Kingsley - Pool Hire 50.50 2.53 53.05

Hire of Instructor 21.60 1.08 22.70

One to one Swimming lessons- 30 mins duration

n/a n/a 15.00

New Charge - Price is broadly comparable to other providers when 

benchmarked with rooms to increase in future years should it prove 

popular.

ARROW VALE 0.00%

Due to falling participation levels, strong competition in the market place 

for the key activities that the site provides based on price & quality of the 

building and services, plus a review of service users feedback, it is 

proposed to freeze the prices at this centre in order to offer greater value 

for money and to match other providers pricing points.  

SPORTS - INDOOR FACILITIES HIRE OF FULL HALL (40 MINUTES)
Arrow Vale -  Peak

Charge 63.90 0.00 63.90

Reddicard 42.80 0.00 42.80

Concession 31.90 0.00 31.90

Arrow Vale -  Off Peak

Charge 41.70 0.00 41.70

Reddicard 27.30 0.00 27.30

Concession 21.10 0.00 21.10

P
age 63

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

HIRE OF GYMNASIUM (40 MINUTES)

Arrow Vale

Charge 35.00 0.00 35.00

Reddicard 23.20 0.00 23.20

Concession 17.50 0.00 17.50

Arrow Vale  -  Commercial STN STN

MOVEMENT & DANCE AREA (4O MINUTES)

Arrow Vale

Charge 35.00 0.00 35.00

Reddicard 23.20 0.00 23.20

Concession 17.50 0.00 17.50

Arrow Vale – Commercial Hire STN STN

BADMINTON (PER COURT 40 MINUTES)

Peak 5.00%

A recent benchmarking exercise carried out highlighted that the Reddicard 

price is lower than the average price charged. By increasing it by 5% the 

charge proposed for 16/17 is still lower than the average.

Charge 12.40 0.62 13.00

Reddicard 8.20 0.41 8.60

Concession 6.20 0.31 6.50

Off-Peak

Charge 8.80 0.44 9.25

Reddicard 5.70 0.29 6.00

Concession 4.30 0.22 4.50

SQUASH (PER COURT 40 MINUTES) 5.00%

There are no longer squash courts or squash provision at this site so 

these prices are no longer required

Peak

Charge 9.80 n/a n/a

Reddicard 6.70 n/a n/a

Concession 5.20 n/a n/a

Off Peak

Charge 8.20 n/a n/a

Reddicard 5.40 n/a n/a

Concession 4.10 n/a n/a

TRAMPOLINING & GYMNASTICS – 10 WEEKS 5.00%

The price increase will result in us still being competitive for this activity in 

relation to pricing - based on the Reddicard standard fee.

Arrow Vale 

Charge 69.50 3.48 72.95

Reddicard 45.80 2.29 48.10

Concession 34.50 1.73 36.25

P
age 64

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

SPRINGS GYM (ARROW VALE) 0.00%

Due to falling participation levels, strong competition in the market place 

for the key activities that the site provides based on price & quality of the 

building and services, plus a review of service users feedback, it is 

proposed to freeze the prices at this centre in order to offer greater value 

for money and to match other providers pricing point.  

Induction *(VAT EXEMPT) 22.70 0.00 22.70

Pay as you  go session 6.20 0.00 6.20

Arrow Vale Direct Debit Membership 16.50 0.00 16.50

Arrow Vale Memberships with Classes included 20.60 0.00 20.60

ARROW VALE ATP PITCH HIRE

One third pitch hire per hour

Reddicard n/a n/a n/a

Concession n/a n/a n/a

SPORTS  -  OUTDOOR FACILITIES 0.00%

GOLF

18 hole Adult

Charge 14.00 0.00 14.00

Reddicard 11.00 0.00 11.00

Concession 9.00 0.00 9.00

9 hole Adult 

Charge 10.50 0.00 10.50

Reddicard 8.00 0.00 8.00

Concession 7.00 0.00 7.00

18 hole Junior

Charge 9.50 0.00 9.50

Reddicard 7.00 0.00 7.00

Concession 6.00 0.00 6.00

9 hole Junior

Charge 7.00 0.00 7.00

Reddicard 4.50 0.00 4.50
Concession 3.50 0.00 3.50

TENNIS (PER COURT 1 HOUR) 5.00%

The proposed 5% increase would mean the service is comparable with 

other local providers and does not impact on participation rates.  

Adult

Charge 9.30 0.47 9.75

Reddicard 6.20 0.31 6.50

Concession 4.60 0.23 4.85

Junior (before 5.00 p.m.)

Charge 6.70 0.34 7.05

Reddicard 4.60 0.23 4.85

Concession 3.60 0.18 3.80

Price is no longer required as the pitch is closed due to the need for a full 

replacement of the playing surface and a full health and safety 

assessment.  Full details of the issues faced are contained within the 

MTFP for 17/18 onwards.

Prices are frozen to reflect the current usage patterns within golf and to 

provide the new on site team with the  opportunity to retain existing 

participants and attract new players.  At present other providers are 

offering competitive membership pricing to try to address a 

national/regional decline in participation which is impacting on POCG 

traditional market. The number of rounds provided has declined over the 

last 12 months by 33% in comparison with the previous 12 month period. 

P
age 65

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

FLOODLIT AREA

This facility is not currently used as it relates to the grass pitch. Demand is 

very low and due to a significant increase in track activities it is not 

possible to provide football activity at the same time as the risk of injury is 

to great.

Abbey Stadium – ½ Pitch per hour

Charge 84.50 n/a n/a

Reddicard 56.10 n/a n/a

Concession 43.80 n/a n/a

Abbey Stadium – with Changing Rooms per 90 mins 5.00%

The increased charge is justified on the basis that it is a cost split between 

a large number of players and equates to 43p per player (home team 

only). This justifies the increase over and above the standard 3%.

Charge 128.20 6.41 134.60

Reddicard 85.00 4.25 89.25
Concession 64.40 3.22 67.60

NETBALL COURT HIRE 5.00%

This charge is very competitive (e.g.- in comparison to other team Sports) 

as it is split between a significant number of participants and equates to 

18p per player (home team only). This justifies the increase over and 

above the standard 3%.

Charge 36.60 1.83 38.45
Reddicard 24.70 1.24 25.95
Concession 18.00 0.90 18.90

ATHLETICS 3.00%
Adult  -  individual charge
Charge 6.70 0.20 6.90
Reddicard 4.20 0.13 4.35

Concession 3.30 0.10 3.40

Junior  -  individual charge

Charge 3.10 0.09 3.20

Reddicard 2.10 0.06 2.15

Concession 1.60 0.05 1.65

Bromsgrove and Redditch- individual member 1.10 0.03 1.15

3.00%

Bromsgrove & Redditch Athletics Club Rental hire 4,704.00 141.12 4,845.10

FOOTBALL -  ADULT (INC. CHANGING FACILITIES) 5.00%

The increase is justified on the basis that it is a cost split between a large 

number of players and equates to 28p per player (home team only). See 

above comment.

Abbey Stadium/Ipsley/Old Forge/Greenlands

Charge 85.00 4.25 89.25

Reddicard 56.10 2.81 58.90

P
age 66

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

FOOTBALL - JUNIOR (INC. CHANGING FACILITIES)

Abbey Stadium/Morton Stanley Park/Ipsley/Old Forge/Greenlands/Kingsley

Charge 43.30 2.17 45.45

Reddicard 29.40 1.47 30.85

Abbey Stadium/Morton Stanley Park/Ipsley/Old Forge/Greenlands. Without changing facilities.

Charge 28.80 1.44 30.25

Reddicard 19.10 0.96 20.05

Small Sided Football

Charge 14.40 0.72 15.10

Reddicard 9.80 0.49 10.30

SPORTS DEVELOPMENT CHARGES 5.00%

Following a review with competitors and other provides costs, F&Cs are 

proposed to increase above the standard 3% increase to reduce the deficit 

funding provided to the current activity programme and to allow additional 

services to be developed and implemented at no extra cost to RBC

Adult fitness Sessions 3.10 0.16 3.25

Community exercise class 3.00 0.15 3.15

Health & Well Being Sessions 2.10 0.11 2.20

12.50%

Increase by 12.5% - £22.05 per hour. Currently undercharging schools so 

increased to meet market rate.

Curriculum Cost 19.60 2.45 22.05

2.00%

Increase by 2% to reflect curriculum cost £22.05 ph. Currently 

undercharging schools so increased to meet market rate.

Schools Hire – lunchtime / after school sessions 21.60 0.43 22.05

20.00%

Increase to - £3ph. This has brought in line with other targeted 

programmes i.e. PSI and special populations

Inclusive Activities 2.50 0.50 3.00

0.00%

It is not possible to increase the fees in this area as it is a commissioned 

service at a fixed pricing point

PSI Falls Prevention 3.00 0.00 3.00

9.60%

Increased to the equivalent of £3 per week (6 week course) in line with 

other targeted programmes

Activity Referral 15.50 1.49 17.00

5.00% Refer to paragraph at the top of this section.

Junior Sports Sessions 3.10 0.16 3.25

P
age 67

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

YOUTH THEATRE CHARGES 3.00%

Increased at standard rate to reflect previous years increases and current 

full cost recover position of the service. 

10 week terms (Tues & Sat 2 hrs)

Charge 108.20 3.25 111.45

Reddicard 72.10 2.16 74.25

Concession 35.00 1.05 36.05

10 week terms (Mon 1 hr)

Charge 54.10 1.62 55.70

Reddicard 36.10 1.08 37.20

Concession 17.00 0.51 17.50

Optional Direct Debit Fee

Charge 6.20 0.19 6.40 Reflects the cost of provision

Reddicard 6.20 0.19 6.40

Concession 6.20 0.19 6.40

Through the consultation feedback exercise, the proposed 5.5% uplift 

retains a competitive value for money  status in the competitive market 

(rounded to the nearest 5p)

COMMUNITY CENTRES 5.50%

Batchley - Main Hall (Per Hour)

Function Rate 18.00 0.99 19.00

Voluntary Rate 10.10 0.56 10.65

Pre-School 11.00 0.61 11.60

Standard Rate 1 23.70 1.30 25.00

Standard Rate 2 26.00 1.43 27.45

Standard Rate 3 31.00 1.71 32.70

Oakenshaw

Main Hall

Function Rate 18.00 0.99 19.00

Voluntary Rate 12.70 0.70 13.40

Pre-School 14.00 0.77 14.75

Standard Rate 1 23.70 1.30 25.00

Standard Rate 2 26.00 1.43 27.45

Standard Rate 3 31.00 1.71 32.70

Small Hall

Function Rate 16.00 0.88 16.90

Voluntary Rate 10.10 0.56 10.65

Pre-School 11.00 0.61 11.60

Standard Rate 1 19.10 1.05 20.15

Standard Rate 2 20.70 1.14 21.85
Standard Rate 3 24.50 1.35 25.85

Proposed Pricing Structure 2016/17 - Community Centres

Function Rate: A closed or private party booking.

Voluntary Rate: A registered charity OR non profitable organisation who provide free access to the service user.

Pre- School Rate: Initial rate for pre-school bookings, to be reviewed after 6 months following submission of annual accounts.

Standard Rate 1: A new business venture and/or an activity that attracts no more than an average of 15 participants are charged to attend.

Standard Rate 2: An organisation or group that charges an attendance fee that attracts between 15-20 participants.

Standard Rate 3: An organisation or group that charges an attendance fee that attracts more than 30 participants.

P
age 68

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category charge 1st April 2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

Windmill

Main Hall

Function Rate 18.00 0.99 19.00

Voluntary Rate 12.70 0.70 13.40

Pre-School 14.00 0.77 14.75

Standard Rate 1 23.70 1.30 25.00

Standard Rate 2 26.00 1.43 27.45

Standard Rate 3 31.00 1.71 32.70

Small Hall

Function Rate 16.00 0.88 16.90

Voluntary Rate 10.10 0.56 10.65

Pre-School 11.00 0.61 11.60

Standard Rate 1 19.10 1.05 20.15

Standard Rate 2 20.70 1.14 21.85

Standard Rate 3 24.50 1.35 25.85

Winyates Barn

Function Rate 18.00 0.99 19.00

Voluntary Rate 10.10 0.56 10.65

Standard Rate 1 23.70 1.30 25.00

Standard Rate 2 26.00 1.43 27.45

Standard Rate 3 31.00 1.71 32.70

Winyates Green

Function Rate 18.00 0.99 19.00

Voluntary Rate 10.10 0.56 10.65

Pre-School 11.00 0.61 11.60

Standard Rate 1 23.70 1.30 25.00

Standard Rate 2 26.00 1.43 27.45

Standard Rate 3 31.00 1.71 32.70

Service Category Comments

Palace Theatre

No standard % rise proposed but individual variance applied. The net 

increase to F&C's is 1.1%. The rational is to continue to place the Theatre 

in a competitive market for national agents to access. The management 

are confident that this approach will yield an overall 5% increase in income 

due to increased sales. all prices below have been rounded to the nearest 

£ to reflect the feedback from contractors and agents 

The following Palace price proposals are for 2018-2019 as the theatre books a 

minimum of 12 months in advance

P
age 69

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category

Proposed charge from 

2017

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2018 Comments

£ £ £

Main Theatre - Fee Per Hour

Performance / conference including 1 technician. Full lighting and sound systems available. Please see 

the current Technical Specification. MINIMUM OF 8.5 HOURS

Mon - Thurs

Cost 136.00 4.99 141.00

Disc. Local Community & charity rate (-15%) 116.40 3.58 120.00

Fri - Sat

Cost 152.40 6.57 159.00

Disc. Local Community & charity rate (-15%) 129.80 6.19 136.00

Sun & Bank Holidays

Cost 203.90 8.12 212.00

Disc. Local Community & charity rate (-15%) 174.10 5.92 180.00

4 hour block - Monday to Wednesday daytime hires up to 5pm, Saturday up to 1pm and Monday to Wednesday 

evenings 6pm to 10pm. Local charity or a community group that is a member of the Air partnership only. Subject to 

negation and availibilty.1 member of staff only. 319.30 12.68 332.00

For a public performance add the appropriate hourly rate for technical staff / FOH and additional fees.

Full week hire (including technical, F.O.H manager, and box office for 1 hour up to the start of each 

performance), Full lighting and sound systems available. Please see the current Technical Specification. 

See below for additional fees and charges.

Up to 6 performances including Sunday get in 9am-6pm, Monday 10am-10:30pm, Tues to Sat 

performances  6-10.30pm and sat Mat 1 - 5pm (Sat until 11pm for get out). 49 hours of hire.

Cost Per Week 5,110.40 311.61 5,422.00

Price increased of 6.1% to reflect actual staffing resource required to 

facilitate booking

Disc. Local Community & charity rate (-15%) 4,443.60 186.41 4,630.00

The Room Upstairs and Bar Lounge (room only, for additional facilities available see below)

Notes:

1. Promotion and percentage deal splits to be agreed by Committee and Theatre Manager

2. Studio and bar hirer must pay a non-refundable payment of 50 % of the hire fee when booking

3. For all daytime studio and bar bookings please speak to the box office team on (01527) 65203

4. Additional tech staff show call rate, minimum 4Hrs call

P
age 70

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category

Proposed charge from 

2017

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2018 Comments

£ £ £

The Room Upstairs Fee Per Hour MINIMUM 4 HOURS

Space Hirer (studio includes use of the sound system) 15.00 1.00 16.00 6.7% increaase to reflect additional cost incurred by new sound provision

Studio Performance (Thur, Free and Sat evenings 5pm to 10:30pm) inc brochure listing, use of sound ad lighting 

systems. Additional perf. At £45 per performance. 90.00 6.00 96.00

6.7% increase based on the actual price per hour cost to provide the 

optional support

Arts and performance development activity arrangements are also available. Please contact the Theatre 

Team To Discuss agreements and availability

Studio Technician (min 4 hr call) 31.90 17.10 48.00 54% increase to reflect actual staffing time required to facilitate booking

WORKSHOP HIRE - per day (Appropriate certification proof must be shown to use the workshop machinery) 121.50 6.45 128.00 5.3% Increase reflects new increase in energy charges required.

Theatre Tours (maximum 25 people per tour) - 1 hour tour 85.50 3.47 89.00

Notes: 

1. All new hirers must play a non-refundable deposit of 20% of the hire fee when booking

2. For all daytime studio and bar bookings please speak to the box office team on (01527) 65203

3. Additional tech staff show call rate, minimum 4hrs call

Additional Charges to all performances

PRS fees (percentage of Net box office takings), unless written notification is provided from PRS then this will be 

charged (3%) 3.00% 3.00% 3.00%

Credit Card Charges (percentage of Net box office takings) (3%) 3.00% 3.00% 3.00%

Customer booking fee at box office (max. of £4 for any one booking) 1.00 0.00 1.00

Additional charges applicable to all hirer performances

Marketing Bronze Package (see App 5 Publicity & Advertising form for hirers for further info) 132.60 7.38 140.00

5.6% increase due to actual staff time to facilitate (this is an optional 

addition for customers)

Marketing Silver Package (see App 5 Publicity & Advertising form for hirers for further info) 344.80 13.24 358.00

Marketing Gold Package (see App 5 Publicity & Advertising form for hirers for further info) 424.40 15.63 440.00

The Room Upstairs event Listing in the Theatre Brochure for the relevant season, Includes free web site entry on 

receipt of your marketing 44.00 2.02 46.00

1 month advert on the big screen in the town (subject to availability) 220.00 20.10 240.10

Increase of 9.1% reflects cost of provion which is an optional extra to 

marketing needs

1000 post out mail shot 509.90 0.92 425.70

A0 display front of building per week (max 4 weeks), FCFS 10.60 0.58 11.20

Banner position front of building per week, FCFS 15.90 0.48 16.40

Local press advertisement charged at cost + administration fee at: 10% New Price (only applied to consenting customers for show promotions)

Sale of merchandise at Theatre premises. (Percentage taken is gross of merchandise takings) 15 %

Email Marketing to customer email database 0.00 0.00 30.00 New charge

Additional Facilities / services available

Bar Extension after performance 57.70 2.30 60.00

Orchestra replacement. The company must provide at least two staff to aid refitting of the orchestra PIT after the 

final performance. If this does not happen, the charge here will be included in your Bill  per pit section 17.50 2.50 20.00

14.3% increase based on benchmarking with Theatre Managers Group 

which  identified a significant undercharge in this area

Additional cleaning fee where premises are not left in a clean and tidy state. per room 23.70 1.31 25.00 5.5% increase to ensure compliance contracutal obligations

Un-blocking of sinks or toilets (per toilet or sink) 44.60 1.44 46.00

P
age 71

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category

Proposed charge from 

2017

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2018 Comments

£ £ £

Items hired or purchased from a third party on your behalf (Cost + 10%) 0.00

Portable Appliance Testing (PAT), per item 4.60 0.44 5.00

Tea / coffee per head (unlimited drinks per person). 1.90 0.06 2.00

Photo-copying and printing A4 black and white 0.10 0.00 0.10

Photo-copying and printing A4 colour 0.20 0.00 0.20

Additional items available for Hire (please check with the Technical department for availability

Star Cloth

Per Day 73.10 2.89 76.00

Per Week 213.20 8.80 222.00

Black Gauze

Per Day 37.10 1.91 39.00

Per Week 89.60 4.39 94.00

White Gauze

Per Day 37.10 1.91 39.00

Per Week 89.60 4.39 94.00

Tab Track

Per Day 35.00 2.00 37.00

Per Week 84.50 6.54 91.00

Red Tabs

Per Day 47.40 1.62 49.00

Per Week 143.20 5.80 149.00

Blue Tabs

Per Day 47.40 1.62 49.00

Per Week 143.20 5.80 149.00

Jem Techno Fog Machine

Per Day 15.40 0.56 16.00

Per Week 37.10 7.90 45.00

Under-stage Smoke System

Per Day 40.20 1.80 42.00

Per Week 108.20 4.75 113.00

Haze Machine

Per Day 15.40 0.56 16.00

Per Week 49.40 0.00 45.00

Reduced fee to stimulate hires (customer feedback - price a determine 

factor)

Baby Grand Piano tuning (additional tuning charge at cost)

Per Day 109.20 5.78 115.00

Per Week 320.30 9.71 330.00

Portable digital piano

Per Day 28.80 3.20 32.00

Per Week 85.50 3.47 89.00

Technics Key Board

Per Day 22.70 0.00 0.00 Discontinued

Per Week 65.90 0.00 0.00 Discontinued

Small 1600 to 2400 Lumin Video/ Data Projector

Per Day 57.00 0.00 30.00

Reduced fee to stimulate hires (customer feedback - price a determine 

factor)

Per Week 125.00 0.00 85.00

Reduced fee to stimulate hires (customer feedback - price a determine 

factor)

P
age 72

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category

Proposed charge from 

2017

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2018 Comments

£ £ £

Large Video Projector 5000 lumin + (main house only)

Per Day 125.00 5.00 130.00

Per Week 370.00 15.00 385.00

Laptop

Per Day 85.50 0.00 30.00 Correction of system error

Per Week 247.20 0.00 85.00 Correction of system error

Overhead projector (OHP)

Per Day 10.30 0.71 11.00

Per Week 25.80 1.17 27.00

Portable folding projector screen (approx. 5 feet square)

Per Day 6.20 0.79 7.00

Per Week 18.50 1.46 20.00

Flip chart stand (Paper and pens are not provided)

Per Day 8.20 0.25 8.50

Per Week 22.70 0.68 23.40

White board

Per Day 12.40 0.37 12.80

Per Week 37.10 1.11 38.20

Lectern including microphones and lights

Per Day 50.50 1.50 52.00

Per Week 173.00 0.00 154.00

Reduced fee to stimulate hires (customer feedback - price a determine 

factor)

Radio Mics (Up to 4 handheld & 10 lapels)-per microphone-See note 2

Per Day 21.60 1.35 23.00

Per Week 63.90 3.10 67.00

Radio Communications packs (up to 3 available) per pack:

Per Day 5.00 0.28 5.30

Per Week 10.00 3.00 13.00 30% increase due to increase in costs in repairs and maintenance

Music Stands (each) *

Per Day 3.10 0.90 4.00

Per Week 10.30 0.00 10.00

Reduced fee to stimulate hires (customer feedback - price a determine 

factor)

Conductor music stand *

Per Day 5.20 0.00 5.00

Reduced fee to stimulate hires (customer feedback - price a determine 

factor)

Per Week 18.50 0.00 13.00

Reduced fee to stimulate hires (customer feedback - price a determine 

factor)

Metro deck staging sections (2 m x 1 m) inc 18" or 1.5m Legs and skirts if requested

Per Day 11.30 0.70 12.00

Per Week 22.70 2.30 25.00

1 Metre hand rail section for above Rostra (5 available) (each)

Per Day 6.20 0.80 7.00

Per Week 12.40 2.60 15.00

2 Metre hand rail section for above Rostra (3 available) (each)

Per Day 11.30 0.00 0.00 Discontinued

Per Week 22.70 0.00 0.00 Discontinued

Curtain Rail

Per Day 37.10 0.00 0.00 Discontinued

Per Week 106.10 0.00 0.00 Discontinued

P
age 73

A
genda Item

 8



* Free to use for Disc. Local Community & charity rate hirers

Consumables
Gaffa Tape 8.20 0.00 8.20 No Increase proposed (reflects cost)

LX tape 1.60 0.00 1.60 No Increase proposed (reflects cost)

PP3 Battery (each) 3.10 0.00 3.10 No Increase proposed (reflects cost)

AA battery (each) 1.20 0.00 1.20 No Increase proposed (reflects cost)

Additional Staffing
Additional technical staff per hour @ O/T rate (minimum 4 hour call) 21.60 0.00 21.60 No Increase proposed (reflects cost)

Notes:

1.     Extra consumables for equipment can be supplied at cost plus 10% for administration costs. All equipment will 

be provided with one container.

2.     Rechargeable AA batteries suitable for use on Palace Theatre radio microphones and chargers are provided 

with all Radio Microphones, users must put batteries on charge and return back to the dimmer room after use. Any 

missing will be charged for at cost + 10%

3.     Proof of appropriate certification must be shown to use Workshop machinery.

4.     No equipment must be altered or modified in anyway.

5.     Any damages to Palace Theatre Property must be paid for and will be re charged to the company at the costs 

charges to the Palace Theatre including any carriage where necessary.

Service Category

Proposed charge from 

2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

Forge Mill 3.00% Standard 3% recommended in line with pricing policies for other museums

Admission (individual)

Adult

Charge 5.10 0.15 5.25

Reddicard 4.10 0.12 4.20

Senior Citizen

Charge 3.90 0.12 4.00

Reddicard 2.70 0.08 2.80

Child

Charge 1.70 0.05 1.75

Reddicard 1.00 0.03 1.05

Family  -up to 4 people

Charge 11.40 0.34 11.75

Reddicard 9.10 0.27 9.35

Wednesday ONLY* Non Reddicard holder prices apply FREE 0.00 FREE

This cannot be changed as it is part of the Museums operating policy 

which has been agreed by members.  This will be included in te scope for 

the forthcoming Reddicard Review with a potential recommedation to 

remove this concession

Groups Bookings

Admission, refreshments and guided tour of one site

Charge STN STN

Reddicard STN STN

External talks + Costs

Charge 60.80 1.82 62.60

Reddicard 50.00 1.50 51.50

School Bookings
Archaeological Activity Centre 38.20 1.15 39.35
Victorian role play 38.20 1.15 39.35

P
age 74

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category

Proposed charge from 

2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

Victoria role play wheel unavailable 38.20 1.15 39.35

FM (history of needle-making 38.20 1.15 39.35

FM (processes & Machinery) 38.20 1.15 39.35

Local History of Redditch 38.20 1.15 39.35

Temporary exhibition with activities 38.20 1.15 39.35

Marketing/Business students 38.20 1.15 39.35

Teacher Led sessions 38.20 1.15 39.35

Special Needs Groups FREE 0.00 FREE

This cannot be changed as it is part of the Museums operating policy 

which has been agreed by members.  This will be included in te scope for 

the forthcoming Reddicard Review with a potential recommedation to 

remove this concession

Room Hire

½ day all Other Groups 46.40 1.39 47.80

All day 77.30 2.32 79.60

Ground Event Hire STN STN

School Bookings remain the same in an attempt to encourage the business to grow - there were small 

signs of improvements last year and this needs to be sustained before increase can be levied

Allotment Charges Various

Standard 3% proposed for sites with no water onsite. *An increase of £10 

per year on sites with water to recoup the actual cost of the water charges 

as identified in the recent allotment audit. At present water charge to plot 

holders has fallen behind actual charge from provider and a full cost 

recovery approach is to be adopted through proposed charge shown 

above. 

Large (<254m2) 3.00%

Non Concession Water 80.00 2.40 92.40 * Extra £10 Water Charge (see above)

Non Concession No Water 64.90 1.95 66.85 `

Concession Water 50.00 1.50 61.50 * Extra £10 Water Charge (see above)

Concession No Water 33.00 0.99 34.00

Medium (>177<254m2))

Non Concession Water 58.00 1.74 69.75 * Extra £10 Water Charge (see above)

Non Concession No Water 44.30 1.33 45.65

Concession Water 36.00 1.08 47.10 * Extra £10 Water Charge (see above)

Concession No Water 22.70 0.68 23.40

Small (>177m2)

Non Concession Water 37.00 1.11 48.10 * Extra £10 Water Charge (see above)

Non Concession No Water 25.80 0.77 26.55

Concession Water 24.00 0.72 34.70 * Extra £10 Water Charge (see above)

Concession No Water 13.40 0.40 13.80

Redditch Outdoor Events & Outdoor Fitness– Hire of Parks and Open Spaces 3.00%

Benchmarking has shown that fixed pricing is deterring commercial 

bookings and on occasion allowed businesses to benefit from a restrictive 

pricing offer (STN - Subject to Negotiation)

Outdoor Event Space

Small Attendance = 0-99

Commercial Rates

Per Hour 47.90 0.00 STN Reflects a more balanced offer to the commercial operator 

Per Day 239.50 0.00 STN Reflects a more balanced offer to the commercial operator 

P
age 75

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category

Proposed charge from 

2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

Community Rates

Per Hour 16.50 0.50 17.00

Per Day 82.40 2.47 84.85

Charities / Not For Profit Organisations

Per Hour 10.80 0.32 11.10

Per Day 54.60 1.64 56.25

Fairs & Circuses Min of 3 day Hire Per Day 272.90 8.19 281.10

Medium Attendance = 100-499

Commercial Rates

Per Hour 61.80 0.00 STN Reflects a more balanced offer to the commercial operator 

Per Day 306.90 0.00 STN Reflects a more balanced offer to the commercial operator 

Community Rates

Per Hour 21.60 0.65 22.25

Per Day 109.20 3.28 112.50

Charities / Not For Profit Organisations

Per Hour 13.90 0.42 14.30

Per Day 68.50 2.06 70.55

Large Attendance = 500-1999

Commercial Rates

Per Hour 75.70 0.00 STN Reflects a more balanced offer to the commercial operator 

Per Day 375.40 0.00 STN Reflects a more balanced offer to the commercial operator 

Community Rates

Per Hour 27.80 0.83 28.65

Per Day 163.80 4.91 168.70

Charities / Not For Profit Organisations

Per Hour 16.50 0.50 17.00

Per Day 82.40 2.47 84.85

£250 - £1500 Bond Payable

Outdoor Fitness Session - Commercial 

A new pricing strcuture proposed based on buoyancy market, impact on 

the areas being used, customer feedback and to ad officers in providing a 

broader product line to attract new business.  The breakdwon of usage 

has changed to show different maximum number of days per summer , 

winter or annual use so proposed charges are in line with participation 

numbers.

Summer Fee (Apr to Sept)

Commercial Rates Per Day 382.70 n/a n/a Delete

Community Rates Per Day 273.00 n/a n/a Delete

Winter Fee (Oct to Mar)

Commercial Rates Per Day 163.80 n/a n/a Delete

Community Rates Per Day 82.40 n/a n/a Delete

Annual Fee 

Commercial Rates Per Day 437.20 n/a n/a Delete

Community Rates Per Day 328.10 n/a n/a Delete

P
age 76

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category

Proposed charge from 

2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

Commercial Rates (Per Day)
The following new charges repleace the outdoor fitness sessions 

previously offered.

Summer Fee (Apr to Sept) One day maximum usage per week n/a n/a 400.00 New fee

Summer Fee (Apr to Sept) Two days maximum usage per week n/a n/a 650.00 New fee

Summer Fee (Apr to Sept) Three days maximum usage per week n/a n/a 700.00 New fee

Winter Fee (Oct to Mar) One day maximum usage per week n/a n/a 200.00 New fee

Winter Fee (Oct to Mar) Two days maximum usage per week n/a n/a 400.00 New fee

Winter Fee (Oct to Mar) Three days maximum usage per week n/a n/a 600.00 New fee

Annual Fee One day maximum usage per week n/a n/a 520.00 New fee

Annual Fee Two days maximum usage per week n/a n/a 850.00 New fee

Annual Fee Three days maximum usage per week n/a n/a 1,000.00 New fee

Community Rates (Per Day)

Summer Fee (Apr to Sept) One day maximum usage per week n/a n/a 200.00 New fee

Summer Fee (Apr to Sept) Two days maximum usage per week n/a n/a 300.00 New fee

Summer Fee (Apr to Sept) Three days maximum usage per week n/a n/a 350.00 New fee

Winter Fee (Oct to Mar) One day maximum usage per week n/a n/a 80.00 New fee

Winter Fee (Oct to Mar) Two days maximum usage per week n/a n/a 160.00 New fee

Winter Fee (Oct to Mar) Three days maximum usage per week n/a n/a 240.00 New fee

Annual Fee One day maximum usage per week n/a n/a 250.00 New fee

Annual Fee Two days maximum usage per week n/a n/a 450.00 New fee

Annual Fee Three days maximum usage per week n/a n/a 500.00 New fee

Trial fee (1 day per week - MAX 4 week trial) n/a n/a 100.00 New fee

Bandstand Hire T/Centre 3.00%

Commercial Rates Per Day Price on application Price on application

Community Rates Per Day 26.80 0.80 27.60

Charities / Not For Profit Organisations Per Day 26.80 0.80 27.60

Band Stand

Criteria and eligibility guidance notes attached in events toolkit

Additional Costs for Outdoor Event Space:

1      Set up and Clearance charged @ 50% of applicable rate 

2      Any event in excess of 1999 attendees is STN

Additional Costs for Outdoor Fitness Space:

Research has shwon that these fees have not been required as all 

activities are set up on the day and are included in the overall cost above

1      Set up and Clearance charged @ 50% of applicable rate 

P
age 77

A
genda Item

 8



Service Category

Proposed charge from 

2016

% increase / £ 

increase

Proposed charge from 

2017 Comments

£ £ £

CIVIC SUITE COMMERCIAL CHARGES 3.00%

Committee Room 1:

     4 hour minimum - daytime 51.50 1.55 53.05

     8 hour minimum - daytime and/or evening 68.00 2.04 70.05

Committee Room 2/3:

     4 hour minimum - daytime 104.00 3.12 107.10

     8 hour minimum - daytime and/or evening 147.50 4.43 151.95

Council Chamber:

     4 hour minimum - daytime 147.50 4.43 151.95

     8 hour minimum - daytime and/or evening 241.00 7.23 248.25

Full Civic Suite: Monday to Saturday (including servery)

     4 hour minimum - daytime 241.00 7.23 248.25

     8 hour minimum - daytime and/or evening 437.50 13.13 450.65

Full Civic Suite: Sunday - exceptional (including servery)

     4 hour minimum - daytime 274.00 8.22 282.20

     8 hour minimum - daytime and/or evening 498.50 14.96 513.45

Equipment Hire 3.00%

OHP/Screen 21.60 0.65 22.25

TV/Video 21.60 0.65 22.25

Conferencing Sound System 21.60 0.65 22.25

Flipchart stand

     4 hour minimum - daytime 7.20 0.22 7.40

     8 hour minimum - daytime and/or evening 8.20 0.25 8.45

Other Fees

Security Market Rates Market Rates

Retainer 227.10 6.81 233.90

CIVIC SUITE - REFRESHMENT CHARGES

Teas and Coffees

Commercial - per cup 1.00 0.03 1.05

P
age 78

A
genda Item

 8



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

COUNCIL   30th January 2017  

 

 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 17TH JANUARY 2017 
 
67. BOROUGH OF REDDITCH LOCAL PLAN NO.4 
 

 RECOMMENDED that 
 

1) the content of the Borough of Redditch Local Plan No 4 Planning 
Inspectorate’s Report set out in Appendix 1 of the report, and the 
associated Schedule of Main Modifications set out in Appendix 2 of 
the report be noted; 
 

2) the Borough of Redditch Local Plan No 4 as submitted and 
subsequently amended by the modifications set out in Appendices 2 
and 3 of the report be adopted; 
 

3) the Borough of Redditch Local Plan No 4 Policies Map as submitted 
and subsequently amended by the modifications set out in Appendix 
3 of the report be adopted; 
 

4) the Borough of Redditch Local Plan No 4 Adoption Statement and 
Strategic Environmental Assessment and Sustainability Appraisal 
Adoption Statement which form Appendices 4 and 5 of the report be 
noted; and 
 

5) authority be delegated to the Head of Planning and Regeneration to 
undertake further minor editorial changes deemed necessary in 
preparing the adopted Borough Plan for publication, following 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Planning. 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 79 Agenda Item 8





REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

Borough of Redditch Local Plan No4 - Adoption 

Executive 17th January 2017 

 

Borough of Redditch Local Plan No4 – Adoption 
 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Councillor Greg Chance 

Portfolio Holder Consulted Yes 

Relevant Head of Service Ruth Bamford 

Ward(s) Affected All Wards 

Ward Councillor(s) Consulted Yes 

Non Key Decision  Yes 

 
1. SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS 
 
1.1 The Borough of Redditch Local Plan No 4 (BORLP4) has now been through its 

Examination in Public which closed on the publication of the Inspector’s report, 
on the 16th of December 2016. The Inspectors report recommends that subject to 
the making of a series of modifications the BORLP4 satisfies the requirements of 
section 20(5) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, and the 
criteria for soundness in the National Planning Policy Framework, and is 
therefore sound. 

 
1.2 This report explains the processes around the final stages of the plan production 

and asks the Council for formally adopt the BORLP4 as the Development Plan 
for the Borough. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 The Executive is asked to RECOMMEND to the Council  
 

1. That the Council note the content of the Borough of Redditch Local 
Plan No 4 Planning Inspectorate’s Report (Appendix 1), and the 
associated Schedule of Main Modifications (Appendix 2). 

 
2. That the Council adopt the Borough of Redditch Local Plan No 4 as 

submitted and subsequently amended by the modifications set out 
in the Appendix 2 and Appendix 3 of this report.  

 
3. That the Council adopt the Borough of Redditch Local Plan No 4 

Policies Map as submitted and subsequently amended by the 
modifications set out in Appendix 3  

 
4. That the Council note the Borough of Redditch Local Plan No 4 

adoption statement, and Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
and Sustainability Appraisal Adoption Statement which forms 
Appendices 4 and 5 of this report. 

 
5. That the Head of Planning and Regeneration be delegated authority 

to undertake further minor editorial changes deemed necessary in 

Page 81 Agenda Item 8



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

Borough of Redditch Local Plan No4 - Adoption 

Executive 17th January 2017 

 
preparing the adopted District Plan for publication, following 
consultation with the portfolio holder for Planning. 

 
 
3. KEY ISSUES 

 
Financial Implications 

 
3.1 The direct financial implications of adopting the plan are minimal and only relate 

to the requirement to place notices of the adoption in the local press, and to have 
copies of the documents available for inspection. There could be indirect costs 
associated with not adopting the BORLP4 i.e. more planning appeals to defend 
or if the adopted BORLP4 is challenged (see section 3.4 below) although it is not 
possible at this stage to identify what these costs may be. 

 
Legal Implications 

 
3.2 The relevant legislation setting out the processes around  preparing and 

subsequent adoption of Local Plans is contained in the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 as amended (PCPA 2004) and the Town and 
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. The 
Sustainability Appraisal (SA) has been undertaken in accordance with the 
Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulation 2004 

 
3.3 If the BORLP4 is adopted in line with the above regulations the following will be 

made available,  

 The BORLP4 

 An adoption statement 

 The Sustainability Appraisal report and SA/SEA Adoption Statement 

 Details of where the BORLP4 as adopted is available for inspection and 
the places and times at which it can be inspected 

 
The Council is also required to send a copy of the adoption statement  

 to any person who has asked to be notified of the adoption of the BORLP4 
and to 

 The Secretary of State.  
 
3.4 Any person who is aggrieved by the adoption of the BORLP4 may make an 

application to the High Court under section 113 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 on the grounds that: 

 the document is not within the appropriate power 

 a procedural requirement has not been complied with 

Any such application must be made promptly and in any event no later than 6 
weeks after the date on which the BORLP4 was adopted i.e. no later than 13th 
March 2017. 

 

Page 82 Agenda Item 8



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

Borough of Redditch Local Plan No4 - Adoption 

Executive 17th January 2017 

 
 

Service / Operational Implications 
 
The Evolution of the BORLP4 
 

3.5 The evolution of the BORLP4 has been a lengthy process and has been 
documented in many reports to the Council in the preceding years. A significant 
amount of time and effort from a wide range of stakeholders has gone into 
ensuring the plan reflects as many views of what planning should be in the 
Borough as possible. All this work culminated in September 2013 when the 
BORLP4 Proposed Submission version was approved by the Council for 
Publication. Following a period of representations the BORLP4 was then 
submitted to the Planning Inspectorate on the 12th March 2014 which marked 
the beginning of the Examination in Public (EIP) proceedings. The Planning 
Inspectorate appointed Mr Michael J Hetherington BSc (Hons) MA MRTPI 
MCIEEM to carry out the EIP. 
 
The Examination in Public and Main Modifications 
 

3.6 The EIP into the BORLP4 which was also held, in part, jointly with Bromsgrove 
District Council due to the Cross boundary growth element of the plan, began in 
June 2014. Since then there have been a number of challenges in the EIP which 
were documented in the report to the Executive on the 12th July 2016, which also 
considered the Inspector’s proposed Main Modifications. 
 

3.7 As detailed in that report the Main Modifications consultation ran for an extended 
period over the summer to account for the summer holiday period, the 
consultation began on the 27th July and ran to the 21st September. During this 
period a total of 33 representations were received. Even though a guidance note 
was produced asking for specific information in the responses, many did not 
specify which proposed Main Modification the response was in connection with. 
Irrespective of this fact all the responses were passed onto the Inspector for his 
consideration. The Inspectorate sent the fact checking report to the authority on 
the 2nd December. This version of the report provided a two week opportunity to 
identify any factual errors and to seek clarification on any conclusions that were 
unclear.  It did not provide any scope to question conclusions. The Final report 
was issued on Friday 16th December 2016, this concluded the examination in 
public. The Inspectors report was then placed on the Council’s website site and 
notification letters sent to all those who wished to be notified on Monday 19th of 
December. 
 
The Inspector’s Report 
 

3.8 The Inspector’s report and associated Main Modifications can been seen at 
appendix 1 and 2 to this report. The report covers all stages of the examination 
including the assessment of the Duty to Cooperate. The report does not cover 
elements of the plan that were not challenged and not part of the proceedings. 

Page 83 Agenda Item 8



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

Borough of Redditch Local Plan No4 - Adoption 

Executive 17th January 2017 

 
The assumption is the plan as submitted was sound and if elements were not 
challenged by objectors or the Inspector, then they are appropriate policies for 
making sound planning decisions.  
 

3.9 Accompanying the report are the Main Modifications, these are the modifications 
which the Inspector requires to be made to the plan for it to be sound. If these 
modifications are not accepted in whole, then the plan will not be sound and 
cannot be adopted. These modifications are very similar to those reported to 
members in the July 12th report. 
 

3.10 A considerable element of the report focuses on two main elements,  

 the housing policies in the plan including objectively assessed housing 
need and how the plan apportions growth to neighbouring authorities and  

 the site selection methodology for the cross boundary sites on the edge of 
Redditch. 

 
The Inspector has concluded that the objectively assessed housing need for the 
District is 6300 dwellings and having the housing requirement at 6400 is an 
appropriate target to allow some flexibility. A modification has also been made to 
ensure that Redditch Borough Council responds appropriately in the future to 
provide for any needs of the wider housing market area. Other notable housing 
conclusions are the affordable housing requirement is set at 30% for qualifying 
sites, and the Inspector is also satisfied that the borough does have a 5 year 
land supply. 
 

3.11 On the site selection for the housing sites around Redditch whilst the Inspector 
expresses frustration about the process undertaken. The narrative work 
produced in December 2015 and the subsequent hearings in March 2016 have 
satisfied him, that despite some local opposition the decision to allocate the sites 
at Foxlydiate, Webheath and the A435 corridor are sound, and as such these 
sites remain as development sites in the plan. The Inspector also concludes the 
polices in the plan backed up by the infrastructure delivery plan, are also 
sufficient to ensure the correct level of infrastructure can be secured in relation to 
the development sites coming forward. 

 
Minor Modifications 
 

3.12 At the proposed submission stage of the plan members acknowledged that 
throughout the process of the EIP officers will be asked by the Inspector about 
possible changes to the plan to address issues that arise. Delegations were 
given to allow officers in conjunction with the portfolio holder to suggest changes 
to the plan, the schedule of these modifications were submitted to the 
examination at various points as the EIP progressed. Some of these suggested 
changes are now Main Modifications as detailed in appendix 2. The rest of the 
changes that the Inspector was happy didn’t constitute a change that needed to 
be made to ensure soundness i.e. minor modifications can be seen at appendix 
3. Recommendation 3 above also requests that these are now made to the plan 

Page 84 Agenda Item 8



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

Borough of Redditch Local Plan No4 - Adoption 

Executive 17th January 2017 

 
to ensure the final version is up to date, accurate and a usable tool for all those 
involved in planning in Redditch Borough. 
 
Sustainability Appraisal 
 

3.13 Throughout the whole process of preparing the plan Sustainability Appraisal (SA) 
and Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) has been undertaken. The final 
stage of this process is the publication of the SA/SEA adoption statement; this 
can be viewed at appendix 5 of this report. 
 
Policies Map 
 

3.14 Accompanying the proposed submission plan in September 2013 was also a 
new policies map, and a schedule of changes that were made to the extant 
Borough of Redditch Local Plan 3 proposals map to create the new policies map. 
Some further changes have been identified as being needed through the EIP 
process these can be seen in appendix 3 of this report. 
 

3.15 If the BORLP4 is adopted both the policies and the proposals map of the old 
local plan will be deleted. Paper copies of the policies maps will be available in 
the first instance, and in due course the online interactive plan will be created to 
reflect the new BORLP4. 
 

3.16 Whilst it is necessary to adopt the policies map at this stage, the map itself is not 
part of the formal development plan and therefore can be updated as the 
implementation of the plan progresses. 
 
  
Customer / Equalities and Diversity Implications 

 
3.17 Should the plan be adopted it will be published as per the regulations identified in 

paragraph 3.3 above. The plan will be available across the Borough and on the 
website and Development planning officers will be able to offer advice and 
guidance on the new plan. Training events for key stakeholders such as 
community groups and consultees on planning applications. 

  
4. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
4.1 The risks associated with adopting the plan are minimal, with a legal challenge 

being the biggest risk which is also an unavoidable risk. The benefits of adopting 
the plan are 

 

 Provision of a clear planning framework to deliver the vision and development 
for the future of the area. 

 The ability to develop 6400 houses for Redditch helping to meet the housing 
needs of Borough allowing residents better access to the housing market. 

 Assisting in meeting affordable housing deficit 

Page 85 Agenda Item 8



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

Borough of Redditch Local Plan No4 - Adoption 

Executive 17th January 2017 

 

 Retention of local control over planning matters, the lack of an up to date plan 
would make the district very vulnerable to ad hoc planning and planning by 
appeal. 

 Economic benefits would ensue from development not only in the 
development of new employment sites and a further town centre regeneration 
but also in the shorter term the in the creation of construction jobs associated 
with the developments. 

 Collection of New Homes Bonus 

 Provide certainty for developers and utility providers and other people 
investing in the area who value the strategic clarity that an up to date plan 
provides. 

 The clarity of the planning framework set out in an adopted Plan can help 
authorities to make the case, to government and other funding agencies for 
infrastructure funding. 

 An adopted plan would enable Councils to progress with preparing a 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) thereby enabling needed infrastructure 
to be provided. 

 
 
5. APPENDICES 
 
 1. The BORLP4 Inspector’s Report 
 2. The BORLP4 Inspector’s Main Modifications 
 3. The BORLP4 Schedule of Minor Modifications 
 4. The BORLP4 Adoption Statement  
 5. The BORLP4 SEA/SA Adoption Statement 

 
 
6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
  
 The Councils website www.redditchbc.gov.uk/examination contains all the 

background information concerning the plan and the examination in public. 
 
 
7. KEY 
 
 BORLP4 – Borough of Redditch Local Plan 4 

SA – Sustainability Appraisal 
SEA – Strategic Environmental Assessment 
EIP – Examination in public  

 
AUTHOR OF REPORT 
 
Name: Mike Dunphy  
email: m.dunphy@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk 
Tel.: 01527 881325 

Page 86 Agenda Item 8

http://www.redditchbc.gov.uk/examination


 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

Report to Redditch Borough Council 

by Michael J Hetherington BSc(Hons) MA MRTPI MCIEEM 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

Date 16 December 2016 

  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

PLANNING AND COMPULSORY PURCHASE ACT 2004 (AS AMENDED) 

SECTION 20 

 

REPORT ON THE EXAMINATION INTO THE BOROUGH OF REDDITCH LOCAL 

PLAN NO. 4 (BORLP4) 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
Document submitted for examination on 12 March 2014 

Examination hearings held between 16 June 2014 and 24 March 2016 

 

File Ref: PINS/Q1825/429/1 

Page 87 Agenda Item 8



 
 

-2- 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

Abbreviations Used in this Report 

 
AA Appropriate Assessment 

ADR Area of Development Restraint 
AHVA Affordable Housing Viability Assessment 

BDC Bromsgrove District Council 
BDP Bromsgrove District Plan 
CS Core Strategy 

DtC Duty to Co-operate 
EA Environment Agency 

GBSLEP Greater Birmingham and Solihull Local Enterprise Partnership 
GTAA Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment 
HGDS Housing Growth Development Study 

HMA Housing Market Area 
IDP Infrastructure Development Plan 

LDS Local Development Scheme 
LP Local Plan 
MM Main Modification 

NWHNR North Worcestershire Housing Need Report 
OAN Objectively Assessed (Housing) Need 

PPG Planning Practice Guidance 
PPTS Planning Policy for Traveller Sites 
RBC Redditch Borough Council 

SA Sustainability Appraisal 
SCI Statement of Community Involvement 

SCS Sustainable Community Strategy 
SFRA Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
SHLAA Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 

SHMA Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
SNPP Sub-National Population Projections 

SOADC Stratford-on-Avon District Council 
SPD Supplementary Planning Document 
SRN Strategic Road Network 

SSSI Site of Special Scientific Interest 
TA Transport Assessment 

WCC Worcestershire County Council 
WCS Water Cycle Study 

WECHS Worcestershire Extra Care Housing Strategy 
WMS Written Ministerial Statement 
 

 
 

 

Page 88 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 3 - 

 
 

Non-Technical Summary 
 

 
This report concludes that the Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4 provides an 
appropriate basis for the planning of the Borough, providing a number of 
modifications are made to the plan.  Redditch Borough Council has specifically 
requested me to recommend any modifications necessary to enable the plan to be 
adopted.  The examination has considered updated information in respect of the 
objective assessment of Redditch’s housing needs and the justification for the 
selection of sites to meet these and other growth needs.  The report should be 
read alongside the report into the examination of the Bromsgrove District Plan. 

All but three of the modifications to address this were proposed by the Council 
but where necessary I have amended detailed wording or added further 
clarification.  I have recommended their inclusion after considering the 
representations from other parties on these issues.  The exceptions relate to 
providing stronger support for the provision of housing for the elderly, ensuring 
that applications for rural workers’ dwellings in the Green Belt are determined in 
accordance with national policy and a clarification about the application of the 
policy relating to the identification of additional employment sites.   

The Main Modifications can be summarised as follows 

 clarification of the approach towards meeting future housing needs arising 
from the West Midlands conurbation; 

 inclusion of updated housing supply information; 
 amendments to some site allocations, notably in the A435 ADR; 

 addition of more positive support to meet the housing needs of the elderly; 
 amendments to Green Belt policies in order to accord with national policy; 
 clarification of the policy approach towards Gypsies and Travellers in the 

light of updated evidence submitted during the examination; 
 increased emphasis on the role of the Strategic Road network; 

 introduction of additional policy safeguards in respect of flood risk, 
contaminated land and pollution control;  

 clarification of the approach to nature conservation designations in line with 

national policy; and 
 amendments in line with national policy changes regarding wind energy, 

technical standards for housing and the threshold for seeking affordable 
housing provision. 

 

 
 

 

Page 89 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 4 - 

 

Introduction  

1. This report contains my assessment of the Borough of Redditch Local Plan 
No. 4 (BORLP4) in terms of Section 20(5) of the Planning & Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 (as amended).   It considers first whether the Plan’s 

preparation has complied with the duty to co-operate, in recognition that there 
is no scope to remedy any failure in this regard.  It then considers whether the 

Plan is sound and whether it is compliant with the legal requirements.  At 
paragraph 182, the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) 
makes clear that to be sound, a Local Plan should be positively prepared; 

justified; effective and consistent with national policy.  

2. The starting point for the examination is the assumption that the local 

planning authority has submitted what it considers to be a sound plan.  The 
basis for my examination is the Proposed Submission Borough of Redditch 
Local Plan No. 4, which was published for consultation in September 2013. 

3. The examination has been carried out alongside the examination of the 
Bromsgrove District Plan (BDP), including a number of joint sessions.  The first 

of these involved two days (16 and 17 June 2014) that considered, in respect 
of both the BORLP4 and BDP, the Duty to Co-operate (DtC), objective 
assessment of housing needs and the approach to meeting additional housing 

needs from the West Midlands conurbation.  These matters were addressed by 
my Interim Conclusions document dated 17 July 20141, the findings of which 

in respect of the BORLP4 are summarised in the section of my report dealing 
with the DtC and Main Issue 1. 

4. The matter of the approach of both Councils – Redditch Borough Council (RBC) 

and Bromsgrove District Council (BDC) – to the selection of sites to meet the 
growth needs of Redditch has been the subject of considerable debate during 

the examination.  Following the main BORLP4 hearing sessions in September 
2014, I issued a Post Hearings Note (dated 3 October 2014)2 that, among 
other matters, highlighted a potentially serious flaw in this methodology.  In 

response, the Councils requested that both Local Plan examinations be paused 
while further information was prepared.  Further documentation, to which 

I refer in more detail below, was published during 2015 and joint hearings 
were held on 23 and 24 June 2015.  Concerns arising from those sessions 
were set out in a further Inspector’s Post-Hearings Note (dated 10 July 2015)3.  

This resulted in an additional package of evidence and documentation being 
issued by both Councils in December 2015: this was the subject of two further 

joint hearings held on 23 and 24 March 20164. 

5. Given the strong inter-relationship between the BORLP4 and the BDP, and the 

joint nature of much of the evidence submitted by the Councils, the present 
report should be read in conjunction with my report on the examination of the 
BDP.  Many documents are shared between the two examinations (notably 

                                       
1 Document ED/12. 
2 Document ED/19. 
3 Document ED/35. 
4 The timeline of both examinations is summarised in Appendix i to the Narrative on the Site Selection 
Process for Growth Areas at Redditch (January 2016) – document OED/46a. 

Page 90 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 5 - 

those listed as CDX, ED and OED) while others relate specifically to the 
BORLP4 examination (notably the CDR core documents). 

6. My report deals with the main modifications that are needed to make the Plan 
sound and legally compliant and they are identified in bold in the report (MM).  

In accordance with section 20(7C) of the 2004 Act the Council has requested 
that I should make any modifications needed to rectify matters that make the 
Plan unsound/not legally compliant and thus incapable of being adopted.  

These main modifications are set out in the Appendix. 

7. The main modifications that are necessary for soundness and legal compliance 

all relate to matters that were discussed at the examination hearings or were 
considered as written representations.   Following the last of the above-noted 

hearings, the Council prepared a schedule of proposed modifications.  Those 
modifications that are necessary for soundness (the main modifications) have 
been taken from that schedule, with some amendments as described in this 

report, and have been subject to public consultation.  I have taken account of 
the consultation responses in coming to my conclusions in this report: as such, 

the main modifications differ in some respects from those that were the 
subject of the consultation exercise.   

8. The Council is required to maintain an adopted policies map which illustrates 

geographically the application of the policies in the adopted development plan. 
When submitting a local plan for examination, the Council is then required to 

provide a submission policies map showing the changes to the adopted policies 
map that would result from the proposals in the local plan.  In this case the, 
Submission Policies Map includes insets for the Town Centre and Feckenham5. 

9. The policies map is not defined in statute as a development plan document 
and so I do not have the power to recommend main modifications to it. 

However, a number of the published main modifications to the Plan’s policies 
require further corresponding changes to be made to the policies map.  In 
addition, there are some instances where the geographic illustration of policies 

on the submission policies map is not justified and changes should be made to 
the policies map to ensure the relevant policies are effective.  These further 

changes to the policies map were published for consultation alongside the 
main modifications.   

10. When the Plan is adopted, in order to comply with the legislation and give 

effect to the Plan’s policies, the Council will need to update the adopted 
policies map to include all the changes proposed in the Submission Policies 

Map and the further changes published alongside the main modifications 
subject to the correction of any minor drafting errors. 

Assessment of Duty to Co-operate  

11. Section 20(5)(c) of the  2004 Act requires that I consider whether the Council  
complied with any duty imposed on them by section 33A  of the 2004 Act  in 
relation to the Plan’s preparation.  RBC comments on this in its Duty to Co-

operate Statement6.  This describes the activities that it has undertaken with 
other bodies in order to maximise the effectiveness of Plan preparation.  This 

                                       
5 Documents CDR1.4, CDR1.5 and CDR1.6. 
6 Document CDR1.3. 

Page 91 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 6 - 

includes co-operation with Bromsgrove District Council (BDC), which has taken 
place to a high degree, as is evidenced by the joint working in respect of 

meeting housing needs, as well as by the co-ordination in regard of the 
submission of the two Plans, the preparation of joint evidence and the holding 

of joint examination hearings.   Various management and staffing matters are 
shared between the two Councils. 

12. Co-operation has also taken place with other local planning authorities in a 

wide range of matters that are described in more detail in the above-noted 
background paper.  With BDC, RBC has participated in joint working in respect 

of the evidence base for assessing housing needs – both in the context of the 
Worcestershire Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA)  (involving all 

Worcestershire authorities) and the updated evidence base (also involving 
Wyre Forest DC).  Co-operation has also taken place with Stratford-on-Avon 
District Council (SOADC) in respect of various matters, including cross-

boundary employment needs, infrastructure requirements and the Redditch 
Eastern Gateway proposals.  Ongoing co-operation with other statutory 

bodies, including the Environment Agency, Highways England and the local 
highway authority (Worcestershire Council Council), has resulted in the 
agreement of common ground in both the BORLP4 and BDP examinations. 

13. RBC is a member of the Greater Birmingham and Solihull Local Enterprise 
Partnership (GBSLEP) and is involved in the ongoing Joint Strategic Housing 

Needs Study, which will inform the approach of both RBC and BDC towards 
meeting future needs arising from the West Midlands conurbation.  RBC is also 
part of the emerging West Midlands Combined Authority.   

14. No objections have been raised in respect of any failure to meet the Duty to 
Co-operate by any of the bodies prescribed in relevant legislation for the 

purposes of section 33A(1)(c) of the Act.  Taking these matters together, I am 
satisfied that the Duty has been complied with. 

Assessment of Soundness  

Main Issues 

15. Taking account of all the representations, written evidence and the discussions 
that took place at the examination hearings I have identified the following 

main issues upon which the soundness of the Plan depends.    

Main Issue 1:  Are the Local Plan’s housing policies based on adequate and 
up-to-date evidence and a clear understanding of housing needs in the 

market area?  Is it is clear how the Local Plan has addressed the matter of 
meeting anticipated future housing needs arising from the West Midlands 

conurbation?   

Objective Assessment of Housing Needs 

16. Among other matters, paragraph 47 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(the Framework) states that to boost significantly the supply of housing, local 
planning authorities should use their evidence base to ensure that their Local 

Plan meets the full, objectively assessed needs for market and affordable 
housing in the housing market area, as far as is consistent with the 

Framework's policies.  Guidance on undertaking an objective assessment is set 

Page 92 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 7 - 

out in the PPG.  This clarifies that need for housing refers to the scale and mix 
of housing and the range of tenures that is likely to be needed in the housing 

market area over the plan period – and should cater for the housing demand 
of the area and identify the scale of housing supply necessary to meet that 

demand.  It should address both the total number of homes needed based on 
quantitative assessments, but also on an understanding of the qualitative 
requirements of the market segment.  The PPG adds that assessing 

development needs should be proportionate and does not require local 
councils to consider purely hypothetical future scenarios, only future scenarios 

that could be reasonably expected to occur7 . 

17. The PPG explains that this exercise is an objective assessment of need based 

on facts and unbiased evidence and that constraints should not be applied to 
the overall assessment of need, such as limitations imposed by the supply of 
land for new development, historic under performance, viability, infrastructure 

or environmental constraints.  Such considerations should be addressed at a 
later stage when developing specific policies8.  As such, a clear distinction 

must be drawn between the objective assessment of housing needs and the 
eventual determination of a Local Plan housing requirement. 

18. The housing needs assessment that underpinned the Plan as submitted was 

broadly derived from work undertaken in 2012 as set out in the SHMA and 
Redditch Annex9.  In respect of Redditch, the SHMA identified irregularities in 

respect of relevant data sets, which led to the undertaking of a specific 
sensitivity scenario to 'correct' the international migration component of 
population change (SS1).  However, in the SHMA Annex (May 2012) the 

output figure of that scenario (5,120 dwellings) was reassessed in the light of 
more up-to-date household projections and a revised assessment of the 

amount of vacant stock.  This produced a figure equating to some 6,400 
dwellings (2011/12 to 2029/30), which was considered to be a more realistic 
assessment of needs.  Given that the additional work represented a more in-

depth demographic analysis, notably in respect of international migration, in 
the light of updated information, I agree with that assessment. 

19. The methodology of the 2012 SHMA has been considered in the context of the 
ongoing examination of the South Worcestershire Development Plan (SWDP), 
for which it also provides part of the evidence base.  In his initial Interim 

Conclusions (October 2013), the Inspector concerned supported in principle 
the approach of beginning with trend-based projections and then modifying 

them to take account of the effect of job growth forecasts.  However, he 
identified shortcomings in the way that the SHMA had been carried out, finding 
that there was a lack of clear evidence to support the assumptions made in 

scenario SS2, as well as a high degree of sensitivity in the model to changes in 
those assumptions.   

20. The SWDP Inspector's concerns were broadly accepted by RBC and BDC.  With 
Wyre Forest DC, they commissioned the North Worcestershire Housing Need 
Report (NWHNR)10, which RBC considers to now represent a more up-to-date 

and robust assessment of Redditch’s housing needs.  At the hearings, RBC 

                                       
7 PPG paragraph ID 2a-003-20140306. 
8 PPG paragraph ID 2a-004-20140306. 
9 Documents CDR7.5a and CDR7.5b. 
10 Document CDR17.1. 

Page 93 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 8 - 

stated that the overall needs total for Redditch was considered to be 6,090 
dwellings (net) over the above-noted 19 year period.  This figure has been 

challenged by representors, and I therefore consider it in more detail. 

21. However, before doing so it is necessary to address three general concerns 

that have been raised about the methodology of both the SHMA and the 
NWHNR.  The first of these relates to the way in which housing completions 
between 2006 and 2011 have been considered.  Both studies present 

household growth data over the period 2006-2030, while both Plans cover the 
period 2011-2030.  In deriving final housing needs figures for the Local Plan 

periods from the output of the relevant scenarios, both reports deduct the 
houses that were completed between 2006 and 2011.  Given that building 

rates were comparatively low during those 5 years, this has resulted in 
somewhat higher annual averages for the period 2011-2030.   

22. It is argued by representors seeking to reduce housing requirements that the 

period 2006-2011 should effectively be discounted on the basis that there was 
oversupply prior to 2006 in respect of the 2001-2011 Structure Plan period.  

The Councils have provided additional clarification in respect of this matter11.  
The base date from the 2012 SHMA was aligned to the plan period of the West 
Midlands Regional Strategy Phase 2 revision.  Given the policy context 

applying at the time, this was understandable.  In order to be consistent, it 
was necessary for the NWHNR to adopt the same base date as the SHMA.  In 

any event, it is clear that the SHMA sought to assess housing need over the 
period beginning from that base date.  It is therefore both appropriate and 
consistent with national planning policy to ensure that under-supply during the 

period following the SHMA's base date is properly provided for.  

23. The second general concern relates to the definition of the housing market 

area (HMA).  It is argued by some representors that objectively assessed 
needs should be considered on the basis of an HMA that includes the West 
Midlands conurbation rather than the Worcestershire HMA.  However, RBC 

accepts that its area falls within a wider market area that includes the West 
Midlands and that the Worcestershire HMA is not perfectly defined.  I agree 

that such definition is not an exact science and, moreover, that it is clear from 
both the SHMA and the NWHNR that relationships beyond the county boundary 
have been considered.  As discussed below, a specific sensitivity scenario 

(SS4) was applied to address the potential for an increased level of in-
migration from the conurbation taking into account expected high levels of 

economic growth and population increase.  Furthermore, the principle of 
providing for additional housing to meet the conurbation's needs has also been 
accepted.  Given the practical difficulties of extending the SHMA to cover the 

substantial number of local planning authority areas which relate to Redditch 
in terms of migration and travel to work data, I therefore agree with the 

Council that the approach to HMA definition is both pragmatic and robust.   

24. A third concern relates to the headship rates that have been adopted in the 
NWHNR.  This adopts an 'option C' combination, which applies CLG 2011-

based headship rates up to 2021, reverting to the 2008-based rate of change 
thereafter.  This method was endorsed by the SWDP Inspector in his October 

2013 Interim Conclusions paper.  While it is argued that circumstances have 

                                       
11 Document M01/1a. 

Page 94 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 9 - 

since changed and that (in summary) this assumption is too conservative, it 
seems to me that the stance that he adopted, and that has been followed in 

the NWHNR, remains justified.  Specifically, it is important to note that the 
2011-based projections were interim and applied to only a 10 year period.   

25. The 6,090 net dwellings figure that represents RBC's assessment of housing 
needs for Redditch also derives from the core scenario based on the 2010-
based sub-national population projections (SNPP-2010).  However, for the 

reasons set out above, I consider that scenario SS4 represents a more robust 
demographic-led assessment of housing needs within the Borough.  The figure 

of 6,090 dwellings net therefore represents an underestimate.  Nevertheless, 
the output of scenario SS4 for Redditch (6,290 dwellings net) remains lower 

than the figure of some 6,400 dwellings net (derived from the 2012 SHMA, as 
updated by the May 2012 Annex) that forms the basis of the BORLP4's 
housing requirement. 

26. A number of concerns have been raised about the methodology of scenario 
SS4 as it applies to Redditch.  As already noted, this incorporates a 20% uplift 

in order to examine the impact of an increased inflow of internal (UK) migrants 
upon the annual dwelling requirement.  Concern was raised about how such an 
uplift could be applied where there is a pattern of net out-migration, as is the 

case in Redditch.  Although this is not made clear in the Appendix to the 
NWHNR, it was clarified at the relevant hearing that the uplift has been applied 

to in-migration flows rather than the net migration total.  This appears an 
appropriate methodology.  It has also been suggested that an adjustment 
should be made in respect of out-migration, assuming in effect that this will 

reduce in future years.  However, I see no substantive evidence to support 
this suggestion, which appears to be an aspirational view rather than an 

objective evidence-based assessment.  No change is needed in respect of 
these matters. 

27. As explained in the Appendix to the NWHNR, the availability of information 

from the 2011 Census has resulted in a 'recalibration' of previous mid-year 
population estimates.  Specifically, this suggests that previous mid-year 

figures under-estimated the scale of growth in Redditch.  The report takes the 
view that this was mostly due to the difficulties in estimating the effects of 
international migration at the local level.  While this has been disputed, I see 

no reason to disagree with the report's assessment that relevant data sets in 
respect of birth, deaths and internal migration (the latter including evidence 

from GP registrations) can be considered to be robust.  Although concerns 
about potential inaccuracies in the 2001 Census are noted, these do not apply 
to the 2011 Census, which has informed the NWHNR paper.  On balance, 

I have no reason to suppose that its conclusions in that regard are unrealistic. 

28. It is also suggested that the components of population and household change 

for Redditch that have been published during the examination period do not 
support the NWHNR’s conclusions.  Clearly, the report predates the publication 
of these figures.  Revised SNPP-2012 scenarios have been calculated on behalf 

of the Councils which suggest levels of population and household growth for 
Redditch that are significantly lower than those indicated by the respective 

SNPP-2010 scenarios.  The CLG 2012-based household projections (2012-
2037) show a reduced level of household growth compared to the 2011-based 

interim projections.  However, these more recent outputs have not been 

Page 95 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 10 - 

subject to the sensitivity analysis that has been applied to the earlier data.   

29. Given the work that has been undertaken already, the Council considers that it 

would be untimely to fully revisit the housing assessments that have 
supported the Plan’s progress through the examination.  I have sympathy with 

that view: as a result of factors discussed elsewhere in this report, this 
examination has been a lengthy process.  It seems to me unreasonable to 
expect baseline input data to be revisited several times in order to ‘hit a 

moving target’.  While limited weight can therefore be attached to the SNPP-
2012 scenarios or the 2012-based household projections (as they have not 

been subject to the further analysis discussed above), neither set of data 
suggests that the SS4 scenario under-estimates the Borough's housing needs.  

The likely need for an early review of the Plan, discussed further below, 
provides an opportunity for these more up-to-date figures to be considered in 
the light of the wider needs arising from the West Midlands conurbation. 

30. National policy and guidance make it clear that employment trends should be 
taken into account when assessing housing needs.  These are not factored into 

either the SNPP-2010 or SS4 scenarios.  However, the output from the jobs-
led scenario SS3 for Redditch - a total of 6,320 dwellings net - is broadly 
similar to that from scenario SS4 (6,290 dwellings net).  Taking these factors 

together, it seems to me that a robust objective assessment of the Borough's 
overall housing needs amounts to a figure of some 6,300 dwellings net over 

the plan period.  This is slightly lower than the 6,400 figure that is planned for 
in the BORLP4. 

Housing Requirement   

31. Notwithstanding the above, the Council wishes to retain the figure of 6,400 
dwellings as the Local Plan housing requirement.  In the Council’s view, 

expressed at the hearings in March 2016, the additional 100 dwellings would 
provide greater flexibility in housing provision consistent with the Framework’s 
aim of boosting significantly the supply of housing.  I have no reason to take a 

different view.  Bearing in mind the presence of significant constraints to 
development in both the BORLP4 and BDP areas (as discussed elsewhere in 

both reports) it is clear that both the adoption of this figure and the 
agreement of BDC to accommodate an element of this requirement within 
Bromsgrove District represent positive planning in line with paragraph 157 of 

the Framework. 

32. Policy 2 of the BORLP4 refers to ‘a minimum’ of 3,400 dwellings being 

accommodated within Bromsgrove District.  Given that the land concerned 
relates to specific sites that would be adjoined by the Green Belt, it seems to 
me that there would be little if any potential for the 3,400 dwelling figure to be 

materially exceeded.  On the other hand, establishing this figure as a 
maximum limit (as suggested by some representors) would risk the possibility 

of under-delivery.  As such, I agree with the Council that a change to 
‘approximately’ is necessary for reasons of effectiveness [MM8].  The Council 
also proposes to delete a reference to land within SOADC in the vicinity of the 

A435 ADR [MM8, MM11]: given that SOADC has clarified that any 
development in this area would not contribute towards meeting the needs of 

Redditch, these changes are needed for the Plan to be effective and justified. 

Page 96 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 11 - 

Approach to Meeting Future Housing Needs from the West Midlands Conurbation 

33. It is common ground that the West Midlands conurbation, and specifically the 

City of Birmingham, is expected to experience unprecedented levels of 
economic growth and population change over the BORLP4 period.  As already 

mentioned, RBC, along with other GBSLEP members (and additional local 
planning authorities), is participating in a Joint Strategic Housing Needs Study 
which will inform the approach towards meeting future needs arising from the 

West Midlands conurbation.  The position at the time of writing this report is 
that the distribution of the likely shortfall in housing provision within the wider 

sub-region is yet to be finalised. 

34. The BORLP4 lacks clarity about the Borough's approach to meeting future 

housing needs arising from the West Midlands conurbation.  It refers (under 
the Duty to Co-operate heading) to the issue being dealt with during the next 
plan period 'or when a review of the development plan may be needed to 

consider these cross-boundary matters'.  This seems to me to be insufficiently 
specific: bearing in mind the anticipated timescale for the GBSLEP Strategic 

Housing Needs Study (and depending upon the study's outcome), it is likely 
that such matters will need to be considered before the end of the present 
Plan period.   

35. Pre-submission modifications proposed by RBC refer to a review of BORLP4 if 
required: in principle this appears a more appropriate response.  However, 

greater certainty could be provided about the likely trigger for any such review 
- specifically in respect of the outcome of the GBSLEP Strategic Housing Needs 
Study.  The Council accepts this and proposes modifications accordingly 

[MM1].  These are necessary for reasons of effectiveness. 

Conclusion – Main Issue 1 

36. Taking the above matters together, and subject to the above-noted main 
modifications, I conclude (1) that the Local Plan’s housing policies are based 
on adequate and up-to-date evidence and a clear understanding of housing 

needs in the market area and (2) that it is clear how the Local Plan has 
addressed the matter of meeting anticipated future housing needs arising from 

the West Midlands conurbation.  Taken together, these factors demonstrate 
that the Plan has been positively prepared in the terms of paragraph 182 of 
the Framework. 

Main Issue 2:  Is the proposed apportionment of development between 
Redditch and neighbouring authorities, and the distribution of 

development within Redditch Borough sufficiently justified and consistent 
with the local evidence base and national policy?  Is the Local Plan’s site 
selection methodology robust and transparent?  Does an adequate supply 

of housing land exist to meet the Local Plan’s requirements?   

Apportionment and Distribution of Development 

37. To the north-west, north, north-east and south-east, the urban area of 
Redditch is tightly constrained by the Borough’s administrative boundary.  It is 
within this context that the consideration of future development options for the 

town has taken place.  Two key assessments have been required.  First, it has 
been necessary to determine the potential for development to be 

Page 97 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 12 - 

accommodated within the existing built-up area.  However, given that it is 
generally accepted that sufficient sites do not exist within that area to meet 

the full level of need that has been assessed (a matter that I return to below), 
it has also been necessary to assess the potential for new development to be 

accommodated on greenfield sites outside the urban area.  This site search 
exercise – which has been developed through a number of studies – has 
considered options within the rural south-west of the Borough as well as in 

both neighbouring local authority areas of Bromsgrove and Stratford-on-Avon 
Districts.  In practice, the assessments of urban capacity and the potential for 

greenfield development have progressed in parallel. 

38. The ability for additional housing to be accommodated within the existing 

urban area of Redditch has been addressed through various studies, most 
recently through the preparation of annual Strategic Housing Land Availability 
Assessments (SHLAAs).  Importantly, these exercises have been carried out 

jointly with Bromsgrove District Council: as such, BDC does not dispute either 
the findings or methodology of these assessments. 

39. In broad terms, I am satisfied that the Council’s estimate of likely future 
supply from existing sources outside the urban area is justified.  As is 
discussed below, the need for future employment land to be safeguarded has 

been reviewed in line with the requirements of the Framework.  I accept the 
Council’s contention that – in general terms – the pattern of well-defined 

employment sites within the Borough that results in part from its previous New 
Town designation creates difficulties in releasing sites for housing without 
giving rise to possible incompatibilities between adjoining uses.  Nevertheless, 

a number of existing employment sites have been identified for housing 
development.  While some concern has been voiced that insufficient 

consideration has been given to other previously-developed sites, it is clear 
from the housing supply evidence that a significant yield is anticipated from 
this source.   

40. The high proportion of parks and open spaces within Redditch, also arising in 
part from its history as a New Town, represents a distinctive and attractive 

element of the town’s character.  It has been suggested that development of 
such areas would, as a matter of principle, be preferable to encroachment into 
the countryside.  However, I do not accept that national policy establishes a 

view that development of such areas is sequentially preferable to the loss of 
greenfield land – either in the Green Belt or open countryside.  While the 

Framework underlines the great importance that the government attaches to 
Green Belts, it is also clear about the value that is attached to parks and local 
green spaces.  In the present case, I share the Council’s assessment of the 

value of maintaining local recreational areas such as Morton Stanley and Arrow 
Valley Parks.  Indeed there is little, if any, local support for their consideration 

as potential housing sites.  To my mind, these areas play an essential role 
both in terms of recreational provision and local distinctiveness. 

41. Turning to the consideration of greenfield sites outside the urban area, it is 

first necessary to consider the Council’s broader development strategy of 
focussing development on the existing town rather than establishing a new 

settlement in the south of the Borough.  To my mind, this approach – which is 
consistent with the settlement hierarchy contained in Policy 2 – is clearly 

justified in line with sustainable development principles.  Settlements in the 

Page 98 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 13 - 

rural part of the Borough do not contain substantial services or facilities and, 
despite their relative proximity to Redditch, have generally poor public 

transport linkages.  The Council proposes a modification to clarify that 
development within Feckenham will provide for locally identified development 

needs only: I agree that this change [MM7] is needed for reasons of 
effectiveness. 

42. The scale of development that is now being considered would not be large 

enough to enable a sufficiently sustainable stand-alone community to be 
established.  An unacceptable reliance on commuting into Redditch and other 

urban areas would be likely to result.  Clearly, such an option would also result 
in the loss of open countryside and/or Green Belt land.  The Council’s decision 

to discount this option at an early stage in the site selection process is 
therefore justified on sustainable development principles.  It is noted that this 
option is not being advanced by the development sector in the present 

examination. 

43. For these reasons, I am satisfied that the broad approach of seeking land to 

meet the growth needs of Redditch in the form of urban extensions to the 
existing built-up area is justified.  Given that the built-up area is so tightly 
constrained by the administrative boundary of the Borough, the decision to 

assess potential sites in neighbouring local authority areas – as well as within 
the Borough – is also justified.  I now turn to consider this exercise. 

Site Selection Methodology 

44. As already mentioned, the methodology that underpins the selection of sites to 
meet the growth needs of Redditch in both the BORLP4 and BDP has been the 

subject of a significant amount of scrutiny during both examinations.  The up-
to-date position in respect of the process and the supporting evidence base is 

set out in the Narrative on the Site Selection Process for the Growth Areas at 
Redditch (the Narrative) prepared by both Councils in January 201612.  Section 
16 of the Narrative sets out the Councils’ conclusions on the choice of those 

sites that have been selected for allocation and those that have been rejected.   

45. The process that has been undertaken to reach that position is summarised in 

sections 8 and 9 of the Narrative.  This refers to, and expands upon, a number 
of key documents, notably the Housing Growth Development Study (HGDS)13 
(January 2013) and the Addendum to the HGDS (the HGDS Addendum)14 

(November 2014).  Both of these documents were accompanied by 
Sustainability Appraisals (SA).  In addition, the SA that accompanied the Local 

Plan itself (dated September 2013)15 was subject to a ‘refresh’ in November 
201416 and a further revision in May 201517 in the light of the additional work 
that had been undertaken by the Councils during the examination period. 

46. The starting point for the search exercise was the identification of some 

                                       
12 Document OED/46a 
13 Document CDX1.1.  While this took account of earlier studies, notably the Joint Study into the 
Future Growth Implications for Redditch Town to 2026 prepared by White Young Green in December 
2007 (document CDX1.5), it represented an entirely independent assessment. 
14 Document CDX1.47 
15 Document CDR1.11 
16 Document CDR18.23 
17 Document OED/33a 

Page 99 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 14 - 

20 broad areas around the urban area of Redditch18.  However, the HGDS 
excluded three areas (areas 3A, 7 and 18) from its initial broad area appraisal 

exercise.  While two of these (3A and 7) relate to parks and leisure facilities, 
the third (area 18) includes land, known as the A435 Area of Development 

Restraint (ADR), that has in fact been proposed for allocation.  In addition, the 
definition of areas 3 and 10 in the HGDS (areas that were both discounted at 
the end of the broad appraisal stage) explicitly excluded land in the Webheath 

and Ravensbank ADRs that has also now been proposed for allocation for 
housing and employment uses in the BORLP4 and BDP respectively. 

47. As set out in my Post Hearings Note dated 3 October 2014, the exclusion of 
the Webheath and A435 ADR areas from further consideration in the HGDS 

represented a potentially serious flaw in the site selection methodology.  First, 
it was inconsistent – as the ADR at Brockhill East (area 6), which is also now 
proposed for allocation, was considered in the HGDS.  Second, while it is 

accepted that the principle of future development within the ADRs had been 
accepted at previous Local Plan examinations, there is a difference between an 

in-principle acceptance of such potential and the actual allocation of a site in a 
Local Plan.  There is a clear legal and policy framework that requires 
alternatives to be explicitly tested through the plan-making process.   

48. Given that the HGDS was intended to be an updated and comprehensive 
exercise, I therefore considered that – notwithstanding their present ADR 

designation – it was necessary that land at Webheath and the A435 ADR 
should be assessed in a consistent manner to other potential housing 
development sites around the town.  Such an approach would allow the merits 

of all alternatives in sustainable development terms to be easily compared and 
assessed, thereby enabling the eventual course of action to be clearly 

explained.  However, this was lacking from the HGDS.   

49. In particular, the absence of such consideration posed problems in respect of 
the comparison between the development potential of two alternatives – the 

allocated site at Webheath and unallocated land (mostly within Bromsgrove 
District) at Brockhill West.  However, at the relevant hearing session, the only 

direct comparison between the two sites that the Council could refer to – work 
undertaken in the context of the previous emerging Core Strategy that was 
not in the event taken forward19 – suggested that the Brockhill West site 

(which the then draft Core Strategy was proposing for allocation) scored 
higher in respect of sustainability indicators than Webheath.  Clearly, this 

evidence could not support the approach that is now being taken forward.  
I return to both sites in more detail in this report and my report on the BDP. 

50. In response to my concerns, the Councils issued the HGDS Addendum, which 

was considered at further hearings in June 2015.  This sought to address the 
previously-excluded areas in the same terms as those that had been 

considered in the HGDS document.  As set out in my Post Hearings Note dated 
10 July 2015, the HGDS Addendum – although lacking in some clarity – 
provided sufficient justification in respect of the conclusions of the above-

noted broad area appraisal exercise20.  While some representors have called 
for the reconsideration of areas around Studley (notably areas 12, 14 and 15), 

                                       
18 These are set out in Map 1 (page 16) of the HGDS (document CDX1.1). 
19 ‘CS CDPD – SA Refresh (February – March 2010)’ – document CDR3.5. 
20 This is summarised in paragraphs A4.84 to A4.87 of the HGDS Addendum – document CDX1.47. 

Page 100 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 15 - 

I am satisfied that the reasons for their exclusion at the broad area appraisal 
stage, particularly in respect of the coalescence of settlements, are robust. 

51. The HGDS Addendum takes forward seven areas for consideration in more 
detail (the focussed area appraisal) – namely areas 3, 4, 5, 6, 8, 11R and 18.  

Areas 4, 5, 6, 8 and 11R all lie wholly (or mainly) within Bromsgrove District, 
and are considered in my report on the BDP examination – as is the 
Ravensbank employment allocation.  In my Post-Hearings Note dated 10 July 

2015, I expressed a concern that the conclusions of the focussed area 
appraisal in the HGDS Addendum lacked a sufficient explanation of why the 

options that were eventually selected for development had been selected.  
However, as noted above, additional detail has been provided by the Narrative 

document – notably at section 16.       

52. The allocations proposed in the BORLP4 within both the Webheath and A435 
ADRs have given rise to significant local objection.  I address both sites later 

on in this report.  However, in general terms – and subject to my comments 
below about the extent of the A435 ADR allocation – I am satisfied that the 

selection of both sites has been robustly justified through the above-noted 
exercise for the following reasons. 

53. As is set out in my report on the BDP examination, the scale of Redditch’s 

housing need is such that a significantly larger allocation is required than 
either of the Webheath or A435 ADR sites.  Nevertheless, it is equally clear 

from the submitted evidence base that neither of the two areas with a 
potential to accommodate such a large allocation that were brought forward 
into the focussed area appraisal (areas 4 and 8 – Foxlydiate and Bordesley) 

would be able to meet that need on their own.  Additional (and smaller) sites 
are required.  The proposed allocations at Webheath and the A435 ADR should 

be seen in that context. 

54. Various parties have suggested that a new allocation within area 5 (Brockhill 
West) would be more appropriate than the Webheath ADR.  As described 

above, the way in which the HGDS was originally structured prevented a direct 
comparison of the merits of these two alternatives.  However, I am satisfied 

that the HGDS Addendum and the Narrative – taken together – are now 
sufficient to explain the position of both Councils in that regard.  In particular, 
section 16 of the Narrative provides a summary of the key factors that have 

influenced the Councils’ eventual decision.  This identifies which assessment 
factors weighed more heavily in the area selection process and which factors 

were not key to determining the eventual outcome.  The broad area appraisal 
sites are considered against each other and clear conclusions are drawn.  This 
provides the comparative assessment of all potential sites that was lacking 

from the earlier documentation. 

55. I return to Webheath later on in this report.  However, in terms of this 

comparative argument a number of general points can be made.  Clearly, the 
fact that the Brockhill West site lies within the Green Belt, while Webheath 
does not, represents a strong argument in favour of development at the latter 

location.  Furthermore, planning permission already exists for housing 
development on part of the Webheath allocation: it was clarified at the hearing 

in March 2016 that some pre-commencement works have been carried out.  
Unlike Brockhill West, the Webheath allocation has existing development on 

Page 101 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 16 - 

three sides.  While Brockhill West was the subject of concerns from English 
Heritage (now Historic England) in respect of heritage assets – discussed in 

more detail in my report on the BDP examination – such concerns were not 
raised in respect of Webheath.  These factors all support the identification of 

Webheath for development in preference to Brockhill West.   

56. A similar argument in respect of Green Belt status applies to the A435 ADR.  
As described below, I share the views of many respondents that the scale of 

this allocation should be reduced – notably to maintain separation between 
Mappleborough Green and Redditch.  However, the site is well-related to the 

urban area and has good accessibility to alternatives to the private car.  Its 
identification in principle for development is therefore adequately justified. 

Sustainability Appraisal 

57. Concern has been raised by a number of representors about the adequacy of 
the Sustainability Appraisal (SA) that underpins the development strategy set 

out in both the BORLP4 and BDP in respect of meeting Redditch’s growth 
needs – particularly in relation to housing needs.  In response to my request 

at the March 2016 hearings, a legal opinion21 has been submitted by both 
Councils to the effect that the information submitted in both examinations is 
consistent with, and not in conflict with, the relevant legal requirements – 

notably the requirements of section 19(5) of the 2004 Act and regulation 12 of 
the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004.   

58. In summary, I have no reason to take a different view.  While deficiencies 
have been highlighted in the documentation that was originally submitted22,  
these have been largely remedied by later documents – notably the HGDS 

Addendum, the Narrative, the final BORLP4 SA (May 2015) and the minor 
amendments to that SA accompanying the Councils’ joint statement of case 

dated 4 March 201623.  Taken together, and notwithstanding my comments 
below about the testing of alternative scenarios, I am satisfied that these 
demonstrate that reasonable alternatives have been considered and also that 

they explain why the Councils rejected some alternatives and proceeded with 
others.  The inclusion of those areas that were previously excluded from the 

HGDS but that are now proposed for allocation in the BORLP4, along with the 
inclusion of specific conclusions in section 16 of the Narrative, has markedly 
increased the robustness of this exercise.  While the Narrative has not been 

accompanied by substantive new SA work, such additional work seems to me 
unnecessary given that significant changes to the approach that has previously 

been subject to SA are not being proposed as a result of that document.  
I share the view of the Council’s legal advisor that SA should be a 
proportionate exercise and that an unduly forensic level of analysis of specific 

scores and alternatives is not appropriate. 

59. Concern has been expressed with regard to the consideration of alternatives 

through the SA process.  I comment in more detail on the treatment of area 8 
(Bordesley) in that regard in my report into the examination of the BDP: while 
the updated SA of the BDP (May 2015) refers to the BORLP4 SA in respect of 

the consideration of growth options for Redditch, this matter bears more 

                                       
21 Document ED/50. 
22 See for example my Post Hearings Note dated 10 July 2015. 
23 Document S/1. 

Page 102 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 17 - 

heavily on the consideration of sites within the BDP (notably the allocation of 
land at Foxlydiate and the rejection of land at Bordesley) than the BORLP4.   

60. However, particular objections have been raised to the consideration of 
alternative scenarios in respect of the Webheath allocation.  As already noted, 

this area was explicitly excluded from consideration in the HGDS: as such, it 
was not considered in the four alternative scenarios for growth examined in 
that document.  My concerns about that approach are set out above. 

61. In response to my comments, the Narrative addresses the matter of 
alternative scenarios.  Four scenarios, described as ‘additional scenarios’, are 

listed.  Two of these include Webheath (area 3R) together with areas 4 and 6 
(scenario 1) and 4, 6 and 18 (scenario 4).  While two other scenarios exclude 

Webheath24, both are rejected as they do not provide sufficient capacity to 
meet the required level of need.  As such, they do not – and could never – 
amount to reasonable alternatives to the selected option (scenario 4), as they 

in effect represent a different strategy entirely – that of not meeting the 
identified housing requirement. 

62. The Councils initially argued at the relevant hearing (March 2016) that the 
new scenarios were additional to those that had been tested in the HGDS.  
However, the HGDS explicitly excluded Webheath (as already mentioned) and 

moreover treated Area 8 (Bordesley) as having a larger capacity than the 
1,000 dwellings referred to in the Narrative – a matter that I address in my 

report on the BDP examination.   As such, the scenarios in the HGDS and 
Narrative cannot be directly compared.  At the hearing, the Councils conceded 
that the four new scenarios represented ‘updated’ scenarios – an 

interpretation that is consistent with paragraph 9.180 of the Narrative25.  They 
added that sites such as Brockhill West (area 5) had been screened out prior 

to the scenario testing for specific reasons.  However, it is unclear why this 
site had been screened out from that exercise in preference to others (such as 
area 8) that were considered but then later rejected.  

63. To my mind the Councils’ presentation of the testing of alternatives in the 
Narrative has been unhelpful.  A more robust, and common sense, way of 

setting out the alternative scenarios would have been to consider groups of 
reasonable alternatives of a sufficient scale to meet the required housing 
figure – and then consider the relative merits of each option.  Alternatively, if 

reasonable alternative scenarios were not considered to exist then there would 
be little merit in undertaking such comparative scenario testing. 

64. Nevertheless, I do not feel that this matter amounts to a fatal flaw – either in 
soundness or SA terms.  As already noted, the comparative assessment and 
conclusion contained in section 16 of the Narrative document sets out the 

relative merits of the sites that were eventually selected (including Webheath) 
against the other sites that were carried forward into the broad area appraisal.  

The reasons for allocating Webheath in preference to Brockhill West (and 
indeed other options) are clearly explained: I have commented above on the 
comparative merits of these two particular sites.  Given that clear preference, 

and bearing in mind the underlying evidence base already referred to, I have 
no reason to suppose that the testing of additional scenarios containing 

                                       
24 Scenarios 2 (areas 6, 8 and 18) and 3 (areas 4, 6 and 18).  
25 Last sentence of paragraph 9.180.  

Page 103 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 18 - 

different combinations of sites would have resulted in a different outcome.  
I therefore reject the assertion that an inadequate consideration of 

alternatives has occurred. 

Employment Development 

65. As is discussed below, existing employment sites within Redditch have been 
assessed through an Employment Land Review (ELR) (2008/9) and ELR 
Update (2013)26.  This has led to some sites being considered for residential 

use through the SHLAA.  Nevertheless, a need for additional employment land 
remains: while a significant amount of this is identified within the BORLP4 

area, land is also proposed within Bromsgrove District (at Ravensbank) and in 
Stratford-on-Avon District (at the Redditch Eastern Gateway).  The land at 

Ravensbank adjoins an existing business park, and is the subject of a site 
allocation policy in the BDP.  The Redditch Eastern Gateway is a proposal of 
the Stratford-on-Avon Core Strategy27.  Bearing these factors in mind, the 

suggested approach appears to be both adequately justified and deliverable in 
practice.  However, the Council suggests modifications to provide more detail 

about the level of provision in specific areas and to clarify the nature of the 
proposed developments [MM45-47]: these changes are needed in order to be 
justified and effective. 

Housing Land Supply 

66. The components of housing land supply are set out in BORLP4 Appendix 2.  

Updated information was produced by the Council taking account of 
commitments and completions occurring during 2013-1428.  However, in view 
of the delays that have occurred to this examination, I asked the Council to 

produce a further update.  This was published for consultation in December 
201529.  A number of concerns were raised by respondents in respect of that 

document and a further update (dated 4 March 2016) was attached to the 
Councils’ joint statement in respect of the March hearings30.  This presents the 
land supply position at 1 March 2016 (although completions are only included 

up to 31 October 2015) and represents the most up-to-date picture of land 
supply for the Borough.  It supersedes information set out in Appendix 2 of the 

Plan: given that housing supply data will inevitably change during the Plan 
period, I agree with the Council that information on completions and 
commitments is better placed in its monitoring reports than the Plan itself: as 

such the suggested modifications [MM70(part)] are needed for reasons of 
effectiveness.  

67. In terms of overall land supply, the updated evidence base identifies sites for 
some 2,873 dwellings which are proposed for allocation.  This figure takes 
account of changes to site capacity that have been identified during the 

examination period (for example through the SHLAA process) as well as the 
reduction in size of the A435 ADR site that is discussed below.  The Council 

proposes to update policy 46 and amend Appendix 2 accordingly, which are 
needed for reasons of effectiveness [MM57, MM70].  Although somewhat 

                                       
26 Documents CDR8.12 and CDR8.3 respectively. 
27 Memorandum of Understanding between RBC, BDC and Stratford-on-Avon DC – document M02/1c. 
28 Document  CDR18.22. 
29 Document OED/46e. 
30 Appendix 2 to Document S/1. 

Page 104 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 19 - 

below the 3,000 dwelling figure set out in policy 4, this total excludes any 
allowance for windfalls: as such, I have seen no evidence that the 3,000 

dwelling figure set out in that policy is unlikely to be achieved. 

68. Turning to the five year land supply, it is necessary to consider whether there 

has been a record of persistent under-delivery of housing in the terms of 
paragraph 47 of the Framework.   It is common ground that housing delivery 
in Redditch has been reduced in recent years: the annual housing target 

required by the extant Local Plan (300 dwellings/year) was not achieved after 
2007/8, although the most recent information31 shows that 312 dwellings were 

completed in 2014/15 indicating signs of an upturn.   

69. The PPG advises that the assessment of a local delivery record is likely to be 

more robust if a longer term view is taken, since this is likely to take account 
of the peaks and troughs of the housing market cycle32.  The Council has 
presented data over a much longer timescale (from 1996/7) that avoids recent 

poor market conditions33.  This shows that prior to 2007/8 housing was 
generally delivered in line with relevant local plan, structure plan and regional 

expectations.  Although a consistent annual average was not maintained 
during this period, there were several years where a significant over-provision 
occurred: as such, the cumulative delivery total was ahead of a strict annual 

requirement for most of the last Local Plan period (1996-2011).  Indeed, it 
only fell below this in the first and last years: the Plan period was completed 

with a shortfall of only 48 dwellings.  This does not seem to me to amount to 
persistent under-delivery in the terms of the NPPF.  It should be noted that 
this period included a moratorium on housing development between 2006 and 

2008 as sufficient planning permissions had been granted in respect of the 
Local Plan target.  I therefore disagree with those representors that feel that a 

20% buffer should be applied when calculating the Borough’s five year housing 
land supply.  A 5% buffer is adequate.  

70. Using the Sedgefield approach, applying a 5% buffer and applying the buffer 

to the outstanding shortfall, the Council states that there is a five year land 
supply of 2,813 dwellings against a requirement of 2,616 dwellings.  This gives 

a ‘headroom’ of almost 200 dwellings, resulting in a 5.38 years supply34.  No 
substantive challenge has been advanced in respect of the Council’s windfall 
assumptions: these appear to be appropriately based on the evidence.  While 

objections were raised to the inclusion of a number of C2 uses in the housing 
supply data in the December 2015 topic paper, these have been excluded from 

the more recent calculations referred to above.  

71. Concerns have been raised about other land supply components.  As a matter 
of principle, I disagree with the view that SHLAA sites without planning 

permission should not be considered as part of the five year land supply.  
Subject to meeting the required policy tests, there is no reason to exclude 

sites that might come forward during the five year period.  In fact many of the 
SHLAA sites that form part of the five year land supply either have planning 

                                       
31 Appendix 2 to document S/1 paras 2.24-2.25. 
32 PPG ID 3-035-20140306 
33 Document R2/1. 
34 It should be noted that the five year supply figures relate to the full housing requirement identified 
for Redditch of 6,400 dwellings, which includes the component to be provided through the BDP and 
anticipates an element of delivery from these cross boundary sites. 

Page 105 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 20 - 

permission or have an application pending.  Several are under construction.  
I have therefore seen no compelling evidence that their inclusion within the 

five year land supply is unrealistic or unjustified. 

72. While some parties suggest that a ‘lapse’ or ‘discount’ rate should be applied 

to such sites, the Council’s evidence35 shows that in practice there have been 
very few lapsed planning permissions.  The average figure between 2010 and 
2015 was 3%, which included a recessionary period: in the last two years the 

lapse rate has been 0.6% and 1.6% respectively.  I therefore share the 
Council’s view that there is no need to apply a ‘lapse rate’ to the five year land 

supply figures discussed above.  In any event, it should be noted that the 
‘headroom’ that has been identified (197 dwellings) represents some 7% of 

the total identified supply (2,813 dwellings).  

73. A particular concern has been raised about the viability of housing 
developments that are anticipated to come forward on previously-developed 

land.  The Council does not dispute that its evidence highlights potential 
viability problems in respect of such schemes.  However, it has demonstrated 

that, in practice, significant progress has been achieved on the ground with 
identified sites.  Indeed, several such sites are presently under construction36.  
As such, I share the Council’s view that its viability evidence may, in that 

regard, be unduly pessimistic.  In any event, as set out below, the Local Plan 
includes some flexibility to address matters such as affordable housing 

requirements when viability concerns are demonstrated. 

74. Policy 5 of the Local Plan seeks the efficient and effective use of land, including 
the active encouragement of the re-use and regeneration of previously-

developed land.  It states that densities of between 30 and 50 dwellings per 
hectare will be sought, with densities of 70 dwellings per hectare on sites that 

are within or adjacent to Redditch Town Centre and the District Centres.  
Higher densities will be sought in locations close to public transport 
interchanges and in other locations where it can be demonstrated that there 

would be no detrimental impact on the amenity, character and environmental 
quality of the area.  Given the wider constraints on development within the 

Borough as already discussed, and bearing in mind the need to encourage 
alternatives to the private car, the encouragement of higher development 
densities is justified in principle.   

75. Some representors feel that the wording of policy 5 in this regard, which 
continues the approach set out in the present Local Plan, is unduly inflexible.  

However, the policy is framed as ‘seeking’ – rather than ‘requiring’ – the 
relevant outcomes.  The accompanying reasoned justification makes it clear 
that other factors, such as the character of the area and the physical 

constraints of a site, will be considered.  Evidence provided by the Council37 
shows that, notwithstanding this policy having previously been in force, a 

number of housing developments have gained planning permission with 
densities of less than 30 dwellings.  On balance, I am satisfied that this 
demonstrates that an appropriate degree of flexibility will be available.   

                                       
35 Appendix 2 to document S/1 paras 3.15-3.16. 
36 These include land at the former Dingleside Middle School and Auxerre Avenue (SHLAA site 203) 
and land at Church Hill District Centre (site 206). 
37 Table 1.3.1 of RBC Matter 1 Statement – document R1/1. 

Page 106 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 21 - 

Conclusion – Main Issue 2  

76. Taking the above matters together, and subject to the above-noted main 

modifications, I conclude (1) that the proposed apportionment of development 
between Redditch and neighbouring authorities, and the distribution of 

development within Redditch Borough is sufficiently justified and consistent 
with the local evidence base and national policy, (2) that the Local Plan’s site 
selection methodology is robust and transparent and (3) that an adequate 

supply of housing land exists to meet the Local Plan’s requirements. 

Main Issue 3:  Are the Local Plan’s proposals for the provision of 

employment, retail and community services uses sufficiently justified and 
consistent with the evidence base and national policy?   

77. Paragraph 22 of the Framework states that planning policies should avoid the 
long term protection of sites allocated for employment use where there is no 
reasonable prospect of a site being used for that purpose.  Land allocations 

should be regularly reviewed.  As already noted, the BORLP4 is underpinned 
by the 2008/9 ELR and 2013 ELR update: appendix B of the latter document 

identifies five sites that are no longer considered suitable to meet employment 
needs.  Furthermore, while policy 24 seeks to protect Primarily Employment 
Areas as defined on the Policies Map, it allows for non-employment 

development to take place subject to criteria relating to viability and the 
appropriateness of the site for employment use.  This approach strikes an 

acceptable balance that is consistent with the Framework’s provisions. 

78. Policy 25 states that ‘sites other than those within designated Primarily 
Employment Areas may be suitable for economic development, redevelopment 

or change of use’.  While the Council explains that this relates to sites within 
the urban area, this is not made clear in the policy itself.  As drafted, the 

policy raises the potential for conflict with countryside protection and/or Green 
Belt policies.  An additional change [MM48] is therefore needed for reasons of 
effectiveness and consistency with national policy. 

79. Policy 28 seeks to place requirements on developers of major applications to 
provide education and training for local residents.  A representative level of 

developer contributions has been modelled in the Local Plan Viability Study38 
which shows that the cumulative impact of policies would not put delivery of 
the Plan at risk.  Additional clarification about the scope and implementation of 

contributions in respect of this matter is intended to be provided by a 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). 

80. The key evidence base supporting the Plan’s policies for retail development is 
the Town Centre and Retail Study 2008 with a partial update in 201239.  This 
highlights capacity for a growth in comparison retail floorspace, and to a lesser 

extent in convenience goods floorspace, during the Plan period, and underpins 
the approach set out in policy 30.  This policy, supported by policies 32, 34 

and 35, seeks to reinforce the retail hierarchy that has been promoted through 
successive local plans for Redditch.  Subject to changes to clarify the role of 
district centres [MM50-51], which are needed for consistency with national 

policy, this approach has been adequately justified. 

                                       
38 Document CDR18.11. 
39 Documents CDR9.3A and CDR9.1 respectively. 

Page 107 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 22 - 

81. Policy 31 proposes the extension of the town centre boundary to include some 
peripheral land, including sites at Prospect Hill, Edward Street and Church 

Road.  I am satisfied that this reflects an enhanced focus on town centre 
regeneration, enabling a number of sites to be promoted for town centre uses 

in line with the Framework.  I agree with the Council that the areas concerned 
are well-related to the existing focus of the town centre, which in any event 
occupies a fairly tight and well-defined area.  I have seen no substantive 

evidence that this boundary change would harm the vitality or viability of the 
existing town centre area.  While concerns have been raised by representors 

about the stance of the Council in respect of a specific planning application 
outside the town centre, this is not a matter for the present report. 

82. Concern has been raised about the exclusion of part of the Kingfisher Centre 
from the Retail Core (as defined by policy 32).  However, this is a policy that 
relates to frontage protection: as the Kingfisher Centre is within the town 

centre, it would benefit from a location at the top of the above-noted retail 
hierarchy.  At the hearing, a suggestion was made that greater restrictions 

should be applied to development proposals on sites that are lower down the 
retail hierarchy.  However, given that policy 30 applies a sequential approach 
that gives a preference to town centre developments, such a change is not 

required for soundness reasons. Taken together, and subject to the above-
noted changes, I am satisfied that the suggested approach accords with 

national policy in the Framework. 

83. A new district centre is proposed within the Brockhill East strategic site (policy 
46).  The reasoned justification supporting this policy implies that any 

convenience retail floorspace associated with this proposal should be subject 
to an impact assessment.  However, this would be inconsistent with the 

intention to locate a new district centre within the site.  A change is proposed 
by the Council to clarify that such an assessment will only be required if any 
retail proposal exceeds the definition of a district centre.  This [MM60] is 

recommended in order to be consistent with national policy.  

84. Concern has been raised about the Plan’s approach to crime reduction and 

safety, including the provision of appropriate infrastructure for policing and the 
emergency services.  A statement of common ground has been agreed 
between the Council and the Police and Fire and Rescue services in respect of 

these matters40.  Changes suggested by the Council in this regard, including 
the inclusion of up-to-date crime statistics and a greater emphasis on 

emergency services infrastructure are necessary for reasons of effectiveness 
[MM2, MM4-6, MM53-56].   

Conclusion – Main Issue 3  

85. Taking the above matters together, and subject to the above-noted main 
modifications, I conclude that the Local Plan’s proposals for the provision of 

employment, retail and community services uses are sufficiently justified and 
consistent with the evidence base and national policy. 

                                       
40 Document OED/3. 

Page 108 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 23 - 

Main Issue 4:  Does the Local Plan provide satisfactorily for affordable 
housing, housing for the elderly and for the accommodation needs of 

Gypsies and Travellers, consistent with national policy? 

Affordable Housing 

86. Affordable housing needs for the Borough of Redditch were assessed in the 
SHMA (February 2012) and the Worcestershire SHMA Monitoring Document 
(June 2013) 41.  These showed some variation: the SHMA affordable housing 

need being assessed at 168 dwellings per annum with the update report giving 
a figure of 258 dwellings per annum.  Given this variability, the Council 

proposes to undertake a rolling five year review in order to enable the Plan’s 
approach to be monitored and policies to be reviewed if required. 

87. Notwithstanding the variation between the two above figures, the assessed 
level of need for affordable housing represents a significant proportion of the 
Plan’s overall annual housing requirement (of 337 dwellings/year).  The 30% 

target for affordable housing provision that is set by policy 6 of the Local Plan 
is therefore unlikely to fully meet the identified need.  However, the 

constraints that apply to overall housing delivery within the Borough, as 
already discussed, limit the potential to increase overall housing numbers in 
order to achieve a higher yield of affordable housing.  Furthermore, the 

Council argues that the 30% policy target is based upon an assessment of 
development viability. 

88. An Affordable Housing Viability Assessment (AHVA) (January 2012)42 was 
undertaken which suggested three options for setting a policy target.  The 
Council’s decision to adopt the 30% figure was based upon a wish to maximise 

affordable housing delivery on the larger allocated sites, some of which fall 
within lower value sub-areas.  In principle this seems to me to be an 

appropriately pragmatic approach: although the AHVA identifies the potential 
to seek a higher percentage in higher value areas of the Borough, notably the 
rural south, development in this area would conflict with the settlement 

strategy outlined above.  It is noted that those allocations within the BDP to 
meet the needs of Redditch are subject to a 40% affordable housing 

requirement.  The justification for this figure is considered in my report on the 
BDP examination: however, while this creates an apparently anomalous 
position, the evidence presented in respect of the BORLP4 examination does 

not support the adoption of a 40% target within Redditch itself. 

89. The AHVA acknowledges that there may be site-specific circumstances where 

the achievement of the relevant percentage requirement may not be possible.  
However, policy 6 makes provision for this to be subject to negotiation in 
circumstances where viability concerns can be properly demonstrated.  This is 

in line with the flexibility that is required by paragraph 50 of the Framework. 

90. The viability of the Plan’s approach to affordable housing was further 

examined in the joint BDC/RBC Local Plan Viability Study (July 2014)43.  
Although post-dating the Plan’s submission, this document builds upon earlier 
evidence as noted above.  It highlights potential problems in respect of the 

                                       
41 Documents CDR7.5c and CDR7.4 respectively. 
42 Document CDR7.6. 
43 Document CDR18.11. 

Page 109 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 24 - 

viability of urban infill sites within Redditch, concluding that brownfield sites 
are inherently difficult in terms of viability.  However, I accept the view 

expressed at the hearing by the Council’s advisor that the viability of actual 
development proposals within the town depends upon their site-specific 

circumstances, including their location.  As such, a differential affordable 
housing requirement for greenfield and brownfield sites would be difficult to 
justify in the Redditch context.  In any event, the flexibility described above 

would enable identified viability problems to be appropriately taken into 
account.  

91. Policy 6 applies a threshold of 5 dwellings for the application of affordable 
housing contributions.  Although this was supported by viability testing, the 

Council proposes to make a change to accord with the threshold of 10-units or 
less set out in the WMS of 28 November 2014 [MM16] and this is 
recommended in order to be consistent with national policy. 

Housing for the Elderly 

92. Some concern has been raised about the lack of an explicit policy in respect of 

housing for the elderly, along the lines of BDP policy BDP10.  The Council 
comments that BORLP4 policy 4 places reliance on the SHMA and 
Worcestershire Extra Care Housing Strategy (WECHS)44 to provide current 

data to reflect the needs of the Borough’s ageing population.  It is accepted 
that policy 4 provides flexibility to negotiate such provision.  However, given 

that both the SHMA and WECHS both demonstrate a continuing need for 
housing for the elderly, albeit that the extra care need identified for Redditch 
is the lowest of the Worcestershire authorities, I agree with representors that 

a more positive statement is merited.  I therefore recommend that further text 
is added to policy 4 to that effect [MM9] in order for its approach to be 

justified.  However, references to the Lifetimes Homes standard should be 
deleted in line with the WMS of 25 March 2015 as set out later in this report. 

Gypsies and Travellers 

93. The Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (August 2015) (PPTS) places 
requirements on Local Plans in respect of this matter.  A robust evidence base 

should be prepared, including early and effective community engagement with 
both settled and traveller communities (PPTS policy A).  Pitch targets should 
be set and a supply of sites identified (PPTS policy B).   

94. At the start of the examination, I raised a concern that the Local Plan did not 
appear to accord with these requirements45.  However, during the examination 

the Worcestershire Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) 
was issued46 and was the subject of a consultation exercise.  No substantive 
criticisms were raised in respect of either the methodology of the GTAA or its 

conclusions.  I have no reason to take a different view. 

95. In respect of Redditch, the GTAA concludes that there is sufficient capacity to 

cover identified requirements to 2018/19 and that there is no overall 
additional need for plots either for gypsies or travelling showpeople during the 

                                       
44 Document CDR7.7. 
45 Inspector’s Letter of 10 April 2014 (ED/3) and Post Hearings note dated 3 October 2014 (ED19). 
46 Document OED/46f. 

Page 110 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 25 - 

remainder of the Plan period.  It is therefore necessary, in order to be 
justified, effective and consistent with national policy, to amend policy 7, its 

reasoned justification and the glossary to be consistent with the up-to-date 
evidence base and the revised PPTS.  I recommend accordingly [MM17-18; 

MM74].  The Council’s suggested modifications make provision for the future 
allocation of sites in the event that a need is demonstrated by a more up-to-
date GTAA.  It is intended that this would be addressed by the proposed 

Allocations Plan, which is also intended to cover matters such as Local Green 
Space (as discussed below).  The timetable for the preparation of the 

Allocations Plan is set out in the most recent Local Development Scheme 
(LDS) (July 2016). 

Conclusion – Main Issue 4 

96. Subject to the main modifications outlined above, I conclude that the Local 
Plan provides satisfactorily for affordable housing, housing for the elderly and 

for the accommodation needs of Gypsies and Travellers, consistent with 
national policy. 

Main Issue 5:  Does the Local Plan provide satisfactorily for the delivery of 
development, with particular reference to transportation infrastructure? 

97. The Local Plan’s infrastructure requirements are summarised in BORLP4 

Appendix 4 and are set out in more detail (including costings where known) in 
the Borough of Redditch Infrastructure Development Plan (IDP) (March 

2014)47.  This has been the subject of cross-boundary consultation – notably 
with BDC and SOADC.  In addition to requirements for Redditch Borough it 
includes schedules of transport infrastructure requirements for both the 

Borough of Redditch and Bromsgrove District and infrastructure requirements 
for cross-boundary developments including proposals in both the BDP and 

BORLP4.  The IDP is a live document which is intended to be updated during 
the Plan period to reflect new requirements when they are known and to 
identify when infrastructure needs have been met.  Detailed infrastructure 

requirements in respect of the BORLP4’s strategic sites are set out in policies 
46 to 49.  A number of changes are proposed to these to reflect updated 

information and the comments of consultees and respondents – see elsewhere 
in this report.  A change is also proposed to give greater clarity on the Plan’s 
requirements for broadband provision [MM49]: this is needed for reasons of 

effectiveness. 

98. As already noted, the viability of development has been tested through the 

Local Plan Viability Study (July 2014)48.  This adopts the residual value method 
and has tested Strategic Sites alongside a set of other modelled sites for 
residential and non-residential development.  It concludes that, on balance, 

the cumulative impact of the Council’s policies does not put residential 
development at risk.  I am satisfied that the underlying assumptions of the 

study are suitably robust and I have no reason to doubt this conclusion.  While 
viability concerns are identified in respect of brownfield developments, policy 5 
enables infrastructure provision or payment terms to be negotiated in order to 

secure the beneficial re-use of previously-developed land.  As discussed 
above, provision is also made for negotiation in cases where affordable 

                                       
47 Document CDR5.1. 
48 Document CDR18.11. 

Page 111 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 26 - 

housing provision is likely to cause viability concerns. 

99. The Local Plan indicates that monitoring will take place through the 

preparation of the Council’s monitoring reports.  A number of specific 
indicators are set out in Appendix 4 of the Plan: these will be monitored in 

addition to other wider monitoring of matters such as housing and 
employment land take-up. 

100. Transport evidence has been prepared to support the Local Plan, most notably 

the Redditch Local Plan – Transport Network Analysis and Mitigation Report49 
which has assessed the Plan’s proposals and identified necessary infrastructure 

schemes and services to mitigate against impacts. 

101. During preparation of the Local Plan, concern was raised by the Highways 

Agency – now Highways England – about the effects of the levels of growth 
envisaged in Bromsgrove on the strategic road network (SRN).  The position 
prior to the main BORLP4 hearings was summarised in a hearing statement 

dated September 201450.  This states that the level of planned growth in both 
areas to 2021 could be accommodated, subject to defined mitigation being in 

place, which is considered to be deliverable.  The agency is comfortable that 
the growth envisaged to meet the requirements of Redditch Borough could be 
accommodated on the SRN.  However, outstanding questions remained around 

whether and how the level of planned growth beyond 2021 arising from the 
housing requirement in Bromsgrove could be accommodated on the SRN.  The 

agency added that work was ongoing in respect of further modelling as well as 
investigating the potential for specific improvements. 

102. This matter was discussed at the relevant hearing session, where Highways 

England clarified that, while it raises several matters of detail, it does not have 
fundamental soundness objections to the contents of the BORLP4 as 

submitted.  Its main concern relates to the details of the supporting 
Infrastructure Development Plan (IDP) in respect of future growth that may be 
proposed (particularly in the BDP) to meet the future needs of the West 

Midlands conurbation.  However, as is already discussed, the scale and 
location of such growth in so far as they relate to Bromsgrove and Redditch 

remain to be finalised.  I have seen no evidence that the provisions of the 
BORLP4 would preclude the infrastructure implications of any such future 
growth from being appropriately considered at the time of the proposed review 

of the BDP.  Nevertheless, the Council agrees with Highways England that a 
number of changes are needed to underline the significance of the SRN, to 

explain the use of planning conditions and obligations in securing mitigation 
and to clarify the nature of the assessment process [MM3, MM37-44].  These 
are needed for reasons of effectiveness and consistency with national policy.  

The local highway authority, Worcestershire County Council (WCC), does not 
raise concerns about the transport implications of the Local Plan’s policies or 

proposals. 

Conclusion – Main Issue 5 

103. Subject to the main modifications outlined above and the main modifications 

relating to the infrastructure requirements of specific sites set out later in this 

                                       
49 Most recent version May 2013 – document CDR11.1. 
50 Document R3/4. 

Page 112 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 27 - 

report, I conclude that the Local Plan provides satisfactorily for the delivery of 
development.  

Main Issue 6:  Does the Local Plan take adequate account of the effects of 
development on the built and natural environment?  Is its approach to 

development within the Green Belt consistent with national policy?   Are 
the boundaries of the Green Belt and development envelopes correctly 
located and adequately justified? 

Flood Risk and Pollution 

104. The Plan is supported by a range of relevant technical evidence, notably the 

joint RBC/BDC Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) (Levels 1 and 2), the 
joint RBC/BDC Outline Water Cycle Study (WCS) (2009 and 2012) and 

addendum to the SFRA and WCS51.  The SFRA has assessed the intended 
BORLP4 development sites, applying the sequential and exception tests in line 
with the Framework and PPG.  Small parts of the strategic sites at Brockhill 

East and Webheath lie outside flood zone 152.  This has been reflected in the 
assessment of potentially developable areas within the sites, as set out in the 

relevant policies (46 and 48) and supporting text. 

105. The Council has worked with relevant agencies, including the Environment 
Agency (EA) and Severn Trent Water Ltd, in developing the above-noted 

evidence base.  Two statements of common ground have been agreed, most 
recently in March 201653.  This proposes a number of changes to policies 5, 

17, 46, 47 and 48 to introduce additional policy safeguards in respect of flood 
risk, pollution and land contamination [MM12-15; MM30-35; MM35a; 
MM58-59;  MM61-63; MM67-69], which are recommended in order to be 

effective, justified and consistent with national policy.  In respect of the 
suggested imposition of the optional water efficiency standard (of 110 litres 

per person per day) in particular catchments, I am satisfied that the need for 
such a standard is justified by the submitted evidence base.  The viability of 
applying a more stringent standard (the 105 litres per person per day 

standard in the former Code for Sustainable Homes) than that now proposed 
has been tested54.  Neither the EA nor Severn Trent Water Ltd raise soundness 

concerns in respect of the BORLP4.  I have no reason to take a different view.   

106. I understand the concerns of local people in respect of these matters, and 
I am aware that there have been a number of instances of local flooding within 

relevant catchments.  However, I am satisfied that appropriate assessments 
have been undertaken in support of the Local Plan in line with national policy, 

and that, subject to the above-noted modifications, sufficient policy safeguards 
are in place within the Local Plan (notably in policy 17) to ensure that new 
development is adequately protected from the risk of flooding and does not 

exacerbate flooding elsewhere.  This accords with national policy: paragraphs 
100 and 103 of the Framework state (among other matters) that  local plans 

should use opportunities offered by new development to reduce the causes 
and impacts of flooding and that when determining planning applications local 

                                       
51 Documents CDR10.18, CDR10.5, CDR10.16, CDR10.6 & CDR10.17 respectively.  
52 See PPG ref. ID 7-065-20140306. 
53 Document ED/45.  The first statement of common ground is attached to BDC’s Matter B4 statement 
as Appendix A – document B4/1. 
54 Document CDR18.11 

Page 113 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 28 - 

planning authorities should ensure flood risk is not increased elsewhere.   

Nature Conservation 

107. Policy 16 of the Local Plan seeks to achieve a high quality natural environment 
and landscape and the protection of sites of wildlife importance.  However, the 

policy does not sufficiently recognise the hierarchy of nature conservation sites 
and fails to distinguish between the particular requirements that apply to Sites 
of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) and the level of protection that is 

appropriately applied to regional and local wildlife sites.  The Council accepts 
this and has proposed modifications accordingly.  Subject to a further change 

to recognise the need to take account of the ‘in combination’ effects of a 
number of developments as set out in paragraph 118 of the Framework, these 

amendments are recommended [MM28-29] for reasons of effectiveness and 
consistency with national policy. 

Local Green Spaces and Open Space 

108. Paragraph 76 of the Framework enables local communities to identify for 
special protection green areas of particular importance to them.  Such Local 

Green Spaces should only be designated when a plan is prepared or reviewed 
and be capable of enduring beyond the end of the plan period. 

109. While the Local Plan does not seek to designate any specific Local Green 

Spaces, policy 12 states that these will be designated, where appropriate, in 
accordance with the provisions of the Framework.  Given the above-noted 

requirement that such spaces should be designated at the plan preparation or 
review stage, this is insufficiently precise.  The Council proposes further 
changes to clarify that, where justified, Local Green Spaces will be designated 

through its proposed Allocations Plan, which – as noted above – is referred to 
in its most recent LDS.  These changes [MM21-22] are recommended for 

reasons of effectiveness and consistency with national policy. 

110. Sport England raises several concerns about the plan’s approach to the 
provision of sporting facilities.  However, I am satisfied that policies 13 and 14 

provide an adequate level of protection for existing open spaces in the 
Borough, while policy 12 requires new developments to make provision for 

new or improved facilities.  Policy 43 specifically safeguards land at the Abbey 
Stadium for leisure and leisure-related uses.  While a comprehensive Sports 
and Physical Activity Strategy has yet to be completed, the Plan takes account 

of relevant evidence documents including a Playing Pitch Strategy and Open 
Space Needs Assessment55.  I do not therefore feel that a separate policy in 

respect of sports facilities is necessary for soundness reasons.  

Sustainable Design and Construction 

111. Policy 15 of the Local Plan seeks to ensure that appropriate consideration of 

adaptation and mitigation has taken place in respect of climate change.  This 
makes reference to technical standards that have now been superseded 

following the WMS dated 25 March 2015.  The Council proposes changes in 
order to reflect the new national technical standards for housing.  Subject to 
some additional clarification, I recommend these changes [MM10, MM23-25, 

                                       
55 Documents CDR10.9 and CDR10.20 respectively. 

Page 114 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 29 - 

MM27, MM36; MM73] as being necessary in order to be consistent with 
national policy.  I address the matter of the optional water standard above.  

Wind Energy 

112. The WMS dated 18 June 2015 set out new considerations to be applied to wind 

energy developments.  This matter has not been the subject of significant 
comment or representation in this examination.  Nevertheless, the Council 
proposes to amend policy 15 to clarify that it does not apply to wind energy 

developments, which will be considered against national policy and guidance.  
This change [MM26] is necessary for consistency with national policy. 

Heritage Assets 

113. The need to conserve and enhance Redditch’s historic environment forms part 

of the Local Plan’s vision and is the subject of a number of policies.  As 
discussed elsewhere, heritage issues have been considered in the exercise to 
select sites to meet the growth needs of the Borough.  Relevant evidence 

includes the Historic Environment Assessment for Redditch56 and a number of 
Conservation Area Management Plans and Character Appraisals.  Subject to a 

change to policy 36’s terminology in respect of non-designated heritage assets 
[MM52], which is recommended for consistency with national policy, Historic 
England (formally English Heritage) raises no soundness concerns in respect of 

the Local Plan.  I have no reason to take a difference view.  

Green Belt 

114. As already noted, much of the Borough outside the urban area lies within the 
Green Belt.  Policy 8 of the Local Plan sets out a presumption against 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt except in very special 

circumstances.  While this reflects wording in previous national policy57 it does 
not strictly accord with the wording of the Framework.  Moreover, it does not 

fully take into account the details of the Green Belt policy that is now 
contained within the Framework.  The Council proposes a change to clarify 
that national policy will be applied [MM19] which I recommend in order to be 

consistent with that policy. 

115. Policy 10 sets out requirements for new dwellings for rural workers in the 

Green Belt and Open Countryside.  It is accepted that the requirement to 
demonstrate an essential need for a rural worker to live permanently at or 
near their place of work in the countryside accords with national policy in the 

Framework (paragraph 55).  However, although they are intended to support 
these uses, such dwellings do not amount to buildings for the purposes of 

agriculture or forestry in terms of national Green Belt policy58.  They therefore 
would amount to inappropriate development in the Green Belt.  Any benefits in 
respect of the provision of an essential dwelling would therefore need to 

clearly outweigh any harm to the Green Belt and any other harm so as to 
amount to ‘very special circumstances’.   

116. Although reference is made to the Green Belt in the reasoned justification to 

                                       
56 Document CDR14.1. 
57 Paragraph 3.2 of Planning Policy Guidance 2: Green Belts (PPG 2). 
58 Paragraph 89 of the Framework. 

Page 115 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 30 - 

policy 10, the policy itself does not distinguish between proposals in the Green 
Belt and Open Countryside.  I recommend a change accordingly [MM20] in 

order to be consistent with national policy. 

117. Changes to the Green Belt boundary are proposed, with land to be deleted in 

respect of the allocation at Brockhill East (policy 46), land at Birchfield Road 
(site 215) and an area of land at Curr Lane which, although unlikely to be 
subject to significant development in itself59, would be closely associated with 

the neighbouring BDP Foxlydiate site.  In respect of Brockhill East, I agree 
with the Council that, taking into account the site search exercise described 

above, the need for housing and the particular merits of the site represent 
exceptional circumstances that are sufficient to justify altering the Green Belt 

boundary.  For both Birchfield Road and Curr Lane, the presence of the 
Foxlydiate allocation would remove the ability of these small areas of land to 
contribute to the purposes of the Green Belt.  Exceptional circumstances to 

justify their removal have therefore been shown. 

118. Bearing in mind my conclusion, for the reasons set out in my report on the 

BDP examination, that there is no need to allocate land at Brockhill West for 
housing development (a site that mostly lies within the BDC area but which 
partly extends into Redditch) I am satisfied that there is no need for the 

BORLP4 to make any other changes to the Green Belt.  A representor seeks to 
add a development boundary (within the Green Belt) at Astwood Bank: 

however, this is not needed for soundness reasons as the land concerned will 
remain subject to Green Belt policy in respect of infill developments.  I agree 
with the Council that this area continues to play an important Green Belt role. 

Conclusion 

119. Subject to the main modifications outlined above I conclude that the Local Plan 

takes adequate account of the effects of development on the built and natural 
environment, its approach to development within the Green Belt is consistent 
with national policy and the boundaries of the Green Belt and development 

envelopes are correctly located and adequately justified. 

Main Issue 7:  Are the allocated sites appropriate and deliverable?  Are the 

detailed requirements for the allocations clear and justified?  Is the extent 
of the sites correctly defined?     

120. Site allocations in the Local Plan fall into two categories – strategic sites and 

other allocations.  The process that has underpinned the identification of the 
sites at Brockhill East, Webheath and the A435 ADR has already been 

discussed.  The appropriateness and deliverability of all of the sites has been 
considered through the SHLAA exercise (in respect of housing sites) and ELR 
(in respect of employment sites).  Viability has been assessed, as discussed 

above.  Required infrastructure is set out in the IDP and, in respect of the 
strategic sites, in the Local Plan itself.  None of these exercises has identified 

substantive barriers to the developments that are now proposed.  

121. Policies 46 to 49 of the Local Plan allocate four strategic sites: Brockhill East, 
land to the rear of the Alexandra Hospital, Webheath and Woodrow.  The 

                                       
59 Due to its relationship with Environment Agency Source Protection Zones 1 and 2.  See the report 
into the examination of the BDP. 

Page 116 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 31 - 

principle of developing the first, third and fourth of these has generally not 
been challenged during the examination.  Following further review by the 

Council, detailed changes are proposed to boundaries within the Brockhill East 
strategic site in respect of the demarcation between housing, employment and 

open space areas.  A change is proposed to policy 46 to clarify the intended 
scale of housing delivery that is anticipated from the site [MM57].  Changes 
are also proposed to the extent and likely delivery timescale of the Alexandra 

Hospital strategic site reflecting a re-assessment of land that is no longer 
needed for health-related purposes [MM64-66].  These are all needed for 

reasons of effectiveness. 

122. Some 26 additional housing sites are listed in Appendix 2 and some 14 

additional employment sites are contained in Appendix 3.  With the exception 
of the sites lying within the A435 ADR, the majority of these are not 
controversial and I am satisfied in general that their identification is 

appropriately justified.  However, in the light of further work undertaken 
during the examination, the Council proposes the deletion of two housing sites 

(nos. 135 and 202) and the amendment of areas and capacities for a number 
of other sites.  In line with my comments below, site IN82 is proposed for 
deletion.  These changes [MM70-71] are recommended for reasons of 

effectiveness.  I now turn to consider the two site allocations that have been 
the subject of particular concern.    

Policy 48 – Webheath Strategic Site 

123. This report has already reviewed the selection methodology that has led to the 
identification and allocation of this site.  For the reasons already discussed, 

and notwithstanding my comments about the treatment of alternative 
scenarios, I consider that its allocation is justified.  Indeed, as is already 

noted, planning permission already exists for part of the site.  Nevertheless, in 
view of the level of concern regarding this proposal, I consider the main 
objections that have been raised in more detail.   

124. For the reasons already discussed, I reject the comment of the Council’s legal 
advisor that it is ‘arguably unnecessary to have had to look at the ADR sites in 

the context of the decision about selecting cross boundary sites to support 
[BDP] policy RCBD1’60.  Nevertheless, bearing in mind the great importance 
that the Government attaches to Green Belts, the fact that the ADR does not 

lie within the Green Belt represents a considerable advantage.  As already 
mentioned, part of the site has planning permission for the erection of up to 

200 dwellings, granted on appeal in 201461.   Furthermore, the strategic site 
as a whole is already bounded by development on three sides.  

125. Representors have raised a range of objections to the site’s allocation.  

Particular concern is voiced in respect of flooding, accessibility and traffic 
impact, educational provision and the historic environment. 

126. As already noted, policy 48 and its supporting text set out requirements aimed 
at reducing the risk of flooding within the site – which has been subject to 
level 1 and 2 SFRA.  Development would be restricted to land within Flood 

Zone 1, ensuring sufficient stand-off from the watercourse and functional 

                                       
60 Paragraph 49 of document ED/50. 
61 Appeal ref. APP/Q1825/A/13/2205688. 

Page 117 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 32 - 

floodplain.  In respect of off-site flooding, mitigation is required in respect of 
run-off and the provision of adequate foul and surface water drainage.  Further 

modifications ([MM68-69] as discussed above) are required to address the 
potential for contamination in association with any previous uses of the site 

(including the disused sewage works).  No objections to the allocation are 
raised by the EA or Severn Trent Water Ltd.  Specific drainage arrangements 
have been secured in the approved development, designed to manage surface 

water flows and ensure that flood risk downstream is not worsened in line with 
policy 17 and national policy in the Framework. 

127. The HGDS Addendum states that public transport accessibility to area 3 is 
poor.  However, the proposed strategic site is within walking distance of bus 

services62 and I share the view of the appeal Inspector that it is well-located 
with respect to existing pedestrian and cycle routes63.  A range of local 
facilities lie in the site’s vicinity.  Policy 48 requires the strategic site to be 

accessible by a choice of modes of transport, particularly sustainable 
transport, and recognises that further investment is required in that regard.  

The site was subject to a Transport Assessment in 200264: the Council clarified 
at the relevant hearing that this has been superseded by the above-noted 
TNAMR.  Part of the strategic site has also been subject to a detailed Transport 

Assessment (TA)65 that accompanied the above-noted planning application: 
however this assessment, and indeed the planning application itself, takes into 

account the potential for the larger allocation that is now proposed.   

128. In respect of that application, the TA recommended a number of mitigation 
measures including public transport improvements, preparation of a travel 

plan, various pedestrian improvements (including crossing points) and parking 
improvements on Heathfield Road.  Planning permission was granted for that 

scheme subject to improvements to be secured either by conditions or 
financial contributions to off-site improvements.  In respect of the Local Plan, 
specific schemes, including bus service improvements, are set out in the IDP. 

129. Paragraph 32 of the Framework states that development should only be 
prevented or refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative 

impacts of development are severe.  Taking the above matters together, and 
subject to the required mitigation measures, the evidence suggests that this 
would not occur in the present case.   

130. Local residents state that schools in the area are highly subscribed.  However, 
the local education authority does not suggest that this is a constraint on 

developing additional housing at Webheath.  At the relevant hearing session, 
the Council (RBC) explained that capacity problems can be addressed by 
catchment boundary alterations.  I have no reason to take a different view.  It 

is also noted that a first school is proposed within the nearby Foxlydiate site in 
BDP policy RCBD1.1. 

131. Norgrove Court, a grade I listed building, lies to the south-west of the 
strategic site: a grade II listed building (The Old Cottage) is located near to 
the main building.  I observed that there is a significant degree of separation 

                                       
62 See Redditch Bus Routes Map – document OED/41. 
63 Appeal decision APP/Q1825/A/13/2205688, paragraph 48. 
64 Document CDR15.7. 
65 Document OED/8. 

Page 118 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 33 - 

between the site and the heritage asset, with intervening screening by mature 
trees.  Intervisibility would therefore be limited.  I note that the Inspector 

considering the approved development within the Webheath strategic site felt 
that the scheme would have little if any impact on listed building setting.  He 

added that even if this was considered to lead to less than substantial harm to 
the significance of a heritage asset, he was satisfied that the harm would be 
outweighed by the public benefits of the proposal.  Although this only related 

to part of the strategic site, I have no reason to come to a different conclusion 
in the present examination.  It is noted that Historic England raises no 

objections in respect of this matter.  In respect of potential archaeology within 
the site, the Local Plan requires that the Historic Environment Record should 

be consulted to establish the potential for heritage assets and used to inform 
any necessary appraisal or site evaluation. 

A435 ADR – Sites 211 and IN82 

132. Two sites are proposed for allocation in the A435 ADR - housing site 211 and 
employment site IN82.  Housing site 211 contains three separate sections, 

which I refer to in this report as the northern, middle and southern areas.  The 
last is also known as Broadacres Farm.  All of the sites have attracted 
significant levels of local opposition.  In contrast, the main landowner seeks a 

more substantial allocation in this location. 

133. In response to the concerns of Stratford-on-Avon District Council (SOADC), 

supported by an appraisal by White Consultants, and other parties, the Council 
proposes reductions in the scale of development proposed for both allocations.  
I have considered these sites in the light of relevant representations, the 

White Consultants' report, RBC's Review of the A435 ADR and Adjoining Land 
paper66 and my own observations, bearing in mind the land’s ADR status.  

134. As set out in my Post Hearing Note dated 3 October 2014 I have concerns 
about the scope of RBC's A435 Review paper.  I share some of the views 
expressed by SOADC/White Consultants.  Specifically, the paper does not 

adequately explore the landscape character or visual quality of the land 
concerned.  It does not analyse key views and does not robustly assess the 

role of the land in either maintaining the setting of Redditch's urban area or 
providing separation between the urban area and its surroundings.  While 
raising some ecological matters, it defers assessment of others to more 

detailed investigation.  These factors reduce the weight that can be attached 
to the study's conclusions. 

135. My Post Hearings Note set out particular concerns about the middle part of 
site 211 (east of Claybrook Drive) and the proposed employment allocation 
(site IN82).  The first of these lies within one of the narrowest parts of the 

strip of land separating the urban area from the A435.  It is occupied by 
secondary woodland that establishes an attractive backdrop to properties in 

Mappleborough Green: from Claybrook Drive, it is seen as a well-established 
edge to the built-up area.  Intervisibility between the urban area and the A435 
at this point is extremely limited.  As a result, the development of this part of 

site 211 would be detrimental to the area's character and appearance, as well 
as unacceptably diminishing the degree of visual separation between 

                                       
66 Document CDR5.5. 

Page 119 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 34 - 

Mappleborough Green and Redditch.   

136. I expressed similar views about the area of woodland that occupies the 

intended IN82 allocation.  As already noted, the Council had suggested that 
this allocation should be 'pulled back' from its original boundary with the A435 

(as shown on the Policies Map that was subject to public consultation).  
However, even the reduced area would result in the loss of effective screening 
between Redditch and Mappleborough Green/the A435.  Given that the 

employment site would adjoin the southern part of housing site 211, the 
resulting effect would be to remove any meaningful visual separation between 

Redditch and Mappleborough Green in this location.  On the Redditch side, the 
attractive woodland that fringes the eastern side of Claybrook Drive would be 

lost. 

137. The Council proposes further changes to these allocations in line with the 
above-noted comments.  The updated housing and employment land 

schedules [MM70-71], and the housing land supply evidence referred to 
above, takes account of these changes.  In recommending these changes, 

I am mindful of the comments of relevant landowners, made in the main 
modifications consultation exercise, that support the original allocation.  
Specifically I have taken account of the Landscape Sites Appraisal document 

submitted in September 2016.  However, this does not lead me to depart from 
my previous assessment, which was based upon my own observations as well 

as the evidence presented during the examination.  In particular, I do not feel 
that the strategic green infrastructure recommendations that have been 
suggested would be sufficient to overcome the adverse effects that I have 

described above – most particularly the role of the existing woodland in 
establishing a well-established edge to the built-up area when seen from 

Claybrook Drive.   

138. Given that the A435 ADR is linear in nature and that the development site as 
originally proposed were already separated to some extent, I do not feel that 

the deletion of the middle section of site 211 would adversely affect any 
comprehensive approach to the development of the remainder of the site.  

While I note that the main landowner also owns land within Stratford on Avon 
District, that land has not been specifically allocated for development and any 
proposal that came forward would require to be considered on its own merits. 

139.  It is common ground between SOADC and RBC that most of the land to the 
north of the A4189 should be retained for housing development.  I share the 

view of SOADC that its suitability depends on the retention of existing mature 
trees within the site and the provision of landscape screening on its eastern 
boundary.  However, these are detailed matters that do not require a specific 

modification to be recommended. 

Conclusion 

140. Subject to the main modifications set out above, I conclude that the allocated 
sites are appropriate and deliverable, the detailed requirements for the 
allocations are clear and justified and the extent of the sites is correctly 

defined.   

Page 120 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 35 - 

Other Matters 

141. Appendix 1 of the Local Plan contains an extract from the BDP in respect of 

cross-boundary development.  For the avoidance of doubt, I have not 
considered this to form part of the BORLP4 as submitted.  Accordingly, while 

I have recommended changes to the relevant text in the context of the BDP 
examination, I have not recommended main modifications in respect of this 
appendix in the present examination.  

142. Appendix 6 of the Local Plan contains a list of the Council’s Supplementary 
Planning Documents (SPDs) that are to be retained.  Although this does not 

affect the status of the SPDs concerned, it is necessary for soundness reasons 
that the SPDs that are referred to meet the required legal and policy tests.  

These are set out, respectively, in regulation 8 of the Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 and paragraph 153 of 
the Framework.  The Council has undertaken a review of its SPDs in this 

context and proposes that a number be deleted.  These changes [MM72] are 
needed to be justified, effective and consistent with national policy. 

Assessment of Legal Compliance 

143. My examination of the compliance of the Plan with the legal requirements is 
summarised in the table below.  I conclude that the Plan meets them all.  

LEGAL REQUIREMENTS 

Local Development 
Scheme (LDS) 

The BORLP4 has been prepared in accordance with 
the approved LDS (July 2016).  

Statement of Community 
Involvement (SCI) and 

relevant regulations 

The SCI was adopted in June 2006 and consultation 
has been compliant with the requirements therein, 

including the consultation on various proposed post-
submission changes including the proposed ‘main 

modifications’ (MM).  

Sustainability Appraisal 

(SA) 

As is described in the main body of this report, SA 

has been carried out and is adequate. 

Appropriate Assessment 

(AA) 

The BORLP4 SA (May 2015) contains a screening 

assessment67 under the Habitats Regulations which 
sets out why an AA is not necessary. 

National Policy The BORLP4 complies with national policy except 
where indicated and modifications are 

recommended. 

2004 Act (as amended) 

and 2012 Regulations. 

The BORLP4 complies with the Act and the 

Regulations. 

 

 

 

 

                                       
67 Section 2.3 of document OED/33a. 

Page 121 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Borough Council, Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4, Inspector’s Report December 2016 
 

 

- 36 - 

Overall Conclusion and Recommendation 

144. The Plan has a number of deficiencies in relation to soundness 

and/or legal compliance for the reasons set out above which mean 
that I recommend non-adoption of it as submitted, in accordance with 
Section 20(7A) of the Act.  These deficiencies have been explored in 

the main issues set out above. 

145. The Council has requested that I recommend main modifications to 

make the Plan sound and/or legally compliant and capable of 
adoption.  I conclude that with the recommended main modifications 
set out in the Appendix the Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4 

satisfies the requirements of Section 20(5) of the 2004 Act and meets 
the criteria for soundness in the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 

M J Hetherington 

INSPECTOR 
 

This report is accompanied by the Appendix containing the Main Modifications  

 

 

Page 122 Agenda Item 8



 

1 
 

Appendix – Main Modifications 

The modifications below are expressed either in the conventional form of 

strikethrough for deletions and underlined for additions of text, or by specifying 

the modification in words in italics.  

 

The page numbers and paragraph numbering below refer to the submission local 

plan, and do not take account of the deletion or addition of text. 

 

 
 

Ref Page Policy/ 
para 

Main Modification 

MM1 5 Para 4 
 

In addition, Redditch has worked with other Local Authorities, which although 
are not directly adjacent to Redditch may have strategic matters that have 
implications for the preparation of the Local Plan.  In particular, Redditch 
Borough Council and Birmingham City Council have jointly acknowledged 
there is strategic planning matter with regard to Birmingham being unable to 
accommodate all of its own housing needs. As required by the Duty to Co-
operate, due consideration will be given, including through a review of the 
BORLP4, to the housing needs of another Local Planning Authority in 
circumstances when it has been clearly established through collaborative 
working that those needs must be met through provision in Redditch.  This 
issue will need to be dealt with during the preparation stage of the next 
Redditch Local Plan (i.e. the next plan period), or when a review of the 
development plan may be needed to consider these cross boundary matters. 
This will be dependent on the outcome of recently commissioned work to 
understand the issues, and further work on allocations for Birmingham’s 
growth. With regard to Birmingham City Council, Tthe mechanism for 
resolving this potential strategic matter of with Birmingham’s unmet housing 
needs this willould be through the Greater Birmingham and Solihull Local 
Enterprise Partnership (LEP) and Redditch’s subsequent review of the 
BORLP4. 

MM2 10 Para 3 Redditch Borough has similar crime levels in comparison to the national 
average of England and Wales., but the number of offences per 1000 
population is increasing in Redditch. It has increased from 20.3 offences per 
1000 population in Redditch, compared to the England and Wales average of 
24.9 in 2006 to 44 offences per 1000 population in Redditch, compared to the 
England and Wales average of 45 in 2009/10. 95% of people feel safe 
walking around Redditch Town Centre and the street where they live during 
the day; at night, this falls to 61% for the Town Centre and 73% for the home 
street (CHYM Redditch). Recorded crime rates for Redditch have fallen 
substantially since 2005/06 (92.2 offences per 1000 population in 2005/06 to 
57.7 offences per 1000 population in 2012/13), although they remain above 
the average for Worcestershire.  Perceptions of anti-social behaviour in 
Redditch have also remained consistently above the average for 
Worcestershire and the latest data for 2013 shows that nearly twice as many 
Redditch residents feel unsafe when out after dark in their local area when 
compared with residents in the rest of the County. 

MM3 12 Para 1 Redditch Borough has good transport links, with the M42 (Junctions 2 and 3) 

Page 123 Agenda Item 8



 

2 
 

Ref Page Policy/ 
para 

Main Modification 

located under 5 miles away and the M5 around 6 miles from Redditch Town 

Centre. 

MM4 12 New para 

after para 2  

 

There are a range of issues that need to be tackled to achieve modal shift 

including perceptions of safety and security. Research indicates that a 

significant number of people feel unsafe walking to bus stops, waiting for 

buses and travelling on buses. Close to 4% of people cite “feeling unsafe 

walking” as being a main reason stopping them from walking more often. A 

similar percentage stated that “feeling unsafe cycling” was a main reason 

stopping them from doing so more often. 

MM5 13 Para 1 A number of District Centres (Church Hill, Matchborough, Winyates and 

Woodrow) suffer from a poor image as their inappropriate design means that 

they are inward looking and prone to having crime and anti-social behaviour 

problems. Lessons have been learnt from Council and Partnership projects 

that can be implemented when re-development occurs. Work has 

commenced been completed on the re-development of Church Hill District 

Centre. 

MM6 20 Objective 7 Reduce crime and anti-social behaviour and the fear of crime through high 

quality design and infrastructure, with regeneration achieved at 

Matchborough, Winyates and Woodrow District Centres. 

MM7 23 Policy 2, 

3rd bullet 

 Feckenham is a small, rural settlement predominantly set within the Green 
Belt, which offers limited local facilities but has important conservation and 
historic merit. In order to conserve and enhance these characteristics, 
development within or adjacent to the settlement boundary, as defined on 
the Policies Map, will provide for locally identified affordable housing and 
other locally identified development needs only, in accordance with the 
most up-to-date guidance in the National Planning Policy Framework and 
Parish Housing Needs Survey. 

MM8 26 Policy 4, 

para 2 

Around 3,000 dwellings can be accommodated within Redditch Borough. 

There is limited capacity within Stratford-on-Avon District in the vicinity of the 

former A435 ADR to contribute towards Redditch’s housing target should 

comprehensive delivery of this site be achievable. A minimum of 

Approximately 3,400 dwellings are is to be accommodated in Bromsgrove 

District (see Appendix 1, Redditch Cross Boundary Development). Details of 

the sites expected to contribute to meeting the Borough’s housing needs can 

be found in Appendix 2 and are shown on the Policies Map and Key 

Diagram. 

MM9 26 Policy 4, 

para 3 

New 2nd 

sentence 

The Council will encourage the provision of housing for elderly people. 

MM10 26 Policy 4, 

para 4 

In order to achieve a supply of flexible and inclusive housing in the Borough 
that caters for life-long occupancy, all new affordable housing for rent will be 
expected to comply with the Lifetime Homes Standard new technical 
standards, excluding the additional optional standards. The private sector 
development industry will be encouraged to implement these concept of 
lifetime homes new technical standards within their development schemes.  

Page 124 Agenda Item 8



 

3 
 

Ref Page Policy/ 
para 

Main Modification 

MM11 26 Policy 4, 

Reasoned 

Justification 

para 1 

Land identified which could contribute towards housing provision indicates 

that around 3,000 dwellings could be accommodated within the Borough 

boundary. However, evidence in the Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

(SHMA) indicates that this will not meet the Borough’s housing needs up to 

2030. It has therefore been necessary to collaborate with Bromsgrove District 

Council and Stratford-on-Avon District Council to identify land in these 

Bromsgrove Districts, in the vicinity of Redditch, which is capable of 

accommodating Redditch’s land supply shortfall. 

MM12 27 Policy 5, 

criterion i 

i. the reuse and regeneration of Previously Developed Land (PDL) will be 

actively encouraged. Where the economic viability of a scheme on PDL is 

questionable, and can be fully demonstrated by the applicant, the Borough 

Council may negotiate a more appropriate level of infrastructure provision, or 

deferred payment scheme with the applicant, in order to secure beneficial 

reuse of a site. Development proposals on contaminated land should 

demonstrate that the site is capable of appropriate remediation without 

compromising development viability or the delivery of sustainable 

development;   

MM13 28 Policy 5 

New para 

at end of 

(and within) 

policy.  

Development proposals on land likely to be affected by contamination should 

demonstrate that the site is capable of appropriate remediation without 

compromising development viability or the delivery of sustainable 

development. 

MM14 28 Policy 5, 

Reasoned 

Justification 

para 2 

Proposals also need to ensure that new development does not contribute to, 

or is put at unacceptable risk from ground contaminants. The SHLAA and 

Employment Land Review (ELR) identify PDL potential within the Borough. 

MM15 29 Policy 5, 

Reasoned 

Justification  

New para 

after para 

2. 

Proposals also need to ensure that new development does not contribute to, 

or is put at unacceptable risk from ground contaminants. Where sites are 

suspected of contamination, the Council will require the submission of an 

appropriate risk assessment and, if necessary, a site investigation and 

mitigation scheme. 

MM16 31 Policy 6, 

paras 2 

and 5 

Contributions towards affordable housing will not be sought from 
developments of 10 units or less, and which have a maximum combined 
gross floorspace of no more than 1000sqm (gross internal area). On sites of 
11 10 or more dwellings (net), a 30% contribution towards the provision of 
affordable housing will be expected. On-site provision should be made and 
must incorporate a mix of dwelling types and sizes, which reflect the site’s 
characteristics, the development as a whole, and meets the needs identified 
in the Borough Council’s most up to date Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment or other up to date local housing need surveys, and in 
consultation with the Council’s Housing Strategy Team. 
 
On all sites of 5-9 dwellings (net), a 30% financial contribution towards 
affordable housing provision will be sought on completion of the 
development. 

Page 125 Agenda Item 8



 

4 
 

Ref Page Policy/ 
para 

Main Modification 

MM17 32 Policy 7, 

Paras 1, 2 

and 3 

 

 

 

 

 

Provision will be made for new Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople 

pitches, in line with an up-to-date assessment of permanent and transit 

accommodation needs in line with Government guidance. Requirements for 

Redditch Borough are currently contained in the Worcestershire Strategic 

Housing Market Assessment (2012) and the Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling 

Showpeople Accommodation Assessment (2008). These assessments 

identify a minimum of 14 ‘yards’ to be provided to meet the needs of 

travelling showpeople and 18 pitches for temporary stopping places to meet 

Redditch’s need.  

 

The Borough Council will allocate site(s) to meet identified need through an 

Site Allocations DPD Plan.  Proposals for new sites will be required to 

demonstrate that they: 

 

i. are located within a reasonable distance of existing facilities and transport 
networks with satisfactory access and highway arrangements; 

 

ii. where appropriate, are located on Previously Developed Land; 
 

iii. are well screened and landscaped and will not cause unacceptable harm 
to the character and appearance of the surrounding area; 

 

iv. will not result in unacceptable disturbance or loss of amenity to any 
neighbouring development, specifically in relation to the transport 
movements associated with Travelling Showpeople yards; and 

 

v. have, or are capable of having, a satisfactory water supply, sewerage and 
refuse disposal facilities. 

 

Traveller sites (temporary or permanent) in the Green Belt are considered 

inappropriate development.  

MM18 32-33 Policy 7, 

Reasoned 

Justification 

There are currently 31 Travelling Showpeople plots in the Borough. The 

Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Accommodation Assessment 

(GTAA) for The South Housing Market Area of the West Midlands Area 

(2008) was commissioned by the South Housing Market Area Partnership. 

The purpose of the assessment is to provide information on the 

accommodation needs of Gypsies and Travellers for sub-regional and 

District/Borough level planning policy to set the appropriate number, type and 

distribution of additional pitches to be provided. The GTAA is supplemented 

by the Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) for Worcestershire 

(2012). The Assessment recommends that an additional Showpeople site 

should be provided for which is a minimum of 14 ‘yards’. ‘Yards’ can be 

anything from 100ft x 100ft up to 150ft by 200ft (Gypsy and Traveller 

Accommodation Assessment for The South Housing Market Area, March 

2008). The Assessment also recommends that a temporary stopping place of 

Page 126 Agenda Item 8



 

5 
 

Ref Page Policy/ 
para 

Main Modification 

not less than 18 pitches should be provided. ‘Planning policy for traveller 

sites’ (CLG, March 2012August 2015) is the current national planning 

guidance regarding the provision of sites for Gypsies, Travellers and 

Travelling Showpeople. This guidance requires Local Planning Authorities to 

make an assessment of need for traveller sites for the purposes of planning.  

 

A review of the Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment for 

Worcestershire is being completed in 2014 2013 and will inform a future Site 

Allocations DPD. This will provide the Borough Council with an up to date 

assessment of the need for sites and identify whether sites should be 

provided in cooperation with neighbouring authorities.  

 

‘Planning policy for traveller sites’ (CLG, March 2012) is the current national 

planning guidance regarding the provision of sites for Gypsies, Travellers and 

Travelling Showpeople. Sites will be allocated in accordance with national 

planning guidance and based on need identified in an up to date Gypsy and 

Traveller Accommodation Assessment. Allocated sites will be identified in an 

Allocations Plan. The criterion contained within this policy will be applied to 

site allocations as well as proposals for sites through planning applications.    

MM19 34 Policy 8, 

para 2 

There will be a presumption against inappropriate development in the Green 

Belt in line with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) except in 

very special circumstances. Some forms of development are not 

inappropriate development in the Green Belt provided they preserve the 

openness of the Green Belt and do not conflict with the purposes of including 

land in the Green Belt. Applications for development in the Green Belt will be 

determined in line with national planning guidance on Green Belts and other 

relevant policies within the development plan. 

MM20 36 Policy 10, 

para 1 

New dwellings in the Green Belt and Open Countryside outside the 

settlements of Astwood Bank and Feckenham will only be permitted where 

there is an essential need for a rural worker to live at or near their place of 

work. Applications for rural workers’ dwellings in the Green Belt will be 

determined in accordance with national planning policy on Green Belts. 

MM21 40 Policy 12, 

para 3 

Local Green Spaces will be designated by the Council through the 

Allocations Plan, where appropriate, in accordance with the provisions of the 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). Once designated, Local Green 

Space will be managed in line with planning policy for Green Belts. 

MM22 40 Policy 12, 

Reasoned 

Justification 

para 5 

The NPPF makes provision for local communities to designate Local Green 

Space through local and neighbourhood plans. Local Green Space will only 

be designated where it does not conflict with the Objectives of the Local Plan 

and in accordance with the NPPF. Once designated, Local Green Space will 

be subject to the same planning policy safeguards as land designated as 

Green Belt. The Allocations Plan will designate specific sites for Local Green 

Space where there is a justification for that allocation. 

MM23 45 Policy 15, To be sustainable, new developments must have regard for the need to be 

Page 127 Agenda Item 8



 

6 
 

Ref Page Policy/ 
para 

Main Modification 

para 1 climate-resilient. For residential development this policy applies to planning 
applications of more than 10 units. In order to ensure appropriate 
consideration of adaptation and mitigation to climate change has been made, 
applications will be judged against the following criteria 

MM24 45 Policy 15, 

criterion iii 

iii. proposals must seek to be zero carbon in line with Government targets; 
meet the new national technical standards, excluding the additional optional 
standards;  
 

MM25 45 Policy 15, 

criterion iv 

iv. all new residential development must meet the nationally required 

standard of the Code for Sustainable Homes (or any other national scheme 

which supersedes it); 

MM26 45 Policy 15  

Insert as 

new para 

after last 

para but 

within 

policy 

This policy relates to all forms of renewable energy development other than 

wind energy developments. Wind energy development will be considered 

against national policy and guidance. 

MM27 46 Policy 15, 

Reasoned 

Justification 

para 3 

The Government’s target is that buildings should meet zero-carbon standards 
by 2016. The Code for Sustainable Homes is intended to improve the overall 
sustainability of new homes and measures the sustainability of a home 
against design categories. BREEAM (BRE Environmental  
Assessment Method) is a widely used environmental assessment method for 

non-domestic buildings. It sets the standard for best practice in sustainable 

design and is used as a measure to describe a buildings environmental 

performance http://www.breeam.org/index.jsp). All non-domestic 

developersments will be encouraged to meet the highest level of Code for 

Sustainable Homes/BREEAM rating (or any other national scheme which 

supersedes them it) as where it is economically viable but are not required to 

meet standards above those set nationally. 

MM28 47-48 Policy 16, 

Part B, 

para 1 

The location of sites of national (Sites of Special Scientific Interest), regional 

(Local Wildlife Sites) and local (Local Nature Reserves) wildlife importance 

are shown on the Policies Map. Applications for development should aim to 

conserve and enhance biodiversity by applying the principles of the NPPF.  

In determining applications affecting sites of wildlife importance, the Council 

will apply the hierarchy of designated sites and appropriate weight will be 

given to their importance and contribution to wider ecological networks. 

 

Due to the national importance of Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) 

proposals likely to have an adverse impact within or outside of a SSSI, either 

individually or in combination with other developments, will not normally be 

permitted.  An exception will only be made when it can be demonstrated that 

the benefits of the development clearly outweigh the impact on the site or 

network of sites. 

 

Page 128 Agenda Item 8



 

7 
 

Ref Page Policy/ 
para 

Main Modification 

New development or land use changes likely to have an adverse effect on 

such sites Sites of Special Scientific Interest, Local Wildlife Sites and Local 

Nature Reserves, directly or indirectly, will not be allowed unless there are no 

reasonable alternative means of meeting that development need and the 

reasons for development clearly outweigh the intrinsic nature conservation 

and/or geological value of the site or network of sites. 

MM29 48-49 Policy 16, 

Reasoned 

Justification 

para 6 

Within the Borough there are currently six sites of national wildlife importance 

designated as Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) which cover a range 

of different habitats. SSSIs are important for their wildlife, geological or 

physiological features and are legally protected under the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981, as amended by the Countryside and Rights of Way 

(CROW) Act 2000 and the Natural Environment and Rural Communities 

(NERC) Act 2006. Regional sites of wildlife importance in the Borough 

include Local Wildlife Sites (LWS – formerly known as Special Wildlife Sites) 

which have been identified by the Worcestershire Local Sites Partnership as 

being of substantive nature conservation value. Local Nature Reserves 

(LNR) are declared by Local Authorities under Section 21 of the National 

Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949, and amended by Schedule 

11 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. Any 

additional wildlife sites identified during this Plan period will also be protected 

by this policy.  The principles of the NPPF to be applied in determining 

planning applications affecting sites of wildlife and geological importance can 

be found in paragraphs 109, 113, 117 and 118 of the NPPF. 

MM30 49 Policy 17, 

para 2 

Any development sites that are located in areas that are subject to flood risk 

will need to demonstrate that there are no other reasonable locations for 

development in accordance with the ‘Sequential Approach Test’ and 

‘Exception Test’ (where appropriate) as set out in the Technical Guidance to 

the National Planning Policy Framework National Planning Practice 

Guidance and have regard to the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) 

for Redditch.  A sequential approach should also be taken in site design.  

Development will be designed to be safe taking into account the lifetime of 

the development, and the need to consider and adapt to climate change. 

MM31 49 Policy 17, 

para 3 

In addition, any development in areas that are subject to flood risk will need 

to demonstrate that adequate flood protection has been incorporated on site 

and that the effects elsewhere have been fully assessed and mitigated 

against. Opportunities should be sought to demonstrate flood risk 

improvements, wherever possible to provide multiple benefits when 

managing flood risks, for example to provide amenity benefit or ecological 

improvements. It is expected that any on-site flood defences required will be 

provided and financed by the developer of the site. 

MM32 50 Policy 17, 

Reasoned 

Justification 

para 1 

If, once the Sequential Test has been applied, insufficient sites are identified 

the ‘Exception Test’ (as defined in the Technical Guidance to the National 

Planning Policy Framework and National Planning Practice Guidance) can be 

applied where necessary. This may, in certain circumstances, justify 

Page 129 Agenda Item 8



 

8 
 

Ref Page Policy/ 
para 

Main Modification 

development taking place in Flood Zone 2 or Flood Zone 3. 

MM33 50 Policy 17, 

Reasoned 

Justification 

para 2,  

2nd bullet 

 consider the risk of flooding arising from the development in addition to the 
risk of flooding from all sources to the development; 

MM34 50 Policy 17, 

Reasoned 

Justification 

para 2,  

6th bullet 

 consider the vulnerability of those that could occupy and use the 
development, taking account of the Sequential and Exception Tests and the 
vulnerability classification as per the Technical Guidance to the NPPF the 
National Planning Practice Guidance (table 2 and 3 flood risk vulnerability), 
including arrangements for ‘safe development’ having regard to the FRA 
requirements within the Level 2 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) 
for Redditch (2012) including setting of appropriate Finished Floor Levels, 
with flood proofing techniques considered (where appropriate), and safe 
access; 

MM35 50 Policy 17, 

Reasoned 

Justification 

para 2,  

new bullet 

at end 

 applicants should refer to Table 1 and 2 of the Government’s Climate 
Change Allowances guidance and seek contact with the Environment 
Agency for any detailed river catchment climate change data. 

MM35a 52 Policy 18 Add the following to the end of policy 18: 
Any major residential development (as defined in the Town and Country 
Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 or 
any subsequent replacement) within the Bow Brook and Batchley Brook 
catchments should meet a water efficiency target of 110 litres per person per 
day. 

MM36 53 Policy 18, 

Reasoned 

Justification 

para 4 

Through the use of SuDS techniques and the requirement for new 
developments to be assessed against either the Code for Sustainable Homes 
the new national technical standards or BREEAM (for non-domestic 
developments), water demand will be significantly lowered. The Level 2 
SFRA contains more guidance on the appropriate application of SuDS. 

MM37 55 Policy 19, 

Reasoned 

Justification 

para 8 

The transport network must be maintained and managed in a way that 

preserves strategic routes, and supports business efficiency which is critical 

to Redditch’s competitiveness. The Strategic Road Network (SRN) and 

Primary Route Network (PRN) are central to this by providing routes between 

major settlements and important destinations. Motorways and trunk roads 

make up the SRN including the M42 and M5 which lie outside the Borough; 

and other primary routes represent the PRN. The Primary Route Network 

(PRN) is central to this and designates routes between major settlements 

and important destinations. Routes consist of motorways, trunk roads and 

other primary routes, however in In Redditch the PRN is formed only of ‘A’ 

roads and is taken from the Worcestershire Local Transport Plan No.3 

Network Management Plan – Figure 2.1) and consists of the A441, A4023 

and the A448, and can also be identified on the Transport Map. New 

accesses onto the PRN and SRN will not be encouraged and should not 

inhibit the strategic function of these routes.  Where development proposals 

Page 130 Agenda Item 8



 

9 
 

Ref Page Policy/ 
para 

Main Modification 

impact upon the PRN or the SRN, a transport assessment and environmental 

impact assessment must be undertaken and, where necessary, planning 

conditions and planning obligations, including financial contributions to 

securing highways improvements may be sought, to ensure that the function 

of the network is maintained and appropriate financial contributions to 

improvements are made. 

MM38 58 Policy 20, 

criterion i. 

A Transport Assessment will be required where it is considered that 

development will have significant transport implications. The assessment of 

traffic impact should be undertaken in line with the policies in the Plan and 

other relevant transport policy and guidance. 

MM39 58 Policy 20, 

criterion ii. 

A Travel Plan will be required alongside all certain developments which 

generate significant amounts of movement 

MM40 58 Policy 20, 

criterion v. 

v. all proposals will be expected to be located accessible to within 250m of 

local services (in accordance with the retail hierarchy this should either be a 

parade of local shops or a District Centre) and a public transport link (i.e. bus 

stop or train station); 

MM41 58 Policy 20, 

criterion vii. 

The cumulative effects of development on transport infrastructure must be 

assessed and solutions sought in line with the policies in this Plan and other 

relevant transport policy and guidance, with particular regard to the 

cumulative effects of the delivery of the Strategic Sites 

MM42 58 Policy 20  

New 

criterion to 

be inserted 

at end of 

(and within) 

policy. 

The Council will use mechanisms such as planning conditions and planning 

obligations, including financial contributions where necessary to secure the 

timely delivery of any necessary transport mitigation measures. 

MM43 58 Policy 20  

New 

criterion to 

be inserted 

at end of 

(and within) 

Policy. 

Development of transport infrastructure provision will be co-ordinated in line 

with the up to date Infrastructure Delivery Plan, which will be subject to 

regular review.   

MM44 59 Policy 20, 

Reasoned 

Justification 

para 2 

A Travel Plan will be expected where proposals generate significant amounts 

of movement, including development which exceeds for development exceed 

the following thresholds 

MM45 64 Policy 23, 

para 1 

Provision is made for the identification of around 55 hectares of land which 

are available for employment uses for the period up to 2030. Around 27.5 

hectares will be accommodated within Redditch Borough and around 5.5 

hectares will be accommodated within Bromsgrove District at the north 

western section of the existing Ravensbank business park. Within this 

provision, an allowance has been made to accommodate waste management 

Page 131 Agenda Item 8



 

10 
 

Ref Page Policy/ 
para 

Main Modification 

facilities, within Redditch Borough, as identified in the Waste Core Strategy 

for Worcestershire (November 2012), see Policy 24 Development within 

Primarily Employment Areas. 

MM46 64 Policy 23, 

para 2 

The Redditch Eastern Gateway has been identified as a key initiative for 

employment provision to meet Redditch related employment needs. Around 

10 hectares will be accommodated in Bromsgrove District at the former 

Ravensbank ADR, adjacent to the south eastern boundary of the existing 

Ravensbank business park and a minimum of 12 hectares further 

employment provision will be accommodated within Stratford-upon-Avon 

District at Gorcott (around 7 hectares) and Winyates Green Triangle (around 

12 hectares). 

MM47 64 Policy 23, 

para 3 

The Redditch Eastern Gateway aims to provide a significant enhancement to 

the employment land supply through the creation of a high-profile and 

accessible employment scheme to take advantage of the demand of the 

M40/M42 corridor The site should develop as a high quality business park to 

support both existing businesses and to provide the opportunity to diversify 

the employment base of Redditch and the surrounding areas through 

attracting businesses that are not currently provided for within the existing 

supply of sites. Comprehensive development of the three areas that 

comprise this initiative should: 

MM48 72 Policy 25, 
para 1 

Sites within the urban area other than those within designated Primarily 
Employment Areas may be suitable for economic development, 
redevelopment or change of use. Within the Redditch urban area the 
economic development proposals should: 

MM49 74 Policy 29, 

para 1 

In order to support the expansion of electronic communications networks, 

(including telecommunications and high speed broadband) all developments 

should make provision for the service infrastructure required at the design 

stage of any proposal suitable for occupiers of all development. For the 

provision of broadband, developers should work with a recognised network 

carrier to design a bespoke duct network, wherever practicable, for the 

development. Developers should also consider the inclusion of other forms of 

infrastructure, such as facilities necessary to support mobile broadband 

where possible and where it is viable to do so.  

 

All service Iinfrastructure should be designed to ensure minimal disruption, 

should the need for maintenance, adaption or upgrades arise. 

MM50 78 Policy 30, 

Reasoned 

Justification 

para 3 

The Council has identified specific roles for each of the centres and will use 

planning policies to maintain and, where necessary and appropriate having 

regard to national guidance, improve the shopping function and environment 

of these centres.  Whilst in many instances this will serve to maintain their 

position within the retail hierarchy, it is recognised that the role, function and 

relative importance of centres may change over time in pursuit of this 

Objective., District Centres are the equivalent to the definition of ‘Local 

Centres’ in the NPPF by virtue of the types of facilities they provide. 

MM51 86 Policy 34, The Council will look favourably on development proposals that will help 

Page 132 Agenda Item 8



 

11 
 

Ref Page Policy/ 
para 

Main Modification 

Reasoned 

Justification 

para 1 

revitalise and improve the shopping and community facilities of District 

Centres providing they are in keeping with their primarily retailing role and 

actively support the redevelopment of, Matchborough, Winyates and 

Woodrow District Centres and their status as Strategic Sites. In relation to the 

types of shoppingfacilities they provide, District Centres are the equivalent to 

the definition of ‘Local Centres’ in the NPPF. 

MM52 90 Policy 36, 

para 1 

Designated heritage assets including listed buildings, structures and their 

settings; conservation areas; and scheduled ancient monuments, will be 

given the highest level of protection and should be conserved and enhanced. 

Non-designated heritage assets, nationally important archaeological remains 

and locally listed heritage assets, and their settings will also need to be 

conserved and enhanced in a manner appropriate to their significance and 

contribution to the historic environment. 

MM53 101 Policy 40, 

criterion iv 

iv. include where appropriate, public art that is well designed, takes into 

account the risk of crime, is integrated within the overall design and layout of 

the development, located where it can be easily observed, improves public 

outdoor space and legibility and creates landmarks; 

MM54 101 Policy 40, 

criterion vi 

vi. encourage community safety and ‘design out’ vulnerability to crime by 

incorporating the principles, concepts and physical security standards of the 

‘Secured by Design’ award scheme; providing infrastructure for policing and 

emergency services; and considering the incorporation of fire safety 

measures; 

MM55 102 Policy 40, 

Reasoned 

Justification 

para 5 

The ‘Secured by Design’ award scheme focuses on crime prevention at the 

design, layout and construction stages of homes and commercial premises 

and promotes the use of security standards (www.securedbydesign.com). 

Redditch Borough Council and North Worcestershire Community Safety 

Partnership will publicise and promote developments that achieve Secured 

by Design Standards. Thise principles of this scheme or any relevant scheme 

at the time are supported should be adhered to in order to encourage 

community safety and ‘design out’ vulnerability to crime. New development 

can put additional pressure on the infrastructure of West Mercia Police and 

Hereford & Worcester Fire and Rescue Service. Proposals should make 

provision for this infrastructure as identified in the IDP to ensure that 

Redditch Borough is a safe and attractive place to live and work. 

MM56 104 Policy 42, 

criterion iv 

iv. they would not impede natural surveillance, be an obstruction security to 

surveillance cameras; and 

MM57 113 Policy 46, 

Para 1 

A Strategic Site at Brockhill East is appropriate for a high quality mixed use 

development comprising around 1,0001,025 dwellings, employment (8.45ha) 

and relevant community facilities and services including, a District Centre 

(including convenience retail store), a first school and a sustainable public 

transport network. 

MM58 114 Policy 46, 

‘Infrastructu

re’  

xv. proposals should demonstrate that there is no adverse risk of pollution to 

controlled waters through the submission of an appropriate risk assessment 

and if necessary, a site investigation and mitigation scheme; 

Page 133 Agenda Item 8



 

12 
 

Ref Page Policy/ 
para 

Main Modification 

Insert new 

criterion  

MM59 114 Policy 46, 

‘Infrastructu

re’  

Insert new 

criterion  

xxii drainage proposals for the site should include appropriate pollution 

prevention measures to avoid risks to controlled waters. 

MM60 115 Policy 46, 

Reasoned 

Justification  

para 2 

An appropriate location should be determined in Brockhill East for a District 

Centre which is needed in north Redditch, in the Brockhill area. This District 

Centre should satisfy any convenience needs of the local community. Where 

If proposals for convenience retail is to be provided in the Brockhill area 

exceed the level of retail provision normally associated with a District Centre 

location (see Policy 30), this will be subject to an impact assessment on 

surrounding District Centres to ensure there are no negative impacts. 

MM61 116 Policy 46, 

Reasoned 

Justification  

Insert new 

para. 

 

The site is underlain by the Mercia Mudstone Group, which is classified as a 

secondary aquifer. Development proposals must demonstrate that there is no 

adverse pollution risk to the aquifer through the submission of an appropriate 

risk assessment and if necessary, a site investigation and mitigation scheme. 

MM62 120 Policy 47  

Insert new 

criterion  

ix proposals should demonstrate that there is no adverse risk of pollution to 

controlled waters through the submission of an appropriate risk assessment 

and if necessary, a site investigation and mitigation scheme; 

MM63 120 Policy 47 and 

xiv incorporate any necessary infrastructure identified for the effective 

delivery of the site; and 

xv drainage proposals for the site should include appropriate pollution 

prevention measures to avoid risks to controlled waters. 

MM64 120 Policy 47, 

first 

paragraph 

after final 

criterion 

Land immediately south of the Alexandra Hospital is not included within the 

Strategic Site boundary and will be safeguarded for health related purposes, 

this should be considered when formulating proposals for the Strategic Site. 

MM65 120 Policy 47, 

second 

paragraph  

after final 

criterion 

This Strategic Site is expected to be delivered 6-10within 5 years following 

Local Plan adoption. The Borough Council will issue further strategic 

planning guidance in order to guide and accelerate the sustainable delivery 

of this Strategic Site. 

MM66 120 Policy 47, 

Reasoned 

Justification 

para 1 

The NHS Trust has indicated that the land immediately south of the hospital 

(which is not within the Strategic Site boundary) must be safeguarded for 

future health related development associated with the hospital. This also 

aligns with Policy 44 Health Facilities which seeks to ensure this land is 

protected for health purposes. 

MM67 122 Policy 47, The site is underlain by the Mercia Mudstone Group, which is classified as a 

Page 134 Agenda Item 8



 

13 
 

Ref Page Policy/ 
para 

Main Modification 

Reasoned 

Justification  

Insert new 

para 

secondary aquifer. Development proposals must demonstrate that there is no 

adverse pollution risk to the aquifer through the submission of an appropriate 

risk assessment and if necessary, a site investigation and mitigation scheme. 

MM68 125 Policy 48 

 

Insert new 

criterion  

xi development proposals should address contamination associated with any 

previous uses on the site, including the disused sewage works, through the 

submission of an appropriate risk assessment and if necessary, a site 

investigation and mitigation scheme; 

MM69 126 Policy 48, 

Reasoned 

Justification  

Insert new 

para 

Development of this site provides an opportunity to address the remediation 

of any potential contamination as a result of the former sewage works located 

within the site boundary. 

MM70 - Appendix 2 Delete Appendix 2 and replace with revised version attached at the end of 
this Appendix.  

MM71 - Appendix 3 Delete Appendix 3 and replace with revised version attached at the end of 
this Appendix.  

MM72 - Appendix 6 The following list details which of the Borough Councils Supplementary 

Planning Documents (SPDs) are to be retained:  

 

Land to the Rear of the Alexandra Hospital SPD 

Church Hill District Centre SPD 

Edward Street SPD 

Church Road SPD 

Education SPD 

Open Space Provision SPD 

Auxerre Avenue SPD 

Designing for Community Safety SPD 

Prospect Hill SPD 

Local List SPD 

Encouraging Good Design SPD 

Employment Monitoring SPG 

MM73 - Appendix 7 
Glossary: 
Code for 
Sustainable  
Homes 

Code for Sustainable  
Homes (CSH / CFSH) The Government’s standard designed to improve the 

overall sustainability of new homes by setting a single framework. 

MM74 - Appendix 7 

Glossary: 

Gypsies 

and 

Travellers 

Persons of nomadic habit of life whatever their race or origin, including such 

persons who on grounds only of their own or their family’s or dependants’ 

educational or health needs or old age have ceased to travel temporarily, but 

excluding members of an organised group of travelling showpeople or circus 

people travelling together as such. 

 

  

Page 135 Agenda Item 8



 

14 
 

Main Modification MM70 

 

Appendix 2: Schedule of Housing Sites 

Policy 4 Housing Provision explains how Redditch Borough Council will meet its housing needs of 

around 6400 dwellings between 1 April 2011 and 31 March 2030. 

 

This appendix provides more detailed information on the component parts of the housing target. 

Additional monitoring information is available from the Development Plans Team. Monitoring information 

and the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) are updated annually on 1 April.  

 

i. Sites allocated for housing development in the Borough of Redditch in order to meet the 

Strategic Housing Target for the period 2011-2030 

 

No. Site Name 

Capacity for 

completions 

on or after 

1.4.2011 

Completions 

1.4.2011 - 

31.3.2013 

Brownfield/ 

Greenfield 
Area 

(Ha) 

124 Brush Factory, Evesham Road 6 0 B 0.09 

135  RO 144 – 162 Easemore Road 19 0 B 0.42 

143 Adj. Castleditch Lane/ Pheasant 

Lane 

16 0 G 0.52 

147 Windsor Road Gas Works 37 37 B 5.68 

153 Prospect Hill 71 0 B 1.43 1.40 

155 Former Claybrook First School 35 36 0 B 0.74 1.31 

156 Land at Millfields and the Fire 

Station 

35 30 0 B+G 1.36 1.02 

157 Former Ipsley School playing 

field 

41 0 G 0.93 

158 South of scout hut, Oakenshaw 

Road 

41 46 0 G 1.02 

200 Land at Wirehill Drive 12 0 G 0.47 0.71 

201 The Hills, Tanhouse Lane 14 14 B 0.57 

202 Dorothy Terry House 42 0 B 0.41 

203 Former Dingleside Middle 

School 

180 0 B/G 3.95 7.27 

Page 136 Agenda Item 8



 

15 
 

204 Former Marlfield Farm First 

School 

79 41 B/G 1.41 

205 Mayfields Works, The Mayfields 23 0 B 0.19 

206 Church Hill District Centre 51 0 B 2.25 1.23 

207 Matchborough District Centre 17 70 0 B 0.92 

208 Widney House, Bromsgrove 

Road 

40 0 B+G 2.24 1.56 

209 Loxley Close 10 0 B 0.31 

210 RO Alexandra Hospital 145 0 G 7.74 

211 A435 (former ADR) 255 205 0 G 10.25 

7.36 

212 Brockhill East 1025 38 G 23.40 

60.13 

213 Webheath  600 0 G 47.71 

215 Birchfield Road 28 29 0 G 0.86 

216 Former Hewell Road swimming 

baths 

14 30 0 B 0.56 

217 Sandycroft, West Avenue 9 0 B 0.35 0.07 

218 RO Windsor Road Gas Works 42 44 0 B 0.19 0.91 

219 Studley Road/ Green Lane 12 10 0 G 0.39 

220 Park House, Town Centre 14 0 B 0.10 

      

 
Total 

2913 2873 

dwellings 

130 

dwellings 

 
 

 

Small Site Completions 1.4.2011 – 31.3.2013  

Completions between 1.4.2011 and 31.3.2013 on sites where capacity at 1.4.2011 was less than 10 

dwellings. 

Small Site Completions 1.4.2011 - 31.3.2013   =   63 dwellings 

 

Small Site Commitments at 1.4.2013 

Page 137 Agenda Item 8



 

16 
 

These are small sites (less than 10 dwellings) with planning permission outstanding at 1.4.2013 and 

SHLAA sites (less than 10 dwellings) 

Small Site Commitments at 1.4.2013 = 69 dwellings 

 

Borough of Redditch Commitments to Meet the Strategic Housing Requirement At 1.4.2013 

 

Large Site Completions  = 130 

 

Large Site Commitments  = 2783 

 

Small Site Completions = 63 

 

Small Site Commitments  = 69 

 

TOTAL   = 3045 dwellings 

 

Outstanding Strategic Housing Target at 1.4.2013 
 

6400 minus 3045 = 3355 

dwelling target  commitments  below strategic target 

 

 

(i) Additional land beyond the Borough of Redditch in order to meet the Strategic Housing 
Target for the period 2011-2030. (Land within Bromsgrove District) 

 

 Site 

No. 
Site Name/ Address B/G* 

Capacity on 

or after 

1.4.2011 

Completions up to 

31.3.2013 (Ha) 

1 Land at Foxlydiate G 2800 0 

2 Land at Brockhill East G 600 0 

 Sub Total  3400 0 

 

* Brownfield/Greenfield 

 

 

  

Page 138 Agenda Item 8



 

17 
 

Main Modification MM71 

Appendix 3: Schedule of Employment Sites 

Policy 23 Employment Land Provision explains how Redditch Borough Council will meet its employment 

needs of around 55 hectares between 1 April 2011 and 31 March 2030. 

 

This appendix provides more detailed information on the component parts of the employment target. 

Additional monitoring information is available from the Development Plans Team. Monitoring information 

and the Employment Land Review (ELR) are updated annually on 1 April.  

 

i. Sites allocated for employment development in the Borough of Redditch in order to meet the 

Strategic Employment Target for the period 2011-2030 

 

Site 

No. 
Site Name/ Address B/G* 

Site Area 

(Ha)Capacity 

on or after 

1.4.2011 

Completions 

up to 

31.3.2013 

(Ha) 

IN15  Woolaston Road, Park Farm   G 0.40 0 

IN19 Studley Road (Aeroquip) B 1.44 0 

IN20 Old Forge Drive (BACO) G 1.321.21 0 

IN34 Merse Road, North Moons Moat G 0.65 0 

IN37  Bartleet Road, Washford          G 0.62 0 

IN38  Adj. 47/52 Heming Road, Washford  G 0.22 0 

IN52 Shawbank Road, Lakeside G 1.03 0 

IN54 Palmers Road, Moons Moat (E) G 0.29 0 

IN58 Crossgate Road, Park Farm (N) G 1.101.04 0 

IN59 Adj. Greenlands Business Centre, Park Farm 

(N) 

G 0.38 0 

IN67 Brockhill East (west of railway) G 6.60 0 

IN69 Land rear of Alexandra Hospital G 2.00 0 

IN80 Land at Winyates Way/ Moons Moat Drive G 0.64 0 

IN81 Brockhill East (Weights Lane, east of railway) G 1.85 0 

IN82 A435 ADR (area 3) G 7.78 0 

IN83 Land at Kingham Close/ Far Moor Lane G 0.19 0 

Page 139 Agenda Item 8



 

18 
 

IN84 Land off Pipers Road G 0.190.22 0 

 
Sub Total  26.7018.78 Ha 0 Ha 

 

ii. Additional vacant land which counts towards the Borough's employment land allocation in order to 

meet the Strategic Employment Target for the period 2011-2030. (Land within Bromsgrove and 

Stratford-on-Avon Districts) 

 

Site 

No. 
Site Name/ Address B/G* 

Site Area (Ha) 

Capacity on or 

after 1.4.2011 

Completions up 

to 31.3.2013 (Ha) 

 Land at Ravensbank (BDC) G 5.32 0 

 Ravensbank ADR (BDC) G 10.00 0 

 Land at Gorcott (SoADC) G 7.47 0 

 Winyates Green Triangle (SoADC) (gross) G 4.5012.00 0 

 Sub Total (gross)  27.2934.79 Ha 0 Ha 

 TOTAL  53.57 Ha 0.615 Ha 

 

 

iii. Windfall sites for inclusion as a result of windfall contribution criteria 

 

Site 

No. 
Site Name/ Address B/G* 

Site Area (Ha) 

Capacity on or 

after 1.4.2011 

Completions up 

to 31.3.2013 

(Ha) 

08/392 7 Howard Road, Park Farm North  B 0.06 0 

10/267 9 Brook Street  B 0.009 0 

11/024 49 Arthur Street  B 0.04 0.04 

11/061 Hill Top, Webheath  B 0.005 0 

11/241 7 Dunlop Road, Hunt End  B 0.024 0 

12/005 Hewell Road COU from A1 to B8  B 0.022 0 

12/020 18 Broadground Road, Lakeside  B 0.016 0 

12/032 Former Hepworth site, Brook Street B 0.37 0 

12/117 Former Arrow Valley Social Club, Washford B 0.5 0 

12/151 Autobody, Hewell Road B 0.1 0 

12/169 Thorlux Lighting, Merse Road B 0.24 0.24 

Page 140 Agenda Item 8



 

19 
 

12/220 1B Washford Trade Park B 0.028 0.028 

12/222 Unit 2A Millsborough House B 0.027 0.027 

12/288 Former coach depot, Oxleasow Road B 0.28 0.28 

 Sub Total  1.721 Ha 0.615 Ha 

 TOTAL  55.711 Ha 0.615 Ha 

 

* Brownfield/Greenfield 

Page 141 Agenda Item 8





Schedule of Minor Modifications to BORLP4 (December 2016) 

1 
 

Schedule of Minor Modifications to BORLP4 

Location Change needed Reason 

Introduction 

Page 1, Title Replace “Introduction to the Draft Borough of Redditch Local Plan No.4” with 

“Introduction” 

Title irrelevant on adoption 

Paragraph 1.1 The Borough of Redditch Local Plan No.4 (BORLP4) is the most important planning 

document at the local level, as it provides a framework approach for growth of the 

Borough and it will form part of the Borough of Redditch Development Plan. This 

Local Plan BORLP4 should be read in conjunction with the draft Sustainability 

Appraisal (SA) Report and relevant documents which provide evidence for the 

Plan.  

Formatting 

Paragraph 1.2 The Local Plan BORLP4 sets out the state of Redditch as it is now within the Local 

Portrait. There is a Vision and Objectives that set out what Redditch will aim to be 

like by the end of the Plan period and these have responded to the issues and 

challenges in the Local Portrait. The Plan period started in 2011 when we first 

started to collect the evidence and ends in 2030 because the Plan must last for a 

minimum of 15 years from adoption. The policies within the Local Plan BORLP4 

explain how Redditch will get there. The Infrastructure Implications of Local Plan 

No.4 BORLP4 (Appendix 4) sets out the known infrastructure requirements arising 

from the Plan, the costs, responsible agencies and delivery mechanisms necessary 

to allow development to come forward. 

Formatting 

Paragraph 1.3 Also included in the Plan BORLP4 is a Key Diagram that presents the main elements 

of the Redditch Development Strategy in diagrammatic and in detailed form. The 

Policies Map is a detailed map showing all land use based policy designations. 

Typo 

Paragraph 1.4 Replace “Once adopted, Local Plan No.4 will replace all policies contained within 

Local Plan No.3.” with “On adoption, the Borough of Redditch Local Plan No.4 

replaced all policies contained within the Borough of Redditch Local Plan No.3.” 

Clarification 

Pages 2 and 3 - Preparation 
Process 

Delete text and diagram Information irrelevant on 
adoption 

P
age 143

A
genda Item

 8



Schedule of Minor Modifications to BORLP4 (December 2016) 

2 
 

Location Change needed Reason 

Paragraph 1.6 In order make it easier for readers to follow the progress from the broad-level 

Vision and Objectives through to the more specific policies, the Plan BORLP4 

primarily follows seven key themes which run throughout derived from common 

challenges emerging from Redditch's evidence base, namely: 

Formatting 

Paragraph 1.6 ‘Creating safe and 
attractive places to live and work’ 

 Some areas of Redditch suffers from a poor perception of crime and anti-social 

behaviour. The implementation of improved design or designing out crime can 

help reverse this perception. 

Clarification 

Paragraph 1.6 ‘Promoting 

Redditch's community well-

being’ 

 Health of the residents of Redditch residents needs to be improved Formatting 

Paragraph 1.7 This Local Plan BORLP4 reflects what the community in Redditch needs from its 

development requirements based upon a robust Strategic Housing Market 

Assessment Scenario and the Council commends this Strategy and its offer for 

ensuring economic growth and prosperity. The Council has progressed a scenario 

for housing growth that aligns as closely as possible to the methodology used for 

the evidence base for the West Midlands Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS). There are 

likely to be very few implications from the planned abolition of the RSS; nor were 

there any major housing migratory issues because it has consistently been 

recommended that Redditch accommodates its natural growth through the RSS 

process. 

Formatting and clarification 

Paragraph 1.8 This Local Plan BORLP4 relates only to the administrative area of Redditch 

Borough. However the planning decisions made by a Local Authority can impact on 

neighbouring authorities so it is important that when making decisions there is a 

joined up approach is taken. 

Formatting 

Paragraph 1.9 Redditch Borough Council has worked with neighbouring Bromsgrove District 
Council and Stratford-on-Avon District Council extensively to prepare the Local 
Plan BORLP4 especially on the collection of evidence to inform the progression of 
the policies. 

Formatting 

Paragraph 1.10 The policy on Redditch Cross Boundary Growth features in Bromsgrove District 

Plan (Proposed Submission January 2017) and for reference is included as 

Appendix 1 in of this Local Plan No.4document for reference. 

Formatting and clarification 

P
age 144

A
genda Item

 8



Schedule of Minor Modifications to BORLP4 (December 2016) 

3 
 

Location Change needed Reason 

Paragraph 1.11 In addition, Redditch has worked with other Local Authorities, which although are 
not directly adjacent to Redditch may have strategic matters that have 
implications for the preparation of the Local PlanBORLP4.   

Formatting 

Paragraph 1.12 Redditch Borough Council is part of two LEPs both the Greater Birmingham and 
Solihull LEP and the Worcestershire LEP. This places Redditch Borough Council in 
an enviable position to coordinate its strategy and policies across a vast area. The 
policies and strategies of the Local Authority members of the two LEP’s have been 
checked for consistency with Redditch Borough Council’s aims which ensures that 
this aspect of the Duty to Cooperate has been fulfilled LEP. Therefore it is felt that 
Redditch Borough Council has and will continue to engage constructively with all 
neighbouring local planning authorities on all relevant strategic planning matters. 

Formatting 

Page 6, Policy 1 Relocate Policy 1 to end of chapter, after Objectives and before Key Diagram Improve running order of Policies 

Paragraph 1.13 The most important influence on the Local Plan BORLP4 is what local communities, 

stakeholders and developers have to say on what the strategy is aiming to achieve. 

The Local Plan BORLP4 needs the support of the community, and aims to help local 

people recognise that new development can benefit their communities by creating 

wider sustainable communities, and that new housing and economic growth can 

revitalise areas.  

Formatting 

Paragraph 1.14 ‘National 
Planning Policy’ 

 

The Local Plan BORLP4 also works within, and takes account of national planning 
policy set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) as well other local 
strategies and plans. The NPPF came into effect during the preparation of the Local 
Plan BORLP4 and the introduction of a model policy into the Plan clarifies the Local 
Planning Authority’s stance to the NPPF and its policy as a material consideration 
in the determination of planning applications. 

Formatting 

Paragraph 1.15 ‘Waste Core 

Strategy for Worcestershire and 

Minerals Local Plan for 

Worcestershire’ 

 

Another influence on Local Plan No.4 BORLP4 is the Worcestershire Waste Core 
Strategy adopted in November 2012, the important related content of which is 
reflected in this Local PlanBORLP4’s policy.  

Formatting 

P
age 145

A
genda Item

 8



Schedule of Minor Modifications to BORLP4 (December 2016) 

4 
 

Location Change needed Reason 

Paragraph 1.16 & 1.17 

‘Sustainable Community 

Strategy’ 

The need for cohesion between the Local Plan and the aims of the Redditch 

Sustainable Community Strategy (SCS) is very important so that they are both 

aiming to resolve the same issues. The Local Plan will be a key mechanism towards 

resolving some of the aims in the vision and priorities of the Redditch SCS. The SCS 

for Redditch has the following set of overarching ‘themes’ that guide decision-

making: 

 

 Communities that are safe and feel safe; 

 A better environment for today and tomorrow; 

 Economic success that is shared by all; 

 Improving health and well-being; 

 Meeting the needs of children and young people; 

 Stronger communities 

 
1.17 The Vision in the Local Plan has provided the necessary expression to the 
vision of the Redditch SCS. Significant contributions can be made to achieving 
these themes and the priorities of the SCS through this Local Plan. 

Information out of date 

Page 4, ‘Sustainability Appraisal’ Draft Sustainability Appraisals were produced alongside every stage of the Plan 
and also with this Local Plan. 

Information irrelevant on 
adoption 

Page 4, ‘Delivery and 
Infrastructure’ 

Local Plan No.4 BORLP4 is underpinned by evidence to demonstrate that there is a 

realistic prospect of the Plan being delivered.  

Formatting 

Page 4, ‘Consultation’ The preparation of the Local Plan has been progressing for some time BORLP4 was 

progressed over several years. For details of the stages of consultation please see 

the Borough of Redditch Statement of Consultation.  

 

Consultation on the Proposed Submission Borough of Redditch Local Plan No.4 

commences on 30th September 2013 until 11th November 2013, lasting a total of 

six weeks.  

 
Details of the consultation can be found on Redditch Borough Council's website at 
www.redditchbc.gov.uk/localplan. Your response forms should be received no 
later than 5pm on Monday 11th November 2013. 

Information out of date/ 
irrelevant on adoption 

P
age 146

A
genda Item

 8

http://www.redditchbc.gov.uk/localplan


Schedule of Minor Modifications to BORLP4 (December 2016) 

5 
 

Location Change needed Reason 

Page 5, ‘More Information’ If you would like any further information on Local Plan No.4 BORLP4 or any other 

related matter, please see Redditch Borough Council's website at 

www.redditchbc.gov.uk/localplan or get in touch at: 

Formatting 

Paragraph 1.21 To understand Redditch's distinctiveness, the Local Plan BORLP4 paints a 'local 

portrait' of Redditch setting out its main issues, problems and challenges, so that it 

becomes clear that the vision and policies of the Local Plan aim to resolve some of 

these issues. 

Formatting 

Paragraph 1.26 The graph below shows the Borough’s projected population up to 2030 (based on 

figures from the Worcestershire SHMA – Redditch Updated Household Projections 

Annex, May 2012). 

Formatting 

Paragraph 1.29 The Borough has 24 Local Special Wildlife Sites and there is also more than 87ha 

hectares of land designated as Local Nature Reserves, comprising five separate 

sites of semi-natural ancient woodland. There are two areas of designated 

parkland, including the Regionally significant Arrow Valley Country Park (364 

hectares) which follows the course of the River Arrow and Morton Stanley Park (38 

hectares) in the southwest of the urban area. Redditch has three parks that 

currently hold the prestigious Green Flag Award; Arrow Valley Country Park, 

Morton Stanley Park and Overdale Park in Astwood Bank. The Green Flag Award is 

the national standard for parks and green spaces in England and Wales as a way of 

recognising and rewarding the best green spaces in the country.  

Formatting/ Information out of 
date 

Paragraph 1.33 Redditch Borough Council will be was the first council in the country to re-use 
100% waste heat generated from its crematorium, diverting it to the Abbey 
Stadium leisure centre, providing around 42% of its annual heating bill and 
reducing the Council’s carbon footprint by 4%. 

Formatting 

Paragraph 1.34 Growth to the South and Southwest of Redditch is constrained principally because 
these locations would significantly increase private transport use, having a 
detrimental impact on existing road congestion within Redditch and neighbouring 
Stratford-on-Avon District. 

Formatting 

Paragraph 1.35 The railway station for Redditch is located in the Town Centre and services run 
every 30 minutes three times per hour to and from Birmingham New Street station 
and on to Lichfield. 

Information out of date 

P
age 147

A
genda Item

 8

http://www.redditchbc.gov.uk/localplan


Schedule of Minor Modifications to BORLP4 (December 2016) 

6 
 

Location Change needed Reason 

Paragraph 1.36 Network Rail has plans to increase the number of passenger services on the branch 

line between Birmingham and Redditch from two trains per hour to three trains 

per hour in either direction, by summer 2014.  

Information out of date 

Paragraph 1.38 Worcestershire County Council and the Department for Transport are investing 

have invested significantly in increasing the use of sustainable modes of travel in 

Redditch through the Choose How You Move Project between 2012 and 2015. This 

project was developed based on the success of the existing infrastructure and is 

aiming to encourage a successful modal shift. There are a range of issues that need 

to be tackled to achieve modal shift including perceptions of safety and security. 

Choose How You Move research indicates that a significant number of people feel 

unsafe walking to bus stops, waiting for buses and travelling on buses. Close to 4% 

of people cite “feeling unsafe walking” as being a main reason stopping them form 

walking more often. A similar percentage stated that “feeling unsafe cycling” was a 

main reason stopping them from doing so more often. 

Formatting 

Paragraph 1.39 Latest fFigures show that for the period July 2011 - June 2012 unemployment had 
fallen again, with 6.3% of Redditch Borough's economically active population being 
unemployed. 

Information out of date 

Paragraph 1.60 A full and detailed description of the distinctiveness of Redditch Borough is 

available in a document entitled ‘Local Distinctiveness in Redditch Borough’, 

produced by the Development Plans team and available on the Borough Council’s 

website www.redditch.whub.org.uk.  

Information out of date 

‘Objectives’ To deliver the Vision a set of 13 non-prioritised Objectives have been developed 

that reflect the aspirations of the vision and provide direction for the Local Plan 

No.4 BORLP4 policies. These are: 

Formatting 

Policy 1 Presumption in Favour of 
Sustainable Development 

When considering development proposals the Borough Council will take a 

positive approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development contained in the National Planning Policy Framework. It will always 

work proactively with applicants jointly to find solutions which mean that 

proposals can be approved wherever possible, and to secure development that 

improves the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area. 

 

Planning applications that accord with the policies in this Local Plan (and, where 

Formatting 

P
age 148

A
genda Item

 8

http://www.redditch.whub.org.uk/


Schedule of Minor Modifications to BORLP4 (December 2016) 

7 
 

Location Change needed Reason 

relevant, with polices in neighbourhood plans) will be approved without delay, 

unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

 

Where there are no policies relevant to the application or relevant policies are 

out of date at the time of making the decision then the Borough Council will 

grant permission unless material considerations indicate otherwise – taking into 

account whether: 
Sustainable Places to Live which Meet our Needs 

Title page The policies in this chapter will deliver the Objectives:  

 

"To have sufficient homes meeting demographic needs, including affordable 

housing, providing for a range, mix, and type in the best locations, including on 

Strategic Sites" 

 
“To have demonstrated compliance with the “duty to cooperate” by providing for 
Redditch’s growth across Local Authority boundaries” 

To clarify that Plan policies meet 
the Objectives 

Policy 2 Settlement Hierarchy, 
paragraph 2.5 

The Local Plan BORLP4 aims to deliver sustainable patterns of development which 
are appropriate and proportionate to their location, and adequately provide for 
the communities that they serve. 

Formatting 

Policy 3 Development Strategy Paragraph 3.1 “The policy sets outs what type” - delete ‘s’ Typo 

Policy 3 Development Strategy, 
paragraph 3.4 

This should be thoroughly demonstrated with particular reference to the Borough 
Council’s most up-to-date Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

Formatting 

Policy 3 Development Strategy, 
paragraph 3.5 

The Borough Council will monitor the delivery of all development in line with the 
National Planning Policy Framework’s requirements. Should the required rates of 
housing or employment delivery not be achieved, the Borough Council will employ 
proactive planning measures such as Supplementary Planning Documents, Local 
Plan review, compulsory purchase, active engagement with developers or 
investigating potential funding sources. 

Formatting 

Policy 3 Development Strategy, 
paragraph 3.7 

The Borough Council will maintain an Infrastructure Delivery Plan which identifies 

the infrastructure required to deliver Local Plan No.4BORLP4.  

Formatting 

P
age 149

A
genda Item

 8



Schedule of Minor Modifications to BORLP4 (December 2016) 

8 
 

Location Change needed Reason 

Policy 4 Housing Provision, 
paragraph 4.4 

The Borough Council will encourage the provision of housing for elderly people. 
When considering proposals for new residential development, consideration will 
be given to the extent that the proposed scheme reflects these requirements in 
accordance with the current Strategic Housing Market Area Assessment and/or the 
Worcestershire Extra Care Housing Strategy. 

Formatting 

Policy 4 Housing Provision Reasoned Justification Paragraph 4.6 –  “Districts” - delete ‘s’ Typo 

Policy 4 Housing Provision Reasoned Justification Paragraph 4.8 delete whole paragraph Remove reference to Lifetime 
Homes  

Policy 5 Effective and Efficient 
Use of Land, paragraph 5.10 

Where sites are suspected of contamination, the Borough Council will require the 
submission of an appropriate risk assessment and, if necessary, a site investigation 
and mitigation scheme. 

Formatting 

Policy 5 Effective and Efficient 
Use of Land, paragraph 5.13 

Development of garden land will only be supported where it fully integrates into 

the neighbourhood and is in keeping with the character and quality of the local 

environment, unless it can be demonstrated there are significant overriding 

mitigating circumstances. 

Formatting 

Policy 6 Affordable Housing, 
paragraph 6.6 

On-site provision should be made and must incorporate a mix of dwelling types 

and sizes, which reflect the site’s characteristics, the development as a whole, and 

meets the needs identified in the Borough Council’s most up to date Strategic 

Housing Market Assessment or other up to date local housing need surveys, and in 

consultation with the Borough Council’s Housing Strategy Team. 

Formatting 

Policy 6 Affordable Housing, 
paragraph 6.7 

The Borough Council will seek to negotiate the mix of affordable housing tenures 

on individual schemes taking account of local needs, the housing mix in the local 

area and the impact on viability.   

Formatting 

Policy 7 Gypsies, Travellers and 
Travelling Showpeople 

Reasoned Justification 7.5 changed ‘criterion’ to ‘criteria’ Typo 

Policy 8 Green Belt, paragraph 
8.2 

The exceptional circumstances required to amend the Green Belt Boundary have 
been demonstrated through the preparation of the Borough of Redditch Local Plan 
No.4. 

Formatting 

P
age 150

A
genda Item

 8



Schedule of Minor Modifications to BORLP4 (December 2016) 

9 
 

Location Change needed Reason 

Policy 8 Green Belt, paragraph 
8.4 

The Borough’s Green Belt boundary was originally defined by the Borough of 
Redditch Local Plan No.2 (adopted 1986) and was maintained in the Borough of 
Redditch Local Plan No.3. The preparation of Local Plan No.4 BORLP4 and 
associated evidence has justified the removal of certain sites from the previously 
designated Green Belt. Reference should be made to the Redditch Green Belt 
Study for the location of land removed from the Green Belt and the Local Plan 
No.4 BORLP4 Policies Map for the extent of the revised Green Belt boundary. 

Formatting 

Policy 9 Open Countryside, 
paragraph 9.4 

Proposals for economic development in the open countryside Open Countryside 
will also be determined in accordance with Policy 27 Rural Economic Development. 
‘Enterprise’ comprises farm diversification businesses or other businesses where a 
location outside a settlement is essential to their successful operation.   

Formatting 

Policy 10 Agricultural Workers 
Dwellings 

Changed the following to ‘Rural Workers Dwellings’: 
Policy title 
Criterion C. part C 
Reasoned Justification Paragraph 10.7 

Consistency with Inspectors 
Modifications 

Creating and Sustaining a Green Environment 

Policy 11 Green Infrastructure, 
paragraph 11.1 

In order to realise the Vision and Objectives of this Plan that, by 2030 Redditch 
Borough will be distinctively ‘green’, a well planned and managed GI nNetwork is 
essential. The multifunctionality of the GI nNetwork means that it can also 
contribute to delivering Objectives regarding biodiversity, climate change, historic 
environment and flood risk. 

Formatting 

Policy 11 Green Infrastructure, 
paragraph 11.5 

Reference should also be made to the Worcestershire Access and Informal 

Recreation Strategy (AIRS) and the Worcestershire Rights of Way Improvement 

Plans (ROWIP) and, where possible, the aims of these can be delivered through the 

provision or enhancement of the GI nNetwork.   

Formatting 

Policy 11 Green Infrastructure, 
paragraph 11.6 

A Green Infrastructure Strategy for the Borough is being will be completed which 

identifies and assesses the existing Green Infrastructure nNetwork and makes 

recommendations on how the nNetwork can be enhanced, and maintained and 

managed in the future.  

First stage GI baseline audit has 
been completed/ Formatting  

Policy 11 Green Infrastructure, 
paragraph 11.8 

Green Infrastructure Concept Statements will be produced having regarding to the 

emerging Green Infrastructure Strategy for Redditch Borough and the emerging 

Sub-Regional Green Infrastructure Strategy being produced by the Worcestershire 

GI Partnership. 

Formatting 

P
age 151

A
genda Item

 8



Schedule of Minor Modifications to BORLP4 (December 2016) 

10 
 

Location Change needed Reason 

Policy 12 Open Space Provision, 
paragraph 12.2 

New development will be required to make provision for new and/or 
improvements to open space, sports and recreation facilities in accordance with 
the Borough Council’s Adopted Open Space Provision Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) or any other form of planning obligation the Borough Council 
adopts.  

Formatting 

Policy 12 Open Space Provision, 
paragraph 12.4 

Local Green Spaces will be designated by the Borough Council through the 
Allocations Plan, where appropriate, in accordance with the provisions of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).  

Formatting 

Policy 12 Open Space Provision, 
paragraph 12.5 

The Playing Pitch Strategy identifies the future need for playing pitches in the 
Borough and recommends that current assets are maximised and current provision 
is protected. The strategy for specific typologies of open space is currently 
contained in the Borough Council's Open Space Provision Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD). 

Formatting 

Policy 12 Open Space Provision, 
paragraph 12.6 

The Open Space Provision SPD is the Borough Council’s current adopted method of 
calculating open space contributions.  

Formatting 

Policy 12 Open Space Provision, 
paragraph 12.9 

Local Green Space will only be designated where it does not conflict with the 
Objectives of the Local Plan BORLP4 and in accordance with the NPPF. 

Formatting 

Policy 13 Primarily Open Space, 
paragraph 13.2 

ii. the recreational, conservation, wildlife, historical, and visual and community 
amenity value of the site; 

Formatting 

Policy 13 Primarily Open Space, 
paragraph 13.4 

Proposals for development on Primarily Open Space land that contribute to both 
the Green Infrastructure Network in the Borough and the nature and purpose of 
the open space may be deemed acceptable by the Borough Council. 

Formatting 

Policy 15 Climate Change, 
criterion i. 

Proposals should take account of the need for accessibility between any 
development site and key facilities and consider how flexible and smarter working 
practices can be maximizsed to reduce transport emissions; 

Typo 

Policy 15 Climate Change, 
criterion ii. 

ii. the energy efficiency of the development must be maximised through its siting 
and orientation, and through the adoption of energy conservation measures, 
including natural ventilation, heating, street trees and lighting; 

From the Woodland Trust rep – 
They considered the policy should 
reflect para 96 of the NPPF in 
terms of minimising energy 
consumption, and take account of 
the role of street trees and 
woodland in combatting climate 
change 

P
age 152

A
genda Item

 8



Schedule of Minor Modifications to BORLP4 (December 2016) 

11 
 

Location Change needed Reason 

Policy 15 Climate Change, 
paragraph 15.7 

Include opening bracket at start of web link Typo 

Policy 15 Climate Change, 
paragraph 15.8 

It sets the standard for best practice in sustainable design and is used as a measure 
to describe a building’s environmental performance 
(http://www.breeam.org/index.jsp). 

Typo 

Policy 15 Climate Change, 
paragraph 15.9 

In addition, to ensuringe waste is minimised across the lifetime of developments, 
Policy 40 High Quality Design and Safer Communities requires that appropriate 
space for waste and recycling is made within the development.   

Typo 

Policy 16 Natural Environment, 
paragraph 16.2 

A high quality natural environment and landscape is integral to delivering the 
Vision of the Local PlanBORLP4. 

Formatting 

Policy 16 Natural Environment, 
paragraph 16.3 

In determining applications affecting sites of wildlife importance, the Borough 
Council will apply the hierarchy of designated sites and appropriate weight will be 
given to their importance and contribution to wider ecological networks. 

Formatting 

Policy 16 Natural Environment, 
paragraph 16.8 

The Worcestershire Historic Landscape Characterisation (HLC), Worcestershire GI 

Framework and Worcestershire Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) should also be used 

to inform development proposals.  

Formatting 

Policy 16 Natural Environment, 
paragraph 16.10 

Trees and woodlands are also often of historic value. Ancient hedgerows are those 

which support the greatest diversity of plants and animals and should be retained 

and managed appropriately in all situations. Trees and woodlands (including the 

provision of new native woodland) can deliver a major contribution to resolving a 

range of water management issues whilst also delivering other positive factors 

such as biodiversity, Green Infrastructure and adapting and mitigating climate 

change.  

Typo 

Policy 16 Natural Environment, 
paragraph 16.11 

The Worcestershire Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) includes targets for 
maintenance, restoration, expansion or creation (as appropriate) for the 
conservation of habitats and species. 

Formatting 

Policy 17 Flood Risk 
Management, RJ, paragraph 2, 
bullet point 6 

consider the vulnerability of those that could occupy and use the development, 
taking account of the Sequential and Exception Tests and the vulnerability 
classification as per the National Planning Practice Guidance (tTables 2 and 3 flood 
risk vulnerability), 

Formatting 

Policy 17 Flood Risk 
Management, RJ, paragraph 2, 
bullet point 7 

consider and quantify the different types of flooding (whether from natural and or 
human sources and including joint and cumulative effects) 

Typo 

P
age 153

A
genda Item

 8

http://www.breeam.org/index.jsp


Schedule of Minor Modifications to BORLP4 (December 2016) 

12 
 

Location Change needed Reason 

Policy 17 Flood Risk 
Management, RJ, paragraph 2, 
bullet point 8 

 consider the effects of a range of flooding events including extreme events on 
people, property, the natural and historic environment and river and coastal 
processes; 

Amendment made in line with 
Environment Agency rep 

Policy 17 Flood Risk 
Management, RJ, bullet point 10 
and 11 

 consider how the development will modify run-off and promote the use of 
Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) to mitigate that impact; and 

 be supported by appropriate data and information, including historical 
information on previous events. ; and  

Amendment needed as a result of 
other changes to Policy 

Policy 17 Flood Risk 
Management, RJ Paragraph 17.7 
final bullet point 

Change ‘Table’ to ‘Tables’  Typo 

Policy 17 Flood Risk 
Management, RJ Paragraph 
17.10 

Change “The strategy is due for publication in 2014” to “The Strategy was adopted 
in March 2016”.  

Clarification 

Policy 17 Flood Risk 
Management, Reasoned 
Justification, Final Paragraph  

The LLFA is also required to establish a SuDS Approval Body (SAB) with 
responsibility for approval of all drainage plans and the adoption and maintenance 
of SuDS that serve more than one property in new developments. Enactment of 
the SAB function is currently envisaged to commence in April 2014.   

Change in Government Policy  

Policy 18 Sustainable Water 
Management, paragraph 18.4 

The development of any site should not lead to deterioration of EU Water 
Framework Directive (WFD) water body status nor have a negative impact on 
water quality, either directly through the pollution of surface or ground water or 
indirectly through overloading of sewage treatment works. 

Typo 

Policy 18 Sustainable Water 
Management, paragraph 18.6 

Only once it has been demonstrated that it is not feasible to connect to the mains 
sewer should the developer consider non-mains foul drainage options. (see 
Planning circular 3/99 for more information). 

Circular has been withdrawn 

Policy 18 Sustainable Water 
Management, paragraph 18.14 

The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) is required to establish a SuDS Approval 
Body (SAB) with responsibility for approval of all drainage plans and the adoption 
and maintenance of SuDS that serve more than one property in new 
developments. Enactment of the SAB function is currently envisaged to commence 
in April 2014.   

Change in Government Policy 

P
age 154

A
genda Item

 8



Schedule of Minor Modifications to BORLP4 (December 2016) 

13 
 

Location Change needed Reason 

Policy 19 Sustainable Travel and 
Accessibility, paragraph 19.10 

and consists of the A441, A4023 and the A448, and can also be is identified on the 

Transport Map overleaf. New accesses onto the PRN and SRN will not be 

encouraged and should not inhibit the strategic function of these routes. Where 

development proposals impact upon the PRN or the SRN, a transport assessment 

must be undertaken to ensure that the function of the network is maintained.  

Formatting 

Policy 19 Sustainable Travel and 
Accessibility, paragraph 19.11 

Continues after Transport Map. Paragraphs 19.11 – 19.14 should continue straight 
after previous paragraphs 

Formatting 

Policy 20 Transport 
Requirements for New 
Development, paragraph 20.1 (i) 

The assessment of traffic impact should be undertaken in line with the policies in 
the pPlan and other relevant transport policy and guidance; 

Formatting 

Policy 20 Transport 
Requirements for New 
Development, paragraph 20.1 (x) 

the Borough Council will use mechanisms such as planning conditions and planning 
obligations, including financial contributions where necessary to secure the timely 
delivery of any necessary transport mitigation measures; and 

Formatting 

Policy 20 Transport 
Requirements for New 
Development, RJ, paragraph 
20.4, 2nd bullet point 

where there are local initiatives for the reduction of road traffic, or the promotion 

or of public transport, walking or cycling; or 

Typo 

Policy 20 Transport 
Requirements for New 
Development, RJ, paragraph 20.7 

Transport evidence prepared in support of a planning application must be 
prepared to the satisfaction of the Borough Council and Worcestershire County 
Council (WCC) Highways Department and where appropriate Highways England. 
Worcestershire County Council owns and maintains a range of transport models 
and information, which it makes available for use by developers to test the impacts 
of proposed developments on Worcestershire's transport networks. 

Requested by HE as a statutory 
consultee and key stakeholder in 
relation to highway impacts to 
assess whether development 
impacts are acceptable. 

Policy 21 Alexandra Hospital 
Public Transport Interchange, 
paragraph 21.3 

Further detail on the delivery of the Alexandra Hospital Public Transport 
Interchange (costs and timescales) can be found in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
(IDP). 

Typo 

Creating a Borough where Businesses can Thrive 

Title page The policies in this chapter will deliver the Objectives:  

 

“To have a strong, attractive, diverse and enterprising economic base with 

sufficient employment land, including Strategic Sites and employees with higher 

skills levels” 

 

To clarify that Plan policies meet 
the Objectives 

P
age 155

A
genda Item

 8



Schedule of Minor Modifications to BORLP4 (December 2016) 

14 
 

Location Change needed Reason 

“To have demonstrated compliance with the “Duty to Cooperate” by providing for 

Redditch’s growth across Local Authority boundaries” 
Policy 24 Development within 
Primarily Employment Areas 

Criterion i - add ‘and’ at the end 
Criterion ii - change ‘and’ to ‘or’ 

Clarification 

Policy 24 Development within 
Primarily Employment Areas, 
paragraph 24.7 

The Borough Council will assess whether the loss of an employment site would 
have a detrimental impact on the supply of employment land. 

Formatting 

Policy 26 Office Development, 
paragraph 26.1 

The Borough Council aims to create a Borough where businesses have the 
opportunity to thrive and the Office Development policy offers a strategy towards 
meeting this aspiration. 

Formatting 

Policy 26 Office Development, 
paragraph 26.7 

Whilst the NPPF directs office development towards Town Centres in the first 
instance, the Borough Council is mindful of the land availability issues within 
Redditch Town Centre to accommodate its development requirements. The 
Borough Council will strive to promote the Town Centre as the most desirable 
destination for a range of uses, including its office provision, but considers that its 
approach to office provision elsewhere in the Borough, within Primarily 
Employment Areas, needs to be flexible in order to encourage businesses to locate 
to the Borough to support Redditch’s overall prosperity as a thriving town. 

Formatting 

Policy 26 Office Development, 
paragraph 26.8 

The Borough Council would not wish to encourage developments which may 

compound existing issues further, thus compromising the vitality and prosperity of 

the Town Centre. 

Formatting 

Policy 26 Office Development, 
paragraph 26.9 

The Borough Council considers that if demand for Town Centre office space is low, 

then supporting alternative appropriate uses could benefit the Town Centre’s 

prosperity and contribute towards meeting other development targets identified 

within the Local Plan. 

Formatting 

Policy 27 Rural Economic 
Development, paragraph 27.1 

As the rural area accounts for approximately 50% of the area of the Borough, rural 

economic development plays an important role in the Borough’s economy and 

assists in achieving the Borough Council’s Vision of Creating a Borough Where 

Businesses Ccan Thrive. 

Formatting 

P
age 156

A
genda Item

 8



Schedule of Minor Modifications to BORLP4 (December 2016) 

15 
 

Location Change needed Reason 

Policy 29 Broadband and 
Telecommunications, paragraph 
29.2 

The Borough Council recognises the benefits of having good quality 

communications and high speed broadband in the Borough.  High quality 

communications infrastructure can attract business to an area and help firms 

remain competitive and assist in achieving the Borough Council’s key theme of 

Creating a Borough Where Businesses Ccan Thrive.   

Formatting 

Policy 29 Broadband and 
Telecommunications, paragraph 
29.8 

Redditch The Borough Council is working with the other Councils in Worcestershire 

to deliver the Worcestershire Local Broadband Plan: Connecting Worcestershire. 

Formatting 

Improving the vitality and viability of Redditch Town Centre and District Centres 

Title page The policies in this chapter will deliver the Objectives: 
 
“To enhance the visitor economy and Redditch’s cultural and leisure opportunities 
including Abbey Stadium” 
 
“Reduce crime and anti-social behaviour and the fear of crime through high 
quality design, with regeneration achieved at Matchborough, Winyates and 
Woodrow District Centres” 
 
“To improve the vitality and viability of Town and District Centres in the Borough 
by day and night by promoting a vibrant mix of uses including residential” 

Typo, missing text needs to align 
with Objective text 

Policy 30 Town Centre and Retail 
Hierarchy, paragraph 30.9 

The delivery of 30,000 sq m of comparison retail floorspace is evidenced by a 

proportionate evidence base in the Borough Council’s Retail Needs Assessments. 

The site specific allocations for retail will need to be evidenced in the future with 

more specific quantative retail data because retail evidence can only ever provide 

a snapshot in time before the adoption of this Local Plan BORLP4 and can become 

out of date quickly. 

Formatting 

Policy 30 Town Centre and Retail 
Hierarchy, paragraph 30.10 

The Borough Council has identified specific roles for each of the centres and will 
use planning policies to maintain and, where necessary and appropriate having 
regard to national guidance, improve the shopping function and environment of 
these centres.  

Formatting 

Policy 31 Regeneration for the 
Town Centre, paragraph 31.6 

In order to secure the regeneration and future of Redditch Town Centre, regard 
should be had to both the retail vision within the Local Plan BORLP4 and the 
Redditch Town Centre Strategy. 

Formatting 

P
age 157

A
genda Item

 8



Schedule of Minor Modifications to BORLP4 (December 2016) 

16 
 

Location Change needed Reason 

Policy 34 District Centre 
Redevelopment, Introductory 
paragraph 

The District Centres in Redditch Borough were identified as a significant issue for 
the Plan to consider, particularly in relation to the District Centres at Church Hill, 
Matchborough, Winyates and Woodrow, because of their poor image, issues of 
anti-social behaviour and inappropriate design which is making them suffer. 

Church Hill District Centre 
redevelopment has now been 
completed 

Policy 34 District Centre 
Redevelopment, paragraph 34.5 

The Borough Council will look favourably on development proposals that will help 
revitalise and improve the shopping and community facilities of District Centres 
providing they are in keeping with their primarily retailing role and actively support 
the redevelopment of, Matchborough, Winyates and Woodrow District Centres 
and their status as Strategic Sites. 

Formatting 

Policy 34 District Centre 
Redevelopment, paragraph 34.7 

Early consultation between developers and the Borough Council is encouraged to 

ensure effective consideration of community safety issues during the design of the 

development. 

Formatting 

Protecting and Enhancing Redditch’s Historic Environment 

Policy 36 Historic Environment, 
paragraph 36.1 

The historic environment plays an important role in the Borough’s economy and is 

central in achieving the Borough Council’s Vision of Protecting and Enhancing 

Redditch’s Historic Environment, as well as helping to deliver wider economic, 

social and environmental objectives for the Plan area. 

Formatting 

Policy 36 Historic Environment, 
paragraph 36.2 

Non-designated heritage assets, nationally important archaeological remains and 
locally listed heritage assets, and their settings will also need to be conserved and 
enhanced in a manner appropriate to their significance and contribution to the 
historic environment. 

Formatting  

Policy 36 Historic Environment, 
paragraph 36.8 

The sites contain both statutorily listed and locally listed heritage assets which the 
Borough Council considers make a valuable contribution to the historic 
environment. 

Formatting 

Policy 36 Historic Environment, 
paragraph 36.10 

The level of detail should be proportionate to the importance of the asset and the 

level of impact presented by the proposal, in accordance with the Borough 

Council’s validation requirements. Where a site does not contain any known 

heritage assets, but has the potential to do so, then development proposals must 

include an appropriate assessment of this potential.  For larger schemes this 

should include a field evaluation. A dDesign and aAccess sStatement may also be 

required, particularly where the proposal has the potential to substantially change 

the character or appearance of a heritage asset or its setting.  

Formatting 

P
age 158

A
genda Item

 8



Schedule of Minor Modifications to BORLP4 (December 2016) 

17 
 

Location Change needed Reason 

Policy 37 Historic Buildings and 
Structures, paragraph 37.9 

These heritage assets have been formally identified by the Borough Council on a 
list of local heritage assets.   

Formatting 

Creating Safe and Attractive Places to Live and Work 

Policy 39 Built Environment, 
paragraph 39.3, criterion ii 

be innovative and resilient to the effects of climate change, whilst also protecting 
and enhancing locally distinctive and historic features to improve the character 
and quality of the local environment; and 

Typo 

Policy 40 High Quality Design and 
Safer Communities, Criteria iv. 

Remove underlined Comma after ‘designed’  Formatting 

Policy 40 High Quality Design and 
Safer Communities, Criteria v. 

aid movement by ensuring all developments areas benefit from accessibility, 
connectivity, permeability and legibility, particularly aiding sustainable modes of 
movement such as walking, cycling and access to public transport; 

Changed in response to 
Community Safety Rep 

Policy 40 High Quality Design and 
Safer Communities, Criteria vii. 

provide appropriate space for waste and recycling to minimise any adverse visual 
impact on the property or the street-scene; and 

Typo 

Policy 40 High Quality Design and 
Safer Communities, RJ Paragraph 
2 

To meet the criteria on design and layout, proposals will should be assessed 
against the industry standard for well-designed homes and neighbourhoods – 
Building for Life.  

Clarification 

Policy 40 High Quality Design and 
Safer Communities, RJ Paragraph 
4 

When correctly designed and sited, public art can also make a significant 

contribution to reducing crime and promoting community safety. Risks of crime to 

public art can include theft, deliberate damage and arson. Designs will need to 

take these risks into account and mitigate against them. 

Changed in response to 
Community Safety Rep 

Policy 40 High Quality Design and 
Safer Communities, paragraph 
40.10 

Early consultation between developers and the Borough Council is encouraged to 

ensure effective consideration of community safety issues during the design of the 

development. 

Formatting 

Policy 41 Shopfronts and 
Shopfront Security, paragraph 
41.1 

This policy assists in achieving the Borough Council’s Vision of Creating a Borough 
where Businesses can Thrive. 

Formatting 

Policy 41 Shopfronts and 
Shopfront Security, paragraph 
41.3 

The word ‘only’ needs to be inserted.  Typo 

Policy 42 Advertisements, 
paragraph 42.1  

Well designed and well placed advertisements are essential to commercial activity 
in a free and diverse economy and can assist in achieving the Borough Council’s 
Vision of Creating a Borough where Businesses can Thrive.   

Formatting 

P
age 159

A
genda Item

 8



Schedule of Minor Modifications to BORLP4 (December 2016) 

18 
 

Location Change needed Reason 

Policy 42 Advertisements, 
paragraph 42.11 

In Redditch there have been problems with advertisements being placed on 
Borough Council and Highway land without permission.   

Formatting 

Promoting Redditch’s Community Well-being 

Policy 43 Leisure, Tourism and 
Abbey Stadium, paragraph 43.1 

The protection and enhancement of this built and natural resource is essential to 
achieve the Vision and Objectives of this Plan BORLP4 to enhance the visitor 
economy and cultural and leisure opportunities in the Borough. 

Formatting 

Policy 45 Cemeteries, paragraph 
45.2 

The Borough Council will continue to ensure that there is sufficient cemetery land 
to meet the needs of the Borough. In order to do so, it will be necessary to identify 
a new cemetery site within the Plan period. 

Formatting 

Strategic Sites 

Policy 46 Brockhill East, 
Introductory paragraph 

This strategic site is currently greenfield and as has been previously designated as 
Green Belt in parts; however exceptional circumstances exist to allocate this site to 
meet development needs. 

Typo 

Policy 46 Brockhill East, Criteria 
xiv. 

Replace Batchley Brook; with Batchley Brook;  Typo 

Policy 46 Brockhill East, final 
sentence 

All aspects of the Brockhill East Strategic Site delivery must be in accordance with 
other policies and proposals contained within this Local Plan. 

For consistency with other 
Strategic Site policies 

Policy 47 Land to the Rear of the 
Alexandra Hospital, Criteria xi.  

Remove extra comma after “south of the site,,”  Typo 

Policy 47 Land to the Rear of the 
Alexandra Hospital, Reasoned 
Justification, Paragraph 47.9 

Move paragraph up and adjoin to previous (47.9) Formatting 

Policy 49 Woodrow Strategic 
Site, Criteria vii. 

‘Open Space Provision’ Supplementary Planning Document SPD Typo and consistency 

Policy 49 Woodrow Strategic 
Site, Criteria viii. 

Tthe Historic Environment Record  Typo 

Policy 49 Woodrow Strategic 
Site, Criteria xiv and xv. 

xiv. surface water must be managed sustainably and is not connected to the 
foul/combined water sewer; and  
 
xv. and ensure appropriate waste water treatment infrastructure is in place to 
support development.  

Consistency 

P
age 160

A
genda Item

 8



Schedule of Minor Modifications to BORLP4 (December 2016) 

19 
 

Location Change needed Reason 

Policy 49 Woodrow Strategic 
Site, Reasoned Justification, 
paragraph 1 

Development Type – This Strategic Site is capable of accommodating around 220 
180 dwellings at a minimum density of between 30-50 dwellings per hectare. 

Typo 

Monitoring and Implementation 

Paragraph 1 The delivery of this Plan is considered to be an iterative process and the Borough 
Council aims to constantly strive for improvement. The Borough Council will 
monitor and consider best practice advice to see if there are any lessons that can 
be learnt. 

Formatting 

Paragraph 3 In order to successfully achieve this, the Borough Council produces a Monitoring 
Report on an annual basis. 

Formatting 

Paragraph 4 In addition to the Monitoring Report the Borough Council is also committed to 
undertake monitoring on the following matters: 

Formatting 

Paragraph 6 Where it is necessary, some of the policies in this Local Plan have a trigger or 
threshold for when the Borough Council would need to look at revisions if the 
actual policy proposals either under provide or overachieves significantly. 

Formatting 

Appendices 

Appendix 1, Policy RCBD1 Replace with most up to date version of the Policy in the Adopted version of the 
Bromsgrove Development Plan 

Consistency with BDP Main 
Modifications 

Appendix 2 Table 2 Changed table number from i. to ii.  Typo 

Appendix 4, Title Project/ Ssite/ Policy in Local Plan No.4 BORLP4 Typo and consistency 

Appendix 4, Policy 4 Housing 
Provision  

Redditch Borough Council  Consistency 

Appendix 4, Policy 12, Existing 
provision 

288 300 formally designated open spaces within the Borough.  Altered in line with amendments 
to losses and gains of open space 

Appendix 4, Policy 26 Office 
Development  

North Worcs EDR North Worcestershire Economic Development and Regeneration Clarification 

Appendix 4, Policy 28 Supporting 
Education, Training and Skills 

NWEDR North Worcestershire Economic Development and Regeneration Clarification 

Appendix 4, Policy 30 Town 
Centre and Retail Hierarchy  

North Worcs EDR North Worcestershire Economic Development and Regeneration Clarification 

P
age 161

A
genda Item

 8



Schedule of Minor Modifications to BORLP4 (December 2016) 

20 
 

Location Change needed Reason 

Appendix 4, Policy 40 (Delivery 
Partners) 

Redditch Borough Council 
 
All developers 
 
West Midlands Mercia Police 

Common Ground between RBC 
and West Mercia Police and 
Hereford & Worcester Fire and 
Rescue Service (OED/3) 

Appendix 4, Policy 41 (Delivery 
Partners) 

Redditch Borough Council 
 
All developers 
 
West Midlands Mercia Police 

Common Ground between RBC 
and West Mercia Police and 
Hereford & Worcester Fire and 
Rescue Service (OED/3) 

Appendix 5  Delete Appendix  Information irrelevant on 
adoption 

Appendix 6 Re-number following deletion of Appendix 5 Formatting 

Appendix 6 Change ‘Employment Monitoring SPG’ to ‘Employment Land Monitoring SPG’ Typo 

Appendix 6 Encouraging Good Design SPG not SPD Typo 

Appendix 6  Sustainable Community Strategy (SCS)  
 
Sets out the key themes which Redditch Borough Partnership and its partner 
organisations will concentrate on to improve the environmental, economic and 
social well being of Redditch Borough and contribute to sustainable development 
in the next 10 to 15 years. 

Reference removed in Local Plan 

Appendix 6 Wildlife Corridors  
 
Includes countryside features such as hedgerows and watercourses which act as 
links or stepping stones from one habitat to another. PPS9 (Nature conservation) 
refers to the importance of countryside features which act as wildlife corridors 
between habitats, and to the value of these links in maintaining the range and 
diversity of flora and fauna. 

PPS9 Deleted  

Appendix 7 Re-number following deletion of Appendix 5 Formatting 

Appendix 7 Insert ‘and beyond the Green Belt’ after ‘Countryside outside Settlements’ Clarification 

 

P
age 162

A
genda Item

 8



 

 

Redditch Borough Council 

ADOPTION STATEMENT 

Notice of Adoption of: 

Borough of Redditch Local Plan No4  

In accordance with: 

The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 

The Localism Act 2011 

The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 

The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 

Adoption Date 

Notice is given that at a Council meeting on 30th January 2017, the Council formally 

adopted the Borough of Redditch Local Plan No4 (BORLP4) and Policies Map. 

The BORLP4 was considered by an independent Inspector at an Examination in 

Public at hearing sessions held between June 2014 and March 2016. The 

Inspector’s report was published on 19th December 2016 which concluded that the 

BORLP4 is sound and legally compliant, subject to the Inspector’s recommended 

Main Modifications. The adopted BORLP4 incorporates the modifications 

recommended by the Inspector and minor modifications by the Council. 

Subject matter and area covered 

Now that it is adopted the BORLP4 forms a key element of the Development Plan for 

Redditch Borough. It replaces the Borough of Redditch Local Plan No3 which was 

adopted in 2006. 

The BORLP4 outlines the spatial vision for sustainable development in the District up 

to 2030 and how it will be achieved against a set of objectives. The plan sets the 

planning policies and identifies site specific allocations for Redditch Borough’s 

needs. 

Modifications 

The adopted Plan includes the Main Modifications recommended by the Inspector  

and the minor modifications. The full list of modifications made to the Plan following 

receipt of the Inspector’s report can be found in the Schedule of Main Modifications 

published as an Appendix to the Inspector’s report and the Schedule of Minor 

Modifications published by the Council alongside the Inspector’s report. The 

Schedules are available on the Council’s website at 

www.redditchbc.gov.uk/examination or at the Council’s offices and public libraries. 

Page 163 Agenda Item 8

http://www.redditchbc.gov.uk/examination


 

 

Challenge 

Any person who is aggrieved by the adoption of the BDP may make an application to 

the High Court under section 113 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 

2004 on the grounds that: 

 the document is not within the appropriate power 

 a procedural requirement has not been complied with 

Any such application must be made promptly and in any event no later than 6 weeks 

after the date on which the BORLP4 was adopted i.e. no later than 13th March 2017. 

Statement of document availability 

The adopted BORLP4 and Policies Map , this Adoption Statement and the 

Sustainability Appraisal Report and the Inspector’s report are available for inspection 

at www.bromsgrove.gov.uk/examination and the following locations during normal 

opening hours. 

All the material relating to the Examination process can also be viewed on the 

Council’s website, and at the following places during normal opening hours. 

Council Offices:  

Redditch Town Hall, Walter Stranz Square, Redditch, Worcestershire, B98 8AH  

Batchley Customer Service Centre, 183 Batchley Road, Redditch B97 6JB. 

Winyates Customer Service Centre, Unit 3 Winyates Centre, Redditch B98 0NR 

Woodrow Customer Service Centre, Studley Road, Redditch B98 7RY. 

Libraries: 

Redditch Library, 15 Market Place, Redditch, B98 8AR 

Redditch Mobile Library 

Further Information: 

Further information or advice may be obtained by telephoning 01527 64252 extn. 

3209  extn  3221 or  or by emailing: 

devplans@redditchbc.gov.uk 

Page 164 Agenda Item 8

http://www.bromsgrove.gov.uk/examination
mailto:devplans@redditchbc.gov.uk


 

1 
 

Sustainability Appraisal of the                                         

Borough of Redditch Local Plan No.4 

 

 

Post Adoption Statement 

 

 

January 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 165 Agenda Item 8



 

2 
 

 Contents Page No. 
   
1. Introduction  

 
3 

2. Legislative background 
 

4 

3. How environmental considerations have been integrated into 
BORLP4 
 

5 
 

4. How the environmental report has been taken into account
  
 

6 

5. How the SA and Consultation Representations have been taken 
into account 
 

6 

6. The reasons for choosing the plan or programme as adopted, in 
the light of the other reasonable alternatives 
 

8 

7. The measures that are to be taken to monitor the significant 
environmental effects of the implementation of the plan or  
programme (Regulation 16) 
 

9 

 Appendices 
 

 

 Appendix A- Key Sustainability Issues and the Sustainability 
Framework 
 

10 

 Appendix B- Key Stages in the BORLP4 SA process 
 

12 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 166 Agenda Item 8



 

3 
 

1.  INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 This document provides the Post-Adoption Statement for the Borough of Redditch Local 

Plan No.4 2011-2030 (BORLP4), which was adopted on XXX 2017 by Redditch Borough 
Council (RBC).  

 
1.2 BORLP4 is the main basis for making decisions on planning applications within the 

administrative area of Redditch Borough. BORLP4 provides a general policy framework 
and suggests sites for development to meet the housing and employment needs of the 
Borough. 

 
1.3  A Sustainability Appraisal (SA) was undertaken whilst developing BORLP4. The purpose 

of the SA was to ensure that the environmental, social and economic issues were 
considered throughout the development of BORLP4 with the aim of improving 
sustainability through its implementation. 

 
1.4  The purpose of the Post-Adoption Statement is to satisfy the legislative requirements of 

Directive 2001/42/EC and the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes 
Regulations (2004). 

 
1.5  In total RBC has previously produced 24 key SA documents in the process of developing 

the Local Plan as follows: 

 Document  Date 

1 Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report October 2007 

2 Draft Sustainability Appraisal for the Core Strategy Issues and Options 
Document  

May – June 2008 

3 Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report Annual Update May 2008 

4 Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report Annual Update October 2008 

5 Sustainability Appraisal for the Preferred Draft Core Strategy Oct 2008 - Jan 2009 

6 Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report Annual Update April 2009 

7 Sustainability Appraisal Refresh and Technical Paper March 2009 

8 Sustainability Appraisal Refresh Feb - March 2010 

9 Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report Annual Update April 2010 

10 Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report Annual Update April 2011 

11 Sustainability Appraisal for the Revised Preferred Draft Core Strategy Jan - March 2011 

12 Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report Annual Update April 2012 

13 Sustainability Appraisal for the Bromsgrove District and Redditch Borough 
Housing Growth Development Study 

January 2013 
 

14 Sustainability Appraisal for the Draft Borough of Redditch Local Plan No.4 January 2013 

15 BORLP4 Proposed Submission Sustainability Appraisal  September 2013 

16 Sustainability Appraisal Addendum Post Proposed Submission Corrections March 2014 
 

17 Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report Annual Update March 2014 

18 BORLP4 Sustainability Appraisal Refresh November 2014 

19 Addendum to the Housing Growth Development Study and the Housing 
Growth Sustainability Appraisal 

November 2014 
 

20 Bromsgrove District Council & Redditch Borough Council Joint Note to 
clarify the recent SA process in line with a request from the Inspector 

May 2015 

21 BORLP4 Sustainability Appraisal - Revised Submission for Consultation March 2015 

22 Summary of changes made to the Borough of Redditch Local Plan No.4 March 2015 

Page 167 Agenda Item 8



 

4 
 

Sustainability Appraisal - Revised Submission for 
Consultation (March 2015) in response to the six week consultation 
process (Examination Document Number OED/33b) 

23 BORLP4 Sustainability Appraisal May 2015 

24 BORLP4 – Proposed Main Modifications Screening Matrix 2016  December 2016 

 

1.6  RBC took the findings and recommendations of the SA at each stage into account in 

preparing the BORLP4 before its Adoption. 

1.7  Most of the SA work was carried out by the Development Plan Planning Team at 

Redditch Borough Council.  

1.8  SA screening of the Inspector’s proposed Main Modifications was carried out but the 

Council did not consider that the modifications proposed by the Inspector (nor minor 

ones proposed by the Council) would lead to significant changes and therefore did not 

require further consultation or SA work.  

2. Legislative background 
 
2.1  European Directive 2001/42/EC on the assessment of the effects of certain plans and 

programmes on the environment (‘the SEA Directive’) states that a Strategic 
Environmental Assessment is mandatory for plans prepared for town and country 
planning and land use purposes. 

 
2.2  The SEA Directive is transposed into UK law through the Environmental Assessment of 

Plans and Programmes Regulations (2004), which requires the Sustainability Appraisal 
of local development plan documents. 

 
2.3  The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) Regulations (2012) states that a 

Sustainability Appraisal report must be completed for Local Plan documents in 
accordance with section 19(5) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004). 

 
2.4  In accordance with these regulations, a Sustainability Appraisal was prepared 

completed for the Local Plan under the following requirements: 
• Regulation 16 of the Environmental Assessment of Plans & Programmes 

Regulations 2004 implementing the European SEA Directive. 
• Paragraph 165 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 2012). 

 
2.5  Article 9 of the SEA Directive requires that when a plan or programme is adopted, the 

Council makes available a statement summarising: 
“how environmental considerations have been integrated into the plan or programme 
and how the environmental report prepared pursuant to Article 5, the opinions 
expressed pursuant to Article 6 and the results of consultations entered into pursuant to 
Article 7 have been taken into account in accordance with Article 8 and the reasons for 
choosing the plan or programme as adopted, in the light of the other reasonable 
alternatives dealt with.” 

 

Page 168 Agenda Item 8



 

5 
 

2.6  This requirement in European law has been transposed into UK law through Regulation 
16  of the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations (2004), 
which requires the responsible authority to produce a statement containing the 
following information as soon as reasonably practical after the adoption of a plan or 
programme: 

 
1)  How environmental considerations have been integrated into the plan or 

programme; 
2)  How the environmental report has been taken into account; 
3)  How opinions expressed in response to: 

i. The invitation referred to in Regulation 13(2)(d); 
ii. Action taken by the responsible authority in accordance with Regulation 
13(4), have been taken into account; 

4)  How the results of any consultations entered into under Regulation 14(4) have 
been taken into account; 

5)  The reasons for choosing the plan or programme as adopted, in the light of the 
other reasonable alternatives dealt with; and 

6)  The measures that are to be taken to monitor the significant environmental effects 
of the implementation of the plan or programme (Regulation 16). 

 
3. How environmental considerations have been integrated into BORLP4 
 
3.1  The Sustainability Appraisal process involves assessing the performance of a plan or a 

programme against a series of sustainability objectives to test whether it is likely to 
result in significant environmental effects. These sustainability objectives and 
associated questions guide the evaluation of proposed policies and sites through a 
sustainability framework. 

 
3.2  The sustainability framework for the Plan was developed during the scoping stage for 

the Sustainability Appraisal by considering the following: 

 The environmental objectives of other plans, policies, programmes and objectives on 
a local, national and international scale; 

 the characteristics of Redditch Borough and 

 the key environmental problems within Redditch Borough. 
 
3.3  This ensured that both the wider environmental considerations and the specific 

environmental problems in Redditch Borough were integrated into the sustainability 
framework and therefore the Local Plan, since each policy and allocation was tested 
using the sustainability framework. 

 
3.4  The key sustainability issues and how they are reflected in the sustainability objectives 

is set out in Appendix A below. 
 
3.5  The sustainability framework for the Borough Plan considers each of the environmental 

topics set out in Annex 1 of the SEA Directive and Schedule 2 of the Environmental 
Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations (2004), as shown in Table 2.1 Page 9 

Page 169 Agenda Item 8



 

6 
 

of the Borough of Redditch Local Plan No.4 Sustainability Appraisal (May 2015). The full 
range of environmental considerations were therefore integrated into BORLP4. 

 
3.6  The Environment Agency, Natural England and Historic England (formerly known as 

English Heritage) were consulted as statutory consultees during the development of the 
sustainability framework and during the SA Scoping stages. This ensured that the 
sustainability framework addressed the key environmental considerations of other 
organisations. 

 
4. How the environmental report has been taken into account 

How the environmental report has been taken into account 
4.1  The SA must be an integral part of producing the Plan being appraised. The section 

below describes the process by which the SA influenced the development of BORLP4. 
 
4.2  The SA identified relevant sustainability objectives for the Borough and provided an 

objective assessment of the likely significant effects of the policies and site allocations 
throughout the preparation of BORLP4. 

 
4.3  At each stage the SA recommends a series of mitigation measures to reduce or avoid 

the potential adverse effects and maximise the potential beneficial effects arising from 
the implementation of the Plan and these changes have been incorporated into the 
adopted Local Plan. 

 
4.4  The SA has informed the selection of preferred options through an objective appraisal 

of a range of reasonable options and alternatives against the framework of 
sustainability objectives for the Borough. The types of options considered fall into the 
following categories: 

 Alternatives to the development strategy 

 Alternative locations for development 

 ‘Do nothing’ option 
 
4.5  Appendix B provides details the key stages of SA consultation during the preparation of 

the Plan. 
 
5. How the SA and Consultation Representations have been taken into account. 
 
5.1  The SEA Directive requires the opinions expressed by consultees to be taken into 

account during the preparation of the plan before its adoption. Consultation is 
therefore an important aspect of plan making and SA and this is set out in Appendix B. 

 
5.2  Appendix B demonstrates that there was consultation of every key stage of the Plan’s 

preparation and that this included consultation on the associated SA documents. 
Sustainability Appraisal has accompanied each stage of the plan-making process and 
been subject to consultation. The outcomes of these consultations have been reported 
in Consultation Statements (Regulation 19) and Regulation 22(1) Summary of Main 
Issues Raised at Proposed Submission Stage. A very small number of representations 
were received on the SA at each stage which included observations on the scores given 

Page 170 Agenda Item 8



 

7 
 

and the scope of the SA (in relations to Habitats Regulations Assessment). Where 
appropriate, these comments have informed subsequent versions of the SA.  

 
5.3  In addition, the SA Scoping Report was informed by information gathering beginning in 

June 2007. Statutory consultation was carried out in November 2007 with the three 
statutory bodies (Historic England, Environment Agency and Natural England) and other 
stakeholders. A total of seven responses were received on all aspects of the Scoping 
Report and appropriate amendments were made to the contents of the report 
(information taken from Borough of Redditch Local Plan No.4 Sustainability Appraisal 
May 2015). All representations on the SA were collated and summarised at each stage 
of plan preparation and Officer Responses were made addressing the comments of 
consultees. This ensured that the SA and consultation responses were considered in an 
iterative and ongoing way throughout the plan making process.  

  
5.4  Regulation 22 (1) (c) (v) of the Town and Country Planning (Local Development) 

(England) Regulations 2012 sets out that a summary of the main issues raised to the 
Local Plan should be completed. This was completed at every stage of the Plan making 
process. It was not appropriate to complete this after the Publication stage of the 
process as the Plan had already been submitted and this was the version the Inspector 
would be basing the Examination in Public on. At this point all representation received 
were sent directly to the Inspector for assessment.  

 
5.5  A document was produced entitled ‘Summary of changes made to the Borough of 

Redditch Local Plan No.4 Sustainability Appraisal - Revised Submission for 
Consultation (March 2015) in response to the six week consultation process’  
(Examination Document Number OED/33b) which details the changes made to the SA 
as a result of the consultation undertaken. 
 

5.6 During the Redditch Examination hearing sessions in September 2014 the Inspector 
requested clarification on the cross boundary site selection process carried out as part 
of the Housing Growth Development Study and accompanying SA in January 2013.  An 
Addendum to the HGDS and SA (the HGDS Addendum) was produced in November 
2014.  

 
5.7  On publication of external Hearing Statements for the cross boundary hearing sessions 

some queries were raised concerning the SA process.  A further revision to the Redditch 
SA was produced by AMEC Foster Wheeler on behalf of RBC in March 2015. This was 
consulted on and republished in May 2015.  The Bromsgrove District Plan (BDP) SA was 
also updated at this time (in house but verified by AMEC Foster Wheeler) to ensure 
alignment continued with the Redditch SA. Both the updated BDP SA and the BORLP4 
SA May 2015 contained quality assurance checklists that demonstrated how the SA’s 
complied with the SEA Directive (page 57 of the BDP SA)  

 
5.8  A table showing all the responses to the SA consultation carried out between March 

and April 2015 was published on both Councils’ websites. This included a summary of 
the response, officers’ comments and proposed action (OED/33A). Corresponding 

Page 171 Agenda Item 8



 

8 
 

amendments were also made to both SAs as a result of this consultation (OED/ 33B –
Redditch and OED/34 Bromsgrove).  

 
5.9  At the Examination hearing sessions in June 2015 it was confirmed that the BDP SA did 

not in itself contain a detailed assessment of growth options for Redditch within the 
BDP area, and that it referred instead to the BORLP4 SA. The Inspector accepted this as 
a suitably pragmatic approach and saw no benefit in duplicating the exercise and the 
BDP SA (as updated) provided appropriate cross-references to the relevant 
documentation. 

 
5.10  During the final cross boundary hearing session’s concerns were re-expressed 

regarding various SA issues and at the final joint examination session on 24 March 2016 
the Inspector requested a Legal Opinion commission by the Councils on whether the 
SAs complied with the SEA Directive. This Opinion confirmed legal compliance and was 
published on the Councils websites on 20 April 2016 (Reference ED/50-Legal Opinion on 
behalf of the Councils on SEA, April 2016). 

 
5.11 A screening of the proposed Main Modifications to the BORLP4 following Examination 

found that no significant environment effects were likely and therefore further SA is not 
required. This screening is available as a separate document. 

 
6. The reasons for choosing the plan or programme as adopted, in the light of the other 

reasonable alternatives 
 
6.1  This is explained in detail in the document entitled ‘Borough of Redditch Local Plan No.4 

Sustainability Appraisal May 2015’ under the section titled ‘The Borough of Redditch 
Local Plan No.4 and its Evolution’ subsection ‘3.4 Consideration of Reasonable 
Alternatives’ (page 17). This covers reasonable alternatives to accommodate all of 
Redditch’s housing needs, both within Redditch Borough and in cross boundary 
locations. 

 
6.2  At each stage of the evolution of the BORLP4, reasonable alternative options have been 

identified and appraised, with detailed explanation given on the reasons for choosing 
the proposed option, taking account of consultee representations, planning 
considerations and sustainability analysis. The Submission BORLP4 and accompanying 
SA set out detailed consideration of all the policies and potential housing sites and 
ensures that all reasonable alternatives were explicitly tested against one another. 
Particular attention was paid to the need to provide for development in Bromsgrove 
District to meet the needs of Redditch, and detailed evaluation of options relating to 
such strategic provision was undertaken and appraised. 

 
6.3 The SA report identifies a number of likely effects associated with strategic sites and 

policy options and the likelihood and scale of these effects. Mitigation or remedial 
measures have also been proposed that maximise any predicted beneficial effects of 
the proposed options or approaches and that minimise any predicted adverse effects. 

 

Page 172 Agenda Item 8



 

9 
 

7. The measures that are to be taken to monitor the significant environmental effects of 
the implementation of the plan or programme (Regulation 16) 

 
7.1  The significant environmental effects (and proposed mitigation measures) of the plan 

are summarised on page 40 of the Borough of Redditch Local Plan No.4 Sustainability 
Appraisal May 2015, under the section entitled ‘4.7 Overall Effects of the BORLP4 and 
Proposals for Mitigation’. These will be monitored as set out in this document (page 45) 
which states: 

 
“4.8.2 Once the Local Plan is adopted, its significant effects will be assessed based on the monitoring 
of the sustainability indicators. This will help to measure how well the Local Plan contributes to 
sustainable development and informs any future review of plans and policies. Through this process, 
the significant effects predicted in this SA will be monitored via the Monitoring Report. The SEA 
Directive requires that the significant environmental effects of implementing the Local Plan should be 
monitored in order to identify unforeseen adverse effects, and to be able to undertake appropriate 
remedial action.  

 
4.8.3 Data for the indicators will be collected at least annually in the Monitoring Report to monitor 
whether the Local Plan has made a positive contribution to sustainable development. Monitoring of 
the Local Plan will eventually be linked to monitoring the remainder of the documents in the 
Development Plan.” 

 
7.2  Potential indicators and targets have been developed and are detailed in Appendix A of 

the Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4 Sustainability Appraisal May 2015, 
furthermore, details relating to Monitoring are set out in the BORLP4 Proposed 
Submission document under the heading ‘Monitoring and Implementation’.  

 
 

Page 173 Agenda Item 8



 

10 
 

Appendix A: Key Sustainability Issues and the Sustainability Framework 

Topic SA Objective Issues and Trend 

Managing waste 
in accordance 
with the waste 
hierarchy 

(1) To manage waste in accordance with 
the waste hierarchy: reduce, reuse, 
recycle, compost, recovery, disposal  

The level of household waste which is 
recycled in the Borough is amongst the 
lowest in the country.   

Climate Change (2) Reduce causes of and adapt to the 
impacts of climate change  

The Borough has lower domestic, road 
transport and total CO2 emission than all 
other Districts in Worcestershire.   

Reducing the 
need to travel 

(3) To reduce the need to travel and move 
towards more sustainable travel patterns  

A low percentage of the population cycle 
and walk to work in Redditch Borough 
compared to Worcestershire and England 
despite the average travel to work distance 
being shorter.   

Redditch’s 
Economy 

4) Develop a knowledge driven economy, 
with the appropriate employment land, 
infrastructure and skills base whilst 
ensuring all share the benefits urban and 
rural  

There is a high percentage of self-employed 
workers in the Borough compared to 
elsewhere and a high number of business 
registrations which is increasing at a higher 
rate than elsewhere. The demand for larger 
offices is not met by the current supply.   

Community 
Involvement 

(5) To provide opportunities for 
communities to participate in and 
contribute to decisions that affect their 
neighbourhood and quality of life, 
encouraging pride and social responsibility 
in the local community  

Election turnout varies by ward across the 
Borough but is relatively low like much of 
the country.  

Economic 
Diversity 

(6) Promote and support the development 
of new technologies, of high value and 
low impact, especially resource efficient 
technologies and environmental 
technology initiatives  

A high proportion of the Borough’s 
population work in the manufacturing 
industry. 

Natural resources (7) Protect and improve the quality of 
water, soil and air and water resources  

 

The percentage of river length in Redditch 
Borough assessed as having good biological 
quality is low. There are no air quality 
management areas in the Borough.   

Flood risk (8) Ensure development does not occur in 
high-risk flood prone areas and does not 
adversely contribute to fluvial flood risks 
or contribute to surface water flooding in 
all other areas  

Defined flood zones cover a relatively small 
proportion of the Borough. There is 
evidence of flooding from both 
watercourses and sewers.   

Vitality and 
Viability of 
Centres 

(9) To improve the vitality and viability of 
Town and District Centres and the quality 
of and equitable access to, local services 
and facilities, regardless of age, gender, 
ethnicity, disability, socio-economic status 
or educational attainment  

There have been no residential dwellings 
completed in Redditch Town Centre since 
1996. There are a very low number of 
vacant units in Redditch town centre and in 
all district centres.  

 

Landscape and (10) Safeguard and strengthen landscape There are three identified landscape 

Page 174 Agenda Item 8



 

11 
 

Topic SA Objective Issues and Trend 

townscape and townscape character and quality  character areas in the rural area of the 
Borough which can influence the location 
and form of new development. The issues 
related to townscape are not currently 
understood.  

Biodiversity (11) To conserve and enhance biodiversity 
and geodiversity  

There is room for improvement in 
biodiversity provision and the standard of 
maintenance of nationally important 
resources.  

Health and well 
being 

(12) To improve the health and well-being 
of the population and reduce inequalities 
in health  

There is a higher percentage of Redditch’s 
population claiming disability benefits 
compared to averages. The percentage of 
the population living in the most deprived 
Super Output Areas in Redditch is falling.  

 (13) Provide decent affordable housing for 
all, of all the right quality and tenure for 
local needs, in clean, safe and pleasant 
local environments  

The supply of affordable housing does not 
meet demand in the Borough. The average 
house price in the Borough is below the 
regional average.   

Qualifications 
and skills base 

(14) To raise the skills levels and 
qualifications of the workforce  

GCSE and A Level performance is relatively 
poor in Redditch and there is a high 
percentage of people with no 
qualifications/level unknown.  

Crime and fear of 
crime 

(15) Reduce crime, fear of crime and anti-
social behaviour  

The perceptions of crime and fear of crime 
are not relative to the actual low levels of 
crime in the Borough.  

Historic 
Environment 

(16) Conserve and enhance the 
architectural, cultural and archaeological 
heritage and seek well-designed, resource 
efficient, high quality built environment in 
new development proposals  

There is a rich and varied stock of cultural 
and landscape assets which contribute to 
defining the Borough’s character including 
both designated and non-designated assets.  

Making the most 
efficient use of 
land 

(17) Ensure efficient use of land through 
safeguarding of mineral reserves, the best 
and most versatile agricultural lands, land 
of Green Belt value, maximising use of 
previously developed land and reuse of 
vacant buildings, where this is not 
detrimental to open space and 
biodiversity interest  

As a former new town, there is a limited 
amount of brownfield land and high levels 
of open space in Redditch compared to 
other districts.  

Resource 
efficiency and 
renewable 
energy 

(18) Promote resource efficiency and 
energy generated from renewable energy 
and low carbon sources  

No Borough level data available 

Taken from Borough of Redditch Local Plan No. 4 Sustainability Appraisal May 2015 

 

Page 175 Agenda Item 8



 

12 
 

Appendix B- Key Stages in the BORLP4 SA process 

Document  Summary 

Draft Sustainability Appraisal for the 
Core Strategy Issues and Options 
Document (May – June 2008) 

The purpose of this SA was to ensure that sustainability principles were incorporated into the plan at an early stage of 
production. The SA Framework was a sound basis for appraising the different Options set out in the Issues and Options 
Document. The Issues and Options Document contains issues which were determined after reviewing the plans, policies 
and programmes and baseline information in the Scoping Report, through ongoing informal consultation and through 
evidence gathering. Each Issue in the Issues and Options Document raised questions which needed to be answered and 
suggested a set of alternative Options which are intended as possible solutions to these questions. Each of these Options 
were assessed in this SA Report to give an indication of the sustainability of the different Options. 
 
The conclusions were there would be significantly harmful effects on sustainability if the ‘Business as usual/ Do nothing’ 
approach was taken. The SA demonstrated that, in most cases, a proactive approach to dealing with Issues was required.  
Mitigation measures were proposed in the SA to ensure the benefits of implementing some Options were maximised and 
that the harmful effects of implementing other Options were minimised. 
 
The SA tested the Plan’s Strategic Objectives against the Sustainability Appraisal Framework, developed the Plan Options, 
predicted the effects of the Plan, evaluated the effects of the Plan, considered ways to mitigating adverse effects and 
maximise beneficial effects and proposed measures to monitor the significant effects of implementing the Plan. 

Sustainability Appraisal for the Preferred 
Draft Core Strategy (Oct 2008 - Jan 2009) 

This SA demonstrated which options were the most appropriate to take forward. All new options raised since the Issues 
and Options SA were appraised in this SA which helps to justify the most appropriate approach taken in the Preferred Draft 
Core Strategy. There were open ended questions in the Issues and Options document, where no alternative options are 
presented. Following consultation, new issues have been identified for Redditch, and the Preferred Draft Core Strategy 
details the additional areas covered. 
 
In order to better understand the implications of including Strategic Sites in the Core Strategy, an appraisal of the sites was 
undertaken in this SA. The SA Objectives and decision making criteria have been used in the assessment of each site. Each 
site has then been scored against assessment criteria. 
 
This SA also includes an Appropriate Assessment, also known as a Habitats Regulations Assessment and has demonstrated 
that the Core Strategy would have no effects on the nearest Natura 2000 designated site at Bredon Hill, Wychavon. 

Sustainability Appraisal for the Revised 
Preferred Draft Core Strategy (Jan - 
March 2011) 

During the Core Strategy production lots of changes have impacted on how Redditch prepares the Core Strategy and when 
the policy approaches need to change the Borough Council needs to assess what effects these changes will bring. This is 
the focus of this SA. Following the change of Government in May 2010, the Government announced the abolition of 
Regional Spatial Strategies and the development requirements embedded in them, in favour of locally derived 
development targets.  
 
The impacts of locally generated housing targets and other development targets (where appropriate) have been assessed 
in this SA. 

Sustainability Appraisal for the Draft 
Borough of Redditch Local Plan No.4 
(January 2013) 

The Draft Core Strategy was refocussed and presented as a Local Plan following amendments to the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, the publication of  the Town and Country Planning (Local Development) (England) 
Regulations 2012 and the introduction of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (March 2012).  
 
Guidance in the NPPF was clear that locally generated development targets needed to be evidence based taking account 
of, amongst other things, the Borough’s objectively assessed housing need.  
 
Under the remit of the Duty to Co-operate, Redditch Borough Council addressed the issue of cross boundary growth to 
meet its development needs with Bromsgrove District Council. The Housing Growth Development Study (HGDS), which 
informed the Draft BORLP4, was undertaken jointly by the two Local Authorities and was subject to a specific Sustainability 
Appraisal, which is referenced in the BDC Post Adoption Statement.   

BORLP4 Proposed Submission 
Sustainability Appraisal (September 
2013) 

This version of the Sustainability Appraisal was prepared to reflect the proposals in the Proposed Submission version of the 
Local Plan. This was the version submitted to the Inspector to be Examined.  

BORLP4 Sustainability Appraisal Refresh 
(November 2014) 

This version of the SA was updated to reflect the changes made to Proposed Submission version of the SA and the 
Proposed Submission version of the Local Plan.  

BORLP4 Sustainability Appraisal (March 
and May 2015) 

A final SA report was produced in May 2015 as part of the iterative process of SA, incorporating some changes made during 
consultation in March 2015. This document informed the cross boundary site selection process. 

BORLP4  – Proposed Main Modifications 
Screening Matrix 2016 (Appendix B) 

SA screening of the Inspector’s proposed Main Modifications was carried out but the Council did not consider that the 
modifications proposed by the Inspector (nor minor ones proposed by the Council) would lead to significant changes and 
therefore did not require further consultation or SA work 

 

Page 176 Agenda Item 8



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

COUNCIL   30th January 2017  

 

 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 17TH JANUARY 2017 
 
69. COUNCIL PLAN  
 

 RECOMMENDED that 
 
subject to the inclusion of the foreword and the minor amendment to 
page 7 as detailed in the preamble above, the Council Plan attached 
at Appendix 1 to the report be approved. 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 177 Agenda Item 8





REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

Executive 17th January 2017 

 
COUNCIL PLAN 
 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr John Fisher 

Portfolio Holder Consulted Yes  

Relevant Head of Service 
Deb Poole, Head of Business 
Transformation 

Ward(s) Affected All 

Ward Councillor(s) Consulted  

Non-Key Decision   

 
1. SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS 
 
1.1 To agree the structure, content and design of the draft Council Plan, including 

actions relating to the Council’s strategic purposes  
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 Executive is asked to RECOMMEND to the Council  
 
 that the Council Plan attached at Appendix 1 be approved. 
 
 
3. KEY ISSUES 

 
Financial Implications 

 
3.1 The transformation programme that the Council has embarked upon led to the 

development of the strategic purposes documented in the Council Plan. As the 
programme continues, finances will start to become aligned with these purposes 
and the priority actions contained within the Council Plan, allowing the Council to 
be more responsive to our customers’ needs. 

 
 
Legal Implications 

 
3.2 There are no legal implications arising directly from this report. 
 

 
Service / Operational Implications 

 
3.3 The Council Plan and the strategic purposes contained within it will help to set 

the direction for the Council and how it works with its partners. Service areas will 
be working towards these purposes and the priority actions, supported by 
operational purposes and measures to ensure that everything we do relates to 
the demands and needs of our customers. The Council Plan will be supported by 
an implementation plan, including measures, barriers and ownership, to ensure 
that the actions within the Council Plan are delivered. 

Page 179 Agenda Item 8



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

Executive 17th January 2017 

 
 

 
Customer / Equalities and Diversity Implications 

 
3.4 The strategic purposes set out in the Council Plan are all designed to be from 

our customers perspective, in order for their needs to be the driver for all that we 
do. The corporate principles also highlight the importance of understanding and 
listening to our customers, whilst providing excellent customer care at all times. 
When approved, the Council Plan will be published on the Council’s website and 
the ORB. 

 
3.5 There are no equality and diversity implications arising directly from this report; 

however, the customer focus referred to above is designed to understand the 
individual needs of our customers and as such empower officers to meet those 
needs, which would include specific issues relating to equality and diversity.  

 
 
4. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
4.1 By publishing a Council Plan the strategic direction of the Council will be clear to 

employees and Members and as such will support the management of risks 
identified around the delivery of the strategic purposes, robust decision making 
and the accuracy/effectiveness of performance data.   

 
 
5. APPENDICES 

 
Appendix 1 - Council Plan 
 

 
 
 

 
AUTHOR OF REPORT 
 
Name: Rebecca Dunne, Policy Manager 
email: r.dunne@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk 
Tel.: 01527 881616 
  

Page 180 Agenda Item 8



Redditch Council Plan 

2017-2020

P
age 181

A
genda Item

 8



2 Redditch Council Plan 2017-2020

P
age 182

A
genda Item

 8



3Redditch Council Plan 2017-2020

Welcome to the Redditch Borough Council Plan

This plan sets out our priorities for 2017-2020 based upon what matters to residents. 
It is an ambitious plan to address the needs of our community and build a better Redditch 
and in order to deliver on it, we need to work proactively with our partners. Therefore 
in addition to setting out our plan for the next three years this is also a call to arms for 
everyone to work together to truly make a difference.

Like all councils in the country we continue to see a dramatic reduction in the level of grant we receive from 
Central Government. By the end of this plan period the council will not be receiving any support grant from 
Government, and indeed the council will be paying money back to the Government. Against this background of 
reduced resources we have had to review the number and level of services we provide and how we provide them.

We will continue our programme of “shared services” and “transformation / systems thinking” which has seen 
improved service delivery and saved the council millions of pounds. We will continue to look for further such 
opportunities, as well as looking to be more commercially minded in our operations and generate income.

The council plan has six strategic purposes which are focussed on making Redditch a better place to live and work 
and, as mentioned earlier, we cannot do this alone. We will seek to work with a variety of partners in the public, 
private and voluntary sectors and this is why we joined the West Midland Combined Authority. We continue to
push hard and play a leading role for the Non Constituent Members so that we can secure the best deal for 
Redditch, and remain convinced that this will bring many opportunities for jobs and investment into Redditch.
     
Councillor Bill Hartnett,
Leader of Redditch Borough Council

P
age 183

A
genda Item

 8



Redditch Borough - about us

The Borough of Redditch is in Worcestershire, approximately 
15 miles south of Birmingham. The Borough has a population 
of 84,500 with a higher percentage of young people 
(age 0-15 years) compared with the rest of the County. 
There is a very diverse population within the Borough and 
there are four areas that are within in the top 10% most 
deprived in England.

There are a number of 
international companies
established in the Borough

and the Kingfisher 
Shopping Centre 
boasts many big name 

department stores.

Health priorities in Redditch 
include improving mental health 
   and wellbeing, reducing harm 
    from alcohol and drugs and 
         increasing physical activity.

Redditch Borough has 
many open spaces; there are 

Sites of Special 
Scientific Interest6

24Special 
Wildlife Sites

and numerous Local 
Nature Reserves.

4 Redditch Council Plan 2017-2020

Through North 
Worcestershire 
Economic 

Development and Regeneration 
and the Local Enterprise 
Partnerships we will 
continue to support 
new and established 
businesses within the 
Borough to grow.

P
age 184

A
genda Item

 8



Through the partnership project, 
Connecting Families, we have 

been able to support many more 
families across the Borough.

Our Financial Inclusion Team 
(FIT) is working with residents to help 
them manage their finances and debt 

and the Fusion job coaching project has been working 
to help people move into employment.

The Redditch and Bromsgrove 
Community Safety schools programme   
             has provided one to one mentoring    
                     sessions for 81 young 
              people across both districts    
                      since september 2015.

There were over 

36,000
attendances at Redditch Borough 
Council events during 2015/2016.

reduction in 
fly tipping.

The increased take up
of our bulky waste 
service has seen a

Redditch Borough Council 
supported the launch 
of the Safe Place 
Scheme in Redditch.

Redditch Borough - looking back

During 2015/2016
there were over

2 2,000
free sw

ims
provided by the

Borough Council

250
During 2015/2016 
there were 
homeless 
preventions.

During
2015/2016

affordable 
homes

were completed
55

5Redditch Council Plan 2017-2020

P
age 185

A
genda Item

 8



Finances
The December 2015 Government Spending Review announced 
an indicative four year funding settlement for local authorities. 
Government grant funding will be some £6m per year less in real 
terms by the end of this plan than it was in 2010/11. This equates 
to losing funding for just under half of the Council’s net budget 
and the whole of the Revenue Support Grant with an unexpected 
repayment to Government in 2019/20 of £330k.

The Council has a proven track record in delivering cost and 
efficiency savings. Since 2010/11 the Council has made savings from 
sharing services with other Councils of £5.6m and generated other 
savings of approximately £4m from additional income and increasing 
efficiencies. With the continued cuts to our funding we will have to 
find more innovative ways to meet the on-going financial pressures 
that the Council faces and we are working with partners to achieve 
savings across the public purse that will ensure that valuable front line 
services continue to be delivered to our communities. The financial 
funding available will be aligned to our purposes as detailed in this 
document to ensure we meet customer and community need. We 
are working with partners to achieve savings across the public purse 
which will ensure that valuable front line services continue to be 
delivered to our communities.
The financial funding available will be aligned to our priorities 
as detailed in this document to ensure we meet customer and 
community need. In order to address the financial challenges, over 
the financial planning period the Council will look at generating 
growth in our services to increase income, redesigning services to 
make them as flexible and efficient as possible and to work with 
others to maximise the value of Council services with the limited 
funding we have available.

Since 2010/11 we have 
made savings of £5.6m 
from sharing services 
with other Councils

Since 2010/11 we have 
generated savings of £4m 
from additional income & 

increasing efficiencies

Potential repayment 
to the Government 

in 2019/20 of £330k
Government grant 

funding will be some 
£6m less by 2020 than 

it was in 2010/116 Redditch Council Plan 2017-2020

P
age 186

A
genda Item

 8



Our Strategic Purposes
Redditch Borough Council is committed 
to providing residents with effective and 
efficient services that not only meet their 
needs but understand them too. We have 
listened to demand from our customers in 
order to understand what goes on in our 
communities and considered how we work 
with partners to support the issues within 
those communities.
Through considering what really matters 
to our residents we produced a set of six 
strategic purposes to guide us; they are 
based on customer demands and data and 
evidence about the needs of and issues 
affecting the people of Redditch Borough.

Redditch 
Borough

Keep my place 
safe & looking 

good

Provide good 
things for me to 

see, do & visit

Help me find 
somewhere to 

live in my 
locality

Help me run a 
successful 
business

Help me to 
be financially 
independent 

(including 
education 

& skills)
Help me to 
live my life 

independently
(including health 

& activity)

7Redditch Council Plan 2017-2020

P
age 187

A
genda Item

 8



Help me run a successful business
How we achieve this:

Nurture existing businesses and encourage a future 
generation of entrepreneurs
•	 Keep employment land provision under review to ensure that we have an adequate supply to              

meet business growth requirements
•	 Work with partners, including the Local Enterprise Partnerships, to provide a comprehensive            

business support package for small and growing businesses and aspiring entrepreneurs
•	 Help people to find business property in the Borough
•	 Understand employers’ needs and aspirations
•	 Support local businesses to obtain contracts when large developments take place
•	 Develop and continually update an Economic Development Strategy
•	 Review the availability of flexible business workspace within Redditch including Council owned property

Enhancing the retail, leisure and residential offer
•	 Produce a regeneration prospectus setting out key investment, development and improvement 

opportunities in the Town Centre
•	 Aim to bring forward development in the Town Centre on opportunity sites at  Edward Street 

and Church Road
•	 Develop the Town Centre, including proactive engagement with the owners of the            

Kingfisher shopping centre
•	 Identify options to improve access into the Town Centre
•	 Improve the vibrancy and variety of the outdoor market
•	 Work with Worcestershire County Council to improve signage and waymarking in Redditch
•	 Work with land owners to identify / progress development opportunities in the district centres

8 Redditch Council Plan 2017-2020

P
age 188

A
genda Item

 8



Positively promote Redditch as a place to live, work,                    
invest and visit and encourage new inward investment
•	 Work with partners and the local business community to promote Redditch to                  

external investors
•	 Work pro-actively with existing land owners and developers to promote available               

employment sites and premises
•	 Work with the Kingfisher Centre to promote Redditch Town Centre
•	 Bring forward the appropriate development of the Redditch Gateway site

Work with partners to improve the aspirations of our 
younger population and develop skills to meet the 
future demands of employers
•	 In conjunction with partners, commission skills research to identify the future skills needs 

of our businesses and develop an action plan to pro-actively work with businesses and 
partners agencies

•	 Work with schools to promote businesses and employment opportunities
•	 Identify the potential to work with the University of Birmingham

Redditch Gateway:
•	 Work in partnership to develop a ‘strategic skills plan’

9Redditch Council Plan 2017-2020

P
age 189

A
genda Item

 8



Help me to be financially independent (including education & skills)

How we achieve this:

Develop education and skills to sustain financial independence
•	 Work with young people and schools to deliver life skills in money and debt management
•	 Work with businesses to identify the skills that are required to enable local people to secure          

employment in their community
•	 Support people into sustainable work, education or training

Support communities during changes to 
welfare and benefits
•	 Provide advice and guidance to help residents understand their 

benefit entitlement and maximise their income and reduce debt

10 Redditch Council Plan 2017-2020

P
age 190

A
genda Item

 8



Support residents to reduce levels of individual debt
•	 Support residents to understand and manage their finances and reduce their debts
•	 Work with voluntary sector and other partners to provide debt advice and support using 

the grant scheme
•	 Promote schemes that encourage savings & financial independence
•	 Raise awareness of support available through locality teams
•	 Work with the Police to address the issue of loan sharks and unregulated payday lenders

Support reduction in fuel poverty
•	 Work with partners to improve energy efficiency in homes across the Borough
•	 Work with ACT on Energy to support people to manage their energy effectively
•	 Provide funding to improve homes to reduce fuel poverty

11Redditch Council Plan 2017-2020

P
age 191

A
genda Item

 8



Help me to live my life independently (including health & activity)

How we achieve this:

Understand and support the additional needs of our residents
•	 Work with health and other partners to reduce hospital admissions and hospital stays
•	 Work with partners to support victims of domestic abuse
•	 Work with partners to support people with mental health needs
•	 Support people to access to appropriate housing
•	 Work with partners including the voluntary sector to raise awareness of available services
•	 Engage people in the design and delivery of the services we provide
•	 Continue to promote Redditch as a Dementia Friendly Community

Promote independence and reduce social isolation
•	 Enable people to be able to stay in their homes and communities
•	 Work with partners to support and promote access to clubs and services
•	 Enable residents to access appropriate and sustainable transport and mobility schemes

12 Redditch Council Plan 2017-2020

P
age 192

A
genda Item

 8



Help people to have active bodies and active minds
•	 Work with partners to promote and deliver appropriate mental wellbeing support
•	 Support and promote the delivery to the Five Ways to Wellbeing
•	 Support residents to be physically active

Strengthening and supporting families and individuals
•	 Work with partners within localities to deliver preventative services/family support
•	 Support people into sustainable work, education and training

13Redditch Council Plan 2017-2020

P
age 193

A
genda Item

 8



Help me to find somewhere to live in my locality
How we achieve this:

Support the development 
and delivery of appropriate 
housing in the borough
•	 Understand community housing needs
•	 Use the Local Plan to drive development

Raise housing standards 
and the quality of the local 
environment across the 
Borough
•	 Use the capital programme to raise 

housing standards
•	 Provide support and advice to landlords 

and the private sector and take appropriate 
action where needed

•	 Work in partnership with other housing 
providers to increase and improve the 
quantity and quality of housing stock

Greater involvement and 
empowerment of tenants 
and residents in service 
delivery and reform
•	 Develop and implement a strategic plan 

for tenant involvement
•	 Create opportunities for tenants and 

residents to be involved in decision 
making around their homes and 
communities

14 Redditch Council Plan 2017-2020

P
age 194

A
genda Item

 8



Build sustainable communities 
and neighbourhoods
•	 Work together with partners including the 

voluntary sector to empower individuals                                   
and communities to take an active role in              
their localities

•	 Provide support to residents and 
neighbourhoods to build sustainable 
communities

Identify and support vulnerable 
people to prevent homelessness
•	 Work with partners to support and prevent the 

causes of homelessness
•	 Together with partners, provide access to suitable 

accommodation

15Redditch Council Plan 2017-2020

P
age 195

A
genda Item

 8



Keep my place safe and looking good
How we achieve this:

Participate in the creation of safe and 
well maintained places
•	 Establish the agreed standards for each Place area and its 

communities and allocate sufficient  and flexible resources
•	 A targeted and proportionate education and enforcement 

approach based on community priority and risk
•	 Establish community safety principles in the planning process 

through safe by design standards
•	 Use the capital programme to improve localities and 

respond to issues

16 Redditch Council Plan 2017-2020

P
age 196

A
genda Item

 8



Demonstrate concern and care for the 
environment
•	 Working with partners to ensure the Worcestershire Joint Municipal 

Waste Strategy (JMWS) reflects the needs of Redditch
•	 Explore opportunities to enhance recycling
•	 Endeavour to limit the effect of climate change and reduce our emissions

Create a sense of belonging and pride in our 
neighbourhoods
•	 Develop a programme of community and public involvement around 

education and prevention awareness to understand what is important 
in local areas

•	 Encourage communities to help and support each other
•	 Support people to build cohesive communities

17Redditch Council Plan 2017-2020

P
age 197

A
genda Item

 8



Provide good things for me to see, do and visit
How we achieve this:

Help create flourishing town and district centres
•	 Review the best use of buildings in the town centre area
•	 Progress the redevelopment of Matchborough and Winyates
•	 Work with Town Centre Partnership to promote and enhance the Town Centre
•	 Improve the vibrancy and variety of the outdoor market
•	 Develop and manage a targeted town centre arts and events offer

Support the provision of leisure opportunities for the 
whole Borough
•	 Develop a Sports and Physical Activity Strategy
•	 Ensure leisure facilities are fit for purpose and engage with residents to understand their needs
•	 Review concessions to best support the vulnerable and those on lower incomes
•	 Deliver the best option for the provision of leisure services
•	 Promote healthy lifestyle by utilising our parks and green spaces and our leisure facilities

18 Redditch Council Plan 2017-2020

P
age 198

A
genda Item

 8



Provide good things for me to see, do and visit
How we achieve this: Provide well maintained community parks and green spaces

•	 Review allotment provision to ensure it is sustainable and meets customer need
•	 Develop a Parks Strategy to ensure parks and green spaces meet resident and visitor needs
•	 Ensure play areas and parks meet the needs of all ages of the community
•	 Provide appropriate and well maintained facilities in parks

Provide and support high quality, culturally diverse 
events and arts activities
•	 Engage with communities to review the events programme
•	 Work with communities and partners to develop a diverse range of arts 

and cultural activities and promote Redditch as a location of choice for arts 
professionals and organisations

•	 Develop an Arts and Events Strategy to reflect community need
•	 Work with partners to develop a programme to address social isolation 

through the arts and social activities

19Redditch Council Plan 2017-2020

P
age 199

A
genda Item

 8



How we work

•	 Provide excellent customer care at all times
•	 Listen to our residents to understand their needs
•	 Deliver our core services efficiently and effectively
•	 Make the best use of our resources, with residents at the heart of all we do
•	 As a community leader, work with partners in the public, voluntary             

and private sectors to ensure residents of Redditch Borough get                 
the services and support they need

•	 As a good employer, support our employees to provide                         
services that meet the needs of our residents Our Principles

1.	 Design all our services from the customer’s perspective to ensure we 
respond to the needs of our communities

2.	 Help people to help themselves where appropriate
3.	 Be corporately responsible by ensuring we meet our ethical, environmental 

and social responsibilities, and that services support our communities to 
develop

4.	 Constantly innovate, to make the best use of our resources to ensure we 
deliver efficient, quality services and eliminate waste

5.	 Make decisions and provide challenge based on data, evidence and learning
6.	 Use the Council’s unique position in the community to encourage and 

support change amongst partners and other agencies
7.	 Put the customer at the heart of what we do, treating people and issues 

fairly, with respect and honesty
8.	 Identify the best way to work, to satisfy customers’ needs, by pushing 

departmental and organisational boundaries

20 Redditch Council Plan 2017-2020

P
age 200

A
genda Item

 8



“We will lead the way
 for the future of reshaped public services, 

enriching the lives of our citizens by 
providing high quality services to all, as well as radically 

improving outcomes for those most in need, by removing 
barriers and solving their underlying problems. 

We will meet our challenging goals 
by designing all of our services from a customer perspective 

accepting that they differ from area to area, 
community to community. 

This approach will enable us to work with partners 
and towards organisational change.  

This includes posing questions around whether we are the 
right people to do what we determine is necessary. 

We will treat our workforce fairly, 
with respect and honesty, engaging their passion 

and talent and growing leaders”.

21Redditch Council Plan 2017-2020

P
age 201

A
genda Item

 8



How we work

CommunityLocal 
Councillors Partners

Strategic Purposes
Corporate Principles Central

Government

Strategies, Plans 
& Policies

Organisational 
& Individual

Performance

Strategic Measures
Demand data  |  Finance data

Partner data

Operational Measures
Enabling Measures

Organisational
Barriers
Budget

Resources
Ownership

Service
Redesign22 Redditch Council Plan 2017-2020

P
age 202

A
genda Item

 8



Partnership Working

In order to deliver our Strategic Purposes we are working differently 
with our partners. We are continuing to work in a more locality and 
place driven way, which helps the Council to understand the differing 
needs of communities within our Borough and how public services can 
support them. Redditch Partnership, the local strategic partnership for 
Redditch Borough, brings together representatives from public, private, 
community and voluntary agencies to work together effectively to 
deliver a range of local projects, services and initiatives.
The Redditch Sustainable Community Strategy, developed by the 
partnership, sets out the four key partnership priorities for the Borough. 
These are:
•	 Health inequalities - with particular focus on smoking, obesity 

alcohol/drugs, and mental health;
•	 Education attainment and raising aspirations of young people;
•	 Developing the economy of Redditch; and leading on 

transformational change of services for citizens in Redditch
This Council Plan contributes to the delivery of these partnership 
priorities and the Redditch Partnership is a key stakeholder in 
developing and supporting new ways of working.

23Redditch Council Plan 2017-2020

P
age 203

A
genda Item

 8



If you need this information in another language or format, 
please contact us to discuss how we can best meet your needs.

Phone: 01527 548284
Email: equalities@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk

We welcome comments: if you would like to share your 
opinions or priorities for Redditch Borough please contact us 

Phone: 01527 548284
Email: policy@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk

“
“

P
age 204

A
genda Item

 8



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

COUNCIL   30th January 2017  

 

 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 17TH JANUARY 2017 
 
70. CORPORATE PERFORMANCE STRATEGY  
 

RECOMMENDED that  
 
the Corporate Performance Strategy attached at Appendix 1 to the 
report be approved. 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 205 Agenda Item 8





REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

Executive 17th January 2017 

 
CORPORATE PERFORMANCE STRATEGY 
 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Councillor John Fisher 

Portfolio Holder Consulted No 

Relevant Head of Service 
Deb Poole, Head of Business 
Transformation 

Ward(s) Affected All 

Ward Councillor(s) Consulted  

 
1. SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS 
 
1.1 To agree the content of the Corporate Performance Strategy, including how performance is 

reported across the Council. 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 Executive is asked to RECOMMEND to the Council  
 
 that the Corporate Performance Strategy attached at Appendix 1 be 

approved. 
 
 
3. KEY ISSUES 

 
Financial Implications 

 
3.1 Effective performance management will enable the Council to use limited 

resources in a more targeted manner, maximising the value of Council services 
and allowing the Council to be even more responsive to our customers’ needs. 

 
Legal Implications 

 
3.2 There are no legal implications arising directly from this report. 
 

Service / Operational Implications 
 
3.3 Using data enables the Council to understand if it is working towards our 

strategic purposes and delivering the priority actions set out in the Council Plan. 
Service areas, working towards the strategic purposes, will be informed by 
measures data, ensuring that everything we do relates to the demands and 
needs of our customers. Operational data will also allow teams to understand 
their day to day performance and react to this. The strategy will support the 
Council and officers to understand the role data plays within the service areas 
and corporately as a whole. 

 
 
 
 

Page 207 Agenda Item 8



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

Executive 17th January 2017 

 
Customer / Equalities and Diversity Implications 

 
3.4 The strategic purposes are all designed to be from our customers’ perspective, 

so relevant and robust performance data will enable us to understand if we are 
delivering what matters to our customers. When approved, performance data will 
be published on the Council’s website. 

 
3.5 There are no equality and diversity implications arising directly from this report; 

however, the importance of understanding how we perform for all of our 
residents is important.  

 
4. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
4.1 By using data to ensure we meet the strategic purposes and deliver on the 

priority actions in the Council Plan, we will support the management of risks 
identified around the delivery of those strategic purposes. The strategy will also 
contribute to the management of risks around robust decision making and the 
accuracy/effectiveness of performance data.   

 
 
5. APPENDICES 

 
Appendix 1 - Corporate Performance Strategy 
 

 
 
 

 
AUTHOR OF REPORT 
 
Name: Rebecca Dunne, Policy Manager 
email: r.dunne@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk 
Tel.: 01527 881616 
  

Page 208 Agenda Item 8



DRAFT 

 

Redditch Borough Council 

Corporate Performance Strategy 

 

2017 
 

 

 

P
age 209

A
genda Item

 8



1. Introduction 

This document sets out Redditch Borough Council’s (RBC) strategy for managing systems performance across the organisation and outlines key building 

blocks to achieving its seven strategic purposes. 

2. Purposes 

Strategic Purposes 

A set of strategic purposes were developed for RBC by the Senior Management Team and Redditch Executive Members. Data gathered from interaction 

with the Council’s services, customer demand data, evidence provided by Redditch Executive and future demographic profiles were used to inform 

these strategic purposes. 

All of this data was used to establish what matters to the customer and to develop a set of strategic purposes that reflect the needs of our community. 

The purposes below outline the Council’s areas of focus and will be used to allocate resources and plan services: 

 Help me to find somewhere to live in my locality  

 Help me run a successful business 

 Help me to financially independent (including education & skills) 

 Help me to live my life independently (including health & activity) 

 Provide good things for me to do, see and visit 

 Keep my place safe and looking good 

 

 

 

 Enable others to work/do what they need to do                               

(to meet their purpose) 

 

The strategic purposes are owned by the Leader of the Council and the Portfolio Holders, supported by the Chief Executive and the Directors, who will 

drive activity within the Council in order to deliver against these purposes. 

Operational Purposes 

Operational Purposes have also been developed for locality, service areas and teams, and reflect how they contribute to what matters to the customer 

or how they enable others to deliver their purposes.   

 

 

P
age 210

A
genda Item

 8



3. The Strategy 

 

Redditch Borough Council is using the systems thinking method to change the way services are delivered to the customer. What do we mean by system? 

This is about looking at what we do from the outside-in or from the customers point of view; it means understanding the points of transaction with our 

customers and the end to end processes that are in place to deliver services. It is the design of the system, and what the people in the system are 

focused on, that results in its performance. 

 

 A culture of customer service- where there is a real desire to deliver what matters to the customer 

 A system management culture- where there is a focus on managing the system to improve performance and using measures as the basis for taking 

action on the system to do things better 

The system thinking review cycle or ‘check-plan-do’ is used to provide data about current system performance so new designs for working can be based 

on knowledge rather than assumption. The ‘check-plan-do’ cycle provides: 

 Data about the current systems so everyone knows how the system performs from the customers perspective 

 Measures that let Members and Senior Managers see how the system is performing and how it might be changed 

 Knowledge about partner organisations and how we work together to provide improved outcomes for the community 

 

The ‘Check-Plan-Do’ Cycle 

Check       What are we doing now? What do our customers want from us (our service 

/organisation)? What does demand data tell us? What measures do we have? 

Plan ‘Trial’ new system designs based on data gathered during check. Use measures to 

establish if the new designs are working. 

Do Implement the successful trial and make normal by rolling in to the new system. 

Finalise measures 

This is a continuous cycle. Once a successful trial is implemented it is important for a service to 

continually review performance through data and measures. 

 

P
age 211

A
genda Item

 8



4. Organisational Culture 

The right organisational culture is critical to improving the effectiveness of the system, although it can be difficult to change the culture of an 

organisation.  There needs to by an ‘outside in’ perspective, where the culture is led by the customer. To achieve this, services should be designed 

against demand and what matters to the customer, rather than historical practices which could be perpetuating waste in the system. This needs to 

happen alongside a continuous learning environment which understands what is truly happening in the system and uses fact and data to react 

accordingly. To enable the organisation to work to purpose the principles developed through learning need to be followed. 

Managerial Leadership 

Managers must make sure that they base system management decisions on performance measures and data. Through their own behaviour and actions, 

managers must: 

 Model the behaviours associated with a systems thinking organisation 

 Ensure their teams are working to deliver purpose 

 

 Use performance measures to improve the system 

 Allow staff the space and time for learning and development

Individuals and the System 

The aim of one to one support and mentoring is to work together to constructively challenge, solve problems and improve the system. There needs to 

be a focus on managing the system as well as managing people, with decisions based on fact and data. This does not mean losing the focus on the 

individual’s wellbeing or on the individual; if the system is improved the person will naturally do so as well. 

Political Leadership 

The role of all Councillors, especially those with Executive, Portfolio or Scrutiny responsibilities, is vital if systems are to be well managed. Members’ 

strategic role is vital in ensuring the organisation focuses on the right things. To do this effectively, Members must be aware of measures and what 

they tell us about performance to ensure that strategic purposes are being met. Portfolio Holders in particular need to work with officers, using 

performance measures to understand and improve the system. Members more generally should bring local knowledge into the organisation to help to 

formulate a wider view of what matters to our communities. 

 

 

 

P
age 212

A
genda Item

 8



5. The Data Flow 

The diagram below explains how data should flow to and from our communities and how this data should be used                                                         

across the organisation to improve the system. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Performance 
121’s, Appraisals & PDR’s 
Performance Framework 
DMTs 
Staff Briefings 
Staff Surveys 
Leadership Development 
Skills/training, coaching 
 

Strategies, Plans & 
Policies 
Council Plan 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
Finance & Growth Strategy 
Risk Strategy 
Economic Development 
Strategy 
Local Plan 
Housing Strategy 
HR/OD Plan 
Workforce Plan 
Training Plan 
Corporate Performance 
Strategy 
Engagement Strategy 
Equalities Strategy 

 

System 
Conditions 
Ownership- 
responsibility 
Priority- do-able, 
budget 
Impact- cost, 
capacity to fix, 
common need 
Validation 
Resourcing 

 

Community 

Strategic Measures (defined & validated) 
Demand- all demand (complex, simple & hidden) 
Partners- Tier Two data, Early Help, business start-ups 
Finance- costs (locality, Connecting Families)- who pays?, savings- who makes them? 

Interventions 
(strategic & operational) 

System Redesign(s) 

Members 

LSP (External Partners) 

Operational & Enabling Measures (defined & validated) 
Demand- value/preventable, type & frequency 
End to end times 
Customer- complaints/compliments 
Employees- sickness, turnover, headcount, disciplinaries, grievances, staff survey 
Finance- costs (operational, capital, locality, place), grants, savings 

 

Strategic Purposes 
Help me to find somewhere to live in my locality 

Help me run a successful business 
Help me to financially independent 

Help me to live my life independently 
Provide good things for me to do, see and visit 

Keep my place safe and looking good 
Enabling 

 

Corporate Principles 

Simple system 

conditions 

Central Government 

P
age 213

A
genda Item

 8



6. Measures and Data Quality 

 

If data is not accurate and of good quality it can undermine attempts to use performance measures to improve the system. Both data and measures 

should be: 

 

 Relevant: to purpose 

 Well defined: clear and unambiguous, so data will be collected consistently and the measure is easy to use and understand 

 Timely: producing information regularly enough to track progress and quickly enough for the data still to be useful 

 Reliable:  accurate enough for its intended use and responsive enough to change 

 Verifiable: data collection can be validated and others can test that this is an accurate measure of performance 

 Accurate: data should be sufficiently accurate for their intended purpose 

 

7. Dashboard 

        

The Redditch Dashboard is how we will record, review and 

report our measures. It has been designed to allow both 

the easy input of data and clear and customisable access 

to that data. 

It supports: 

 Strategic Measures- structured by Council and 

Strategic Purpose (including Enabling) 

 Operational Measures- structured by team, 

service area or locality but used across the whole 

system 

 Wider demographic data & useful reports- 

structured by council, Strategic Purpose and 

general demographics 

 

P
age 214

A
genda Item

 8



Roles, Responsibilities & Ownership 

The measures on the Dashboard will be updated by officers who use the data and comment will need to be added by officers or managers who own 

and understand that data. Managers and Heads of Service need to understand the measures to confirm that the data and commentary is accurate and 

appropriate. They will also need to review the Dashboard regularly to ensure that it is up-to-date. Directors, as owners of the strategic purposes, will 

need to have a clear understanding of the measures that contribute to each purpose.  

8. Reporting to Members 

         

                        

 

Dashboard & 
highlight report 

Portfolio 
Holders 

Executive 

O & S 

B
i-

m
o

n
th

ly
 

Q
 

The Dashboard is the main tool for understanding and 

reporting our measures.  

Corporate Management Team (CMT) monitor 

measures on the Dashboard and will decide on a focus 

for bi-monthly reporting to Executive, based on the 

data. Portfolio Holders will then be briefed on the 

measures relevant to their responsibilities prior to 

Executive. 

A bi-monthly report for Executive will be produced by 

the Policy Team highlighting the key areas identified 

by CMT. This report also contains key organisational 

measures as standard. This report will compliment the 

use of the Dashboard. 

The Policy Team will produce a quarterly report for 

Overview & Scrutiny (O & S), which will also be used in 

conjunction with the dashboard. 

 

     CMT P
age 215

A
genda Item

 8



9. Sharing our Data 

The Council, through projects such as Connecting Families, will need to share data with partners. Partner data is also key for understanding whether 

we are meeting our strategic purposes. 

The Council will make financial and performance information available to the public through a web based version of the Dashboard. It is important that 

information be made available through different channels and in different formats. The key is that it needs to be accessible, relevant and meaningful. 

10.  Financial Efficiency 

 

There is a close link between system performance and financial efficiency. By ensuring the system is as waste free as possible costs will be reduced. It 

is important for the Council and its partners to understand what the true cost of service is and to ensure the Council is focusing its resources on 

delivering against strategic purpose. 

 

11.  IT Systems 

IT Systems are well placed to provide support for the delivery of strategic purposes and should be designed to support what is identified in the ‘check-

plan-do’ cycle. Good IT systems should be designed against the new ways of working and should: 

 Provide automation if that is needed in the new design 

 Enable easier sharing across services and with partners 

 Support new ways of doing things by enabling better analysis of 

data and data capture

 

12.  Role of Policy Team 

The Policy Team will: 

 Maintain the Dashboard and support its future development 

 Support officers, teams and managers to develop measures and, 

if  appropriate, support the development of data capture 

 Produce bi-monthly reports to Executive 

 Produce quarterly reports to O & S 

 Provide analysis of measures, data and demographics, as required 

 Coordinate the development and ultimately collation and analysis 

of address level data 

 Update the demographic & other useful data section 

 Act as a ‘critical friend’ for the measures

 

P
age 216

A
genda Item

 8



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

COUNCIL   30th January 2017  

 

 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 17TH JANUARY 2017 
 
 
71. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT INITIAL BUDGET 2017/18 – 2019/20 
 
 
 RECOMMENDED that 
 

1) the draft 2017/2018 budget for the Housing Revenue Account 
attached to the report at Appendix A be approved; 

 
2) the three year budget projections 2017/18 to 2019/20 

incorporating the 1% rent reduction be approved; 
 

3) the actual average rent decrease for 2017/2018 be 1%; and 
 

4) £780,614 be transferred to the capital reserve in 2017/18 to 
fund the future Capital Programme and/or repay borrowing. 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 217 Agenda Item 8





REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE  17

th
 January 2017 

 

 

 

[HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BUDGET  2017/18 to 2019/20 
  

Relevant Portfolio Holder  Councillor Mark Shurmer, Portfolio 
Holder for Housing 

Portfolio Holder Consulted  Yes 

Relevant Head of Service Jayne Pickering, Director Finance & 
Resources 
Liz Tompkin, Head of Housing 

Wards Affected All Wards  

Ward Councillor Consulted N/A 

Key Decision  

 
1. SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS 
 
 To present Members with the Initial Budget for the Housing Revenue 

Account and the proposed dwelling rents for 2017/2018. 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 The Committee is asked to RECOMMEND that 
 

1) the draft 2017/2018 Budget for the Housing Revenue Account 
attached to the report at Appendix A, be approved; 
 

2) the three year budget projections 2017/18 to 2019/20, 
incorporating the 1% rent reduction be approved; 

  
3) the actual average rent decrease for 2017/2018 be 1%  
 

 
4) that £780,614 be transferred to the capital  reserve in 2017/18  

to fund the future Capital Programme and/or  repay 
borrowing. 

 
 

3. KEY ISSUES 
 
 Financial Implications   
 
3.1 This report only considers those items included in the Housing 

Revenue Account (HRA).  General Fund items will be considered 
separately when setting the Council Tax. 

 
3.2 The rent increase that would have applied in 2017/18, if it were not for 

the Welfare Reform and Work Bill, would have been 2 %, the 
September CPI being 1%.   In 2017/18 there is a loss of rent income of 

Page 219 Agenda Item 8



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE  17

th
 January 2017 

 

 

 

£1.26 million compared with the HRA Business Plan model (rents 
going down by 1% rather than increased by 2%).    Over a 30 year 
period the loss of rent income is estimated at £120.873 million.  This 
will have a significant negative impact on the HRA Business Plan.   The 
rent income lost is almost the same as the £122.158 million debt.     

 
3.3 The system of housing revenue account subsidy ceased on the 31st 

March 2012 and was replaced with a devolved system of council 
housing finance called self-financing.  The proposal in the form of a 
financial settlement meant a redistribution of the ‘national’ housing 
debt.  This resulted in the Council borrowing £98.929 million from the 
PWLB. 

  
3.4 Self-financing has placed a limit (Debt Cap) on borrowing for housing 

purposes at the closing position for 2011/12.  This is set at £122.158 
million.  The figures at Appendix A allow for the payment of interest on 
this sum.   

 
3.5 In May 2014 the Government produced a paper on Guidance on Rents 

for Social Housing and from 2015/16 rents in the social sector were to 
increase annually by CPI plus 1% for 10 years.   

 
3.6 Government policy has subsequently changed and from 1st April 2016, 

as per the Welfare Reform and Work Bill, rents within the social 
housing sector are to be decreased by 1% each year for the next 4 
years.  This decrease is to take place on the 1st April for 2016, 2017, 
2018 and 2019.  This will be the second year of a 1% rent reduction. 

 
3.7 There has also been an increased number of right to buys reducing 

rent income to the HRA.  The overall impact is that the over the next 4 
years the contribution to the capital reserve for capital investment/debt 
repayment will reduce from £3.000 million in 2015/16 to £2.35 million 
(2016/17), £0.78m (2017/18).  Then zero in (2018/19).   By 2018/19 the 
HRA will need to find savings or additional income of £0.240m to 
balance the account.  It is unlikely that the Council will be in a position 
to repay the debt within the 30 year plan but it will have the base 
budget to pay for the interest. 

 
 2017/18 
 
3.9 This section of the report outlines the major issues which have an 

impact upon the Housing Revenue Account budget setting process for 
2017/18. 

 
3.10 Based on the proposed legislative changes the actual average rent 

decrease for 2017/18 will be 1%.  The average rent on a 52 week basis 
will be £78.63 for 52 weeks or £85.18 on a 48 week basis.  This 

Page 220 Agenda Item 8



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE  17

th
 January 2017 

 

 

 

compares to the actual average for 2015/16 on a 52 week basis of 
£79.42 and £86.04 on a 48 week basis.  See Appendix B for examples 
of rent by property type. 

 
3.11 The impact of the 1% rent reduction over four years has a significant 

negative impact on the HRA.   For this reason the HRA projected 
budget for the four years 2016/17 to 2019/20 has been included in 
Appendix A.  This identifies that by 2018/19 savings or additional 
income of £0.240m will be required to balance the account. 

 
3.12 New housing stock through the right to buy one for one replacement 

scheme will help balance the account and work is currently being 
undertaken to explore the extent that this can be maximised.   

 
3.13 The introduction/extension of services charges may also provide an 

opportunity to increase income to the HRA.  If this is an existing service 
current tenants would be protected until there is a change in tenancy. 

 
 Capital Resources 
 
3.14 In April 2013 the Government gave local authorities the option to retain 

these receipts in agreement that they would be used to replace the 
sales with either new build, buy back of properties or purchase on the 
open market (new stock).  In the case where these receipts are not 
used then the Council will have to pay a back the capital receipts to the 
Government together with interest at 4% above base rate.  Redditch 
has opted to retain the receipts. 

 
 
3.17 The introduction of the Major Repairs Allowance from April 2001 

provided the Council with additional capital resources. Following the 
introduction of self-financing the Council is able to continue to use this 
amount for a transitional period of 5 years.  The figure has been 
adjusted for the reduction in stock and uplifted by CPI in line with the 
rents.  The figure for 2016/17 is £5.854 million. 

 
3.18 The transitional period for the Major Repairs Allowance expires at the 

end of 2016/17 and it will be replaced from 2017/18 by component 
depreciation.  Component depreciation is similar to a sinking fund 
where money is set aside annually so that there is enough to replace 
key components when required.   The key components being 
bathroom, kitchen, roof, wiring, boiler, central heating system, windows 
and structure.   An exercise has been undertaken to calculate the 
potential impact of component depreciation and it is estimated that it 
will increase the cost, compared with major repairs allowance, by 
£0.258 million.   However, this should ensure that sufficient resources 

Page 221 Agenda Item 8



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE  17

th
 January 2017 

 

 

 

are then set aside to meet future investment requirements.   The cost is 
built into the four year projection attached as Appendix A. 

 
 Housing Repairs Account 
 
3.19 The budgeted contribution to the Housing Repairs Account as shown at 

Appendix A is £5.037 million for 2017/18, including inflationary 
increases where appropriate. 

 
 Right to Buy Scheme – Rent Income 
 
3.20 In 2014/15 41 council homes were sold, from 1st April 2015 to 1st 

December 2016 53 council homes have been sold.   The budget and 
four year forecast assumes 70 right to buys per annum and this 
equates to a rent loss of £0.315 million per annum. Over four years the 
rent loss totals nearly £1.260 million. 

  
Housing Revenue Account Balances 

 
3.21 The Section 151 Officer has previously advised Members on the 

minimum level of revenue balances to be maintained in lieu of 
unforeseen events affecting the Housing Revenue Account and the 
Council’s housing stock.  Members have previously approved the 
retention of a minimum balance of £0.600 million. 

 
3.22 The figures shown in Appendix A indicate that the estimated balances 

will be £1.476m throughout the four year plan.  
 
 Legal Implications 
 
3.23 Section 76 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 requires 

that the Council sets its budget relating to the Housing Revenue 
Account such that the account does not plan to be in a deficit position. 

 
3.24 Section 21 of the Welfare and Reform Bill part 1 requires ‘In relation to 

each relevant year, registered providers of social housing must secure 
that the amount of rent payable in respect of that relevant year by a 
tenant of their social housing in England is at least 1% less than the 
amount of rent that was payable by the tenant in respect of the 
preceding 12 months.’   

 
 
 
 Service/Operational Implications 
 
3.25 The Council needs to approve the rents in a timely manner in order to 

allow officer time to notify the tenants of the annual rent.  

Page 222 Agenda Item 8



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE  17

th
 January 2017 

 

 

 

 Tenants must have 28 calendar days’ notice of any change to their 
rent charge. 

 
 Customer/Equalities and Diversity Implications 
 
3.26 The rent decrease will be applied by the same percentage regardless 

of property size.  The 2016/17 Budget provides for continuity of existing 
services but the four year forecast estimates that base budget 
savings/additional income of £0.610m will be required by 2019/20.   
The equality and diversity implications of the changes will be evaluated 
and considered as part of the decision making process. 

 
4. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
4.1 There is a risk to the HRA Capital Programme if sufficient resources do 

not exist within the Housing Revenue Account to provide funding now 
that the Council is unable to borrow to fund the housing capital 
programme.  This risk reduces with the introduction of component 
depreciation and changes to the estimated life of components prove 
inaccurate 

 
4.2 The risk continues to be recorded in the Risk Register for the Council. 
 
5. APPENDICES 
 
 Appendix A – Housing Revenue Account Budget 2017/18 

Appendix B – Examples of rent by property type 
 
6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
 None. 
 
AUTHOR OF REPORT 
 
Name:     Emma Cartwright 
Email:     emma.cartwright@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk 
Tel:     01527 64252 
 
Name: Sam Morgan 
E Mail: sam.morgan@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk  
Tel: 01527 587088 
 
 

Page 223 Agenda Item 8

mailto:emma.cartwright@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk
mailto:sam.morgan@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk




Appendix A

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Budget Budget Budget Budget

INCOME

Dwelling Rents 24,056,000 23,387,280 22,685,660 22,005,090

Non-Dwelling Rents 485,000 499,000 499,000 499,000

Tenants' Charges for Services & Facilities 631,590 591,330 598,885 606,645

Contributions towards Expenditure 53,580 53,580 53,580 53,580

Total Income 25,226,170 24,531,190 23,837,125 23,164,315

EXPENDITURE

Repairs & Maintenance 4,779,000 5,036,730 5,101,140 5,160,640

Supervision & Management 6,866,660 7,352,730 7,435,300 7,523,790

Rent, Rates, Taxes & Other Charges 188,650 188,650 188,650 188,650

Provision for Bad Debts 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000

Depreciation & Impairment of Fixed Assets 5,854,240 5,596,536 5,634,661 5,669,936

Interest Payable & Debt Management Costs 4,178,930 4,178,930 4,178,930 4,178,930

Total Expenditure 22,267,480 22,753,576 22,938,681 23,121,946

Net cost of Services -2,958,690 -1,777,614 -898,444 -42,369

Provision for Job Evaluation 300,000 0 0 0

Net Operating Expenditure -2,658,690 -1,777,614 -898,444 -42,369

Interest Receivable -58,000 -53,000 -54,000 -53,000

Revenue Contribution to Capital Outlay 369,370 1,050,000 1,071,000 1,092,420

Levy re high value stock 0 0 117,320 117,320

Transfer to Earmarked Reserves 2,347,320 780,614

(Surplus)/Deficit on Services 0 0 235,876 1,114,371

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BALANCE

Surplus as at 1st April 2016 1,476,100 1,476,100

Surplus/(deficit) for year 2016/17 0

Surplus as at 31st March 2017 1,476,100

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA) DRAFT

Page 225 Agenda Item 8





Property Address 
 Current 

Rent 
48 

weeks 
52 

weeks 
This Year’s Weekly 

Decrease 

Bedsit 

Salters Lane Batchley £65.01 £64.36 £59.41 £0.65 

Winslow Close Winyates East £62.00 £61.38 £56.66 £0.62 

Malvern House Headless Cross £67.40 £66.73 £61.59 £0.67 

1 Bedroom Bungalow 

Ilmington Close Matchborough £81.79 £80.98 £74.75 £0.82 

Sandhurst Close Church Hill £86.27 £85.41 £78.84 £0.86 

1 Bedroom Flat 

Fownhope Close Winyates Wes £72.25 £71.53 £66.03 £0.72 

Neville Close Abbeydale £72.51 £71.78 £66.26 £0.73 

High Trees Close Oakenshaw £76.10 £75.34 £69.54 £0.76 

Bushley Close Woodrow £75.25 £74.50 £68.77 £0.75 

2 Bedroom House 

Arley Close Church Hill £89.27 £88.38 £81.58 £0.89 

Netherfield Greenlands £90.01 £89.11 £82.26 £0.90 

2 Bedroom Flat 

Fownhope Close Winyates Wes £78.53 £77.74 £71.76 £0.79 

Poplar Road Batchley £84.51 £83.66 £77.23 £0.85 

Lygon Close Abbeydale £80.51 £79.70 £73.57 £0.81 

Woodrow Centre Woodrow £80.00 £79.20 £73.11 £0.80 

3 Bedroom 

Loxley Close Church Hill £95.52 £94.56 £87.29 £0.96 

Eathorpe Close Matchborough £111.29 £110.17 £101.70 £1.11 

Salters Lane Batchley £98.78 £97.79 £90.27 £0.99 

4 Bedroom 

Langley Close Matchborough £104.51 £103.47 £95.51 £1.05 

Willow Way Batchley £100.51 £99.51 £91.85 £1.01 

Bushley Close Woodrow £98.01 £97.03 £89.57 £0.98 

Upperfield Close Church Hill £101.76 £100.74 £92.99 £1.02 

5 Bedroom 

Rushock Close Woodrow £104.51 £103.47 £95.51 £1.05 

Heronfield Close Church Hill £108.02 £106.94 £98.71 £1.08 

Farnborough Close Matchborough £107.27 £106.19 £98.03 £1.07 

6 Bedroom 

Barnwood Close Church Hill £135.96 £134.60 £124.24 £1.36 

Longdon Close Woodrow £128.74 £127.45 £117.65 £1.29 

7 Bedroom 

Beoley Rd Lakeside £137.72 £136.34 £125.85 £1.38 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 227 Agenda Item 8



Property Address 
 

Current 
Rent 

48 
weeks 

52 
weeks 

This 
Years 

Weekly 
Decrease 

Previous 
Years 

Weekly 
Decrease 

Cumulative Decrease 
2015-2017 

Bedsit     

Salters Lane Batchley £65.01 £64.36 £59.41 £0.65 £0.66 £1.31 

Winslow Close Winyates East £62.00 £61.38 £56.66 £0.62 £0.63 £1.25 

Malvern House Headless Cross £67.40 £66.73 £61.59 £0.67 £0.68 £1.35 

1 Bedroom Bungalow     

Ilmington Close Matchborough £81.79 £80.98 £74.75 £0.82 £0.83 £1.64 

Sandhurst Close Church Hill £86.27 £85.41 £78.84 £0.86 £0.87 £1.73 

1 Bedroom Flat     

Fownhope Close Winyates Wes £72.25 £71.53 £66.03 £0.72 £0.73 £1.45 

Neville Close Abbeydale £72.51 £71.78 £66.26 £0.73 £0.73 £1.46 

High Trees Close Oakenshaw £76.10 £75.34 £69.54 £0.76 £0.77 £1.53 

Bushley Close Woodrow £75.25 £74.50 £68.77 £0.75 £0.76 £1.51 

2 Bedroom House     

Arley Close Church Hill £89.27 £88.38 £81.58 £0.89 £0.90 £1.79 

Netherfield Greenlands £90.01 £89.11 £82.26 £0.90 £0.91 £1.81 

2 Bedroom Flat     

Fownhope Close Winyates Wes £78.53 £77.74 £71.76 £0.79 £0.79 £1.58 

Poplar Road Batchley £84.51 £83.66 £77.23 £0.85 £0.85 £1.70 

Lygon Close Abbeydale £80.51 £79.70 £73.57 £0.81 £0.81 £1.62 

Woodrow Centre Woodrow £80.00 £79.20 £73.11 £0.80 £0.81 £1.61 

3 Bedroom     

Loxley Close Church Hill £95.52 £94.56 £87.29 £0.96 £0.96 £1.92 

Eathorpe Close Matchborough £111.29 £110.17 £101.70 £1.11 £1.12 £2.24 

Salters Lane Batchley £98.78 £97.79 £90.27 £0.99 £1.00 £1.99 

4 Bedroom     

Langley Close Matchborough £104.51 £103.47 £95.51 £1.05 £1.06 £2.10 

Willow Way Batchley £100.51 £99.51 £91.85 £1.01 £1.02 £2.02 

Bushley Close Woodrow £98.01 £97.03 £89.57 £0.98 £0.99 £1.97 

Upperfield Close Church Hill £101.76 £100.74 £92.99 £1.02 £1.03 £2.05 

5 Bedroom     

Rushock Close Woodrow £104.51 £103.47 £95.51 £1.05 £1.06 £2.10 

Heronfield Close Church Hill £108.02 £106.94 £98.71 £1.08 £1.09 £2.17 

Farnborough Close Matchborough £107.27 £106.19 £98.03 £1.07 £1.08 £2.16 

6 Bedroom     

Barnwood Close Church Hill £135.96 £134.60 £124.24 £1.36 £1.37 £2.73 

Longdon Close Woodrow £128.74 £127.45 £117.65 £1.29 £1.30 £2.59 

7 Bedroom     

Beoley Rd Lakeside £137.72 £136.34 £125.85 £1.38 £1.39 £2.77 

 

Page 228 Agenda Item 8



 

 
 

Overview 

and Scrutiny 

Committee 

  

 

Tuesday, 10th January, 2017 

 

 

 Chair 
 

1 

 

MINUTES Present: 

  
Councillor Jane Potter (Chair), Councillor Gay Hopkins (Vice-Chair) and 
Councillors Tom Baker-Price, Matthew Dormer, Andrew Fry, 
Paul Swansborough, Jennifer Wheeler and Nina Wood-Ford 
 

 Officers: 
 

 Rebecca Dunn, Sue Hanley, Sam Morgan, Liz Tompkin and Deb Poole.  
 

 Democratic Services Officers: 
 

 J Bayley and A Scarce 

 
MINUTE EXTRACT 
 
 
 

59. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 2017/18 - PRE-SCRUTINY  
 
Officers presented the Housing Revenue Account Budget 2017/18 
to 2019/20 report and in so doing highlighted the following:- 
 

 This was an annual report considered by the Executive 
Committee and full Council.  The report only considered those 
items included in the Housing Revenue Account (HRA). 

 The three year budget projections included the 1% rent 
reduction. 

 Over a 30 year period the loss of rental income was estimated 
at £120.873m. 

 The 1% increase gave an average rent on a 52 week basis of 
£78.63 or £85.18 on a 48 week basis. 

 During 2014/15 41 council houses were sold under the right to 
buy scheme. For the period 1st April 2015 to 1st December 
2016 53 houses had been sold.   

 The budget and four year forecast assumed 70 right to buys 
per annum which equated to a rent loss of £0.315m per 
annum.  In total this represented nearly £1.260m rent loss 
over the four year period. 

 
During consideration of the report Members raised a number of 
points to which Officers responded.  These included: 

Page 229 Agenda Item 8



   

Overview and 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

 
 

 

 

Tuesday, 10th January, 2017 

 

 

 The significant decrease in the net cost of services.  Officers 
provided a detailed explanation as to the methodology behind 
this. 

 The provision for bad debts and what actions were taken to 
reduce or recover these.  Officers confirmed that this was 
reviewed annually and discussed in detail with the Auditors.  
Bad debts had decreased significantly in recent years. 

 The criteria which was used by the Council when purchasing a 
house on the open market.  Officers explained that unless a 
house was being sourced for a particular family the average 
purchasing price considered was £130-140,000.  Dependent 
on the property’s condition the Council would not wish to 
spend more than £15,000 in order to bring a house up to the 
standards required for a local authority property. 

 
Members discussed a number of options in respect of replenishing 
the Council’s house stock and whether consideration had been 
given to the Council building its own houses as opposed to linking 
into housing schemes via developers.  Officers explained that a 
number of options would be considered in the future, however the 
Council was in the process of purchasing nine houses on the open 
market to ensure the right to buy receipts were allocated in the 
appropriate timescales.   In 2015/16 five properties had been 
purchased, by the end of 2016/17 it was expected that the Council 
would have purchased fifteen properties and in 2017/18 Officers 
were anticipating that the Council would purchase 47 properties.   
The Housing, Strategic Housing and Planning teams were in 
discussions to ensure that all options were considered.  This 
included the development of a number of pieces of land which were 
owned by the local authority and working with a housing association 
or the Council developing its own properties. 
 
RECOMMENDED that  
 
1) the draft 2017/18 Budget for the Housing Revenue Account 

attached to the report at Appendix A, be approved; 
 

2) the three year budget projections 2017/18 to 2019/20, 
incorporating the 1% rent reduction be approved; 

 
3) the actual average recent decrease for 2017/18 be 1%; and 
 
 
 

Page 230 Agenda Item 8



   

Overview and 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

 
 

 

 

Tuesday, 10th January, 2017 

 

4) that £780,614 be transferred to the capital reserve in 
2017/18 to fund the future Capital Programme and / or repay 
borrowing. 

 
 

The Meeting commenced at 7.00 pm 
and closed at 8.53 pm 

Page 231 Agenda Item 8





REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

COUNCIL   30th January 2017  

 

 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 17TH JANUARY 2017 
 
 
72. COUNCIL HOUSING GROWTH PROGRAMME 
 
 
 RECOMMENDED that 
 

the capital budget agreed for ‘Buy back’ and Mortgage Rescue 
Scheme be named the Council Housing Growth Programme and 
increased to £12.5m for a 3 year period, to be funded from HRA 
Capital Receipts and Reserves. 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 233 Agenda Item 8





REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE                17th January 2017 
 
COUNCIL HOUSING GROWTH PROGRAMME  
 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Councillor Mark Shurmer 

Portfolio Holder Consulted  Yes  

Relevant Head of Service Liz Tompkin / Judith Willis 

Wards Affected All  

Ward Councillor Consulted No 

 
 
1. SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS 

 
1.1 The Executive Committee resolved on the 12 January 2016 that 

officers bring back to the Executive Committee a report setting out the 
available options in light of the implications on the Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA), such options to include, amongst others, further details 
in relation to the Council’s previously successful Mortgage Rescue and 
Buy Back Schemes.  

 
1.2 This report identifies a number of options for the Council to take in 

increasing the housing stock of the Council and to mitigate against the 
impacts of changes to the HRA and meet affordable housing need in 
the Borough. 
 

1.3 Currently the Council increases its stock through the ‘buy back’ 
scheme and the Mortgage Rescue scheme. These schemes only 
deliver a limited numbers of properties to the HRA.  
 

1.4 The Council currently has significant resources in its HRA capital 
reserve and these resources provide an opportunity for the Council to 
add to its housing stock generating rental income, increase the Council 
Tax base and new homes bonus. 
 

1.5 The options to increase housing stock identified by Officers are set out 
in the report.  
 

1.6 The Councils HRA business plan identifies an initial programme of 109 
units required by the end of 2018/19 and then a programme of 13 units 
per year from 2019/20. 

 
1.7 The Council has a small number of sites in Auxerre Avenue, Clifton 

Close, Loxley Close and Fladbury Close that have been declared 
surplus that could be used for new HRA stock but more land will be 
required to meet the identified programme and an evaluation of Council 
owned land will be required.  

 

Page 235 Agenda Item 8



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE                17th January 2017 
 
1.8 This report seeks the approval from members to develop a Council 

Housing Growth programme through the delivery of commissioning 
new build housing and other measures outlined in Appendix 1. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
The Committee is asked to RECOMMEND that 
 
2.1 The capital budget agreed for ‘Buy back’ and Mortgage Rescue 

Scheme be named the Council Housing Growth Programme and 
increased to £12.5m for a 3 year period and used for the following 
options  

 To purchase properties; 

 Commission the construction of new HRA stock 

 Purchase units from developers through S106 bidding; 

 Purchase properties “off plan” on developments 

 regenerate existing housing stock 

 purchase stock from other Registered Providers 

 buy backs and mortgage rescue schemes 
 

 
Subject to the Council agreeing the recommendation at 2.1 above, the 
Committee is asked to RESOLVE that; 
 
2.2 The strategic approach  (Appendix 1) be approved and the 

Council undertakes a Council Housing Growth Programme 
implementing all the following options : 

 Purchasing properties; 

 commissioning the construction of housing stock 

 purchasing units from developers through S106 bidding; 

 purchasing properties “off plan” on developments; 

 regenerating existing housing stock; 

 purchasing stock from other Registered Providers; 

 buy backs and mortgage rescue schemes 
 

 
2.3 All financial and development appraisals proposed for the 

construction of new stock be taken through the Executive 
Committee for approval; 
 

2.4 Authority be delegated to the Head of Housing, following 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Housing, to appoint the 
necessary delivery agents for commissioning the construction of 
new HRA stock from the Council Housing Growth Programme 
budget. 
 

Page 236 Agenda Item 8



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE                17th January 2017 
 
2.5 Officers to explore the merits of developing a housing 

company/development body as part of our housing growth 
approach  
 

3. KEY ISSUES 
 
 Financial Implications    

 
3.1 The HRA Business Plan has been reviewed and presented to 

members on the 12 January 16 and approved by Council on 25 
January 2016. The Table below shows the funding approved by 
Council for the ‘buy back’ and mortgage rescue scheme. 

  

£m 
Capital 

Receipts 
Capital 
reserve 

Total 

2016/17 0.316 0.736 1.052 

2017/18 0.319 0.745 1.064 

TOTAL 0.635 1.481 2.116 

 
3.3 The table below shows the current maintained receipts and the date 

these must be used by or returned to central government to include 
interest payments. These receipts must be used to replace the sales 
with either new build, buy back of properties or purchase on the open 
market (new stock).  

 
RTB retained 

reciept 
Capital 

Reserve 
Total Date by 

Cumulative 
Spend 

£245,300 £572,367 £817,667 31/03/2017  

£137,202 £320,137 £457,339 30/06/2017 £1,275,006 

£162,406 £378,948 £541,354 30/09/2017 £1,816,360 

£23,022 £53,719 £76,741 31/03/2018 £1,893,101 

£64,083 £149,526 £213,609 30/09/2018 £2,106,710 

£267,418 £623,974 £891,392 31/12/2018 £2,998,102 

£374,761 £874,442 £1,249,203 31/03/2019 £4,247,304 

£390,270 £910,631 £1,300,901 30/06/2019 £5,548,205 

£425,628 £993,132 £1,418,760 30/09/2019 £6,966,965 

 
3.4 Officers have estimated the number of properties each year that are 

required to meet the revised HRA Business Plan. The costing in the 

Page 237 Agenda Item 8



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE                17th January 2017 
 

table below relates the estimated cost of building new houses to meet 
this number. 

  

£m 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 

New 
Stock 
Numbers 

15 47 47 13 13 13 13 13 13 

Funding (£m) 

Capital 
Reserve 

1.2 3.7 3.8 1.0 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.2 

Capital 
Receipts 

0.5 1.6 1.6 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 

Total 1.7 5.3 5.4 1.5 1.6 1.6 1.6 1.6 1.7 

 
3.5      There are currently sufficient uncommitted HRA capital resources 

available without impacting upon other housing investment priorities to 
fund this programme and without the need for prudential borrowing at 
this time for a Council Housing Growth Programme. 

 
3.6 Approval is therefore sought to create a 3 year Council Housing 

Growth Programme to include the ‘Buy Back’ and MRS scheme and 
£12.5m should be set aside from the HRA capital reserve and capital 
receipts. 

 
3.7 Any money spent on obtaining stock for the HRA will be protected by 

the cost floor rule if a tenant summits a Right to Buy application for the 
property.  This rule will be in force for a 15 year period from the date 
the Council obtains the property. 

 
 Legal Implications 

 
3.7 The Housing Act 1985 Part II section 9 permits a local authority to 

build/acquire new housing.  
 
3.8 Sites may be required to be appropriated under s.122 of the Local 

Government Act 1972 or s.232 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.   

 
3.9 If the report is approved, there will be some additions to the 

delegations to the Head of Housing to implement the programme.  
Most of the functions involved are already covered in the existing 

Page 238 Agenda Item 8



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE                17th January 2017 
 

scheme of delegation as part of managing the housing service and the 
exceptions are set out in the recommendations to the Committee. 
 

 Service / Operational Implications  
 

3.9 The Councils HRA business plan identifies an initial programme of 109 
units required by the end of 2018/19 and then a programme of 13 units 
per year from 2019/20.  

 
3.10 Currently the Council only has the ‘Buy Back’ and Mortgage Rescue 

scheme to acquire new units of accommodation and this does not 
provide the numbers that have been identified. 

 
3.11 In order to achieve the increase in stock officers have completed a 

strategic response (Appendix 1) and have identified a number of 
options that members may consider appropriate for the Council to 
undertake. These are as follows: 

 

 Purchase properties  

 Commissioning the construction of new HRA stock 

 Purchase units from developers through s.106 bidding 

 Purchase properties ‘off plan’ on developments 

 Regeneration of existing stock 

 Purchase stock from other Registered Providers 

 Buy backs and Mortgage Rescue scheme 
 
 3.12 Officer proposed that all options should be undertaken in increasing 

HRA stock to ensure proposed numbers are achieved. 
 
3.13  The delivery of a Council Housing Growth programme will provide a 

key delivery mechanism in meeting a number of the Council’s strategic 
priorities, primarily:- 

 

 Help me find somewhere to live in my locality  

 Help me live my life independently (incl health and activity) 

 Help me to be financially independent (including education & 
skills) 

 
3.14 There is significant housing need in the Borough with the Strategic 

Housing Market Assessment identifying a net annual need of over 250 
units per year. Officers will also look at the opportunity to deliver 
specialised housing to enable people to remain independent. The table 
below shows that there is need for all sizes of properties and officers 
will consider these demands when considering proposals. 

 
 

Page 239 Agenda Item 8



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE                17th January 2017 
 

Total households on the housing 
waiting list at 1st April 2016 

1402 

Households requiring 1 bedroom              869 

Households requiring 2 bedrooms            292 

Households requiring 3 bedrooms 157 

Households requiring more than 3 
bedrooms 

84 

 
 
  Customer / Equalities and Diversity Implications  

 
3.15 Increasing the Council’s housing stock will assist in the provision of 

affordable housing in the Borough to meet housing need. 
 
3.16 In commissioning the construction of new HRA stock the Council will 

be able to provide housing that can meet specific needs for adapted 
properties. 

 
4. RISK MANAGEMENT    

 
4.1  There are a number of risks to implementing the Council Housing 

Growth Programme which are in the table below:  
 
 

Risks Mitigation 

Tenants request Right to 
Buy properties obtained 
under this programme 

 Currently the properties would come under 
the cost floor rule. Under the cost floor rule, 
the discount must not reduce the price 
below what has been spent on building, 
buying, repairing or maintaining it. 

 The cost floor period is 15 years as the 
properties will be built or acquired by the 
Council after 2 April 2012. 

Failure to spend capital 
receipts 

 Undertake regular monitoring and reporting 
to Housing Advisory Panel 

 Implements all options of the Council 
housing Growth Programme 

Impact on housing market 
of buying properties 

 Ensure only used when required and when 
properties are naturally on the open market. 

 Do not promote as an option for sellers 
 

Page 240 Agenda Item 8



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE                17th January 2017 
 

Planning approval not 
achieved on sites 

 Appointment of experienced development 
agents working with the Asset Management 
Group to recommend solutions 

 Ensure robust consideration of development 
appraisals in the first instance 
 

Risks associated with 
using consultants  

 Ensure that the appointment of both the 
Development Agent (and its consultants) 
and, subsequently, contractors are robust, 
and include an appropriate element of 
assessment of the parties’ ability to 
undertake the roles and their quality. 

 Ensure that the Council’s risks are 
minimised through the legal agreements. 

 Ensure Evaluation Criteria at PQQ and 
Tender Stage are comprehensive, with key 
factors weighted appropriately 

 Ensure that the Development Agent and 
consultants have sufficient Professional 
Indemnity Insurance. 
 

 
Overspend for House 
Building Programme 

 Include sufficient provision for contingencies 

 Ensure effective project management 
arrangements, to include identification of 
potential overspends early 

 Report to Housing Advisory Panel quarterly 
on progress (works and costs) 

 

 
5. APPENDICES 

 
 Appendix 1 – Strategic approach to the Housing Revenue Account and 

future Council Housing Growth 
 
 
6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Executive Committee Report 12 January 2016 - Housing Revenue 
Account, rent and capital 2016-17   
 

 
7. KEY 

HRA – Housing Revenue Account 
MRS – Mortgage Rescue Scheme 
 

AUTHOR OF REPORT 

Page 241 Agenda Item 8



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE                17th January 2017 
 
 
Name: Matthew Bough  
E Mail: matthew.bough@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk   
Tel: 01527 64252 ext: 3120  
 

Page 242 Agenda Item 8



Strategic approach to the Housing Revenue Account and future Council 

Housing Growth 

Council housing became self-financing in 2012, and since then, a number of changes have 

been introduced that have had a significant impact upon the Council’s Housing Revenue 

Account (HRA). This document sets out the changes, and the Council’s strategic response to 

them and projects that will be undertaken to alleviate the impact.  

The key changes since 2012 and their impact on the HRA 

 Investment and borrowing caps – the Council’s ability to invest in housing through 

borrowing is capped  

 Right to buy/other sales and receipts – higher discounts lead to increased stock loss 

without matching levels of stock replacement 

 Sale of Higher Value properties – reducing the stock at a higher rate than previously 

envisaged  and requiring the payment of a levy to the Government to reimburse 

Registered Providers for their right to buy. 

 Rent formula change – move from RPI to CPI leads to lower projected rental incomes  

 End of rent convergence – CPI +1% and end of convergence with housing association 

rents  

 Rent reduction – 2016-17 onwards 1% reduction per year over next four years.  From 

2020/21 it is assumed that the rent policy will revert to CPI plus 1% but there is a risk 

that this is changed. 

 Welfare reform – potential for higher rent arrears across stock over time  

In summary, as the table overleaf  demonstrates, the changes combine to create a downward 

financial pressure on the HRA that was neither predicted nor evident when the Council first 

became self-financing in 2012. As a result, the Council needs to respond to the changes and 

minimise downward financial pressure by growing its housing stock in order to maintain 

financial stability inside the HRA.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 243 Agenda Item 8



2016 to 2026 – Updated HRA Business Plan following changes 

£m 
Base 

Budget 
16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 25/26 

Base Surplus 3.00 2.85 3.05 3.25 3.45 3.67 3.88 4.11 4.34 4.57 4.81 

National 
Insurance 

0.00 -0.13 -0.13 -0.14 -0.14 -0.14 -0.15 -0.15 -0.16 -0.16 -0.16 

Increased RTB 0.00 -0.24 -0.51 -0.77 -1.02 -1.27 -1.50 -1.72 -1.93 -2.12 -2.29 

Component 
Deprec 

0.00 0.00 -0.64 -0.58 -0.53 -0.47 -0.42 -0.38 -0.33 -0.29 -0.25 

1% Rent 
Reduction 

0.00 -0.45 -1.26 -2.07 -2.87 -2.92 -2.97 -3.03 -3.09 -3.15 -3.22 

Levy – High 
Value Stock 

0.00 0.00 0.00 -0.12 -0.12 -0.12 -0.13 -0.13 -0.13 -0.14 -0.14 

Budget Savings 
(mainly JE prov) 

0.00 0.32 0.27 0.19 0.12 0.12 0.12 0.12 0.12 0.12 0.12 

Revised HRA 
Position 

3.00 2.35 0.78 -0.24 -1.11 -1.13 -1.17 -1.18 -1.18 -1.17 -1.13 

 

Taking a strategic response to these changes  

One of the council’s key strategic purposes is ‘help me to find somewhere to live in my locality’ 

and it aims to protect local housing stock through good financial management, and to support 

people through times of change. The Council also aims to put tenants first, involve them, and 

protect their interests, raising housing standards across the borough, and maximising the delivery 

of affordable housing to build mixed, sustainable communities. 

The revised HRA Business Plan identifies the need to increase the Council’s housing stock by 
109 properties in the next three years and thereafter 13 units per year to mitigate against the 
financial effects of these changes..  
 
Currently the Council only has the ‘Buy Back’ and Mortgage Rescue scheme to acquire new units 
of accommodation and this does not provide the numbers that have been identified. 
 
The Council has identified a number of opportunities that can be utilised in order to increase the 

HRA stock and minimise the risks posed by the HRA-related changes.    

 Commissioning the construction of new HRA stock 

 Purchasing from developers through s.106 bidding 

 Purchase properties ‘off plan’ on developments 

 Purchasing properties from the open market 

 Purchasing stock from other Registered Provider 

 Buy backs and Mortgage Rescue Scheme  

 Regenerating existing stock 
 

Page 244 Agenda Item 8



Importantly, there is no ‘one-size fits all’ answer to the pressures on the HRA. For example, there 
are fluctuations in terms of the supply of new housing becoming available for purchase in the 
local market, and timescales can also change with developers.  
 
As a result, strategically, the Council will take a blended approach to housing growth, which 
makes the most of all the different opportunities available to it, rather than concentrating solely on 
one model. This includes utilising the Council’s housing capital programme to make the most of 
opportunities to enhance existing stock.  
 
The revised HRA Business Plan identifies the need to increase the Council’s housing stock by a 
minimum of 109 properties over the next three years and thereafter 13 units per year. The 
costing in the table below relates the estimated cost of building new houses to meet this number. 
 

£m 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 

New 
Stock 
Numbers 

15 47 47 13 13 13 13 13 13 

Funding 
(£m) 

 

Capital 
Reserve 

1.2 3.7 3.8 1.0 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.2 

Capital 
Receipts 

0.5 1.6 1.6 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 

Total 1.7 5.3 5.4 1.5 1.6 1.6 1.6 1.6 1.7 

 
The table below shows the current maintained RTB receipts and the date these must be used by 
or returned to central government to include interest payments. These receipts must be used to 
replace the sales with either new build, buy back of properties or purchase on the open market 
(new stock). 
 

RTB retained 
reciept 

Capital Reserve Total Date by 
Cumulative 

Spend 

£245,300 £572,367 £817,667 31/03/2017  

£137,202 £320,137 £457,339 30/06/2017 £1,275,006 

£162,406 £378,948 £541,354 30/09/2017 £1,816,360 

£23,022 £53,719 £76,741 31/03/2018 £1,893,101 

£64,083 £149,526 £213,609 30/09/2018 £2,106,710 

£267,418 £623,974 £891,392 31/12/2018 £2,998,102 

£374,761 £874,442 £1,249,203 31/03/2019 £4,247,304 

£390,270 £910,631 £1,300,901 30/06/2019 £5,548,205 

£425,628 £993,132 £1,418,760 30/09/2019 £6,966,965 

Page 245 Agenda Item 8



 Strategic Summary  
 

 Changes made since 2012 have impacted on the Council’s Housing Revenue Account 

 Strategically, the council aims to minimise the financial risks created by these changes, for 
which there is no ‘one-size fits all’ solution.  

 As a result the Council will promote housing growth, adopting a blended acquisition 
approach to growing its own stock 

 This approach should allow the council to address the current and future financial 

pressures within the HRA 

DELIVERING HRA STOCK GROWTH 
 
To deliver the necessary growth in the HRA stock the Council will undertake the following 
programmes. These programmes range in complexity and deliverable timeframes and they will 
run concurrently.    
 
To deliver the programmes the capital budget agreed for ‘Buy back’ and Mortgage Rescue 
Scheme will be named the Council Housing Growth Programme and increased to £12.5m for a 3 
year period and used for all costs associated with the programmes below. 
 
Purchase Properties off the open market 
 
The Council currently has an approved scheme known as the ‘Buy Back’ scheme which  is 
properties that were sold through the Right to Buy scheme by the Council within the last ten 
years which have a legal requirement that the Council have first refusal on buying the property. 
Over the last ten years the Council has sold 275 properties. 
 
 

 
 
 
During the last two years the Council has bought 11 properties through the ‘Buy Back’ and 
Mortgage Rescue Scheme. Given the limited number of properties sold during the five years from 
2007 to 20012 this is likely to limit the number of properties being offered to the Council as first 
refusal. 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Number sold 

Page 246 Agenda Item 8



 
The Council will seek suitable properties available on the open market. The properties will be ex-
Council stock and a mix of all types of properties will be sought with regular monitoring of the 
immediate pressures on the Council’s waiting list for those types of property in most need. 
 
To ensure that this does not have a negative impact on the availablilty of the lower quartile 
housing market for first time buyers this programme will be used limitedly and for only properties 
naturally coming to the market.  
 
Commision the Construction of New Properties 
 
Previously councils have been discouraged from building new social housing themselves, and 
encouraged to act as “enablers”. Previously established financial rules that penalised Councils 
that built new homes have now been removed 
 
The Council will commission a house building programme for the following reasons: 
 

 HRA land developed increasing affordable housing. 

 The land and buildings would be retained as a Council asset. 

 The Council will receive increased New Homes Bonus. 

 The Council will benefit from the rental income having a positive financial impact on the 
Council’s HRA Business Plan. 

 The Council will have greater control over the design and layout of properties. 

 It will enable the Council to increase its housing stock and reduce unit costs of 
management and maintenance. 

 Utilise the capital receipt from RTB sales to replace lost stock. 

 The Council will have greater control over the future use of homes. 

 The cost of construction could be cheaper as the Council can recover the cost of VAT for 
fees. 

 Possible for the Council to receive the benefit of capital grant funding from the Homes and 
Communities Agency. 

 Meeting waiting list applicants wishes for Council housing rather than RSL housing. 

 Positive increase in the Council’s reputation. 

 Lower rent levels compared to RSL’s. 

 Local housing management and maintenance.  
 
The Council has not delivered new build homes for a number of years but it does have land 
which would be suitable for the delivery of social housing. The Council currently does not have 
the skills, capacity and experience in house to deliver a house building programme. 
 
In order to implement this programme the Council will appoint through a procurement process a 
Development Agent, similar to that other local authorities and smaller Registered Providers use. 
The Development Agent will provide all the required development and project management 
services. The Development Agent role will include the provision of all professional building 
services including: architectural, quantity surveying, cost consulting, planning supervision, 
engineering and surveying. The Development Agent will also undertake the planning and 
tendering of the works contract. Officers propose that part of the Development Agents role will be 
to upskill Council officers to take on elements for future developments. 
 

Page 247 Agenda Item 8



In order to have the expertise in completing the below requirements for the selection of a 
Development Agent the Council may also need to appoint a suitably experienced Housing 
Development Consultant to undertake the appointment process  
 

 The formulation of the technical housing elements of the PQQ and the associated 
evaluation criteria for shortlisting; 

 Responding to enquiries from applicants about the technical housing criteria during the 
PQQ process; 

 Evaluation of the submitted PQQs (in liaison with others); 

 Fundamentally, the drafting of the detailed Specification, Invitation to Tender (ITT) and 
Evaluation Criteria; 

 Management of the ITT process, and dealing with queries raised during the tender period; 

 Evaluation of tenders in accordance with the Evaluation Criteria; and 

 Arrangement of the interviews/presentations. 
 
The Council has sites at Auxerre Avenue, Clifton Close, Loxley Close and Fladbury that have 
been declared surplus.  
 
The Development Agent will undertake detailed Development Appraisals for each of the identified 
sites, which would assess whether or not an identified site has development potential, the 
expected costs and the anticipated income. For each site (or package of sites) with development 
potential a report would be presented to the Executive Committee to approve whether or not it 
wishes to proceed and approve financial and development appraisals. 
 
The undertaking of a design & build approach to the development of these sites would be the 
appropriate delivery method and ensure the Council achieves value for money and a suitable 
product.  
 
As funding is available from the HRA, officers do not consider that a separate housing company 
needs be formed at this stage but officers should explore the merits of a housing company and 
be report back to Committee.  
 
The aforementioned sites are small and likely to achieve only approx. 25 units and to ensure a 
suitable Housing Growth programme officers will need to assess all Council owned land 
(brownfield/greenfield) including small infill/garage sites for suitability to develop housing to 
provide a longer term programme. This will include HRA and General Fund land and where 
required appropriation of land from General Fund to HRA will be undertaken. 
 
A shortlist of suitable sites will be reported to the Executive Committee to approve, to create 
further phases of house building.  
 
Purchasing from developers through s.106 bidding 
 
Qualifying developments are required to provide affordable housing on site in accordance with 
the Council’s local plan. This housing is secured through section 106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 
 
The Strategic Housing Team negotiates with developers for the numbers, house type and tenure 
on these sites to meet need. Usually the tenures are split between social rented and shared 
ownership as the intermediate product. 

Page 248 Agenda Item 8



A developer will then undertake a competitive tender process with Registered Providers for these 
affordable housing units. The Council has not previously competed against Registered Providers 
for this stock. As this is a competitive tendering process there is no guarantee that the Council 
will be successful in this process. 
 
Affordable housing obtained through this process may include shared ownership properties which 
are sold leasehold on the open market to qualifying purchasers who pay rent on a proportion of 
the outstanding percentage which would be owned by the Council. The Council will consider prior 
to bidding if a partnership bid with another provider would be beneficial that would take the 
shared ownership units.  
 
Purchase ‘Off Plan’ on developments 
 
On suitable developments the Council will consider the purchase of properties ‘off plan’ thereby 
obtaining properties at a discount to the open market value. 
 
On developments that are required to provide affordable housing through a s.106 agreements 
these properties would be in addition to the affordable housing already being provided. 
 
Officers will need to ensure that buying ‘off plan’ provides value for money but it will give the 
Council the opportunity to make alterations to meet our own building requirements. 
 
Regeneration of existing stock 
 
The Council currently owns approx. 5900 properties. The stock mainly falls into two elements of 
pre-New Town or New Town development.  
 
The Council in conjunction with the Development Agent will complete a study of the Council’s 
existing stock to explore the possibility of any areas which would provide an opportunity to 
undertake a regeneration of the area to improve and increase the housing stock. As part of this 
an asset management review should be undertaken to ascertain the financial viability of 
proeprties over the business plan period and consider the future use of assets that are unviable. 
 
Purchase stock from other Registered Providers 
 
The Council is the largest social housing provider in the Borough with approx. 70%. The 
remaining stock is owned by Registered Providers with some Registered Providers only holding a 
small amount in Redditch. 
 
The Council will contact Registered Providers with stock in Redditch to ascertain if any would 
consider undertaking a stock rationalisation programme with the Council purchasing their 
Redditch stock. 
 
Buy backs and Mortgage Rescue Scheme 
 
The Council will continue with this existing scheme in it’s current format. 
 
 
 

Page 249 Agenda Item 8





REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

COUNCIL   30th January 2017  

 

 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 17TH JANUARY 2017 
 
 
78. INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL REPORT AND 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 
 RECOMMENDED that 
 

having regard to the report and recommendations of the Independent 
Remuneration Panel (IRP): 

 
1) the Basic Allowance for 2017/18 not be increased and this 

continue at the current level set for 2016/17, as detailed in the 
final column of Appendix 1 to the IRP’s report; 
 

2) the Special Responsibility Allowances remain at the current 
levels set for 2016/17, as detailed in the final column of Appendix 
1 to the IRP’s report; 

 
3) travel allowances for 2017/18 continue to be paid in accordance 

with the HMRC mileage allowance; 
 

4) subsistence allowances for 2017/18 remain unchanged; 
 

5) the Dependent Carer’s Allowance remains unchanged; and 
 

6)  the recommendation in relation to the Parish Council be noted (it 
being the Parish Council’s responsibility to make a decision on 
this). 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 251 Agenda Item 8





REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 17th January 2017 

 
REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL – 
RECOMMENDATIONS FOR MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES FOR 2017-18 AND THE 
MEMBERS ALLOWANCES SCHEME 
 

Relevant Portfolio Holder 
Councillors B Hartnett, Leader and J 
Fisher, Portfolio Holder for Corporate 
Management  

Portfolio Holder Consulted Yes 

Relevant Head of Service Claire Felton 

Ward(s) Affected All 

Ward Councillor(s) Consulted N/A 

Non-Key Decision  

 
1. SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS 
 
 Each Council is required by law to have an Independent Remuneration Panel 

(IRP) which recommends the level of allowances for Councillors.  The Panel is 
made up of five suitably skilled members of the public who are completely 
independent of the Borough Council.  It also makes recommendations to four 
other District Councils in Worcestershire.  The Panel’s report is enclosed for 
consideration by the Executive Committee and ultimately by the Council. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

The Committee is asked to consider the report and recommendations and 
RECOMMEND to Council  
 
2.1 whether or not to accept all, some or none of the recommendations of 

the Independent Remuneration Panel for 2017-18;  
  
2.2  having considered the Panel’s report and recommendations, whether 

or not changes are required to the Council’s scheme of allowances for 
Members arising from this. 

 
3. KEY ISSUES 

 
Financial Implications 

 
3.1 If the Council was to accept the Panel’s recommendations in full, the budget for 

Members’ basic and special responsibility allowances for 2017-18 would be 
approx. £194,500.  This would be an increase of £58,500 on the projected total 
expenditure for the same allowances in the current year. A financial pressure 
would have to be included within the budget projections to support this additional 
funding.  
 
 
 

Page 253 Agenda Item 8



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 17th January 2017 

 
Legal Implications 

 
3.2 The Council is required to “have regard” to the recommendations of the Panel.  

However, it is not obliged to agree to them.  It can choose to implement them in 
full or in part, or not to accept them.   
 

3.3 If the Council decides to review its scheme of allowances for Councillors, it is 
also required to take into account recommendations from the Panel before doing 
so. 
 
Service/Operational Implications 

 
3.4 There are no direct service or operational implications arising from this report.  

Once the Council has agreed the allowances for 2017-18 Officers will update and 
publish the Members’ Allowances Scheme as appropriate.  

 
Customer/Equalities and Diversity Implications  

 
3.5 None arising from this report. 
 
 
4. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
 Payments to Councillors can be a high profile issue.  The main risks are 

reputational.  However, the Council is transparent about the decisions made on 
allowances.  The Allowances scheme and sums paid to Councillors each year 
are published on the Council’s website. 

 
5. APPENDICES 

 
Report and recommendations from the Independent Remuneration Panel for 
2017-18. 

 
6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
 Members Allowances Scheme – in the Council Constitution at part 18: 
 
http://moderngovwebpublic.redditchbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=379&
MId=2511&Ver=4  
 

AUTHOR OF REPORT 
 
Name: Sheena Jones 
 Tel.: 01527 548240 
email: sheena.jones@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk   

Page 254 Agenda Item 8

http://moderngovwebpublic.redditchbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=379&MId=2511&Ver=4
http://moderngovwebpublic.redditchbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=379&MId=2511&Ver=4
mailto:sheena.jones@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk


 
 
 

Independent Remuneration Panel 
For Worcestershire District Councils 

 
Annual Report and Recommendations for 2017-18 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Redditch Borough Council 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

December 2016 

Page 255 Agenda Item 8



 
 
  
 
 
Contents 
 

Page 

Recommendations to Council  
 
 
Introduction 
 
 

1 
 
 
2 
 

Background Evidence and Research Undertaken 
 

2 - 5 
 
 

Basic Allowance 2017/18   
 
 

5 - 6 

Special Responsibility Allowances 2017/18   
 
 

6 - 7 

Mileage and Expenses 2017/18  
 
 

7 

Allowances to Parish Councils  
 
 

7 

The Independent Remuneration Panel 
 
 

7 - 8 

Appendix 1 – Current and Recommended Allowances 
 
 
Appendix 2 – Summary of Research  

9 - 10  
 
 
11 -12 

 
  
 

 

 

  

Page 256 Agenda Item 8



 

 
Recommendations 

 
The Independent Remuneration Panel recommends to Redditch Borough Council the 
following: 
 
1. That the Basic Allowance for 2017-18 is £4,300, which represents just over 1% 

increase on last year’s recommendation. 
 
2. That the Special Responsibility Allowances are as set out in Appendix 1. 
  
3. That travel allowances for 2017-18 continue to be paid in accordance  with the 

HMRC mileage allowance. 
 
4. That subsistence allowances for 2017-18 remain unchanged. 
 
5. That the Dependent Carer’s Allowance remains unchanged. 
 
6. That for the Parish Council in the Borough, if travel and subsistence is paid, the 

Panel recommends that it is paid in accordance with the rates paid by Redditch 
Borough Council and in accordance with the relevant Regulations. 

 
 

 

Page 257 Agenda Item 8



 

 2 

Introduction  
 

The Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP) has been appointed by the Council to carry out 
reviews of the allowances paid to Councillors, as required by the Local Government Act 2000 
and subsequent legislation.  The Panel has carried out its work in accordance with the 
legislation and statutory guidance. 

 
The law requires each Council to “have regard” to the recommendations of the 
Independent Panel. We noted that last year the Council did not accept our 
recommendations and retained a basic allowance at £4,200. 
 
This year the Panel offered to meet with the Leader of the Council to discuss any particular 
issues. The leader of the Borough Council did not feel it was necessary to meet with us on 
this occasion. 
 
At this point we would like to stress that our recommendations are based on thorough 
research and benchmarking.  We have presented the Council with what we consider to be an 
appropriate set of allowances to reflect the roles carried out by the Councillors.  The purpose 
of allowances is to enable people from all walks of life to become involved in local politics if 
they choose.   

 
Background Evidence and Research Undertaken 
 
There is a rich and varied choice of market indicators on pay which can be used for 
comparison purposes.  These include: 
 

  National survey data on a national, regional or local level; 

  Focussed surveys on a particular public sector; 

  Regular or specific surveys 

  Use of specific indices to indicate movement in rewards or cost of living. 
 
As background for the decisions taken by the Panel this year we have: 
 

  Analysed and considered the Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings (ASHE) statistics 
for 2016 which gives the mean hourly wage rate for all Worcestershire employees (by 
residence) at £14.95. 

 

  Benchmarked the Basic and Special Responsibility Allowances against allowances for 
comparable roles paid by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) “Nearest Neighbour” Councils for each Authority (25 in total across all the 
Authorities to whom we report). 

 

           Undertaken a detailed and thorough study of the Basic and Special Responsibility 
Allowances paid to Councillors in the 25 Authorities using 2016 “Nearest Neighbour 
comparison data, .assessing in particular the SRAs paid the Chairman of  a) Planning 
and b) Overview and Scrutiny. 

 
We give more details about these areas of research at the end of the report. 

Page 258 Agenda Item 8



 

 3 

In 2015, Worcester City Councillors recorded time spent on Council business for a number of 
weeks.  This enabled the Panel to confirm the number of hours per week for front line 
Councillors, which is used to calculate the recommended basic allowance.  More detail is 
given about this under the Basic Allowance heading later in the Report. 

The figure being recommended by the Panel of £4,300 for the Basic Allowance appears 
reasonable and appropriate when compared to other Local Authorities. 

 
Arising from our research, in Table 1 we have included information showing the Members’ 
allowances budget for Basic and Special Responsibility Allowances paid for 2015-16 as a cost 
per head of population for each Council.  To give context, we have included details of the 
proportion of net revenue budget spent by each Council on Basic and Special Responsibility 
allowances. 
 
In Table 2 we show the average payment per member of each Authority of the Basic and 
Special Responsibility Allowances, which illustrates the balance between the level of Special 
Responsibility Allowances paid and the Basic Allowance. The allowances used were paid by 
each Authority in the financial year 2015-16. 
 
Table 3 shows the cost per head of population of each Council’s Basic Allowances using 
2014-15 allowance figures and the population figures for mid year 2014.  This summarises a 
piece of work undertaken by a member of the Panel and given as further comparative 
evidence for information. 
 

Page 259 Agenda Item 8



 

 4 

Table 1 - Total spend on Basic and Special Responsibility Allowances as a cost per 
head of population 2015-16 figures  

 

Authority, 
population1 
and 
number of 
Councillors 

Total 
spend 
Basic 
Allowances 
2015-16 £: 
 

Total spend  
on Special 
Responsibility 
Allowances 
(SRA) £: 
 

SRA as a 
percentage 
of total 
Basic 
Allowance 
%: 
 

Cost of 
total basic 
and SRA 
per head 
of 
population 
£: 

Total of 
basic and 
SRA as a 
percentage 
of Net 
General 
Revenue 
Fund 
expenditure 
% 

Bromsgrove 
DC (31) 
95,800 

138,747 60,632 43.70 2.08 1.65% 

Malvern 
Hills DC 
(38) 
75,700  
 

158,829 59,888 38% 2.89   2.7% 

Redditch 
Borough 
(29) 
84,700 
 

96,970 38,905 40% 1.61 1.31% 

Worcester 
City (35) 
101,300 

142,100 60,004 42.23% 1.995 1.903% 

Wychavon 
(45) 
121,500 

187,261 
  
  

69,554 37.14% 2.11 1.81% 

 
 

Table 2 showing average allowance per Member of each Authority (Basic and Special 
Responsibility Allowances, 2015 – 16 figures) 

 

Authority (number of Councillors) Amount £ 

Bromsgrove District (31) 6,432 

Malvern Hills District (38) 5,756 

Redditch Borough (29) 4,685 

Worcester City (35) 5,772 

Wychavon District (45) 5,707 

 
 
 

                                                 
1
 ONS population figures mid 2015.  Totals for Basic and Special Responsibility allowances paid 

are as published by each Authority for the 2015-16 financial year. 

Page 260 Agenda Item 8



 

 5 

Table 3 A member of the Panel also calculated the cost per head of population of each 
Council’s basic allowances.  These are 2014-15 figures: 
 

Authority Basic allowance Basic allowance per  
Head of population £pa 
 

Bromsgrove 
 

4,326 1.46 

Malvern Hills 
 

4,200 2.14 

Redditch Borough 
 

3,350 1.15 

Worcester City 
 

4,200 1.49 

Wychavon 
 

4,250 1.63 

Average from survey of 25 
Councils 
 

4,962 2.12 

 
This shows that the level of Basic Allowance paid by the District Councils, and recommended 
by the Panel, is below the average for the 25 “Nearest Neighbour” Councils surveyed. 

 
Basic Allowance 2017 - 18 

 
Calculation of Basic Allowance 
 
The Basic Allowance is based on: 
 

 The roles and responsibilities of Members; and 

 Their time commitments – including the total average number of hours                    
worked per week on Council business. 

We then apply a public service discount of 40% to reflect that Councillors volunteer some of 
their time to the role.   

For the recommendations this year the calculation used the "Mean" (average) Worcestershire 
hourly earnings 2016 from the Office for National Statistics of £14.95.  This represented an 
increase over the 2015 figure of 1.8% and a basic allowance of £4,381.  However, in view of 
the financial situation facing local government at the moment and the likelihood that any pay 
increase for employees will not exceed 1%, the Panel is recommending a basic allowance of 
£4,300 for 2017-18. 

The Basic Allowance is paid to all Members of the Council. 

Whilst each Council may set out role descriptions for Councillors, the Panel accepts that 
each Councillor will carry out that role differently, reflecting personal circumstances and local 
requirements.  However, we consider the Basic Allowance to include Councillors’ roles in 
Overview and Scrutiny, as any non-Executive member of the Council is able to contribute to 
this aspect of the Council’s work.  It is for this reason that we do not recommend any Special 
Responsibility Allowance for members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. We also 

Page 261 Agenda Item 8



 

 6 

consider that ICT could be included in the Basic allowance as it is generally more readily 
available to individuals than in previous years.  However, we are comfortable that specific 
local decisions may be made about how ICT support is provided. 

As mentioned earlier, in 2015 Worcester City Councillors recorded the time spent per week 
on Council business for a number of weeks during the early autumn.  This was considered to 
reflect an appropriate “average” period of time for meetings and other commitments.  The 
results from this survey showed that the average input was 10 hours and 50 minutes per 
week.  This figure matches the one used for a number of years by the Panel, based on 
previous research with constituent Councils, to calculate the basic allowance.   

We reviewed the levels of wage rates for Worcestershire as set out in the ASHE data (details 
in appendix 2) and the benchmark information available to us from the Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) “nearest neighbours” Authorities as part of our 
research into the level of basic allowance recommended.  We are also aware that the 
majority of local government employees received a 1% increase in pay in July 2016.   
 
The calculation used to arrive at the Basic allowance is set out at appendix 2.   
 

 
Special Responsibility Allowances (SRA) 2017-18 
 
General Calculation of SRAs 
 
The basis for the calculation of SRAs is a multiplier of the Basic Allowance as advocated in 
the published Guidance.  
 
The Panel has reviewed the responsibilities of each post, the multipliers and allowances paid 
by similar Authorities.  As in previous years, the Panel has benchmarked the allowances 
against those paid by Authorities listed as “nearest neighbours” by CIPFA.   
 
The Panel has been asked on occasions to consider recommending SRA’s for Vice-
Chairmen of Committees.  Having considered evidence presented to us and the nature of the 
roles, as a principle the Panel does not recommend SRA’s for Vice-Chairman roles.  
 
Appendix 1 to this report sets out the allowances recommended for 2017-18.  We have 
reviewed the multipliers used for Chairmen of Planning and Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees this year, in response to comments received from Councillors.  We have 
changed our recommendations concerning Planning Committees for the following reasons: 

 The research undertaken across nearest neighbour Authorities indicates that the 
multipliers recommended for these roles (1 for Planning, 1.5 for Overview and 
Scrutiny) are appropriate; 

 The reduction in the volume of work for Wychavon and Malvern Hills’ Planning 
Committees following agreement of the South Worcestershire Development Plan 
justifies a recommendation of a multiplier of 1 for this role -  it was increased 
previously to reflect work/duties of the post with no Plan in place but now  we are 
simply restoring previous position, namely a multiplier of 1 ( 0.5 for each Chairman in 
the case of MHDC); 

 We maintain our view that the level of responsibility of the role of Chairman of 
Overview and Scrutiny in keeping a watching brief across all executive areas of the 

Page 262 Agenda Item 8



 

 7 

Council’s work, and that of various external agencies, justifies a multiplier to match 
that of portfolio holders. 

 
 
Mileage and Expenses 2017-18 
 
The Panel notes that the Council has used the HMRC flat rate for payment of mileage for 
Councillors and recommends that this continues.  
 
The Panel is satisfied that the current levels of subsistence allowances are set at an 
appropriate level and recommends that these continue. 
 
The Panel notes that the Council’s Scheme of Members’ Allowances provides that 
Dependant Carer Allowances are payable to cover reasonable and legitimate costs incurred 
in attending approved duties and recommends that this provision continues. 

 
 
Allowances to Parish Councils 
 
The Independent Remuneration Panel for Worcestershire District Councils acts as the 
Remuneration Panel for the Parish Councils in each District. 
 
This year the Panel has not been asked to make recommendations on any matters by the 
Parish in Redditch Borough.   
 

 
The Independent Remuneration Panel 
 
The Members’ Allowances Regulations require Local Authorities to establish and maintain an 
Independent Remuneration Panel.  The purpose of the Panel is to make recommendations to 
the Authority about allowances to be paid to Elected Members and Local Authorities must 
have regard to this advice.  This Council’s Independent Remuneration Panel is set up on a 
joint basis with 4 of the other 5 District Councils in Worcestershire. Separate Annual Reports 
have been prepared for each Council. 
 
The members of the Panel are:  
 
Bill Simpson MBE JP, the Chair of the Panel - – Bill spent 30 years in Further Education 
culminating in 11 years as Principal of Pershore College.  He then entered the private sector 
as Director of two national Horticultural Societies, one being the Royal Horticultural Society.  
He served as a magistrate for 9 years until retirement.  He is a Trustee of several charities 
including chairing Thrive – the national Society for Horticultural Therapy between 1993 and 
2008 and currently the Hopmarket Charity in Worcester.    A Past President of the 
professional Institute of Horticulture he returned to the Council in 2012 to achieve chartership 
with the Royal Charter being awarded in 2014.  At the present time he is Vice Chair of 
Governors of Red Hill CE Primary School Worcester and a Chair/Member of the County 
Council, Academy and Diocesan Panels for Schools Preferences Appeals. Appointed a 
Member of the British Empire (MBE) in 2011 for services to horticulture and the local 
community. 
 

Page 263 Agenda Item 8



 

 8 

Rob Key – Rob has 42 years’ experience of working in District Councils in a variety of 
operational and management roles, including senior positions at Worcester City, Wychavon 
District and Wyre Forest District.  He was an Independent Chair for the Strategic Health 
Authority for Continuing Care and sits on County Council Appeals Panels for School 
Preference Appeals and Service Complaints.  
  
Elaine Bell, JP, DipCrim – Elaine has been a Magistrate for 21 years on the South 
Worcester Bench.  She was Deputy Chair of the Bench for 5 years, standing down in July 
2014 when bench boundaries changed.  She was Chair of the Bench Training and 
Development Committee for 9 years, and sat on the Magistrates Advisory Panel for 9 years 
(interviewing and selecting applicants for appointment as Magistrates).  She sits as Chair in 
both Adult and Family courts in the newly constructed Worcestershire Bench stretching 
geographically from Hereford, Kidderminster, Redditch and Worcester.  She is also Chair of 
the Lloyds Educational Foundation, past member of Sytchampton School Appeals Panel; 
Past Hon Treasurer of Ombersley and Doverdale Tennis Club and a Past Governor of 
Ombersley Primary School. 
 
Terry Cotton - Terry spent 34 years working in central and local Government, mostly 
managing regeneration programmes across the West Midlands. Until May 2011 he worked 
at The Government Office for The West Midlands where he was a Relationship Manager 
between central and local Government and a lead negotiator for local performance targets.  
Following voluntary early retirement in May 2011, he worked part-time in Birmingham's 
Jewellery Quarter; setting up a new business led community development trust and currently 
works part-time for Worcestershire County Council on sustainable transport initiatives. He is 
also a trustee of a small charitable trust providing grants to grass roots community initiatives 
in deprived communities. 

 
Don Barber – After several Human Resources and Productivity Improvement Management 
roles in Industry, Don became Chief Executive of a change management facilitating 
consultancy.  Over the last 20 years he has been an independent consultant and advisor on 
a number of United Nations, European Commission, and World Bank transition projects, in 
particular in Europe, Africa, Asia, and Australasia.  He also operates in an advisory role to 
other consultancy groups seeking EU contracts. This experience has included the 
development of national civil service/public sector reform programmes including aspects of 
the effect of legislative change for central and local government and, in the U.K., working for 
the Office of Manpower Economics (advisors to the Prime Minister) on Public Sector Pay, in 
particular relating to: Civil Service Pay Reform, UK Armed Forces and the Medical 
Professions. 

 
The Panel has been advised and assisted by: 

 

  Claire Chaplin and Margaret Johnson from Worcester City Council; 

  Sheena Jones from Bromsgrove and Redditch Councils; 

  Mel Harris from Wychavon District Council; 

  Matthew Box from Malvern Hills District Council. 
 
The Panel wishes to acknowledge its gratitude to these officers who have provided 
advice and guidance in a professional and dedicated manner.   
 
Bill Simpson, Chairman of Independent Remuneration Panel 

Page 264 Agenda Item 8



 

 9 

Appendix 1 
 

Independent Remuneration Panel for District Councils in Worcestershire 
Recommendations for 2017-18 

 
Redditch Borough Council 

 

Role Recommended 
Multiplier 

Current 
Multiplier 

Recommended 
Allowance 

 
£ 

Current 
Allowance  
(paid) 

£ 

Basic Allowance 
– all Councillors  

 
1 

 
1 

 
4,300 3,350 

 
Special Responsibility Allowances: 

 

Leader 
 

3 
 

2 12,900 6,697 plus 
1,560 

portfolio 
holder 

 

Deputy Leader 
 

1.75 1.4 7,525 4,697 plus 
1,560 

portfolio 
holder 

 

Portfolio Holders 
 

1.5 0.46 6,450 1,560 

Executive 
Members without 
portfolio 
 

0.25 0.32 1,075 1,072 

Chair of 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Board/Committee 
 

1.5 0.6 6,450 2,009 

Members of 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

0 0.32 0 1,072 

Chair of 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Task 
Groups 
 
 
 

0.25 0 1,075 
Paid pro-rata for 

length of task 
group 

0 

Page 265 Agenda Item 8



 

 10 

Role Recommended 
Multiplier 

Current 
Multiplier 

Recommended 
Allowance 

 
£ 

Current 
Allowance  
(paid) 

£ 

Chair of Audit,  
Governance and 
Standards 
Committee 
 

0.25 0 1,075 0 

Chair of Planning 
Committee 
 
 

1 0.47 4,300 1,560 

Chair of 
Licensing 
Committee 
 

0.75 
 

0.4 3,225 1,340 

Political Group 
Leaders 
 

0.25 0.31 1,075 
(If a Group Leader is in 

receipt of any other 
S.R.A. allowance is 
reduced by 50%) 

 

1,040 x1 

Borough Council Representatives on the Following Bodies: 
 

Local 
Government 
Association 
And General 
Assembly 
 

0 N/A 0 269 

West Midlands 
Employers 
 

0 N/A 0 269 

 

Page 266 Agenda Item 8



 

 11 

Appendix 2 
 

Summary of Research 
 

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) “Nearest 
Neighbour” Authorities tool.  
 
No two Councils or sets of Councillors are the same.  Developed to aid local 
Authorities in comparative and benchmarking exercises, the CIPFA Nearest 
Neighbours Model adopts a scientific approach to measuring the similarity 
between Authorities.  Using the data, Redditch Borough Council’s “nearest 
neighbours” are: 
 

 Tamworth 

 Gloucester City 

 Stevenage Borough 

 Kettering Borough 

 Worcester City 

 Cannock Chase 
 

Information on the level of Basic and Special Responsibility Allowances was 
obtained to benchmark the levels of allowances recommended to the Borough 
Council. 
 
Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings (ASHE) Data on Pay 

 
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/articles/980.aspx  
 
Published by the Office for National Statistics, the Annual Survey of Hours and 
Earnings (ASHE) shows detailed information at County and District level about 
rates of pay.  For benchmarking purposes the Panel uses the levels for hourly 
rates of pay excluding overtime.  This is multiplied by 11 to give a weekly rate, 
which is then multiplied by 44.4 weeks to allow for holidays.  This was the 
number of hours spent on Council business by frontline Councillors which had 
been reported in previous surveys and substantiated by a survey with Worcester 
City Councillors in the autumn of 2015.   The rate is then discounted by 40% to 
reflect the element of volunteering that each Councillor undertakes in the role. 
    
CPI (Consumer Price Inflation) 
 
In arriving at its recommendations the Panel has taken into account the latest 
reported CPI figure available to it, published by the Office for National Statistics.  
This was 0.9% for October 2016 – October 2017. 
 
Taxpayers’ Alliance Research Findings for Councillors’ Allowances 2015 
published 8th March 2016  
http://www.taxpayersalliance.com/councillors_allowances_2015 
 

Page 267 Agenda Item 8

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/articles/980.aspx
http://www.taxpayersalliance.com/councillors_allowances_2015


 

 12 

The report summarises allowances paid to Councillors across the country during 
2014-15 and reports that in the West Midlands the basic allowance ranged 
between £2,902 and £16,267.     
 
Using information from this report the Panel calculated an average basic 
allowance in the West Midlands region of £4,107 in 2014-15. 

Page 268 Agenda Item 8


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	6 Questions on Notice
	7 Motions on Notice
	8 Executive Committee
	Appt external auditors report (2)
	Appt external auditors report appendix 1
	13.12.16 - Fees and charges 2017-18
	Fees and Charges 17-18 Final - covering report
	Fees and charges 17.18 Final - Appendix
	17.01.17 - 67 Borough of Redditch Local Plan no 4
	BORLP4 Exec Report  17.1.17
	Appendix 1 - BORLP4 Report
	Appendix 2 - BORLP4 Report - Main Modifications
	Appendix 3 - Schedule of Minor Modifications
	Appendix 4 - BORLP4 Adoption Statement
	Appendix 5 - Post Adoption SA Statement JAN 2017
	17.01.17 - 69 Council Plan
	RBC Council Plan Report Exec 170117
	RBC Council Plan draft 180117- high res
	17.01.17 - 70 Corporate Performance Strategy
	Corporate Performance Strategy Report Executive 170117
	Corporate Performance Strategy Appendix
	17.01.17 - 71 Housing Revenue Acount Initial Budget 2017-18 - 2019-20
	Housing Revenue Account Report Dec 2016 final
	HRA Report 2017-18 v2 levy appendix A
	HRA Rent weekly decrease appx B
	170110 O&S Minute extract
	17.01.17 - 72 Council Housing Growth Programme
	Council Housing Growth Programme final (2)
	Council Housing Growth Programme Final Appendix 1
	17.01.17 - 78 IRP report and recommendations
	IRP Covering report
	IRP Appendix Redditch report


